
EDGERTON CITY COUNCIL 
MEETING AGENDA 

CITY HALL, 404 EAST NELSON STREET 
October 24, 2024 

7:00 P.M. 
Call to Order 
1. Roll Call   

____ Roberts ____ Longanecker ____ Lewis ____ Lebakken ____ Malloy ____ Conus 
2. Welcome 
3. Pledge of Allegiance 
 
Consent Agenda (Consent Agenda items will be acted upon by one motion unless a Council 
member requests an item be removed for discussion and separate action)  
4. Approve Minutes from October 10, 2024 Regular City Council Meeting  
5. Approve Subrecipient Grant Agreement between Johnson County, Kansas and the City of 

Edgerton to Accept Funding through a Community Development Block Grant of $91,511.63 
for the 2024 CDBG – 2nd and Hulett Sanitary Sewer Rehabilitation Project. 

6. Approve Resolution No. 10-24-24A Waiving the City’s Compliance with Generally Accepted 
Accounting Principles for Financial Reporting and Causing Such Reports to be Prepared in 
Compliance with the Cash Basis and Budget Laws of the State of Kansas. 

7. Approve Application FP2024-0003, Final Plat for Edgerton Crossing, Second Plat, Located At 
The Southwest Corner Of W. 200th Street and Homestead Lane, Edgerton, Kansas. 

8. Approve Application FP2024-0004, Final Plat for Edgerton Crossing, Third Plat, Located At 
The Northeast Corner Of W. 200th Street and Jubilee Street, Edgerton, Kansas. 

9. Approve Allocation of 2024 Gas Tax Revenue to the 2023 Street Preservation Program and 
Reducing the 2024 Street Preservation Program Budget 

10. Approve Allocation of Funding for LPKC Phase 1 Sewer Projects 

11. Approve Allocation of Additional Funding for the Martin Creek Park South Fence Project 

12. Approve a Three-Year Agreement with Varney & Associates, CPAs, LLC, to Prepare the City’s 
Financial Audit for Fiscal Years 2024, 2025 and 2026 

13. Approve Submittal of Application to the Kansas Department of Transportation (KDOT) for a 
2024 Innovative Technology Program Grant 

14. Approve Resolution No. 10-24-24B Consenting to the Assignment of a 
Development Agreement for the Dwyer Farms RHID Project 

15. Approve Resolution No. 10-24-24C Consenting to the Appointment of a Successor Trustee 
and the Assignment of a Base Lease, Lease Agreement and Other Bond Documents in 
Connection with the City’s Industrial Revenue Bonds (Coldpoint Logistics Real Estate, LLC 
Project), Series 2016, and Authorizing an Estoppel Certificate 

16. Approve Resolution No. 10-24-24D Consenting to the Assignment of a Base Lease, Lease 
Agreement and Other Bond Documents in Connection with the City’s Industrial Revenue 
Bonds (Coldpoint Logistics Real Estate, LLC First Expansion Project), Series 2017, and 
Authorizing a Collateral Assignment, Estoppel and Subordination Agreement 

17. Approve Resolution No. 10-24-24E Consenting to the Assignment of a Base Lease, Lease 
Agreement and Other Bond Documents in Connection with the City’s Industrial Revenue 
Bonds (Coldpoint Logistics Real Estate, LLC Second Expansion Project), Series 2018, and 
Authorizing a Collateral Assignment, Estoppel and Subordination Agreement 

18. Approve Resolution No. 10-24-24F Consenting to the Assignment of a Base Lease, Lease 
Agreement and Other Bond Documents in Connection with the City’s Industrial Revenue 



Bonds (Coldpoint Logistics Real Estate, LLC Third Expansion Project), Series 2019, and 
Authorizing a Collateral Assignment, Estoppel and Subordination Agreement 

19. Approve Resolution No. 10-24-24G Consenting to the Assignment of a Base Lease, Lease 
Agreement and other Bond Documents in Connection with the City’s Industrial Revenue 
Bonds (ELHC XXXIII, LLC PROJECT), Series 2016 
 
Motion: ________ Second: ________ Vote: ____ 
 

Regular Agenda 
20. Declaration. At this time Council members may declare any conflict or communication they 

have had that might influence their ability to impartially consider today’s issues. 
 
21. Public Comments. The City of Edgerton encourages public participation in local 

governance issues. To facilitate an efficient and effective meeting, persons wishing to 
address the City Council must sign-up before the meeting begins. Speakers must provide 
their name and address for the record and are limited to three (3) minutes. The maximum 
time limit for all speakers will be thirty (30) minutes. Comments on personnel matters or 
matters pending before court/other outside tribunals are not permitted. Any comments are 
for informational purposes only. No action will be taken. 

 
The Mayor may modify these provisions, as necessary. The Mayor may limit any 
unnecessary, off-topic, or redundant comments or presentations. Speakers should address 
their comments to City Council members only and should not speak to fellow audience 
members. City Council members will not engage in a dialogue or debate with speakers. 
Speakers and audience members should conduct themselves in a civil and respectful 
manner. Disruptive conduct may result in removal from the meeting. 
 

22. Presentation by Johnson County Fire District No. 1 Representatives. 
 
Business Requiring Action 
23. CONSIDER PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT BETWEEN BURNS & 

MCDONNELL INC. AND THE CITY OF EDGERTON, KANSAS FOR THE 
ENGINEERING SERVICES FOR DWYER FARMS SANITARY SEWER 
IMPROVEMENTS – SITES 2 & 3 
 
Motion: ________ Second: ________ Vote: ____  

 
24. CONSIDER AWARDING IT MANAGED SERVICE PROVIDER CONTRACT TO 

IMAGINE IT 
 
Motion: ________ Second: ________ Vote: ____  
 

25. CONSIDER AGREEMENT WITH GARDNER DISPOSAL FOR SOLID WASTE 
COLLECTION AND DISPOSAL SERVICES FOR JANUARY 1, 2025 THROUGH 
DECEMBER 31, 2027 
 
Motion: ________ Second: ________ Vote: ____  

 



26. CONSIDER ADOPTION OF THE 2025-2029 CIP 
 
Motion: ________ Second: ________ Vote: ____  

 
27. CONSIDER RESOLUTION NO. 10-24-24H PURSUANT TO K.S.A. § 26-201 SETTING 

FORTH THE NECESSITY FOR CONDEMNATION OF PRIVATE PROPERTY AND 
AUTHORIZING PREPARATION OF A SURVEY AND LEGAL DESCRIPTIONS OF THE 
PROPERTIES TO BE CONDEMNED 
 
Motion: ________ Second: ________ Vote: ____  

 
28. CONSIDER A BUDGET ADJUSTMENT FOR THE 2024 CDBG – 2ND AND HULETT 

SANITARY SEWER REHABILITATION PROJECT 
 
Motion: ________ Second: ________ Vote: ____ 

 
29. CONSIDER AWARD OF CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT TO SAK CONSTRUCTION, LLC 

FOR THE 2024 CDBG – 2ND AND HULETT SANITARY SEWER REHABILITATION 
PROJECT IN THE AMOUNT OF $104,555.00 
 
Motion: ________ Second: ________ Vote: ____  
 

30. CONSIDER A PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT WITH RENAISSANCE 
INFRASTRUCTURE CONSULTING TO PROVIDE CONSTRUCTION INSPECTION 
SERVICES FOR THE 2024 CDBG – 2ND AND HULETT SANITARY SEWER 
REHABILITATION PROJECT 
 
Motion: ________ Second: ________ Vote: ____  

  
31. CONSIDER A SUPPLEMENTAL AGREEMENT NO. 1 WITH BG CONSULTANTS, INC 

TO PROVIDE CONSTRUCTION INSPECTION SERVICES OF THE GLENDELL ACRES 
PARK RENOVATION PROJECT 
 
Motion: ________ Second: ________ Vote: ____  

 
32. Report by the City Administrator 

• 3rd Quarter Financial Report 
 

33. Report by the Mayor 
• November/December Council Meeting Schedules  

 
 
34. Future Meeting Reminders:  

• November 12: Planning Commission – 7:00PM 
• November 14: City Council Meeting – 7:00PM 
• December 10: Planning Commission – 7:00PM 
• December 12: City Council Meeting – 7:00PM 
• December 26: City Council Meeting – 7:00PM 



 
 
35. CONSIDER RECESSING INTO EXECUTIVE SESSION PURSUANT TO THE 

ATTORNEY/CLIENT EXCPTION TO INCLUDE CITY ATTORNEY, CITY 
ADMINISTRATOR, AND ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT COUNSEL FOR THE PURPOSES 
OF CONTRACT NEGOTIATIONS (K.S.A. 75- 4319(B)(2)) 
 
Motion: ________ Second: ________ Vote: ____ 

 
36. Adjourn Motion: ________ Second: ________ Vote: ____ 
 

 

EV
EN

TS
 10/28: Spooktacular Jack-O-Lantern Showcase 

11/8: Mayors Christmas Tree Fund Trivia Night 
11/12: Tales for Tots 
11/15: DIY Christmas Round Door Hanger 
11/20: Senior Lunch & BINGO 
11/22: Golden Oldies Music Bingo 
12/4: Kids DIY Handprint Holiday Towel 
12/6: Tree Lighting Ceremony 
12/7: Jingle Puzzle Dash 
12/10: Tales for Tots 
12/13: Kids Night Out 



City of Edgerton, Kansas 
Minutes of City Council Regular Session 

October 10, 2024 

A Regular Session of the City Council was held in the Edgerton City Hall, 404 E. Nelson, 
Edgerton, Kansas October 10, 2024. The meeting convened at 7:00PM with Mayor Roberts 
presiding. 

1. ROLL CALL

Clay Longanecker present 
Josh Lewis present 
Deb Lebakken present 
Bill Malloy  present 
Ron Conus present 

With a quorum present, the meeting commenced. 

Staff in attendance: City Administrator, Beth Linn 
City Clerk, Alex Clower 
City Attorney, Todd Luckman 
Public Works Director, Dan Merkh 
Parks and Recreation Director, Levi Meyer 
Development Services Director, Zach Moore 
Assistant to the City Administrator, Kara Banks 
Assistant to the City Administrator, Trey Whitaker 
Public Works Foreman, Chase Forrester 
Senior Accountant, Justin Vermillion 
CIP Project Manager, Holly Robertson 
Building Inspector, Jim Brown 

2. WELCOME. Mayor Roberts welcomed all in attendance.

3. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE. All present participated in the Pledge of Allegiance.

Consent Agenda (Consent Agenda items will be acted upon by one motion unless a Council 
member requests an item be removed for discussion and separate action)  
4. Approve Minutes from September 26, 2024 Regular City Council Meeting

Councilmember Longanecker moved to approve the Consent Agenda, seconded by 
Councilmember Lewis. The Consent Agenda was approved, 5-0. 

Regular Agenda 
5. Declaration. There were no declarations made.

6. Public Comments. There were no public comments made.

DRA
FT



Edgerton City Council 
Regular Session 
October 10, 2024 
Page 2  

Page 2 of 8 

Business Requiring Action 
7. CONSIDER A NO COST CHANGE ORDER TO EXTEND THE PROJECT COMPLETION

DATES TO CM CONCRETE FOR CONSTRUCTION OF THE GLENDELL ACRES PARK
IMPROVEMENTS PROJECT.

Ms. Robertson addressed the Council. She stated Council approved an updated project budget 
in February and in July, staff presented an update related to the award from the waste tire 
grant that reduced the total contract amount of CM Concrete by contracting the safety surfacing 
installation to Ecoturf Playground Surfacing. In accordance with the City’s Purchasing Policy, the 
City Administrator has approved a deduction of $44,490 from CM Concretes construction 
contract.  

The contract with CM Concrete included a substantial completion date of October 1, 2024 and a 
final completion date of October 31, 2024. Construction is ongoing at the project site with signs, 
garden bed preparation, plantings, 50% of seeding, and about 150 feet of sidewalk remaining. 
She stated they did just visit the project site after publication of the packet and it’s closer to 
90% completed on some items. The contractor is requesting a contract extension of 30 days for 
a substantial completion of October 31, 2024 and final completion of November 29, 2024.  

The contractor has provided a list of delays, those items have been included in the packet. The 
project inspector and design team have reviewed the descriptions of the requested schedule 
change and do not have any objections. The extension is reasonable per project engineer and 
inspector. According to the contract, for every calendar day the project is not completed beyond 
the October 1st substantial completion date, liquidated damages of $1,000 would be due billed 
to the contractor. Typically these funds are withheld from payment to the contractor. Should 
the extension be awarded to the contractor, liquidated damages would start to occur after the 
updated contract dates.  

City staff will continue to monitor the schedule and progress closely over the next couple weeks 
to ensure compliance with contractual requirements.  

Councilmember Longanecker stated the missing parts were those ordered by the city, which 
would mean the delays were the City’s fault.  

Mr. Merkh stated the parts were ordered, but they were not mailed. He stated the neither the 
contractor nor the City were to blame for the parts not arriving on time.  

Councilmember Longanecker asked for clarification about the deduction. 

Ms. Linn stated staff removed the safety surfacing from the contract because it was procured 
separately through Ecoturf, which made it easier to manage the grant funds.  DRA

FT



Edgerton City Council 
Regular Session 
October 10, 2024 
Page 3  

Page 3 of 8 

Councilmember Longanecker stated he does not remember the excessive rain that was 
mentioned, but he is sure it happened.  

Mayor Roberts asked if Dan could give a high-level overview of how the weather is tracked. 

Mr. Merkh stated staff works with the county with something called storm watch. There are rain 
gauges throughout the county, which track rainfall amounts.  

Councilmember Lewis confirmed the completion date is being moved to November 30th. 

Ms. Robertson stated the final completion will be the end of November with substantial 
completion being the end of October.  

With no further questions or comments Mayor Roberts requested a motion to approve the no-
cost change order to extend the project completion dates to CM Concrete for Glendell Acres 
Park Improvements Project.  

Councilmember Lewis moved to approve the motion, seconded by Councilmember Longanecker. 
The motion was approved, 5-0. 

8. CONSIDER CHANGE ORDER #18 TO CONTRACT WITH COMBES CONSTRUCTION
FOR $70,927 TO CONSTRUCT A DUMPSTER ENCLOSURE FOR THE GREENSPACE
PROJECT

Ms. Robertson stated in July 2023, City Council awarded the contract with Combes Construction 
for the construction of The Greenspace Project for just over $6.7 Million. Construction began in 
August 2023. 

In concurrence with the Edgerton development code, a dumpster enclosure is required for The 
Greenspace. The enclosure was not included in the construction contract with Combes 
Construction. City Staff and the project architect evaluated multiple locations, orientations, and 
finishes for the dumpster enclosure. The attached exhibit shows the recommended dumpster 
enclosure layout. The design for the dumpster enclosure was finalized in September 2024 and 
sent to Combes Construction to provide a cost estimate for construction. Combes has prepared 
a cost estimate as Change Order #18 of $70,927.  

Councilmember Lewis asked why this was not previously included in construction contract. 

Ms. Linn stated it was an error. The dumpster enclosure should have been included, but it was 
omitted.  

Councilmember Lewis asked where something like this is originated during the process. 

Ms. Linn stated this would have been something included during bid process at the beginning, 
but it was mistakenly left out of the design documents.  

DRA
FT



Edgerton City Council 
Regular Session 
October 10, 2024 
Page 4  

Page 4 of 8 

Mayor Roberts stated the architect has not billed the City for the design for this. Without the 
City paying for the design, he stated he is more comfortable because we would have had to pay 
for it in construction bid at the beginning had it been done correctly.  

Councilmember Lewis stated he just wanted to make sure we are not paying for their error. 

Councilmember Longanecker asked if there are any potential future conflicts with the location of 
the enclosure.  

Mr. Merkh stated the location is in the best position with the highest chance to remain in the 
same spot moving forward.  

Mayor Roberts stated staff did tremendous job making sure it is in compliance with our own 
code.  

With no further questions or comments, Mayor Roberts requested motion to approve Change 
Order #18 to the Contract with Combes Construction for $70,927 to Construct the Dumpster 
Enclosure for The Greenspace.  

Councilmember Longanecker moved to approve, seconded by Councilmember Malloy. The 
motion carried, 5-0. 

9. CONSIDER ACCEPTANCE OF A PROPOSAL FOR DIGITAL SIGN AT THE
GREENSPACE WITH SIGNS ETC. FOR $20,220.79.

Mayor Roberts stated this item will be tabled and brought back at a future council date. He 
requested motion to table the item.  

Councilmember Longanecker moved to approve the motion, seconded by Councilmember Lewis. 
The motion to table this item to a future council date was approved, 5-0. 

10. Report by the City Administrator
• 312 E 5th St. Update
Mr. Moore addressed the Council. He stated in May, Council adopted a resolution declaring
the property dangerous and unsafe if not brought into compliance by the first set date of
June 10th to abate. Council has extended the deadlines several times with the most recent
to today. That extension included two conditions. The first condition was that staff was to
receive the structural engineer report, which was received on October 2nd. The second
condition was that staff be granted access to inspect the structure by October 7th; however,
only today has staff received word from the management team to set up a time for a meet
and greet. He stated this does not meet the conditions for the extension granted. The
owners have also paid the outstanding utility bill.

DRA
FT



Edgerton City Council 
Regular Session 
October 10, 2024 
Page 5  
 

Page 5 of 8 
 

He stated since previous council meeting, the City’s Building Inspector Jim Brown was able 
to review the report and agreed with the findings. They generally align with the inspection 
report included. There is foundation damage which needs to be repaired. Staff received an 
email on October 4th from the owners representative stating they are wanting to repair the 
property. The property owner representative was not able to make it tonight.  
 
Ms. Linn stated Council members can see an email from the representative, which will be 
included as exhibit in the minutes. The email does give additional info about their plans.  
 
Councilmember Longanecker stated the email says the work will be done in 5-6 weeks and 
he is concerned that the timeline is not correct because it has taken the owners six months 
to get to this point. 
 
Mayor Roberts stated he would encourage councilmembers to read the letter provided prior 
to making a decision.  
 
Councilmember Longanecker stated at the last meeting Council told the owner’s 
representative that the City would proceed with the condemnation process if they didn’t 
follow the stipulations listed and they have only done half.  
 
Councilmember Lebakken expressed concern about the late reaction and timing of the 
email. 
 
Councilmember Longanecker stated it feels like there is a threat in the email too. 
 
Mr. Luckman stated Council has a few options to move forward. Staff can look into 
contractors to go onto property and repair, which likely ends with the structure torn down. 
Council can also give the owners another extension. He stated Council is within the 
boundaries of the original resolution approved, which gave direction of condemnation. If the 
owners are interested in preserving the structure, they can file some sort of injunction and 
the courts can work out what happens next.  
 
Councilmember Longanecker asked if we start the condemnation process, does that typically 
take six weeks.  
 
Mr. Luckman stated the condemnation process has already started. The time has now 
passed, and council has the right to abate.  
 
Ms. Linn stated in this instance, council can take action and if the decision tonight is to 
demolish the building, the process would then start for staff to obtain bids and come back 
to council for authorization.  
 
Councilmember Lewis asked what the costs are associated with this process.  
 
Mr. Luckman stated typically everyone bears their own fees in court ruling.  
 

DRA
FT



Edgerton City Council 
Regular Session 
October 10, 2024 
Page 6  
 

Page 6 of 8 
 

Ms. Linn stated the cost of demo would likely fall back on the property.  
 
Councilmember Longanecker asked Mr. Luckman what he thinks the best course of action 
would be.  
 
Mayor Roberts stated he is frustrated and wants the home to be liveable or torn down, but 
he does not want to be in the same position with a deteriorating home six months from 
now.  
 
Mr. Luckman stated an extension could be granted for another 5-6 weeks.  
 
Councilmember Lewis stated he would like to extend but with guarantees that they put 
money into it.  
 
Mr. Luckman stated you could also put in a requirement for a bond, credit, etc. to be posted 
within a certain time frame to make sure the owners are liable for work to be done.  
 
Mayor Roberts stated he likes the idea of having a letter of credit as guarantee.  
 
Mr. Moore stated it is roughly $18,00 to do all the work through the estimate they have 
provided.  
 
Mr. Brown, Building Inspector, stated what they have outlined to make certain repairs do 
not address the others issues as well. The structural engineer report states the house is not 
livable so that leaves the question of what else will have to be done to make this a livable 
environment.  
 
Mayor Roberts agreed.  
 
Mr. Brown stated after doing this for many years and seeing many structures like this, he 
cannot see where the return of investment is here.  
 
Mayor Roberts stated even if they do the foundation work that they have bids on, the home 
is still uninhabitable.  
 
Mr. Luckman stated nothing in any of the info they have provided gives an estimate to 
repair the entire property.  
 
Ms. Linn stated staff has not been granted access, which is part of the problem.  
 
Mayor Roberts stated he finds it ironic that the webpage of the owner company states, 
“right the first time, on time, not just a motto, it’s their commitment”.  
 
Councilmember Malloy asked how many extensions have they been given.  
 
Mr. Moore stated this will be six.  

DRA
FT



Edgerton City Council 
Regular Session 
October 10, 2024 
Page 7  

Page 7 of 8 

Ms. Linn stated based off the report provided, the entire house will need to be renovated. 

Mr. Brown stated he knows the engineer that issued the report and he trusts his findings. 
When he says the entire house needs renovated, he can only imagine that the wiring, 
plumbing, etc. everything needs repair.  

Mayor Roberts asked if there were any further questions. 

With no further questions or comments, Mayor Roberts recommended motion to move that 
the findings of the City Council are that Lakeview Loan Servicing LLC has failed to meet 
deadlines established to abate, repair, or demolish the structure. The City should proceed to 
demolish as allowed by Section 4-1109 of the City Code and assess all costs associated back 
to the property.  

Councilmember Lebakken moved to approve, seconded by Councilmember Malloy. The 
motion carried, 5-0. 

WALK ON: Updates from Public Works 
Mr. Merkh stated he has just a few updates he’d like to bring forward.  
The not to exceed change order for asphalt work at The Greenspace was approved for 
$28,000, but this actually came in at $18,000.  

The trade in value for the truck brought forward at the last meeting is around $15,000-
$16,000, so the vehicle will be traded in to then go toward the purchase of the new vehicle. 
The plan is to pick up the new truck next week.  

The lead and copper inventory will be submitted well before the deadline. There are no 
addresses flagged for any immediate next steps. The EPA released the next steps and staff 
will begin researching what those next steps are.  

11. Report by the Mayor
Mayor Roberts mentioned that Meat Inferno this year was the best year yet. He stated it was
the most BBQ teams the City has had. He stated he thinks the teams that came out and all the
people that came and participated had a great time.

Ms. Linn stated Brittany will be back to give an update on how the event went. She stated she 
does agree though, the event went very well.  

Mayor Roberts gave kudos to everyone. KidsQ was great, it looks like all kids had fun, and this 
year they did pork chops for the backyard contest. The band was great too.  

Ms. Linn stated it is definitely a team event but the face of it is the BBQ Queen, Brittany. She 
does a fantastic job.  

DRA
FT



Edgerton City Council 
Regular Session 
October 10, 2024 
Page 8  

Page 8 of 8 

Mayor Roberts stated he went around to a lot of teams and many mentioned this was the best 
run event they have ever been to and said they are coming back.  

12. Future Meeting Reminders
Mayor Roberts reminded the Council of the future meetings for the Council and Planning
Commission.

13. Adjourn
Councilmember Lebakken moved to adjourn, seconded by Councilmember Longanecker. The
meeting was adjourned at 7:45PM with a 5-0 vote.

Submitted by Alex Clower, City Clerk 

DRA
FT



Agenda Item: Consider a Subrecipient Grant Agreement between 
Johnson County, Kansas and the City of Edgerton to Accept Funding 
through a Community Development Block Grant of $91,511.63 for the 
2024 CDBG – 2nd and Hulett Sanitary Sewer Rehabilitation Project. 

City Council Action Item 

Council Meeting Date: October 24, 2024 

Department: Public Works 

 
 
 
 
 

Background/Description of Item: 
On May 25, 2023 City Council approved the submission of an application to Johnson County 
for the 2nd and Hulett Sanitary Sewer Project for Community Development Block Grant 
(CDBG) funding.   

In October of 2023 Johnson County notified staff of the proposed award of the partial funding 
request ($91,512).   

On October 10, 2024 City Staff was informed that the 2024 CDBG Subrecipient Grant 
Agreement was ready for execution. 

This Agreement is the standard form utilized each grant year. City Staff recommends 
accepting this award pending City Attorney review of the Agreement. 

Related Ordinance(s) or Statue(s): 

Funding Source:     Sewer Fund: $53,500 
CDBG: $91,512 
Rollover from 2021 CDBG:  $53,245.81 

Budget Allocated:  $145,012 revised to 198,257.81 (pending approval 10-24-24) 

Finance Director Approval: 



Recommendation: Approval to Execute Subrecipient Grant Agreement 
between Johnson County, Kansas and the City of Edgerton to Accept 
Funding through a Community Development Block Grant of $91,511.63 
for the 2024 CDBG – 2nd and Hulett Sanitary Sewer Rehabilitation Project 
Pending City Attorney Review. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Enclosed:  2024 CDBG CFDA No. 14.218 Grant Agreement  
    
 
Prepared by:  Holly Robertson, P.E. CIP Project Manager 
     

































 

 
 

City Council Action Item 
 
 

Council Meeting Date:  October 24, 2024 
 
Department: Administration 

 
Background/Description of Item: 
Each year the City of Edgerton requests that the financial statements and financial reports of 
the City of Edgerton for the year ending December 31st be prepared in compliance with the 
cash basis and budget laws of the State of Kansas, and requests waiver of the requirements of 
K.S.A. 75-1120a(a). 
 
K.S.A. 75-1120a(a) is the uniform system of fiscal procedure, accounting and reporting for 
municipalities.  It requires the use of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP).  The 
Governing Body can, by resolution, each year make a finding that the financial statements and 
financial reports prepared in conformity with the requirements of GAAP are of no significant 
value to the Governing Body or members of the general public of the municipality.  The 
Governing Body can then request a waiver from the Director of Accounts and Reports to 
prepare the City’s financial statement on the basis of the cash receipts and disbursements as 
adjusted to show compliance with the cash basis and budget laws of this State. 
 
Another requirement to receive the waiver is that the City of Edgerton may not have any bond 
ordinances or other ordinances or resolutions which require financial statements or reports to 
be prepared in conformity with K.S.A. 75-1120a(a).  The City of Edgerton currently does not 
have any such ordinances or resolutions. 
 
Related Ordinance(s) or Statue(s):  K.S.A. 75-1120a 

 
 
Funding Source:  n/a 
 
Budget Allocated:  n/a 
 

Finance Director Approval:  

Agenda Item:  Consider Resolution No. 10-24-24A Waiving the City’s 
Compliance with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles for Financial 
Reporting and Causing Such Reports to be Prepared in Compliance with 
the Cash Basis and Budget Laws of the State of Kansas 



 
 
 

 
 
Enclosed:    Resolution 10-24-24A 
 
Prepared by:     Justin Vermillion, Sr. Accountant 
  
 

Recommendation:  Approve Resolution 10-24-24A Waiving The City’s 
Compliance With Generally Accepted Accounting Principles For Financial 
Reporting And Causing Such Reports To Be Prepared In Compliance With 
The Cash Basis And Budget Laws Of The State Of Kansas 



RESOLUTION NO. 10-24-24A 

A RESOLUTION WAIVING THE CITY’S COMPLIANCE WITH GENERALLY ACCEPTED ACCOUNTING 
PRINCIPLES FOR FINANCIAL REPORTING AND CAUSING SUCH REPORTS TO BE PREPARED IN 
COMPLIANCE WITH THE CASH BASIS AND BUDGET LAWS OF THE STATE OF KANSAS 
 
 WHEREAS, the City of Edgerton, Kansas, prepares its financial statements and financial reports 
for the year ending December 31, 2024 to be prepared in conformity with the cash basis and budget 
laws of this state; and  
 
 WHEREAS, K.S.A. 75-1120a (a) requires the financial statements be prepared in conformity 
with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles; and 
 
 WHEREAS, K.S.A. 75-1120a (a) the governing body, by resolution, annually shall make a 
finding that financial statements and financial reports prepared in conformity with the requirements 
of subsection (a) are not relevant to the requirements of the cash-basis and budget laws of this state 
and are of no significant value to the governing body or members of the general public of the 
municipality; and 
 
 WHEREAS, there are no revenue bond ordinances or other ordinances or resolutions of the 
municipality which require financial statements and financial reports to be prepared in conformity 
with K. S. A. 75-1120a (a) for the year ending December 31, 2024. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, by the Governing Body of the City of Edgerton, Kansas, in 
regular meeting, duly assembled, that the Director of Accounts and Reports waive the requirements 
of K. S. A. 75-1120a (a) as they apply to the City of Edgerton, Kansas for the year ending December 31, 
2024. 
 
 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Governing Body shall cause the financial statements and 
financial reports of the City of Edgerton to be prepared on the basis of cash receipts and 
disbursements, as adjusted, to show compliance with the cash basis and budget laws of this State. 
 
ADOPTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL AND APPROVED BY THE MAYOR OF THE CITY OF EDGERTON, KANSAS 
ON THE 24TH DAY OF OCTOBER, 2024. 
      
 
ATTEST:     CITY OF EDGERTON, KANSAS 
 
 
______________________________  By: _______________________________ 
Alexandria Clower, City Clerk                      Donald Roberts, Mayor 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

_______________________________ 
TODD LUCKMAN for 

Stumbo Hanson, LLP, City Attorneys 



City Council Action Item 

Council Meeting Date: October 24, 2024 

Department: Community Development 

Background/Description of Item: 

The City of Edgerton has received Application FP2024-0003 for the Final Plat of Edgerton 
Crossing, Second Plat, located at the southwest corner of W. 200th Street and Homestead Lane. 
This Final Plat request will establish lot lines for one (1) C-2 (Heavy Service Commercial) zoned 
lot totaling 0.23± acres. The newly proposed lot will be carved out of the existing Tract A of 
Edgerton Crossing First Plat, which is platted as an unbuildable tract. Any future development 
of the remainder of Tract A will require a replat prior to issuance of a building permit. This replat 
does not include the dedication of any land for public use. 

The subject property and surrounding area was platted as Edgerton Crossing, First Plat, which 
was recorded with the County on August 25, 2022. The proposed lot is intended to be used as 
a interstate pole sign for the overall Edgerton Crossing Development in the future. The interstate 
pole sign requires approval of a Conditional Use Permit (CUP) by City Council prior to its 
construction. As of the writing of this report, staff has not received an application for a 
Conditional Use Permit for an interstate pole sign on this property.  

City staff has reviewed the Final Plat submittal for conformance with requirements of Section 
13.3 of Article 13 (Subdivision Approval Procedures) of the Edgerton Unified Development Code 
(UDC). This Final Plat has been reviewed by the City Engineer and found to be in compliance 
with City Code requirements.  

The Planning Commission voted to recommend approval of the Final Plat (FP2024-0003) for 
Edgerton Crossing, Second Plat with a 3-0 vote at their meeting on October 8, 2024.  

Related Ordinance(s) or Statue(s):  K.S.A. 12-741, K.S.A 12-749, K.S.A. 12-752. 

Funding Source:  N/A 

Budget Allocated: N/A 

Agenda Item: Consider Application FP2024-0003, Final Plat for Edgerton 
Crossing, Second Plat, Located At The Southwest Corner Of W. 200th Street 
and Homestead Lane, Edgerton, Kansas. 



Finance Director Approval: N/A 
 
 

 
Enclosed: 

• Final Plat dated September 30, 2024. 
• Staff Report from October 8, 2024 Planning Commission including Final Plat Application 

FP2024-0002 
• Excerpt of October 8, 2024 Planning Commission Meeting Draft Minutes – Edgerton 

Crossing, Second Plat portion only.  
 
Prepared by: Zachary Moore, Development Services Director 

Recommendation: Approve Application FP2024-0003, Final Plat for 
Edgerton Crossing, Second Plat, Located At The Southwest Corner Of W. 
200th Street and Homestead Lane, Edgerton, Kansas. 





 
 
 
 
 
 

Edgerton Planning Commission  
October 8, 2024 

 

Page 1 of 3 

  
EDGERTON CROSSING, SECOND PLAT 

 

Application FP2024-0003   
Southwest Corner of W. 200th Street and Homestead Lane 
 

 

QUICK FACTS   

 
 

 
PROJECT 
SUMMARY AND 
REQUESTED 
APPROVALS 
 
The Applicant is 
requesting 
approval of a Final 
Plat located on 
the southwest 
corner of W. 200th 
Street and 
Homestead Lane. 
 
Owner and 
Applicant 
Shannon 
McMurdo, Agent, 
Woodstone 
Builders. 
 
Existing Zoning 
and Land Use 
The property was 
rezoned to City of 
Edgerton C-2 
(Heavy Service 
Commercial) 
District on July 14, 
2011 (Ord. 905). 
The property is 
currently vacant. 
 
Parcel Size 
10.28± acres 
 
Staff Report 
Prepared by 
Chris Clinton 

 
 

 

  



FP2024-0003 
Edgerton Planning Commission – October 8, 2024 

 

Page 2 of 3 

BACKGROUND 

 
1. Proposal 

This Final Plat request is being made in preparation for the development of an Interstate Pole 
Sign for the Edgerton Crossing development. The property owner and applicant are wanting 
to separate a lot for the sign to draw attention to the development. The lot is proposed to be 
9,890± square feet near the southern point of the subject parcel. A Conditional Use Permit 
will be required for the sign, which will come at a later date. Details for the sign are not part 
of this application.   

 
2. Subject Site History  

The 10.28± acre subject property was annexed on February 24, 2011 (Ordinance 900) and 
was rezoned to the C-2 (Heavy Service Commercial) District on July 14, 2011 (Ordinance 905). 
On October 8, 2019, the Planning Commission approved a Preliminary Plat (PP2019-04) for 
the subject property and overall Edgerton Crossing development (then known as Lone Star). 
Pursuant to UDC Section 13.3.E.3, if a Final Plat is not approved for a portion or all of the 
subject property of a preliminary plat within a one (1) year period from the approval date, the 
preliminary plat becomes null and void. A Final Plat was not filed prior to the one (1) year 
expiration and Preliminary Plat PP2019-04 became null and void. On November 19, 2021, the 
Planning Commission approved Preliminary Plat Application PP2021-03 for the subject 
property. A Final Plat Application was then presented to the Planning Commission on April 12, 
2022 and was recommended for approval to the Governing Body. On April 28, 2022, the Final 
Plat for Edgerton Crossing First Plat was accepted and later recorded with Johnson County.  

 

FINAL PLAT REVIEW 

 
City staff has reviewed the Final Plat submittal for compliance with the requirements in Sections 
13.3.G and 13.8 of the Unified Development Code (UDC). The replat proposes a new Lot being 
separated from a previous Tract. The proposed Lot 1 of Block 3 is intended to be the location of 
a future Interstate Pole Sign. The applicant has indicated a 25-foot building line setback on all 
sides of the proposed lot, as required by the UDC. A 20-foot access easement is proposed to allow 
access to the property for the installation and maintenance of the sign from Jubilee Street. City 
staff is in conversations with the applicant as to what the access road is comprised of until the 
surrounding property develops. This will need to be determined prior to the plat being recorded, 
as is stipulated as part of staff’s recommendation. There is no minimum lot size in the C-2 (Heavy 
Service Commercial) District therefore, the proposed lot complies with Unified Development Code 
(UDC) requirements. The setbacks shown on the lot also meets the UDC requirements for C-2 
(Heavy Service Commercial) zoned parcels. The applicant has met all UDC requirements for plats 
and replatting.  
 

NOTICE OF CITY CODES AND PERMITS 

 
The Applicant is subject to all applicable City codes – whether specifically stated in this report or 
not – including, but not limited to, Zoning, Buildings and Construction, Subdivisions, and Sign 
Code. The Applicant is also subject to all applicable local, State, and Federal laws.  
 
Various permits may be required in order to complete this project and the project may also be 
subject to obtaining permits and/or approvals from other local, County, State, or Federal agencies.  



FP2024-0003 
Edgerton Planning Commission – October 8, 2024 

 

Page 3 of 3 

 

DOCUMENTS INCLUDED IN PACKET 

 

Sheet # Title Date on 
Document 

1 Final Plat 09/30/2024 
 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

 
City Staff recommends approval of Final Site Plan Application FP2024-0003 Edgerton Crossing, 
Second Plat, subject to the following stipulations: 

 
1. Prior to the plat being recorded, details of the construction drive within the access 

easement will be determined by the Zoning Administrator. 
 

2. The commencement of any improvements shall not occur prior to the approval and 
endorsement of the Final Plat by the Governing Body and the submittal and approval of 
construction plans for all streets, sidewalks, storm water sewers, sanitary sewers, and 
water mains contained within the Final Plat. 
 

3. The applicant must meet all requirements of Recording a Final Plat as defined in Section 13.5 
of the Edgerton UDC, and all requirements of Financial Assurances as defined in Section 13.7 
of the Edgerton UDC. 
 

Note: For application FP2024-0003 the Planning Commission and the Governing Body 
must review and approve. The Final Plat will be presented to the Governing Body on 
October 24, 2024. 





 

 

 
PLANNING COMMISSION 
October 8, 2024 Minutes 

 
A regular session of the Edgerton Planning Commission (the Commission) was held in the 
Edgerton City Hall, 404 E. Nelson Street, Edgerton, Kansas on October 8, 2024. The meeting 
convened when Vice Chair Jeremy Little called the meeting to order at 7:00 PM. 
 
1. ROLL CALL 

 
Jeremy Little  present 
Tina Mathos  present  
Adam Draskovich  present 
John Daley   absent  
Jordyn Mueller  absent 
 
With a quorum present, the meeting commenced. 
 
Staff in attendance: Zachary Moore, Development Services Director 

Alex Clower, City Clerk 
     

2. WELCOME Vice Chair Little welcomed all in attendance to the meeting. 
 

3. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE All present participated in the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 
CONSENT AGENDA 
 
4. Minutes from the September 12, 2024 Planning Commission Meeting. 
5. FP2024-0003 Edgerton Crossing, Second Plat Located on the Southwest Corner of W. 200th 

Street and Homestead Lane 
6. FP2024-0004 Edgerton Crossing, Third Plat Located on the Northeast Corner of W. 200th 

Street and Jubilee Street 
 
Commissioner Mathos moved to approve the Consent Agenda. The motion was seconded by 
Commissioner Draskovich. The Consent Agenda was approved, 3-0. 

 

Regular Agenda 

7. Declaration. None  

 

Business Requiring Action 
 
New Business 

 
8. FSP2024-0006: FINAL SITE PLAN APPLICATION FOR MAVERIK LOCATED ON THE 

NORTHEAST CORNER OF W. 200TH STREET AND JUBILEE STREET 
 

a. Presentation from Josh Rabe for Final Site Plan Application FSP2024-0006 



 

 
 

City Council Action Item 
 
 

Council Meeting Date: October 24, 2024 
 
Department: Community Development 

 
Background/Description of Item:  
 
The City of Edgerton has received Application FP2024-0004 for the Final Plat of Edgerton 
Crossing, Third Plat, located at the northeast corner of W. 200th Street and Jubilee Street. This 
Final Plat request is a replat, combining two existing lots into one (1) C-2 (Heavy Service 
Commercial) zoned lot totaling 10.15± acres. There are no new public dedications included with 
this replat.  
 
The subject property and surrounding area was platted as Edgerton Crossing, First Plat, which 
was recorded with the County on August 25, 2022. The proposed lot is intended to be developed 
with a convenience store and gas station with truck parking, to be developed by Maverik. A 
Revised Final Site Plan (FSP2024-0006) was approved for the proposed development at the 
October 8, 2024 Planning Commission meeting.  
 
City staff has reviewed the Final Plat submittal for conformance with requirements of Section 
13.3 of Article 13 (Subdivision Approval Procedures) of the Edgerton Unified Development Code 
(UDC). This Final Plat has been reviewed by the City Engineer and found to be in compliance 
with City Code requirements.  
 
The Planning Commission voted to recommend approval of the Final Plat (FP2024-0004) for 
Edgerton Crossing, Third Plat with a 3-0 vote at their meeting on October 8, 2024.  
 
Related Ordinance(s) or Statue(s):  K.S.A. 12-741, K.S.A 12-749, K.S.A. 12-752. 
 
 
Funding Source:  N/A 
 
Budget Allocated: N/A 
 
Finance Director Approval: N/A 
 

Agenda Item: Consider Application FP2024-0004, Final Plat for Edgerton 
Crossing, Third Plat, Located At The Northeast Corner Of W. 200th Street 
and Jubilee Street, Edgerton, Kansas. 



 

 
Enclosed: 

• Final Plat dated August 22, 2024. 
• Staff Report from October 8, 2024 Planning Commission including Final Plat Application 

FP2024-0003 
• Excerpt of October 8, 2024 Planning Commission Meeting Draft Minutes – Edgerton 

Crossing, Third Plat portion only.  
 
Prepared by: Zachary Moore, Development Services Director 

Recommendation: Approve Application FP2024-0004, Final Plat for 
Edgerton Crossing, Third Plat, Located At The Northeast Corner Of W. 200th 
Street and Jubilee Street, Edgerton, Kansas. 



10' W/E
(BK. 202208, PG. 6945)

25' B/L (BK. 202208, PG. 6945)

WEST 199TH STREET
(ROW VARIES)

WEST 200TH STREET
(110' ROW)

JU
B

ILE
E

 S
TR

E
E

T
(80' R

O
W

)

            LOT 1A
441,990 ST. FT. OR

10.147 ACRES±

15' U/E (BK. 202208, PG. 6945)

10' W/E (BK. 202208, PG. 6945)

15' S/E (BK. 202208, PG. 6945)

S0
8°

14
'5

2"
W

  3
39

.8
0'

S88°29'11"W  317.19'C1

C2

C3

C
4

N
11

°4
8'

31
"E

  2
47

.5
9'

C
5

S72°22'53"E  199.13'

S
02°04'12"E

  485.41'

NORTH LINE OF THE NE 14 SEC.9-T-15S-R22E

NE CORNER SEC. 9-T-15S-R22E

FOUND 12" REBAR WITH PLASTIC CAP "LS 26"

30
' S

/E
 B

K.
 2

01
21

0,
 P

G
. 0

00
18

9)

S87°56'21"W
20.02'

125.09'

55'

55'

N88°29'11"E  319.06'

2529.37'
S

02°03'39"E
  2654.46' (B

A
S

IS
 O

F B
E

A
R

IN
G

S
)

40'40'

H
O

M
ESTEAD

 LAN
E

(R
O

W
 VAR

IES)

FOUND 12" REBAR
WITH ALUMINUM CAP "CLS 2"

E
A

S
T LIN

E
 O

F TH
E

 N
E

  S
E

C
.9-T-15S

-R
22E

N
02°02'18"W

  379.85'

S88°10'13"W  146.00'

N88°10'13"E  146.00'

68.82'

196.31'

S87°57'42"W  15.00'

10' W/E

82.53'

25.00'

S29°10'00"E

90.16' W/E (BK 202406, PG. 005714)

118.79'

S01°30'49"E
40.00'

S88°29'11"W
15.00'

N01°30'49"W
40.00'

25.00'

W/E (BK 202406, PG 005714)

CURVE TABLE

CURVE ID

C1

C2

C3

C4

C5

RADIUS (FT)

50.00

130.00

80.00

180.00

260.00

DELTA

061°31'24"

051°35'29"

085°49'23"

007°34'03"

013°50'49"

LENGTH (FT)

53.69

117.06

119.83

23.77

62.84

CHORD BEARING

N60°45'07"W

N55°47'09"W

N38°40'13"W

N08°01'31"E

N04°53'07"E

CHORD LENGTH (FT)

51.15

113.14

108.94

23.76

62.68

Olsson - Survey
Kansas COA #LS-114

 F
:\2

02
3\

07
00

1-
07

50
0\

02
3-

07
15

6\
40

-D
es

ig
n\

S
ur

ve
y\

S
R

V
Y

\S
he

et
s\

V
_P

P
LA

T_
02

30
71

56
.d

w
g

D
A

TE
:  

S
ep

 1
8,

 2
02

4 
 2

:0
4p

m
   

  U
S

E
R

: c
w

el
le

r

B
Y

R
E

V
.

N
O

.
D

A
TE

D
E

S
C

R
IP

TI
O

N

R
E

V
IS

IO
N

S

302 South 4th Street
Suite 110
Manhattan, KS 66502

olsson.com
TEL  785.539.6900
FAX  785.539.6901

project no.:
designed by:
drawn by:

date:

SHEET
of

R
ep

la
t o

f L
ot

 S
pl

it 
S

ur
ve

y

N
E

 1
/4

 S
ec

tio
n 

9,
 T

ow
ns

hi
p 

15
 S

ou
th

, R
an

ge
 2

2 
E

as
t o

f t
he

 6
th

 P
.M

.

C
ity

 o
f E

dg
er

to
n,

 C
ou

nt
y 

of
 J

oh
ns

on
, S

ta
te

 o
f K

an
sa

s
20

24

LMM
CW

023-07156
08.22.2024

1 1

SURVEYOR'S NOTES

1. BASIS OF BEARINGS: Bearings are based upon the East line of the Northeast Quarter of Section 9, Township, 15 South, Range 22
East of the 6th P.M., said line being monumented on the North end by a 12" Rebar with a Plastic Cap Stamped "LS 26" from which the
South end of the line, by a 12" Rebar, having a bearing of S02°03'39"E a ground distance of 2,654.46 feet as shown hereon.

2. Units shown are U.S. Survey Feet, ground distances.

3. This property is not located within the 100-Floodplain as shown on the Flood Insurance Rate Map (FIRM) for Johnson County Kansas
Map Number: 20091C0134G, Community Number: 080236, Panel 2080, Effective Date: 008/03/2009.

4. The use of the word "certify" or "certification" by a Registered Professional Land Surveyor, in the practice of Land Surveying, constitutes
an expression or professional opinion regarding those facts or findings which are subject of the certification and does not constitute a
warranty or guarantee, either expressed or implied.

5. Upon and after recordation, this plat shall supersede and replace all subdivision plats previously filed of record with respect to the
property described in this plat, with the legal effect that all such previously recorded plats shall be considered void and of no further legal
effect as applied to the property described in this plat, and that the property described in this plat shall be conclusively released from the
encumbrance of all such recorded plats upon and after recordation of this plat.

6. All dimensions match previously platted values unless otherwise noted.

SURVEYOR'S CERTIFICATE

I, Gregory Chad Weller, a Licensed Professional Land Surveyor in the State of Kansas, Do hereby state that this Replat of the Lot Split
Survey was prepared from an actual survey under my personal supervision, and that this plat is an accurate representation thereof, that the
monumentation as indicated hereon was found or set as shown, all this to the best of my knowledge, information and belief. This is Not a
Guaranty or Warranty, either expressed or implied.
On behalf of Olsson,

Gregory Chad Weller
Professional Land Surveyor
Kansas Registration Number: 1417

SURVEYOR
Gregory Chad Weller
Olsson, Inc.
302 S. Fourth Street, Suite 110
Manhattan, KS 66502
(785) 539-6900

LEGAL DESCRIPTION

All of Lot 1, Block 2, Edgerton Crossing, First Plat located in the Northeast corner of the Northeast Quarter of said Section 9,
Township 15 South, Range 22 East of the Sixth Principal Meridian, City of Edgerton, Johnson County, Kansas and contains
441,990 square feet or 10.147 acres more or less.

OWNERS

Kum & Go, L.C., an Iowa Limited liability company

Niki Mason, Chief Development Officer

Notary Certificate

State of )
) §

County of )

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this  day of , 2024 by

 as  for Kum & Go, L.C.

Notary Public

My commission expires:

ENGINEER
Kason Schwalm
Olsson, Inc.
550 St. Louis Street
Springfield, MO 65806
(417) 890-8802

DEVELOPER
Kum & Go
1150 Locust Street
Suite 301
Des Moines, IA 50309
(801) 521-4194

PLANNING COMMISSION APPROVALS:
Approved by the Planning Commission of the City of Edgerton, Johnson County, Kansas on this  day of  , 2024

Chairman: John Daley Date

Secretary: Tina Mathos Date

ZONING ADMINISTRATOR
Approved by the Zoning Administrator of the City of Edgerton, Johnson County, Kansas on this  day of  , 2024.

Zoning Administrator: Zachary Moore Date

Edgerton Crossing, Third Plat
A Replat of Lot 1, Block 2, Edgerton Crossing, First Plat

Located in the Northeast Quarter of Section 9, Township 15 South, Range 22 East of the Sixth Principal Meridian,
City of Edgerton, County of Johnson, State of Kansas

LEGEND

M Measured
R Recorded
ROW Right-of-Way
SEC. Section
B/L Building Setback Line
S/E Sewer Easement
W/E Water Easement
U/E Utility Easement

Found 12" with 2" Aluminum Cap "CLS 2"
(unless otherwise described)
Section Corner
Set 12" x 24" Rebar with Plastic Cap Stamped
 "OLSSON KSLC 114"
Centerline of Right-of-Way
Easement Line
Lot Line
Right-of-Way Line
Section Line
Subdivision Boundary Line
Access Control

E 14 CORNER SEC. 9-T-15S-R22E
FOUND 12" REBAR

GOVERNING BODY APPROVALS:
Approved by the Governing Body of the City of Edgerton, Johnson County, Kansas on this  day of  , 2024

Mayor: Donald Roberts Date

City Clerk: Alexandria Clower Date

DEDICATION

The undersigned proprietor of the above described tract of land has caused the same to be subdivided in the manner as shown
on the accompanying plat, which subdivision shall hereafter be known as "Edgerton Crossing, Third Plat."

The undersigned proprietor of said property shown on this plat does hereby dedicate for public use and public ways and
thoroughfares, all parcels and parts of land indicated on said plat as streets, terraces, places, roads, drives, lanes, parkways,
avenues and alleys not heretofore dedicated. Where prior easement rights have been granted to any person, utility or
corporation on said parts of the land so dedicated, and any pipes, lines, poles and wires, conduits, ducts or cable herefore
installed thereupon and therein are required to be relocated, in accordance with proposed improvements as now set forth, the
undersigned proprietor hereby absolves and agrees to indemnify the City of Edgerton, Kansas, from any expense incident to the
relocation of any such existing utility installations within said prior easement.

In accordance with KSA 12-512b, all rights obligations, reservations, easements, or interests not shown on this plat shall be
vacated as to use and as to title upon filing or recording of this plat.

Error Closure Report

North: 0.00162 East: -0.00098 Precision: 1:1393526.32

NW 1/4

9

SW 1/4

S
po

on
 C

re
ed

 R
oa

d

W. 199th Street

SECTION MAP
SECTION 9-T15S-R22E of the Sixth Principal Meridian

-Not To Scale-

W. 207th Street

NE 1/4

H
om

es
te

ad
 L

an
e

SE 1/4
I-35

Pepper Tree
Road

SITE

CONSENT TO LEVY
The undersigned proprietor of the above described land hereby agrees and consents that the Board of County Commissioners of Johnson
County, Kansas, and the City of Edgerton, Johnson County, Kansas shall have the power to release such land proposed to be dedicated for
public ways and thoroughfares, or parts thereof, for public use, from the lien and effect of any special assessment, and that the amount of
unpaid special assessments on such land so dedicated, shall become and remain a lien on the remainder of this land fronting or abutting on
such dedicated public way or thoroughfare.

LOT NO. BLDG AREABLDG ENV.



 
 
 
 
 
 

Edgerton Planning Commission  
October 8, 2024 

 

Page 1 of 3 

  
EDGERTON CROSSING, THIRD PLAT 

 

Application FP2024-0004   
Northwest Corner of W. 200th Street and Homestead Lane 

 

QUICK FACTS
  

 

 
 

 

PROJECT 
SUMMARY AND 
REQUESTED 
APPROVALS 
 
The Applicant is 
requesting 
approval of a 
Final Plat located 
on the northwest 
corner of W. 
200th Street and 
Homestead Lane. 
 
Owner and 
Applicant 
Nick Halfhill, 
Agent, Maverik, 
Inc. 
 
Existing Zoning 
and Land Use 
The property was 
rezoned to City 
of Edgerton C-2 
(Heavy Service 
Commercial) 
District on July 
14, 2011 (Ord. 
905). The 
property is 
currently vacant. 
 
Parcel Size 
10.15± acres 
 
Staff Report 
Prepared by 
Chris Clinton 

 
 

 

  



FP2024-0004 
Edgerton Planning Commission – October 8, 2024 

 

Page 2 of 3 

BACKGROUND 

 
1. Proposal 

This Final Plat request is being made in preparation for the development of a convenience 
store with fueling stations, which will be owned and operated by Maverik, Inc. A 2.15± acre 
parcel of land was previously split off from Lot 1 and was retained by the developer of 
Edgerton Crossing. That parcel is now owned by Maverik, and they wish to add it to their 
existing lot. This replat rejoins the previously split lot with the currently platted Maverik lot. 

 
2. Subject Site History  

The 10.15± acre subject property was annexed on February 24, 2011 (Ordinance 900) and 
was rezoned to the C-2 (Heavy Service Commercial) District on July 14, 2011 (Ordinance 905). 
On October 8, 2019, the Planning Commission approved a Preliminary Plat (PP2019-04) for 
the subject property and overall Edgerton Crossing development (then known as Lone Star). 
Pursuant to UDC Section 13.3.E.3, if a Final Plat is not approved for a portion or all of the 
subject property of a preliminary plat within a one (1) year period from the approval date, the 
preliminary plat becomes null and void. A Final Plat was not filed prior to the one (1) year 
expiration and Preliminary Plat PP2019-04 became null and void. On November 19, 2021, the 
Planning Commission approved Preliminary Plat Application PP2021-03 for the subject 
property. A Final Plat Application was then presented to the Planning Commission on April 12, 
2022 and was recommended for approval to the Governing Body. On April 28, 2022, the Final 
Plat was accepted and later recorded with Johnson County. A lot split was submitted and 
administratively approved, then was recorded with Johnson County on January 18, 2024.  

 

FINAL PLAT REVIEW 

 
City staff has reviewed the Final Plat submittal for compliance with the requirements in Sections 
13.3.G and 13.8 of the UDC. The replat proposes adjoining the previously split 2.15± acre lot to 
the previously platted 8.00± acre lot to total 10.15± acres. There is no minimum lot size in the 
C-2 (Heavy Service Commercial) District therefore, the proposed lot complies with UDC 
requirements. The setbacks shown on the lot also meets the UDC requirements for C-2 (Heavy 
Service Commercial) zoned parcels. The applicant has met all UDC requirements for plats and 
replatting.  
 
The Area Summary Table on the plat with the building envelope, which is the area of the site that 
could be built upon, is not accurate. The plat indicates the building envelope of 5,982 square feet, 
but when measured on the provided plat, the building envelope is 377,841 square feet. The 5,982 
square feet reflects the building size for the previously approved Final Site Plan for Maverik 
(FSP2024-0002). The City Engineer has indicated that an easement to Continental Telephone 
Company was included on a Title Report but was not shown on the plat. The applicant must 
provide clarification as to the location of that easement if it has not been vacated.  

 

NOTICE OF CITY CODES AND PERMITS 

 
The Applicant is subject to all applicable City codes – whether specifically stated in this report or 
not – including, but not limited to, Zoning, Buildings and Construction, Subdivisions, and Sign 
Code. The Applicant is also subject to all applicable local, State, and Federal laws.  
 



FP2024-0004 
Edgerton Planning Commission – October 8, 2024 

 

Page 3 of 3 

Various permits may be required in order to complete this project and the project may also be 
subject to obtaining permits and/or approvals from other local, County, State, or Federal agencies.  
 

DOCUMENTS INCLUDED IN PACKET 

 

Sheet # Title Date on 
Document 

1 Final Plat 09/18/2024 
 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

 
City Staff recommends approval of Final Site Plan Application FP2024-0004 Edgerton Crossing, 
Third Plat, subject to the following stipulations: 
 
1. Prior to Zoning Administrator certification of the plat, the following items must be 

addressed: 
a. The Building Envelope line in the Area Summary Table must be corrected to 377,841 

square feet. 
b. The easement to Continental Telephone Company must be shown on the plat if it has 

not been vacated. 
 

2. The commencement of any improvements shall not occur prior to the approval and 
endorsement of the Final Plat by the Governing Body and the submittal and approval of 
construction plans for all streets, sidewalks, storm water sewers, sanitary sewers, and 
water mains contained within the Final Plat. 
 

3. The applicant must meet all requirements of Recording a Final Plat as defined in Section 13.5 
of the Edgerton UDC, and all requirements of Financial Assurances as defined in Section 13.7 
of the Edgerton UDC. 
 

Note: For application FP2024-0004 the Planning Commission and the Governing Body 
must review and approve. The Final Plat will be presented to the Governing Body on 
October 24, 2024. 





 

 

 
PLANNING COMMISSION 
October 8, 2024 Minutes 

 
A regular session of the Edgerton Planning Commission (the Commission) was held in the 
Edgerton City Hall, 404 E. Nelson Street, Edgerton, Kansas on October 8, 2024. The meeting 
convened when Vice Chair Jeremy Little called the meeting to order at 7:00 PM. 
 
1. ROLL CALL 

 
Jeremy Little  present 
Tina Mathos  present  
Adam Draskovich  present 
John Daley   absent  
Jordyn Mueller  absent 
 
With a quorum present, the meeting commenced. 
 
Staff in attendance: Zachary Moore, Development Services Director 

Alex Clower, City Clerk 
     

2. WELCOME Vice Chair Little welcomed all in attendance to the meeting. 
 

3. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE All present participated in the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 
CONSENT AGENDA 
 
4. Minutes from the September 12, 2024 Planning Commission Meeting. 
5. FP2024-0003 Edgerton Crossing, Second Plat Located on the Southwest Corner of W. 200th 

Street and Homestead Lane 
6. FP2024-0004 Edgerton Crossing, Third Plat Located on the Northeast Corner of W. 200th 

Street and Jubilee Street 
 
Commissioner Mathos moved to approve the Consent Agenda. The motion was seconded by 
Commissioner Draskovich. The Consent Agenda was approved, 3-0. 

 

Regular Agenda 

7. Declaration. None  

 

Business Requiring Action 
 
New Business 

 
8. FSP2024-0006: FINAL SITE PLAN APPLICATION FOR MAVERIK LOCATED ON THE 

NORTHEAST CORNER OF W. 200TH STREET AND JUBILEE STREET 
 

a. Presentation from Josh Rabe for Final Site Plan Application FSP2024-0006 



 

Agenda Item: Consider Allocating 2024 Gas Tax Revenue to the 2023 
Street Preservation Program and Reducing the 2024 Street Preservation 
Program Budget 

Recommendation: Approve allocation of $2,062 of 2024 Gas Tax Revenue 
to the 2023 Street Preservation Program and Reduce the 2024 Street 
Preservation Program Budget from $148,270 to $146,208. 

 
 

City Council Action Item 
 
 

Council Meeting Date: October 24, 2024 
 
Department: Public Works 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Background/Description of Item: 
 
The 2023 Street Preservation Program was funded with Gas Tax revenue. At the time the 
2023-2027 CIP was prepared in October 2023, the Gas Tax revenue estimate from the 2024 
Budget was used to develop the project budget. At the end of 2024, the actual Gas Tax 
received was less than the estimate by $2,062. Unfortunately, at that point in the year, the 
project was complete, so the expenditures could not be adjusted. Staff is proposing to use 
2024 Gas Tax revenue to cover the 2023 Gas Tax revenue shortfall and reduce the 2024 
Street Preservation Program budget by $2,062.  
 
Related Ordinance(s) or Statue(s): N/A 

 
 
 
Funding Source: Special City/County Highway Fund (Gas Tax) 
 
Budget Allocated: $2,062 

Finance Director Approval:  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Enclosed: N/A 
 
Prepared by:   Karen Kindle, Finance Director 
  
 



 

Agenda Item: Consider Allocating Funding for LPKC Phase 1 Sewer 
Projects 

Recommendation: Approve Allocating $397,701 of Remaining 207th 
Grade Separation Funds to the LPKC Phase 1 Sewer Projects. 

 

City Council Action Item 
 
 

Council Meeting Date: October 24, 2024 
 
Department: Utilities 

 
 
 
 
Background/Description of Item: 
There were several sewer projects built by the developer of LPKC Phase 1 for which the City 
incurred easement/ROW acquisition costs, City Engineer and inspections. Sewer projects are 
not an approved cost for Home Rule Revenue Bonds under the LPKC Phase 1 Development 
Agreement. The projects and their costs are listed below. Staff recommends using funds that 
were left over when the 207th Grade Separation Project was completed to cover the City’s 
costs for these projects.  
 

Project Name Total Cost 
LPKC Interceptor Sewer Phase 1 $281,115 
LPKC Interceptor Sewer Phase 2 $ 73,748 
Big Industrial Sewer Phase 1 $ 18,301 
Big Industrial Sewer Phase 2 $     297 
Widmer Wastewater Lift Station $ 24,240 

Total $397,701 
 
Related Ordinance(s) or Statue(s): N/A 

 
 
 
Funding Source: Remaining 207th Grade Separation Funds 
 
Budget Allocated: $397,701 

Finance Director Approval:  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Enclosed: N/A 
 
Prepared by:   Karen Kindle, Finance Director 



 

Agenda Item: Consider Allocating Additional Funding for the Martin 
Creek Park South Fence Project 

Recommendation: Approve Allocation of $61 of General Fund 
Unencumbered Fund Balance to the Martin Creek Park South Fence 
Project. 

 
 

City Council Action Item 
 
 

Council Meeting Date: October 24, 2024 
 
Department: Public Works 

 
 
 
 
 
Background/Description of Item: 
 
During the 2024 Budget Process, Council approved $10,000 in funding from the General Fund 
to build a fence on the south side of Martin Creek Park. The fence was to provide a boundary 
along the property line with the farm field for the Frontier Days Festival. However, 
expenditures to complete the project were slightly more than estimated, leaving a deficit 
balance in the project of $61. Staff recommends transferring $61 from the unencumbered 
fund balance in the General Fund to the project to cover the deficit. 
 
Related Ordinance(s) or Statue(s): N/A 

 
 
 
Funding Source: Unencumbered Fund Balance – General Fund 
 
Budget Allocated: $61 

Finance Director Approval:  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Enclosed: N/A 
 
Prepared by:   Karen Kindle, Finance Director 
  
 



Agenda Item:  Consider a Three-Year Agreement with Varney & 
Associates, CPAs, LLC, to Prepare the City’s Financial Audit for Fiscal 
Years 2024, 2025 and 2026 

City Council Action Item 

Council Meeting Date:  October 24, 2024 

Department: Administration 

 
 
 
 

Background/Description of Item: 

Staff issued a Request for Proposals (RFP) for Audit Services on September 4, 2024.  Staff 
requested proposals for financial audit services for the fiscal years ending 2024, 2025 and 
2026. The previous RFP for Audit Services was done for the 2021-2023 financial statements. 
The RFP was e-mailed to a list of firms doing business with other government clients and firms 
who submitted a proposal to the City’s prior Audit RFP. The RFP was distributed to 
ElevateEdgerton! Members and placed on the City’s website. Proposals were due by 
October 4, 2024.  

The City received two proposals, as well as three decline letters. The two proposals are 
summarized below. 

Firm Name HQ Office Proposal Contact Audit Fee Single Audit Costs

Adams Brown, LLC Manhattan, KS Danielle M. 
Hollingshead, CPA

 2024:  $11,180  
2025:  $11,400
2026:  $11,625
Avg:    $11,402 

          $5,000
*Per Program 

 $500
In-Person 
Delivery 

Varney & Associates, CPAs, LLC Manhattan, KS April Swartz, CPA 9,500$  4,500$         Incl in fixed fee

Staff reviewed the proposals, and interviewed two firms: Adams Brown, LLC, and Varney & 
Associates CPAs, LLC. Staff feels both firms are qualified to perform the audit and can meet 
the City’s timeline for fieldwork and delivery of the final audit report. The price quote from 
Varney & Associates is 20% lower (averaged across all 3 years) than that of Adams Brown.  
Additionally, staff feels that future fiscal years may require a Single Audit, on one or multiple 
grant programs. Staff is more comfortable with Varney & Associates’ flat fee of $4,500 for 
Single Audit work, even if multiple programs require an audit. Adams Brown, on the other 
hand, charges a fee of $5,000 for each program involved in the audit.  

Varney & Associates expressed their commitment to continuous education and training of not 
only their staff but their clients as well. Specifically, they have offered a Credit for one 



Recommendation:  Approve the Agreement with Varney & Associates, 
CPAs, LLC, to Prepare the City’s Financial Audit for Fiscal Years 2024, 
2025 and 2026 for $9,500 Each Year and to Prepare the Single Audit, if 
Needed, for $4,500 Each Year, Subject to Approval by the City Attorney. 

Edgerton staff member to attend third-party training on the Kansas Municipal Audit and 
Accounting Guide (KMAAG) valued at approximately $250.  
 
The costs are more than what was included in the 2025 Budget by $2,248. Staff believes the 
overage can be absorbed by the existing operating budget for financial services.  
 
The engagement letter is still pending City Attorney review and approval. 
 
Related Ordinance(s) or Statue(s):  K.S.A. 44-1030 

 
 
Funding Source:  General Fund, Water Fund, Sewer Fund 
 
Budget Allocated:  $11,752 divided between the General Fund, Water Fund and Sewer 
Fund. 
 

Finance Director Approval:  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Enclosed: Engagement Letter with Varney & Associates, CPAs, LLC 
 
Prepared by:    Justin Vermillion, Sr. Accountant 



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
October 18, 2024 
 
 
 
 
City of Edgerton, Kansas 
PO Box 255 
Edgerton, KS  66021 
 
You have requested that we audit the fund summary statement of receipts, expenditures and unencumbered cash 
balances – regulatory basis of City of Edgerton, Kansas, as of and for the year ended December 31, 2024, and the 
related notes to the financial statement. We are pleased to confirm our acceptance and our understanding of this 
audit engagement by means of this letter.  
 
The objectives of our audit are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a 
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America (GAAS) and Kansas Municipal Audit and Accounting Guide (KMAAG) will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements, including omissions, can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment 
made by a reasonable user based on the financial statements.  
 
Supplementary information other than RSI will accompany City of Edgerton, Kansas’s financial statement. We will 
subject the following supplementary information to the auditing procedures applied in our audit of the financial 
statement and perform certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling the supplementary 
information to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the financial statement or to the 
financial statement itself, and additional procedures in accordance with GAAS and KMAAG. We intend to provide 
an opinion on the following supplementary information in relation to the financial statement as a whole: 
 

 Summary of Expenditures – Actual and Budget 
 Schedule of Receipts and Expenditures – Actual and Budget 

 
Auditor Responsibilities 
We will conduct our audit in accordance with GAAS and KMAAG. As part of our audit we exercise the professional 
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether 
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one 
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

 
 
 
 
 



 

 

October 18, 2024 
City of Edgerton, Kansas 
Page two 
 
Auditor Responsibilities (Continued) 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. However, we will 
communicate to you in writing concerning any significant deficiencies or material 
weaknesses in internal control relevant to the audit of the financial statements that we have 
identified during the audit. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall 
presentation of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the 
financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that 
achieves fair presentation. 

 Conclude, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether there are conditions or events, 
considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about City of Edgerton, Kansas’s 
ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable period of time. 

 
Because of the inherent limitations of an audit, together with the inherent limitations of internal control, an 
unavoidable risk that some material misstatements (whether caused by errors, fraudulent financial reporting, 
misappropriation of assets, or violations of laws or governmental regulations) may not be detected exists, even 
though the audit is properly planned and performed in accordance with GAAS and KMAAG. 
 
Our responsibility as auditors is limited to the period covered by our audit and does not extend to any other periods. 
 
Compliance with Laws and Regulations 
As previously discussed, as part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the financial statement is free of 
material misstatement, we will perform tests of City of Edgerton, Kansas’s compliance with the provisions of 
applicable laws, regulations, contracts, and agreements. However, the objective of our audit will not be to provide 
an opinion on overall compliance and we will not express such an opinion. 
 
Management Responsibilities 
Our audit will be conducted on the basis that management and, when appropriate, those charged with governance 
acknowledge and understand that they have responsibility: 
 

a. For the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statement in accordance with KMAAG, a 
regulatory basis of accounting; 

b. For the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of financial statement that is free from material misstatement, whether due to error, fraudulent 
financial reporting, misappropriation of assets, or violations of laws, governmental regulations, grant 
agreements, or contractual agreements; and 

c. To provide us with: 
i. Access to all information of which management is aware that is relevant to the preparation and fair 

presentation of the financial statement such as records, documentation, and other matters; 
ii. Additional information that we may request from management for the purpose of the audit; and 
iii. Unrestricted access to persons within the entity from whom we determine it necessary to obtain audit 

evidence. 
d. For including the auditor’s report in any document containing the financial statement that indicates that the 

financial statement has been audited by the entity’s auditor; 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

October 18, 2024 
City of Edgerton, Kansas 
Page three 
 
Management Responsibilities (Continued) 

e. For identifying and ensuring that the entity complies with the laws and regulations applicable to its 
activities; 

f. For adjusting the financial statement to correct material misstatements and confirming to us in the 
management representation letter that the effects of any uncorrected misstatements aggregated by us 
during the current engagement and pertaining to the current year period(s) under audit are immaterial, both 
individually and in the aggregate, to the financial statement as a whole; and 

g. For acceptance of nonattest services, including identifying the proper party to oversee nonattest work; 
h. For maintaining adequate records, selecting and applying accounting principles, and safeguarding assets; 
i. For informing us of any known or suspected fraud affecting the entity involving management, employees 

with significant role in internal control and others where fraud could have a material effect on the financials; 
and 

j. For the accuracy and completeness of all information provided. 
 
With regard to the supplementary information referred to above, you acknowledge and understand your 
responsibility: (a) for the preparation of the supplementary information in accordance with the applicable criteria; (b) 
to provide us with the appropriate written representations regarding supplementary information; (c) to include our 
report on the supplementary information in any document that contains the supplementary information and that 
indicates that we have reported on such supplementary information; and (d) to present the supplementary 
information with the audited financial statement, or if the supplementary information will not be presented with the 
audited financial statement, to make the audited financial statement readily available to the intended users of the 
supplementary information no later than the date of issuance by you of the supplementary information and our 
report thereon. 
 
As part of our audit process, we will request from management, written confirmation concerning representations 
made to us in connection with the audit. 
 
Reporting 
We will issue a written report upon completion of our audit of City of Edgerton, Kansas’s basic financial statement. 
Our report will be addressed to the governing body of City of Edgerton, Kansas. We cannot provide assurance that 
an unmodified opinion will be expressed. Circumstances may arise in which it is necessary for us to modify our 
opinion, add an emphasis-of-matter or other-matter paragraph(s), or withdraw from the engagement. 
 
Nonattest Services 
With respect to any nonattest services we perform: 
 

At the end of the year, we agree to perform the following: 
 
 Propose adjusting or correcting journal entries to be reviewed and approved by management. 
 Assist in preparation of the financial statement as of and for the year ended December 31, 2024. 

 
We will not assume management responsibilities on behalf of City of Edgerton, Kansas.  However, we will provide 
advice and recommendations to assist management in performing its responsibilities.  
 
City of Edgerton, Kansas’s management is responsible for (a) making all management decisions and performing all 
management functions; (b) assigning a competent individual to oversee the services; (c) evaluating the adequacy 
of the services performed; (d) evaluating and accepting responsibility for the results of the services performed; and 
(e) establishing and maintaining internal controls, including monitoring ongoing activities. 

 
 
 

 



October 18, 2024 
City of Edgerton, Kansas 
Page four 

Nonattest Services (Continued) 

Our responsibilities and limitations of the engagement are as follows: 

 This engagement is limited to the accounting services previously outlined. Our firm, in its sole professional
judgment, reserves the right to refuse to do any procedure or take any action that could be construed as
making management decisions or assuming management responsibilities, including determining account
codings and approving journal entries. Our firm will advise City of Edgerton, Kansas with regard to tax
positions taken in the preparation of the tax return, but City of Edgerton, Kansas must make all decisions
with regard to those matters.

Other 
We have identified the following significant risk as part of our audit planning: management override of controls - in 
all cases, audit standards require us to treat the potential for management override of controls as a significant risk 
during planning.  Audit standards have concluded that since management is in a unique position to perpetrate fraud 
because of management’s ability to manipulate accounting records and prepare fraudulent financial statements by 
overriding controls that otherwise appear to be operating effectively.  We will design and perform procedures to 
address this risk during our audit. 

We understand that your employees will prepare all confirmations we request and will locate any documents or 
support for any other transactions we select for testing. 

If you intend to publish or otherwise reproduce the financial statement and make reference to our firm, you agree to 
provide us with printers’ proofs or masters for our review and approval before printing. You also agree to provide us 
with a copy of the final reproduced material for our approval before it is distributed.  

Provisions of Engagement Administration, Timing and Fees 
During the course of the engagement, we may communicate with you or your personnel via fax or e-mail, and you 
should be aware that communication in those mediums contains a risk of misdirected or intercepted 
communications. 

April G. Swartz is the engagement partner for the audit services specified in this letter. Her responsibilities include 
supervising Varney & Associates, CPAs, LLC’s services performed as part of this engagement and signing or 
authorizing another qualified firm representative to sign the audit report. 

Our fees are based on the amount of time required at various levels of responsibility.  We estimate that our fee for 
the audit will not exceed $9,500. We will notify you immediately of any circumstances we encounter that could 
significantly affect this initial fee estimate. Whenever possible, we will attempt to use City of Edgerton, Kansas’s 
personnel to assist in the preparation of schedules and analyses of accounts. This effort could substantially reduce 
our time requirements and facilitate the timely conclusion of the audit. Further, we will be available during the year 
to consult with you on financial management and accounting matters of a routine nature.  If a Single Audit is 
Required, there would be an additional fee of $4,500. 

During the course of the audit we may observe opportunities for economy in, or improved controls over, your 
operations. We will bring such matters to the attention of the appropriate level of management, either orally or in 
writing. 

You agree to inform us of facts that may affect the financial statement of which you may become aware during the 
period from the date of the auditor’s report to the date the financial statement is issued. 



 

 

October 18, 2024 
City of Edgerton, Kansas 
Page five 
 
Provisions of Engagement Administration, Timing and Fees (Continued) 
We agree to retain our audit documentation or work papers for a period of at least five years from the date of our 
report. 
 
At the conclusion of our audit engagement, we will communicate to those charged with governance the following 
significant findings from the audit: 
 

 Our view about the qualitative aspects of the entity’s significant accounting practices; 
 Significant difficulties, if any, encountered during the audit; 
 Uncorrected misstatements, other than those we believe are trivial, if any; 
 Disagreements with management, if any; 
 Other findings or issues, if any, arising from the audit that are, in our professional judgment, significant and 

relevant to those charged with governance regarding their oversight of the financial reporting process; 
 Material, corrected misstatements that were brought to the attention of management as a result of our audit 

procedures; 
 Representations we requested from management; 
 Management’s consultations with other accountants, if any; and 
 Significant issues, if any, arising from the audit that were discussed, or the subject of correspondence, with 

management. 
 
The audit documentation for this engagement is the property of Varney & Associates, CPAs, LLC and constitutes 
confidential information. However, we may be requested to make certain audit documentation available to 
regulators pursuant to authority given to it by law or regulation, or to peer reviewers. If requested, access to such 
audit documentation will be provided under the supervision of Varney & Associates, CPAs, LLC’s personnel. 
Furthermore, upon request, we may provide copies of selected audit documentation to regulators. The regulators 
may intend, or decide, to distribute the copies of information contained therein to others, including other 
governmental agencies. 
 
Please sign and return the attached copy of this letter to indicate your acknowledgment of, and agreement with, the 
arrangements for our audit of the financial statement including our respective responsibilities.  We appreciate the 
opportunity to be your financial statement auditors and look forward to working with you and your staff. 
 
Please ensure that the governing body receives a copy of this engagement letter. 
 
Sincerely, 
 

 
Certified Public Accountants 
Manhattan, Kansas 
 
RESPONSE: 
This letter correctly sets forth our understanding of City of Edgerton, Kansas. 
 
Acknowledged, agreed and shared with governing body on behalf of City of Edgerton, Kansas by:  
 
Name: __________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
Title: ____________________________________________________________________ 



 

Agenda Item: Consider Submittal of Application to the Kansas 
Department of Transportation (KDOT) for a 2024 Innovative Technology 
Program Grant 

 
 

City Council Action Item 
 
 

Council Meeting Date: October 24, 2024 
 
Department: Public Works 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Background/Description of Item: 
 
The KDOT Innovation Technology Program is part of The Eisenhower Legacy Transportation 
Program (IKE) with $2M per year available for projects that leverage innovative technology that 
improve safety, leverage state funds to increase total technology investment and help both rural 
and urban areas of the state improve the transportation system.   
 
Innovative technology is defined as any technology that does not exist in the local community.  
The application is a two step process, with an initial Project Concept Form submitted and then 
after review, KDOT will provide an application.  A minimum of 25% is required as a cash match, 
with more participation looking favorably on an application.  Staff anticipates using language 
that leverages the dollars already included within the CIP for other transportation projects. 
 
City Staff recommends applying for this grant for two projects already approved in the CIP.  The 
initial application would be part of the 2025 Street Preservation Project.  The City is scheduled 
to have our roadways scored with a Pavement Condition Index (PCI).  A new technology is a 
phone app that is mounted to a vehicle, then after driving the roadways, the software provides 
the PCI for the road system. 
 
The second application is connected to 2nd Street Reconstruction.  Elements of 2nd Street that 
may qualify as innovative technology include smart cross walks and signage, some elements of 
street lighting, and innovative construction materials and/or devices related to stormwater, 
pavement, striping and possibly more. All materials will be considered with the 2nd Street project 
to increase likelihood of grant award. 
 
Throughout the application process, should additional/substitute projects be identified, City Staff 
would update Council at a future meeting.  If the City is notified of any grant awards, this too 
will be brought before Council for further approvals. 
 
 



Recommendation: Approve Submittal of Application to the Kansas 
Department of Transportation (KDOT) for a 2024 Innovative Technology 
Program Grant 
 

Related Ordinance(s) or Statue(s): 
 

 
 
 
Funding Source:     N/A 
    
 
Budget Allocated:  N/A 

Finance Director Approval:    
    
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Enclosed:  N/A 
    
 
Prepared by:  Dan Merkh, Public Works Director 
     



CITY OF EDGERTON, KANSAS 
 

COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 
 

 
 
Council Meeting Date:   October 24, 2024 
 
Agenda Item: Resolution Approving the Assignment of the Development Agreement 
 
Subject:   Dwyer Farms Housing Subdivision 
 

 
 
Kansas LD, LLC (Rausch Coleman Homes) (the “Developer”) has entered into a Development Agreement 
dated January 26, 2023 with the City for the development of the Dwyer Farms housing subdivision, which 
is a single-family housing subdivision on an 80.4 acre parcel located at the southwest corner of 207th 
Street/ Braun Street and 8th Street/Edgerton Road. It is anticipated that Dwyer Farms will have 275 single-
family homes.  
 
The Developer desires to assign the Development Agreement to ARG Land Holdings, LLC. Kansas LD 
and ARG Land are both Rausch Coleman entities. The development parties and contacts are not changing. 
Rausch Coleman has requested that the agreement be assigned from one of its development entities to a 
different development entity. 
 
The Development Agreement requires that the City consent to any assignment of the Development 
Agreement unless the assignment meets certain exceptions. The Resolution consents to the assignment of 
the Development Agreement to ARG Land and authorizes the Mayor to execute the Assignment of 
Development Agreement. 



 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 10-24-24B 
 

RESOLUTION CONSENTING TO THE ASSIGNMENT OF A 
DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT FOR THE DWYER FARMS 
RHID PROJECT 
_________________________________________________________ 

 
 WHEREAS, the City of Edgerton, Kansas (the “City”), and Kansas LD, LLC, a Kansas 
limited liability company (the “Developer”), have previously entered into a Development 
Agreement dated January 26, 2023 (the “Development Agreement”) for the development of a 
single-family housing subdivision located on 80.4 acres of land at the southwest corner of 
Edgerton Road and Braun, which upon completion is anticipated to contain 275 single-family 
homes; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Developer desires to assign the Development Agreement to ARG Land 
Holdings, LLC, an Arkansas limited liability company (“Assignee”); and 
 
 WHEREAS, Article VI of the Development Agreement requires, with certain exceptions, 
the written consent of the City to any assignment; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City desires to consent to the assignment of the Development Agreement 
to Assignee; 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE GOVERNING BODY OF THE 
CITY OF EDGERTON, KANSAS, AS FOLLOWS: 
 
 Section 1.  Consent to Assignment. The Governing Body hereby consents to the 
assignment of the Development Agreement from Developer to Assignee. The Governing Body 
approves of the form of Assignment of Development Agreement in substantially the form attached 
hereto as Exhibit A. 
 
 Section 2.  Execution of Assignment of Development Agreement.  The Mayor of the 
City is hereby authorized to execute the Assignment of Development Agreement, in substantially 
the form presented to and reviewed by the City Council at this meeting (a copy of which upon 
execution shall be filed in the office of the City Clerk), with such changes therein as shall be 
approved by the Mayor, the Mayor’s signature thereon being conclusive evidence of his approval 
thereof.  The City Clerk of the City is hereby authorized and directed to attest to and affix the seal 
of the City to the Assignment of Development Agreement. 
 
 Section 3.  Further Authority.  The City shall, and the officers, employees and agents of 
the City are hereby authorized and directed to, take such action, expend such funds and execute 
such other documents, certificates and instruments as may be necessary or desirable to carry out 
and comply with the intent of this Resolution and to carry out, comply with and perform the duties 
of the City with respect to the Assignment of Development Agreement. 



 -2- 

 
 Section 4.  Effective Date.  This Resolution shall take effect and be in full force 
immediately after its adoption by the Governing Body.  
 
 ADOPTED this 24th day of October, 2024. 
 
      CITY OF EDGERTON, KANSAS 
 
 
 
      By: _____________________________________ 
[SEAL]      Donald Roberts, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
______________________________ 
Alexandria Clower, City Clerk 

 
 
 

Approved as to form: 
 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Scott W. Anderson, Bond Counsel 
 



EXHIBIT A 
 

FORM OF ASSIGNMENT OF DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 



 Page 1 of 20 Dwyer Farms 
  Assignment of Development Agreement 

ASSIGNMENT OF DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 

This Assignment of Development Agreement (this “Assignment”) is made and entered into this 17th day of 
September, 2024, by and between KANSAS LD, LLC, a Kansas limited liability company (“Assignor”), and ARG 
LAND HOLDINGS, LLC, an Arkansas limited liability company (“Assignee”). 

RECITALS 

A. Assignor, as Developer, and CITY OF EDGERTON, KANSAS, a Kansas municipal corporation 
(“City”), as City, have entered into that certain Development Agreement dated effective as of January 26, 2023 (as 
amended from time to time, the “Agreement”), relative to the development of approximately 80.4 acres of 
unimproved land located at the southwest corner of Edgerton Road / West 8th and 207th Street / Braun Street in 
Johnson County, Kansas, and within the boundaries as more particularly described in the Agreement (together with 
all rights, obligations, representations and warranties of the Developer under the Agreement, collectively referred to 
herein as the “Property”).  A copy of the Agreement is attached hereto as Exhibit “A” and made a part hereof.  The 
capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein shall have the same meanings as in the Agreement.  

B. Assignor desires to assign the Agreement to Assignee, and Assignee is willing to accept an 
assignment of the Agreement, in accordance with the terms and conditions hereinafter set forth. 

AGREEMENT 

NOW, THEREFORE, for and in consideration of mutual covenants, agreements and obligations herein 
contained, Assignor and Assignee hereby agree as follows: 

1. Assignment.  Assignor hereby assigns all of its rights and delegates its obligations in and to the 
Agreement to Assignee.  

2. Acceptance.  Assignee hereby accepts the Assignment and delegation of the Agreement and 
assumes and covenants to perform all duties, obligations and liabilities of the “Developer” under the Agreement 
accruing from and after the date hereof, and agrees to hold Assignor, its successors and assigns, harmless from any 
and all claims, liabilities, actions, and demands of any nature whatsoever of the Developer under the Agreement 
accruing or arising out of the Agreement from and after the date hereof.  Assignor agrees to hold Assignee, its 
successors and assigns, harmless from any and all claims, liabilities, actions, and demands of any nature whatsoever 
of the Developer under the Agreement accruing or arising out of the Agreement prior to the date hereof. 

3. Representations and Warranties of Assignor.  Assignor hereby represents and warrants to 
Assignee as follows:  

(a) A true and correct copy of the Agreement is attached hereto as Exhibit “A” and made a 
part hereof and the Agreement has not been amended except by the amendments (if any) attached hereto as 
Exhibit “A”.  

(b) The Agreement is in full force and effect as of the date hereof.  To Assignor’s 
knowledge, the representations and warranties of City set forth in the Agreement are true and correct in all material 
respects.  Assignor has complied with all of the duties and obligations of the Developer under the Agreement which 
are required to be performed on or before the Effective Date of this Agreement, and Assignor has received no 
written notice from City as of the Effective Date of this Agreement claiming any default under the Agreement by the 
Assignor.  

(c) Assignor has the full power, right and authority to enter into this Assignment without the 
consent of any other party, except for any consent required from City pursuant to the Agreement, and this 
Agreement is a valid and binding agreement of Assignor, enforceable in accordance with its terms. 



 Page 2 of 20 Dwyer Farms 
  Assignment of Development Agreement 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Assignor and Assignee have executed this Assignment to be effective as of the 
date first written above. 

ASSIGNOR: 

KANSAS LD, LLC,  
a Kansas limited liability company 
 
 
By:        
Name: Scott A. Peters 
Title: Manager 

 
  

 
ASSIGNEE: 

ARG LAND HOLDINGS, LLC,  
an Arkansas limited liability company 
 
 
By:        
Name: Joshua T. Carson 
Title: Manager 

 



 

 Page 3 of 20 Dwyer Farms 
  Assignment of Development Agreement 

 
JOINDER 

 
The undersigned, being the City under the Agreement, hereby joins in the execution of this Assignment for the 
purpose of: (i) consenting to this Assignment of the Agreement by Assignor to Assignee pursuant to the terms of this 
Assignment; and (ii) confirming that as of the date of City’s execution hereof there is no default on the part of 
Assignor under the Agreement. 

 

CITY: 
 
CITY OF EDGERTON, KANSAS, 
a Kansas municipal corporation 
 
 
By:        
Name:  Donald Roberts 
Title:  Mayor 

[SEAL] 
 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
By:        
Name: Alexandria Clower 
Title: City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
Approved as to form: 
 
 
By:        
Name:  Scott W. Anderson 
Title: Development Counsel 
 



 

 Page 4 of 20 Dwyer Farms 
  Assignment of Development Agreement 

EXHIBIT “A” 
 

COPY OF DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
 
 



 Page 5 of 20 Dwyer Farms 
  Assignment of Development Agreement 



 Page 6 of 20 Dwyer Farms 
  Assignment of Development Agreement 



 Page 7 of 20 Dwyer Farms 
  Assignment of Development Agreement 



 Page 8 of 20 Dwyer Farms 
  Assignment of Development Agreement 



 Page 9 of 20 Dwyer Farms 
  Assignment of Development Agreement 



 Page 10 of 20 Dwyer Farms 
  Assignment of Development Agreement 



 Page 11 of 20 Dwyer Farms 
  Assignment of Development Agreement 



 Page 12 of 20 Dwyer Farms 
  Assignment of Development Agreement 



 Page 13 of 20 Dwyer Farms 
  Assignment of Development Agreement 



 Page 14 of 20 Dwyer Farms 
  Assignment of Development Agreement 



 Page 15 of 20 Dwyer Farms 
  Assignment of Development Agreement 



 Page 16 of 20 Dwyer Farms 
  Assignment of Development Agreement 



 Page 17 of 20 Dwyer Farms 
  Assignment of Development Agreement 



 Page 18 of 20 Dwyer Farms 
  Assignment of Development Agreement 



 Page 19 of 20 Dwyer Farms 
  Assignment of Development Agreement 



 Page 20 of 20 Dwyer Farms 
  Assignment of Development Agreement 

 



CITY OF EDGERTON, KANSAS 

COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

Council Meeting Date:  October 24, 2024 

Agenda Item: Resolutions Approving an Assignment of Bond Documents 

Subject:   ColdPoint Logistics Real Estate Phase 1 
ColdPoint Logistics Real Estate Phase 2 
ColdPoint Logistics Real Estate Phase 3 
ColdPoint Logistics Real Estate Phase 4 

The City issued a series of bonds in 2016 to finance the costs of constructing the ColdPoint project 
at the Logistics Park. In 2017, 2018 and 2019, the City issued a series of bonds to finance three expansion 
projects to the ColdPoint project. 

ColdPoint Logistics Real Estate desires to sell the building to Coldpoint Bidco, LLC, a Delaware 
limited liability company. The new entity is not affiliated with Northpoint Development. Accordingly, 
Northpoint will no longer be involved in the ownership or management of this project. 

There is a separate resolution approving the assignment for each series of bonds. Each resolution 
approves the Assignment and Assumption of IRB Documents.  A sample assignment is attached to this 
item summary as Exhibit A.  The Assignment transfers all of ColdPoint Logistics Real Estate’s interest 
in the Base Lease, the Lease Agreement, the Performance Agreement, the Origination Fee Agreement and 
the other bond documents for each project to the purchasing entity. Each resolution also approves a form 
of Agreement and Estoppel Certificate. A sample estoppel certificate is attached to this item summary as 
Exhibit B.  

The bond documents require that the City consent to any assignment.  Accordingly, each 
assignment has a consent page for the Mayor to sign acknowledging the City’s consent to the assignment. 

The assignment does not alter the amount or term of tax abatement for each phase of the project. 



EXHIBIT A 
 

SAMPLE ASSIGNMENT AND ASSUMPTION OF IRB DOCUMENTS 
 

  



 1 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

(Space above reserved for the Register of Deeds’ recording information) 
 
 

Title of Document: Assignment and Assumption of IRB Documents 
 
Date of Document: __________, 2024 
 
Grantor(s): COLDPOINT LOGISTICS REAL ESTATE, LLC, a Kansas 

limited liability company  
 
Grantee(s): Coldpoint Bidco, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company 
 
Grantee’s Address:  
 
Reference Book and Pages: Book 201701, Page 2409 
 Book 201808, Page 5012 
 Book 201701, Page 2410 
 Book 201808, Page 5013 
 
Legal Description: See attached Exhibit A 
          



 2 

ASSIGNMENT AND ASSUMPTION OF IRB DOCUMENTS 
 

THIS ASSIGNMENT AND ASSUMPTION OF IRB DOCUMENTS (the “Assignment”) 
entered into on _______, 2024 (the “Effective Date”) is by and between COLDPOINT LOGISTICS 
REAL ESTATE, LLC, a Kansas limited liability company (the “Assignor”), and COLDPOINT BIDCO, 
LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (the “Assignee”). 

 
RECITALS 

 
WHEREAS, the City of Edgerton, Kansas (the “City”) has previously issued its $36,100,000 

aggregate maximum principal amount of Industrial Revenue Bonds (Coldpoint Logistics Real Estate, 
LLC Project) Series 2016 (the “Bonds”) pursuant to a Trust Indenture dated as of December 1, 2016 (the 
“Indenture”), between the City and BOKF, N.A., as successor trustee (the “Trustee”), and used the 
proceeds of the Bonds to construct a Project (as defined in the Indenture); 

 
WHEREAS, Assignor leased the Project to the City pursuant to the Base Lease Agreement dated 

as of December 1, 2016, as supplemented by the First Supplemental Base Lease Agreement dated as of 
June 1, 2018 (together, the “Base Lease”), between Assignor and the City, a memorandum of which was 
recorded January 10, 2017, in Book 201701, Page 2409, as amended by a memorandum which was 
recorded August 16, 2018, in Book 201808, Page 5012, with respect to the property described on 
Schedule 1 attached hereto (the “Real Property”); 

 
WHEREAS, the City subleased the Project to Assignor pursuant to a Lease Agreement dated as 

of December 1, 2016, as supplemented by the First Supplemental Lease Agreement dated as of June 1, 
2018 (the “Lease Agreement”), between the City and Assignor, a memorandum of which was recorded 
January 10, 2017, in Book 201701, Page 2410, as amended by a memorandum which was recorded 
August 16, 2018, in Book 201808, Page 5013; 

 
WHEREAS, the City and Assignor entered into a Performance Agreement dated as of December 

1, 2016, as amended by the First Amendment to Performance Agreement dated as of June 1, 2018 
(together, the “Performance Agreement”), whereby the parties set forth the terms relating to tax 
abatement for the Project; 

 
WHEREAS, the City and Assignor entered into an Origination Fee Agreement dated as of 

December 1, 2016 (the “Origination Fee Agreement”), whereby Assignor agreed to make certain 
origination fee payments to the City over time; 

 
WHEREAS, the City and Assignor entered into a Bond Purchase Agreement dated December 5, 

2016 (the “Bond Purchase Agreement”), whereby City agreed to issue and Assignor agreed to purchase 
the Bonds on the terms and conditions set forth therein; 

WHEREAS, Assignor now desires to assign and transfer to Assignee all of Assignor’s right, 
title, and interest in and to the Indenture, the Base Lease, the Lease Agreement, the Performance 
Agreement, the Origination Fee Agreement and the Bond Purchase Agreement (collectively, the “IRB 
Documents”); 

 
WHEREAS, Assignee desires to accept such assignment subject to the terms and conditions set 

forth below; 
 
WHEREAS, the City and the Trustee desire to consent to such assignment and assumption. 
 



 3 

AGREEMENT 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the promises and for other good and valuable 

consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto agree as 
follows: 

 
1. Assignment.  As of the Effective Date, Assignor hereby sells, transfers, conveys, assigns, 

and delivers to Assignee all of Assignor’s rights and obligations under the IRB Documents (collectively, 
the “Assigned Interests”). 

 
2. Assumption.  Assignee accepts all of the Assigned Interests assigned by Assignor in 

Section 1 and assumes and agrees to pay, perform, and discharge promptly and fully when and as 
required all obligations and liabilities under the IRB Documents that accrue on or after the Effective Date. 
 

3. Delivery of documents; representations.  Pursuant to Section 13.1(a) of the Lease 
Agreement, Assignor represents that all conditions precedent to the assignment have been satisfied.  
Assignor represents that there has been no damage or destruction to the Project that has not been repaired, 
restored, and replaced in accordance with the terms of the Lease Agreement. 
 

4. Consent and release.  Pursuant to Section 13.1(a) of the Lease Agreement, the City 
consents to the Assignment of the IRB Documents from Assignor to Assignee.  Pursuant to Section 206 
of the Indenture, the City consents to the assignment and transfer of the Bonds from Assignor to 
Assignee.  The City releases Assignor from all liability under the IRB Documents occurring on and after 
the Effective Date. 

 
5. Assignor’s Representation.  Assignor represents that Assignor has not transferred, sold, 

encumbered, or otherwise disposed of the Bonds nor has Assignor assigned the Lease or transferred or 
encumbered or otherwise disposed of its interest in the Project.  Assignor further represents and warrants 
that Assignor is not aware of any default which exists on this date by it or the counterparty under the IRB 
Documents. 

6. Successors and Assigns.  This Assignment shall be binding upon and shall inure to the 
benefit of the parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns. 
 

7. Counterparts.  This Assignment may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of 
which shall be deemed an original but all of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument. 
 

8. Governing law.  This Assignment shall be interpreted and construed under the laws of 
the State of Kansas, excluding any conflict of law or choice-of-law rules that might lead to the application 
of the internal laws of another jurisdiction. 
 

9. Recording.  Assignee shall submit this Assignment for recording in the Office of the 
Register of Deeds of Johnson County, Kansas on or about the Effective Date. 
 

10. Direction to Trustee.  Assignor, as current sole owner of the Bonds hereby directs the 
Trustee to provide its acknowledgement of this Assignment.  
 

Upon the registration of the Bonds in the name of the Assignee, Assignee hereby provides written 
notice to the Trustee that it waives its right to actual payment of interest due on the Bond on such 
interest payment date, as well as the principal of the Bonds maturing on the maturity date.     



 4 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused their respective duly authorized 
representatives to execute this Assignment as of the Effective Date. 
 
      ASSIGNOR: 

 
       COLDPOINT LOGISTICS REAL ESTATE, LLC, 
       a Kansas limited liability company 
 

By: NPD Management, LLC 
       a Missouri limited liability company 
Its:  Manager 

 
 
 
       By ____________________________________ 

Nathaniel Hagedorn, Manager 
 

 
ACKNOWLEDGMENT 

 
STATE OF MISSOURI  ) 
    ) SS. 
COUNTY OF JACKSON ) 
 
 BE IT REMEMBERED, that on this ____ day of October, 2024, appeared Nathaniel Hagedorn, 
to me personally known, who being duly sworn did say that he is the Manager of NPD Management, 
LLC, the Manager of Coldpoint Logistics Real Estate, LLC, a Kansas limited liability company (the 
“Company”), and that the foregoing instrument was signed for the purposes therein contained on behalf of 
the Company and by authority of the Company; and he further acknowledged said instrument to be the 
free act and deed of the Company. 
 
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed my official seal, the day and 
year last above written. 
 
 
 
              
[SEAL]       Notary Public 
 
 
My commission expires __________________. 
 



 5 

 
        ASSIGNEE: 
 
       COLDPOINT BIDCO, LLC 
       a Delaware limited liability company 
 

 
 
By:_________________________________ 
 
 

 
 

ACKNOWLEDGMENT 
 
STATE OF ______  ) 
    ) SS. 
COUNTY OF    ) 
 
 BE IT REMEMBERED, that on this ____ day of ________, 2024, appeared _____________, to 
me personally known, who being duly sworn did say that he is the Manager of Coldpoint Bidco, LLC, a 
Delaware limited liability company (the "Company"), and that the foregoing instrument was signed for 
the purposes therein contained on behalf of the Company and by authority of the Company; and he further 
acknowledged said instrument to be the free act and deed of the Company. 
 
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed my official seal, the day and 
year last above written. 
 
 
 
              
[SEAL]       Notary Public 
 
 
My commission expires __________________. 
 
 



 

CONSENT OF THE CITY OF EDGERTON, KANSAS 
 

 
 The City hereby acknowledges, consents and agrees to the execution and delivery of this 
Assignment and Assumption of IRB Documents dated __________, 2024, between COLDPOINT 
LOGISTICS REAL ESTATE, LLC, a Kansas limited liability company, and COLDPOINT BIDCO, 
LLC, a Delaware limited liability company. 
  
       CITY OF EDGERTON, KANSAS 
 
 
[SEAL] 

      By:       
        Donald Roberts 
        Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_______________________________ 
Alexandria Clower 
City Clerk 
 
 
 

ACKNOWLEDGMENT 
 
STATE OF KANSAS  ) 
    ) SS: 
COUNTY OF JOHNSON ) 
 
 BE IT REMEMBERED that on this ___ day of October, 2024, before me, a notary public in and 
for said county and state, came Donald Roberts, Mayor of the City of Edgerton, Kansas, a municipal 
corporation duly authorized, incorporated and existing under and by virtue of the Constitution and laws of 
the State of Kansas, and Alexandria Clower, City Clerk of said City, who are personally known to me to 
be the same persons who executed, as such officers, the within instrument on behalf of said City, and such 
persons duly acknowledged the execution of the same to be the act and deed of said City. 
 
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed my official seal, the day and 
year last above written. 
 
              
[SEAL]       Notary Public 
 
       Typed Name:      
 
My commission expires __________________. 



 

ACKNOWLDGMENT OF TRUSTEE 
 

 BOKF, N.A., as successor trustee, hereby acknowledges the execution and delivery of this 
Assignment and Assumption of IRB Documents dated ___________, 2024, between COLDPOINT 
LOGISTICS REAL ESTATE, LLC, a Kansas limited liability company (“Assignor”), and COLDPOINT 
BIDCO, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“Assignee”). 
 
 The Trustee represents and warrants to the City of Edgerton, Kansas, Assignor, and Assignee that 
the Trustee has no knowledge of any default, monetary or otherwise, that has occurred under the terms of 
the IRB Documents. 
 
       BOKF, N.A. 
 
 
       By: _____________________________ 

 Wendee Peres 
  Vice President 
 

 
 
 

ACKNOWLEDGMENT 
 
STATE OF MISSOURI ) 
 ) SS. 
COUNTY OF JACKSON ) 
 
 On this ___ day of ____________, 2024 before me appeared Wendee Peres, a Vice President of 
BOKF, N.A., a national banking association, to me personally known to be the person described in and 
who executed the foregoing instrument, and acknowledged that he executed the same on behalf of said 
national banking association. 
 
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed my official seal, the day and 
year last above written. 
 
              
[SEAL]       Notary Public 
 
       Typed Name:      
 
My commission expires __________________. 
 
  



 

SCHEDULE 1 
 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION OF REAL PROPERTY 
 
 

 
Lot 1, LOGISTICS PARK KANSAS CITY RAIL SERVED – FIRST PLAT, a subdivision in 
the City of Edgerton, Johnson County, Kansas. 
 
  



EXHIBIT B 
 

AGREEMENT AND ESTOPEL CERTIFICATE 
 



AGREEMENT AND ESTOPPEL CERTIFICATE 
(City of Edgerton, Kansas and, for limited purposes as set forth below, BOKF, NA) 

 
TO: COLDPOINT BIDCO, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company 

(“PURCHASER”) 
COLDPOINT LOGISTICS REAL ESTATE, LLC, a Kansas limited liability 
company (“DEVELOPER”) 

  
RE: 
 
DATE: 

INDUSTRIAL REVENUE BONDS (COLDPOINT LOGISTICS REAL 
ESTATE, LLC PROJECT), SERIES 2016 (CITY OF EDGERTON, KANSAS). 
 
_____________, 2024 (the “Effective Date”). 

 

In connection with (a) the proposed sale by Developer to Purchaser of Developer’s fee interest in 
the industrial property known as 31301 W. 181ST Street, Edgerton, Kansas (the “Property”), and 
(b) the associated assignment by Developer and assumption by Purchaser of Developer’s rights 
and obligations under that certain: (i) Base Lease Agreement dated as of December 1, 2016, as 
supplemented by First Supplemental Base Lease Agreement dated as of June 1, 2018 (together, 
the “IRB Base Lease”), between Developer and the City of Edgerton, Kansas (“City”), with 
respect to the Property; (ii) Lease Agreement dated as of December 1, 2016, as supplemented by 
the First Supplemental Lease Agreement dated as of June 1, 2018 (together, the “IRB Lease”), 
between Developer and City; (iii) Performance Agreement dated as of December 1, 2016, as 
amended by First Amendment to Performance Agreement dated as of June 1, 2018 (together, the 
“Performance Agreement”), between Developer and City; (iv) Origination Fee Agreement dated 
as of December 1, 2016 (the “Origination Fee Agreement”), between Developer and City; (v) 
Bond Purchase Agreement dated December 5, 2016 (“Bond Purchase Agreement”), between 
Developer and City; and (vi) Trust Indenture dated as of December 1, 2016 (the “Indenture”), 
between City and BOKF, NA, as successor trustee (the “Trustee”), and (c) the associated 
transfer to Purchaser of all outstanding bonds issued by City pursuant to the Indenture and 
designated as $36,100,000 (Aggregate Maximum Principal Amount) City of Edgerton, Kansas 
Industrial Revenue Bonds (Coldpoint Logistics Real Estate, LLC Project), Series 2016 (the 
“Bonds”), City and Trustee (but as to Trustee, solely for the purpose of agreeing to the 
provisions of Section 8 and 9 hereof) hereby consent, agree with and certify to Purchaser and 
Developer, and their respective successors and assigns, as follows: 

1. Definition of IRB Documents.  The Bonds, Indenture, IRB Base Lease, IRB 
Lease, Performance Agreement, Origination Fee Agreement and Bond Purchase Agreement are 
collectively referred to as the “IRB Documents”. Capitalized terms used but not defined herein 
shall have the meaning ascribed thereto pursuant to the IRB Documents. 

2. IRB Base Lease.  Attached hereto as Exhibit A is a true, correct, and complete 
copy of the IRB Base Lease.  The IRB Base Lease has not been assigned, modified, 
supplemented or amended in any way, except for those assignments, modifications, supplements 
or amendments, if any, attached hereto as part of Exhibit A.  The IRB Base Lease is in full force 
and effect. 



2 

3. IRB Lease.  Attached hereto as Exhibit B is a true, correct, and complete copy of 
the IRB Lease.  The IRB Lease has not been assigned, modified, supplemented or amended in 
any way, except for those assignments, modifications, supplements or amendments, if any, 
attached hereto as part of Exhibit B.  The IRB Lease is in full force and effect. 

4. Performance Agreement.  Attached hereto as Exhibit C is a true, correct, and 
complete copy of the Performance Agreement.  The Performance Agreement has not been 
modified, supplemented or amended in any way, except for those assignments, modifications, 
supplements or amendments, if any, attached hereto as part of Exhibit C.  The Performance 
Agreement is in full force and effect. 

5. Origination Fee Agreement. Attached hereto as Exhibit D is a true, correct, and 
complete copy of the Origination Fee Agreement.  The Origination Fee Agreement has not been 
modified, supplemented or amended in any way, except for those assignments, modifications, 
supplements or amendments, if any, attached hereto as part of Exhibit D.  The Origination Fee 
Agreement is in full force and effect. 

6. Indenture.  Attached hereto as Exhibit E is a true, correct, and complete copy of 
the Indenture.  The Indenture has not been modified, supplemented or amended in any way, 
except for those assignments, modifications, supplements or amendments, if any, attached hereto 
as part of Exhibit E.  The Indenture is in full force and effect. 

7. Bond Purchase Agreement.  Attached hereto as Exhibit F is a true, correct, and 
complete copy of the Bond Purchase Agreement.  The Bond Purchase Agreement has not been 
modified, supplemented or amended in any way, except for those assignments, modifications, 
supplements or amendments, if any, attached hereto as part of Exhibit F.  The Bond Purchase 
Agreement is in full force and effect. 

8. Waiver of Bond Payments. Trustee agrees that so long as Purchaser is both the 
tenant under the IRB Lease and the Bondowner (as defined in the Indenture) of all of the 
outstanding Bonds on the applicable interest payment date (as set forth in the Indenture) and, 
with respect to repayment of principal, on the maturity date (as set forth in the Indenture), 
Purchaser shall have the right to waive, provided the Purchaser provides written notice to the 
Trustee of its exercise of such right, actual payment of interest due on the Bonds on such interest 
payment date, as well as the principal of the Bonds maturing on the maturity date, in which event 
it shall be deemed that Purchaser, as tenant under the IRB Lease, had paid all Basic Rent due 
under the IRB Lease on such interest payment date or maturity date, as applicable, and that 
Purchaser, as owner of all of the outstanding Bonds on such date, had received the full payment 
due on such outstanding Bonds on such date provided the Bonds are presented to the Trustee for 
cancellation on the maturity date. 

9. Bond Funds. The Trustee represents that the total principal amount of the 
outstanding Bonds as of the Effective Date is $____________. The amount held in the Bond 
Fund (as such term is defined in the IRB Documents) is $0.00.  There are no funds remaining in 
the Construction Fund (as such term is defined in the IRB Documents). 

 



3 

10. No Default under IRB Documents. City has not been notified of any default and 
to the best of City’s information and belief as of the Effective Date, neither City nor Developer is 
in default under the IRB Documents, and, to the best of City’s information and belief, no event 
has occurred and no condition exists that might, with the giving of notice or the passage of time, 
or both, constitute a default by City or Developer under the IRB Documents, or would otherwise 
permit a termination or modification by City under the IRB Documents.   

11. Additional City Certifications.  Without limiting the generality of the foregoing 
certifications, City also hereby certifies that, as of the Effective Date: 

(a) The final Certificate of Occupancy for the Property has been issued by 
City and is in full force and effect as of the Effective Date, and there are no further obligations to 
City on the part of Developer or any other person or entity to cause design, construction, 
completion or modification of, nor incur any additional costs associated with, the construction of 
the Project or to comply with the IRB Documents. 

(b) City has not asserted any claim for indemnification from Developer under 
any of the IRB Documents, and City is not aware of and has not been notified of, as of the 
Effective Date, any fact, event or circumstance that could be the basis of any such claim for 
indemnification. 

(c) There is no suit, action, proceeding or audit pending or, to the knowledge 
of City, threatened against or affecting City or the Property under the IRB Documents, at law or 
in equity, or before or by any court, administrative agency, or other governmental authority 
which brings into question the validity of the IRB Documents. 

(d) Developer has provided to City all reports, certifications, notices or similar 
documents required to be submitted by Developer under the IRB Documents through the 
Effective Date. 

(e) To the best of City’s information and belief, the Project has been 
completed in accordance with the IRB Documents and all applicable laws and requirements and 
is being lawfully occupied.  The City has received any and all notices and certificates required 
pursuant to Section 4.5 of the IRB Lease.    

(f) City deems this Agreement and Estoppel Certificate as constituting any 
and all notices of the transactions described herein that might otherwise be required under the 
IRB Documents. 
 

(g) City agrees that upon and after full execution of the Assignment and 
Assumption Agreement, Developer shall be relieved of any liability associated with the Project, 
the Bonds, and the IRB Documents.  
 

(h) City hereby confirms that the City’s assignment of the City’s rights and 
obligations under the IRB Lease to Trustee pursuant to that certain Assignment of Lease 
Agreement between City, as lessee, and Developer, as lessor, was a collateral assignment to 
Trustee that terminates upon full payment or cancellation of the Bonds.  



4 

  
12. City Authority.  City represents and warrants that it has all right, power, and 

authority to bind itself, and to execute and deliver this Agreement and Estoppel Certificate. 

City, and Trustee with respect to the provisions of Section 8 and 9, make the above 
agreements and certifications to and for the benefit and protection of Purchaser and Developer, 
and with the intent and understanding that they will be justifiably relied upon by them or any of 
them. Developer, as current sole owner of the Bonds hereby directs the Trustee to execute this 
Agreement and Estoppel Certificate. 

 
[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS] 

 



5 

Dated: October ___, 2024. 
CITY OF EDGERTON, KANSAS 
 
 
 
By:_____________________________ 
      Donald Roberts, Mayor 

 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
By:____________________________ 
      Alexandria Clower, City Clerk 
 
 
 



6 

BOKF, NA, as successor trustee 
 
 
 
By:  ___________________________________ 
  Wendee Peres 
  Vice President 
 

 



 

 

EXHIBIT A 
 

IRB Base Lease 
 
  
 
 
 
 



 

 

EXHIBIT B 
 

IRB Lease 
 
 
 
 



 

 

EXHIBIT C 
 

Performance Agreement 
 
 
 



 

 

 
EXHIBIT D 

 
Origination Fee Agreement 

 
 
 
 
 



 

 

EXHIBIT E 
 

Indenture 
 

 



 

 

EXHIBIT F 
 

Bond Purchase Agreement 



 

 

EXHIBIT G 
 

Form of Representation Letter 
 
 
 

  
 



RESOLUTION NO. 10-24-24C 
 

A RESOLUTION CONSENTING TO THE APPOINTMENT OF A 
SUCCESSOR TRUSTEE AND THE ASSIGNMENT OF A BASE LEASE, 
LEASE AGREEMENT AND OTHER BOND DOCUMENTS IN 
CONNECTION WITH THE CITY’S INDUSTRIAL REVENUE BONDS 
(COLDPOINT LOGISTICS REAL ESTATE, LLC PROJECT), SERIES 
2016, AND AUTHORIZING AN ESTOPPEL CERTIFICATE 
_______________________________________________________________________ 

 
 WHEREAS, the City of Edgerton, Kansas (the “City”) is a duly organized and existing 
municipal corporation under the laws of the State of Kansas; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City issued its Industrial Revenue Bonds (Coldpoint Logistics Real Estate, LLC 
Project), Series 2016 (the “Bonds”), in the aggregate maximum principal amount of $36,100,000, 
pursuant to a Trust Indenture dated as of December 1, 2016 (the “Indenture”), between the City and UMB 
Bank, N.A., as trustee (the “Prior Trustee”), for the purpose of acquiring, purchasing, improving, 
equipping and constructing a commercial project described therein (the “Project”); and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Project was leased by Coldpoint Logistics Real Estate, LLC, a Kansas limited 
liability company (“Coldpoint”), to the City pursuant to a Base Lease Agreement dated as of December 1, 
2016, as supplemented and amended by a First Supplemental Base Lease Agreement dated as of June 1, 
2018 (together, the “Base Lease”), between Coldpoint and the City, and the Project was subleased by the 
City to ColdPoint pursuant to a Lease Agreement dated as of December 1, 2016, as supplemented and 
amended by a First Supplemental Lease Agreement dated as of June 1, 2018 (together, the “Lease 
Agreement”), between the City and Coldpoint; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Coldpoint has requested that the Prior Trustee resign as trustee under the Indenture 
and that BOKF, N.A. (the “Successor Trustee”) be appointed successor trustee under the Indenture; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City is willing to consent to the appointment of the Successor Trustee as trustee 
under the Indenture; and 
 
 WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 6.2 of the Base Lease and Section 13.1 of the Lease 
Agreement, the Assignor may assign the Base Lease and the Lease Agreement only with the written 
consent of the City; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Coldpoint is requesting the City’s consent to the assignment of Coldpoint’s interest 
under the Base Lease, Lease Agreement, Indenture, the Performance Agreement dated as of December 1, 
2016, as amended by the First Amendment to Performance Agreement dated as of June 1, 2018 (together, 
the “Performance Agreement”), between the City and Coldpoint, the Origination Fee Agreement dated as 
of December 1, 2016 (the “Origination Fee Agreement”), between the City and Coldpoint, the Bond 
Purchase Agreement dated December 5, 2016 (the “Bond Purchase Agreement”), among the City, 
Coldpoint, as purchaser, and Coldpoint, as the company, and all other documents executed in connection 
with the Bonds that are included in the transcript of proceedings for the Bonds (collectively, the “Other 
Bond Documents”), to Coldpoint Bidco, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (the “Assignee”); 
and 
 



2 
 

 WHEREAS, the City desires to consent to the assignment of Coldpoint’s interest under the Base 
Lease, Lease Agreement, Indenture, Performance Agreement, Origination Fee Agreement, the Bond 
Purchase Agreement and the Other Bond Documents to the Assignee; and 
 
 WHEREAS, in connection with the assignment, Assignee has requested that the City deliver an 
estoppel certificate, and the City desires to approve such document; 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE GOVERNING BODY OF THE CITY 
OF EDGERTON, KANSAS, AS FOLLOWS: 
 
 Section 1. Consent to Appointment of Successor Trustee.  The Governing Body of the 
City hereby consents to the resignation of the Prior Trustee and the appointment of the Successor Trustee 
as trustee under the Indenture. 
 
 Section 2. Authorization and Execution of Appointment of Successor Trustee.  The 
Governing Body hereby approves of the execution and delivery by the Mayor of an agreement of 
resignation of the trustee and appointment and acceptance of successor trustee whereby the Successor 
Trustee is appointed trustee under the Indenture. The City Clerk of the City is hereby authorized and 
directed to attest to and affix the seal of the City, if required, to such document. 
 
 Section 3.  Consent to Assignment.  The Governing Body of the City hereby consents to the 
assignment of the Base Lease, Lease Agreement, Indenture, Performance Agreement, Origination Fee 
Agreement, Bond Purchase Agreement and the Other Bond Documents by the Assignor to the Assignee.  
The foregoing consents are contingent upon the satisfaction of all other requirements for assignments 
expressly set forth in the Lease Agreement. 
 
 Section 4. Authorization and Execution of Consent to Assignment.  The Governing Body 
hereby approves of the form of the Assignment and Assumption of IRB Documents (the “Assignment”), in 
substantially the form attached to the item summary presented to and reviewed by the Governing Body of 
the City at this meeting (a copy of which document, upon execution thereof, shall be filed in the office of the 
City Clerk).  The Mayor of the City is hereby authorized and directed to execute and deliver the consent to 
the Assignment for and on behalf of and as the act and deed of the City, in substantially the form presented 
to and reviewed by the Governing Body of the City.  The City Clerk of the City is hereby authorized and 
directed to attest to and affix the seal of the City, if required, to the Assignment. 
 
 Section 5. Authorization and Execution of Estoppel.  The Governing Body hereby 
approves of the form of the Agreement and Estoppel Certificate (the “Estoppel”), in substantially the form 
attached to the item summary presented to and reviewed by the Governing Body of the City at this meeting 
(a copy of which document, upon execution thereof, shall be filed in the office of the City Clerk).  The 
Mayor of the City is hereby authorized and directed to execute and deliver the Estoppel for and on behalf of 
and as the act and deed of the City, in substantially the form presented to and reviewed by the Governing 
Body of the City. The City Clerk of the City is hereby authorized and directed to attest to and affix the seal 
of the City, if required, to the Estoppel. 
 
 Section 6. Further Authority. The Mayor is hereby authorized and directed to execute and 
deliver such other documents, certificates and instruments as may be necessary or desirable to carry out 
and comply with the intent of this Resolution (copies of said documents shall be filed in the records of the 
City) for and on behalf of and as the act and deed of the City. The City Clerk is hereby authorized and 
directed to attest to and affix the seal of the City to such other documents, certificates and instruments as 
may be necessary or desirable to carry out and comply with the intent of this Resolution. 



3 
 

 
 Section 7. Effective Date.  This Resolution shall take effect and be in full force immediately 
after its adoption by the Governing Body of the City. 
 
 ADOPTED this 24th day of October, 2024. 
 

CITY OF EDGERTON, KANSAS 
 
 
 
By: _____________________________________ 

[SEAL]  Donald Roberts, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
___________________________________ 
Alexandria Clower, City Clerk 
 
 
 
Approved as to form: 
 
 
__________________________ 
Scott W. Anderson, Bond Counsel 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Assignment Resolution 
Coldpoint 1 



RESOLUTION NO. 10-24-24D 
 

A RESOLUTION CONSENTING TO THE ASSIGNMENT OF A BASE 
LEASE, LEASE AGREEMENT AND OTHER BOND DOCUMENTS IN 
CONNECTION WITH THE CITY’S INDUSTRIAL REVENUE BONDS 
(COLDPOINT LOGISTICS REAL ESTATE, LLC FIRST EXPANSION 
PROJECT), SERIES 2017, AND AUTHORIZING A COLLATERAL 
ASSIGNMENT, ESTOPPEL AND SUBORDINATION AGREEMENT 
_______________________________________________________________________ 

 
 WHEREAS, the City of Edgerton, Kansas (the “City”) is a duly organized and existing 
municipal corporation under the laws of the State of Kansas; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City issued its Industrial Revenue Bonds (Coldpoint Logistics Real Estate, LLC 
First Expansion Project), Series 2017 (the “Bonds”), in the aggregate maximum principal amount of 
$23,800,000, pursuant to a Trust Indenture dated as of October 1, 2017 (the “Indenture”), between the 
City and BOKF, N.A., as trustee (the “Trustee”), for the purpose of acquiring, purchasing, improving, 
equipping and constructing a commercial project described therein (the “Project”); and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Project was leased by Coldpoint Logistics Real Estate, LLC, a Kansas limited 
liability company (“Coldpoint”), to the City pursuant to a Base Lease Agreement dated as of October 1, 
2017, as supplemented and amended by a First Supplemental Base Lease Agreement dated as of June 1, 
2018 (together, the “Base Lease”), between Coldpoint and the City, and the Project was subleased by the 
City to ColdPoint pursuant to a Lease Agreement dated as of October 1, 2017, as supplemented and 
amended by a First Supplemental Lease Agreement dated as of June 1, 2018 (together, the “Lease 
Agreement”), between the City and Coldpoint; and 
 
 WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 6.2 of the Base Lease and Section 13.1 of the Lease 
Agreement, Coldpoint may assign the Base Lease and the Lease Agreement only with the written consent 
of the City; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Coldpoint is requesting the City’s consent to the assignment of Coldpoint’s interest 
under the Base Lease, Lease Agreement, Indenture, the Performance Agreement dated as of October 1, 
2017, First Amendment to Performance Agreement dated as of June 1, 2018 (the “Performance 
Agreement”), between the City and Coldpoint, the Origination Fee Agreement dated as of October 1, 
2017 (the “Origination Fee Agreement”), between the City and Coldpoint, the Bond Purchase Agreement 
dated October 20, 2017 (the “Bond Purchase Agreement”), among the City, Coldpoint, as purchaser, and 
Coldpoint, as the company, and all other documents executed in connection with the Bonds that are 
included in the transcript of proceedings for the Bonds (collectively, the “Other Bond Documents”), to 
Coldpoint Bidco, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (the “Assignee”); and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City desires to consent to the assignment of Coldpoint’s interest under the Base 
Lease, Lease Agreement, Indenture, Performance Agreement, Origination Fee Agreement, the Bond 
Purchase Agreement and the Other Bond Documents to the Assignee; and 
 
 WHEREAS, in connection with the assignment, Assignee has requested that the City deliver a 
collateral assignment, an estoppel and a subordination agreement, and the City desires to approve such 
documents; 
 



2 
 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE GOVERNING BODY OF THE CITY 
OF EDGERTON, KANSAS, AS FOLLOWS: 
 
 Section 1.  Consent to Assignment.  The Governing Body of the City hereby consents to the 
assignment of the Base Lease, Lease Agreement, Indenture, Performance Agreement, Origination Fee 
Agreement, Bond Purchase Agreement and the Other Bond Documents by the Assignor to the Assignee.  
The foregoing consents are contingent upon the satisfaction of all other requirements for assignments 
expressly set forth in the Lease Agreement. 
 
 Section 2. Authorization and Execution of Consent to Assignment.  The Governing Body 
hereby approves of the form of the Assignment and Assumption of IRB Documents (the “Assignment”), in 
substantially the form attached to the item summary presented to and reviewed by the Governing Body of 
the City at this meeting (a copy of which document, upon execution thereof, shall be filed in the office of the 
City Clerk).  The Mayor of the City is hereby authorized and directed to execute and deliver the consent to 
the Assignment for and on behalf of and as the act and deed of the City, in substantially the form presented 
to and reviewed by the Governing Body of the City.  The City Clerk of the City is hereby authorized and 
directed to attest to and affix the seal of the City, if required, to the Assignment. 
 
 Section 3. Authorization and Execution of Consent to Collateral Assignment.  The 
Governing Body hereby approves of the form of the City consent to Collateral Assignment of IRB 
Documents (the “Collateral Assignment”), in substantially the form attached to the item summary presented 
to and reviewed by the Governing Body of the City at this meeting (a copy of which document, upon 
execution thereof, shall be filed in the office of the City Clerk). The Mayor of the City is hereby authorized 
and directed to execute and deliver the consent to the Collateral Assignment for and on behalf of and as the 
act and deed of the City, in substantially the form presented to and reviewed by the Governing Body of the 
City.  The City Clerk of the City is hereby authorized and directed to attest to and affix the seal of the City, 
if required, to the consent to the Collateral Assignment. 
 
 Section 4. Authorization and Execution of Estoppel.  The Governing Body hereby 
approves of the form of the Consent, Agreement and Estoppel Certificate (the “Estoppel”), in substantially 
the form attached to the item summary presented to and reviewed by the Governing Body of the City at this 
meeting (a copy of which document, upon execution thereof, shall be filed in the office of the City Clerk).  
The Mayor of the City is hereby authorized and directed to execute and deliver the Estoppel for and on 
behalf of and as the act and deed of the City, in substantially the form presented to and reviewed by the 
Governing Body of the City. The City Clerk of the City is hereby authorized and directed to attest to and 
affix the seal of the City, if required, to the Estoppel. 
 
 Section 5. Authorization and Execution of Subordination.  The Governing Body hereby 
approves of the form of the Subordination/Attornment Agreement (the “Subordination”), in substantially the 
form attached to the item summary presented to and reviewed by the Governing Body of the City at this 
meeting (a copy of which document, upon execution thereof, shall be filed in the office of the City Clerk).  
The Mayor of the City is hereby authorized and directed to execute and deliver the Subordination for and on 
behalf of and as the act and deed of the City, in substantially the form presented to and reviewed by the 
Governing Body of the City. The City Clerk of the City is hereby authorized and directed to attest to and 
affix the seal of the City, if required, to the Subordination. 
 
 Section 6. Further Authority. The Mayor is hereby authorized and directed to execute and 
deliver such other documents, certificates and instruments as may be necessary or desirable to carry out 
and comply with the intent of this Resolution (copies of said documents shall be filed in the records of the 



3 
 

City) for and on behalf of and as the act and deed of the City. The City Clerk is hereby authorized and 
directed to attest to and affix the seal of the City to such other documents, certificates and instruments as 
may be necessary or desirable to carry out and comply with the intent of this Resolution. 
 
 Section 7. Effective Date.  This Resolution shall take effect and be in full force immediately 
after its adoption by the Governing Body of the City. 
 
 ADOPTED this 24th day of October, 2024. 
 

CITY OF EDGERTON, KANSAS 
 
 
 
By: _____________________________________ 

[SEAL]  Donald Roberts, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
___________________________________ 
Alexandria Clower, City Clerk 
 
 
 
Approved as to form: 
 
 
 
__________________________ 
Scott W. Anderson, Bond Counsel 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Assignment Resolution 
Coldpoint 2 
 



RESOLUTION NO. 10-24-24E 
 

A RESOLUTION CONSENTING TO THE ASSIGNMENT OF A BASE 
LEASE, LEASE AGREEMENT AND OTHER BOND DOCUMENTS IN 
CONNECTION WITH THE CITY’S INDUSTRIAL REVENUE BONDS 
(COLDPOINT LOGISTICS REAL ESTATE, LLC SECOND EXPANSION 
PROJECT), SERIES 2018, AND AUTHORIZING A COLLATERAL 
ASSIGNMENT, ESTOPPEL AND SUBORDINATION AGREEMENT 
_______________________________________________________________________ 

 
 WHEREAS, the City of Edgerton, Kansas (the “City”) is a duly organized and existing 
municipal corporation under the laws of the State of Kansas; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City issued its Industrial Revenue Bonds (Coldpoint Logistics Real Estate, LLC 
Second Expansion Project), Series 2018 (the “Bonds”), in the aggregate maximum principal amount of 
$28,000,000, pursuant to a Trust Indenture dated as of May 1, 2018 (the “Indenture”), between the City 
and BOKF, N.A., as trustee (the “Trustee”), for the purpose of acquiring, purchasing, improving, 
equipping and constructing a commercial project described therein (the “Project”); and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Project was leased by Coldpoint Logistics Real Estate, LLC, a Kansas limited 
liability company (“Coldpoint”), to the City pursuant to a Base Lease Agreement dated as of May 1, 2018 
(the “Base Lease”), between Coldpoint and the City, and the Project was subleased by the City to 
ColdPoint pursuant to a Lease Agreement dated as of May 1, 2018 (the “Lease Agreement”), between the 
City and Coldpoint; and 
 
 WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 6.2 of the Base Lease and Section 13.1 of the Lease 
Agreement, Coldpoint may assign the Base Lease and the Lease Agreement only with the written consent 
of the City; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Coldpoint is requesting the City’s consent to the assignment of Coldpoint’s interest 
under the Base Lease, Lease Agreement, Indenture, the Performance Agreement dated as of May 1, 2018, 
(the “Performance Agreement”), between the City and Coldpoint, the Origination Fee Agreement dated as 
of May 1, 2018 (the “Origination Fee Agreement”), between the City and Coldpoint, the Bond Purchase 
Agreement dated May 29, 2018 (the “Bond Purchase Agreement”), among the City, Coldpoint, as 
purchaser, and Coldpoint, as the company, and all other documents executed in connection with the 
Bonds that are included in the transcript of proceedings for the Bonds (collectively, the “Other Bond 
Documents”), to Coldpoint Bidco, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (the “Assignee”); and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City desires to consent to the assignment of Coldpoint’s interest under the Base 
Lease, Lease Agreement, Indenture, Performance Agreement, Origination Fee Agreement, the Bond 
Purchase Agreement and the Other Bond Documents to the Assignee; and 
 
 WHEREAS, in connection with the assignment, Assignee has requested that the City deliver a 
collateral assignment, an estoppel and a subordination agreement, and the City desires to approve such 
documents; 
 



2 
 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE GOVERNING BODY OF THE CITY 
OF EDGERTON, KANSAS, AS FOLLOWS: 
 
 Section 1.  Consent to Assignment.  The Governing Body of the City hereby consents to the 
assignment of the Base Lease, Lease Agreement, Indenture, Performance Agreement, Origination Fee 
Agreement, Bond Purchase Agreement and the Other Bond Documents by the Assignor to the Assignee.  
The foregoing consents are contingent upon the satisfaction of all other requirements for assignments 
expressly set forth in the Lease Agreement. 
 
 Section 2. Authorization and Execution of Consent to Assignment.  The Governing Body 
hereby approves of the form of the Assignment and Assumption of IRB Documents (the “Assignment”), in 
substantially the form attached to the item summary presented to and reviewed by the Governing Body of 
the City at this meeting (a copy of which document, upon execution thereof, shall be filed in the office of the 
City Clerk).  The Mayor of the City is hereby authorized and directed to execute and deliver the consent to 
the Assignment for and on behalf of and as the act and deed of the City, in substantially the form presented 
to and reviewed by the Governing Body of the City.  The City Clerk of the City is hereby authorized and 
directed to attest to and affix the seal of the City, if required, to the Assignment. 
 
 Section 3. Authorization and Execution of Consent to Collateral Assignment.  The 
Governing Body hereby approves of the form of the City consent to Collateral Assignment of IRB 
Documents (the “Collateral Assignment”), in substantially the form attached to the item summary presented 
to and reviewed by the Governing Body of the City at this meeting (a copy of which document, upon 
execution thereof, shall be filed in the office of the City Clerk). The Mayor of the City is hereby authorized 
and directed to execute and deliver the consent to the Collateral Assignment for and on behalf of and as the 
act and deed of the City, in substantially the form presented to and reviewed by the Governing Body of the 
City.  The City Clerk of the City is hereby authorized and directed to attest to and affix the seal of the City, 
if required, to the consent to the Collateral Assignment. 
 
 Section 4. Authorization and Execution of Estoppel.  The Governing Body hereby 
approves of the form of the Consent, Agreement and Estoppel Certificate (the “Estoppel”), in substantially 
the form attached to the item summary presented to and reviewed by the Governing Body of the City at this 
meeting (a copy of which document, upon execution thereof, shall be filed in the office of the City Clerk).  
The Mayor of the City is hereby authorized and directed to execute and deliver the Estoppel for and on 
behalf of and as the act and deed of the City, in substantially the form presented to and reviewed by the 
Governing Body of the City. The City Clerk of the City is hereby authorized and directed to attest to and 
affix the seal of the City, if required, to the Estoppel. 
 
 Section 5. Authorization and Execution of Subordination.  The Governing Body hereby 
approves of the form of the Subordination/Attornment Agreement (the “Subordination”), in substantially the 
form attached to the item summary presented to and reviewed by the Governing Body of the City at this 
meeting (a copy of which document, upon execution thereof, shall be filed in the office of the City Clerk).  
The Mayor of the City is hereby authorized and directed to execute and deliver the Subordination for and on 
behalf of and as the act and deed of the City, in substantially the form presented to and reviewed by the 
Governing Body of the City. The City Clerk of the City is hereby authorized and directed to attest to and 
affix the seal of the City, if required, to the Subordination. 
 
 Section 6. Further Authority. The Mayor is hereby authorized and directed to execute and 
deliver such other documents, certificates and instruments as may be necessary or desirable to carry out 
and comply with the intent of this Resolution (copies of said documents shall be filed in the records of the 



3 
 

City) for and on behalf of and as the act and deed of the City. The City Clerk is hereby authorized and 
directed to attest to and affix the seal of the City to such other documents, certificates and instruments as 
may be necessary or desirable to carry out and comply with the intent of this Resolution. 
 
 Section 7. Effective Date.  This Resolution shall take effect and be in full force immediately 
after its adoption by the Governing Body of the City. 
 
 ADOPTED this 24th day of October, 2024. 
 

CITY OF EDGERTON, KANSAS 
 
 
 
By: _____________________________________ 

[SEAL]  Donald Roberts, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
___________________________________ 
Alexandria Clower, City Clerk 
 
 
 
Approved as to form: 
 
 
 
__________________________ 
Scott W. Anderson, Bond Counsel 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Assignment Resolution 
Coldpoint 3 
 



RESOLUTION NO. 10-24-24F 
 

A RESOLUTION CONSENTING TO THE ASSIGNMENT OF A BASE 
LEASE, LEASE AGREEMENT AND OTHER BOND DOCUMENTS IN 
CONNECTION WITH THE CITY’S INDUSTRIAL REVENUE BONDS 
(COLDPOINT LOGISTICS REAL ESTATE, LLC THIRD EXPANSION 
PROJECT), SERIES 2019, AND AUTHORIZING A COLLATERAL 
ASSIGNMENT, ESTOPPEL AND SUBORDINATION AGREEMENT 
_______________________________________________________________________ 

 
 WHEREAS, the City of Edgerton, Kansas (the “City”) is a duly organized and existing 
municipal corporation under the laws of the State of Kansas; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City issued its Industrial Revenue Bonds (Coldpoint Logistics Real Estate, LLC 
Third Expansion Project), Series 2019 (the “Bonds”), in the aggregate maximum principal amount of 
$26,000,000, pursuant to a Trust Indenture dated as of September 1, 2019 (the “Indenture”), between the 
City and BOKF, N.A., as trustee (the “Trustee”), for the purpose of acquiring, purchasing, improving, 
equipping and constructing a commercial project described therein (the “Project”); and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Project was leased by Coldpoint Logistics Real Estate, LLC, a Kansas limited 
liability company (“Coldpoint”), to the City pursuant to a Base Lease Agreement dated as of September 1, 
2019 (the “Base Lease”), between Coldpoint and the City, and the Project was subleased by the City to 
ColdPoint pursuant to a Lease Agreement dated as of September 1, 2019 (the “Lease Agreement”), 
between the City and Coldpoint; and 
 
 WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 6.2 of the Base Lease and Section 13.1 of the Lease 
Agreement, Coldpoint may assign the Base Lease and the Lease Agreement only with the written consent 
of the City; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Coldpoint is requesting the City’s consent to the assignment of Coldpoint’s interest 
under the Base Lease, Lease Agreement, Indenture, the Performance Agreement dated as of September 1, 
2019, (the “Performance Agreement”), between the City and Coldpoint, the Origination Fee Agreement 
dated as of September 1, 2019 (the “Origination Fee Agreement”), between the City and Coldpoint, the 
Bond Purchase Agreement dated September 23, 2019 (the “Bond Purchase Agreement”), among the City, 
Coldpoint, as purchaser, and Coldpoint, as the company, and all other documents executed in connection 
with the Bonds that are included in the transcript of proceedings for the Bonds (collectively, the “Other 
Bond Documents”), to Coldpoint Bidco, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (the “Assignee”); 
and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City desires to consent to the assignment of Coldpoint’s interest under the Base 
Lease, Lease Agreement, Indenture, Performance Agreement, Origination Fee Agreement, the Bond 
Purchase Agreement and the Other Bond Documents to the Assignee; and 
 
 WHEREAS, in connection with the assignment, Assignee has requested that the City deliver a 
collateral assignment, an estoppel and a subordination agreement, and the City desires to approve such 
documents; 
 



2 
 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE GOVERNING BODY OF THE CITY 
OF EDGERTON, KANSAS, AS FOLLOWS: 
 
 Section 1.  Consent to Assignment.  The Governing Body of the City hereby consents to the 
assignment of the Base Lease, Lease Agreement, Indenture, Performance Agreement, Origination Fee 
Agreement, Bond Purchase Agreement and the Other Bond Documents by the Assignor to the Assignee.  
The foregoing consents are contingent upon the satisfaction of all other requirements for assignments 
expressly set forth in the Lease Agreement. 
 
 Section 2. Authorization and Execution of Consent to Assignment.  The Governing Body 
hereby approves of the form of the Assignment and Assumption of IRB Documents (the “Assignment”), in 
substantially the form attached to the item summary presented to and reviewed by the Governing Body of 
the City at this meeting (a copy of which document, upon execution thereof, shall be filed in the office of the 
City Clerk).  The Mayor of the City is hereby authorized and directed to execute and deliver the consent to 
the Assignment for and on behalf of and as the act and deed of the City, in substantially the form presented 
to and reviewed by the Governing Body of the City.  The City Clerk of the City is hereby authorized and 
directed to attest to and affix the seal of the City, if required, to the Assignment. 
 
 Section 3. Authorization and Execution of Consent to Collateral Assignment.  The 
Governing Body hereby approves of the form of the City consent to Collateral Assignment of IRB 
Documents (the “Collateral Assignment”), in substantially the form attached to the item summary presented 
to and reviewed by the Governing Body of the City at this meeting (a copy of which document, upon 
execution thereof, shall be filed in the office of the City Clerk). The Mayor of the City is hereby authorized 
and directed to execute and deliver the consent to the Collateral Assignment for and on behalf of and as the 
act and deed of the City, in substantially the form presented to and reviewed by the Governing Body of the 
City.  The City Clerk of the City is hereby authorized and directed to attest to and affix the seal of the City, 
if required, to the consent to the Collateral Assignment. 
 
 Section 4. Authorization and Execution of Estoppel.  The Governing Body hereby 
approves of the form of the Consent, Agreement and Estoppel Certificate (the “Estoppel”), in substantially 
the form attached to the item summary presented to and reviewed by the Governing Body of the City at this 
meeting (a copy of which document, upon execution thereof, shall be filed in the office of the City Clerk).  
The Mayor of the City is hereby authorized and directed to execute and deliver the Estoppel for and on 
behalf of and as the act and deed of the City, in substantially the form presented to and reviewed by the 
Governing Body of the City. The City Clerk of the City is hereby authorized and directed to attest to and 
affix the seal of the City, if required, to the Estoppel. 
 
 Section 5. Authorization and Execution of Subordination.  The Governing Body hereby 
approves of the form of the Subordination/Attornment Agreement (the “Subordination”), in substantially the 
form attached to the item summary presented to and reviewed by the Governing Body of the City at this 
meeting (a copy of which document, upon execution thereof, shall be filed in the office of the City Clerk).  
The Mayor of the City is hereby authorized and directed to execute and deliver the Subordination for and on 
behalf of and as the act and deed of the City, in substantially the form presented to and reviewed by the 
Governing Body of the City. The City Clerk of the City is hereby authorized and directed to attest to and 
affix the seal of the City, if required, to the Subordination. 
 
 Section 6. Further Authority. The Mayor is hereby authorized and directed to execute and 
deliver such other documents, certificates and instruments as may be necessary or desirable to carry out 
and comply with the intent of this Resolution (copies of said documents shall be filed in the records of the 



3 
 

City) for and on behalf of and as the act and deed of the City. The City Clerk is hereby authorized and 
directed to attest to and affix the seal of the City to such other documents, certificates and instruments as 
may be necessary or desirable to carry out and comply with the intent of this Resolution. 
 
 Section 7. Effective Date.  This Resolution shall take effect and be in full force immediately 
after its adoption by the Governing Body of the City. 
 
 ADOPTED this 24th day of October, 2024. 
 

CITY OF EDGERTON, KANSAS 
 
 
 
By: _____________________________________ 

[SEAL]  Donald Roberts, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
___________________________________ 
Alexandria Clower, City Clerk 
 
 
 
Approved as to form: 
 
 
 
__________________________ 
Scott W. Anderson, Bond Counsel 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Assignment Resolution 
Coldpoint 4 
 



 
CITY OF EDGERTON, KANSAS 

 
COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

 
 

 
Council Meeting Date:   October 24, 2024 
 
Agenda Item: Resolution Approving an Assignment of Bond Documents 
 
Subject:   ELHC 33 Project 
 

 
 

ELHC XXXIII, LLC previously constructed a 927,000 sq. ft. warehouse and distribution facility 
located at 31100 W. 196th Street. The City financed the project with $46,350,000 of industrial revenue 
bonds which were issued in 2016. 

 
 In 2017, ELHC assigned the project to IPXXXIII 196 Street LLC. This entity is a joint venture 
between NorthPoint Development and Ares, which is a global real estate investment fund. 
 
 The joint venture entity now desires to assign the project to NHNR Hold Co 14, LLC. The NHNR 
entity is a real estate investment fund affiliated with Morgan Stanley. Northpoint will no longer be 
involved in the ownership or management of this building. 
 
 Property tax abatement on this project runs from 2017 through 2026. The assignment does not 
alter the amount or term of tax abatement. 



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

(Space above reserved for the Register of Deeds’ recording information) 
 
 

Title of Document: Assignment and Assumption of IRB Documents 
 
Date of Document: _________, 2024 
 
Grantor(s): IPXXXIII 196 STREET LLC, a Delaware limited liability 

company  
 
Grantee(s): NHNR HOLD CO 14, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company  
 
Grantee’s Address: c/o Morgan Stanley Real Estate Investing, 1585 Broadway, New 

York, New York 10036 
 
Reference Book and Pages: Book 201608, Page 010751 
 Book 201608, Page 010752 
 
Legal Description: See attached Exhibit A 
          

  



2 

ASSIGNMENT AND ASSUMPTION OF IRB DOCUMENTS 
 

THIS ASSIGNMENT AND ASSUMPTION OF IRB DOCUMENTS (the “Assignment”) 
entered into on ______________, 2024 (the “Effective Date”) is by and between IPXXXIII 196 STREET 
LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (the “Assignor”), and NHNR HOLD CO 14, LLC, a Delaware 
limited liability company (the “Assignee”). 

 
RECITALS 

 
WHEREAS, the City of Edgerton, Kansas (the “City”) has previously issued its $46,350,000 

aggregate maximum principal amount of Industrial Revenue Bonds (ELHC XXXIII, LLC Project) Series 
2016 (the “Bonds”) pursuant to a Trust Indenture dated as of August 1, 2016 (the “Indenture”), between 
the City and BOKF, N.A., as successor trustee (the “Trustee”), and used the proceeds of the Bonds to 
construct a Project (as defined in the Indenture); 

 
WHEREAS, Assignor leased the Project to the City pursuant to the Base Lease Agreement dated 

as of August 1, 2016 (the “Base Lease”), between Assignor and the City, a memorandum of which was 
recorded August 26, 2016, in Book 201608, Page 010751; and the Base Lease was modified by that certain 
First Supplemental Base Lease Agreement dated as of May 1, 2017 in order to revise the legal description 
of the land that is subject to the Base Lease, and such revised legal description is set forth on Schedule 1 
(the “Real Property”); 

 
WHEREAS, the City subleased the Project to Assignor pursuant to a Lease Agreement dated as 

of August 1, 2016 (the “Lease Agreement”), between the City and Assignor, a memorandum of which was 
recorded August 26, 2016, in Book 201608, Page 010752, and the Lease Agreement was modified by that 
certain First Supplemental Lease Agreement dated as of May 1, 2017 in order to revise the legal description 
of the land that is subject to the Lease Agreement to describe the Real Property; 

 
WHEREAS, the City and Assignor entered into a Performance Agreement dated as of August 1, 

2016 (the “Performance Agreement”) whereby the parties set forth the terms relating to tax abatement for 
the Project, and the Performance Agreement was modified by that certain First Amendment to Performance 
Agreement dated as of May 1, 2017  in order to revise the legal description of the land that is subject to the 
Performance Agreement to describe the Real Property; 

 
WHEREAS, the City and Assignor entered into an Origination Fee Agreement dated as of August 

1, 2016 (the “Origination Fee Agreement”) whereby Assignor agreed to make certain origination fee 
payments to the City over time; 

 
WHEREAS, the City and Assignor entered into a Bond Purchase Agreement dated August 15, 

2016 (the “Bond Purchase Agreement”) whereby City agreed to issue and Assignor agreed to purchase 
the Bonds on the terms and conditions set forth therein; 

 
WHEREAS, Assignor now desires to assign and transfer to Assignee all of Assignor’s right, title, 

and interest in and to the Indenture, the Bonds, the Bond Purchase Agreement, the Base Lease, the Lease 
Agreement, the Performance Agreement, and the Origination Fee Agreement (collectively, the “IRB 
Documents”);  

 
WHEREAS, Assignee desires to accept such assignment subject to the terms and conditions set 

forth below; 
 
WHEREAS, the City and the Trustee desire to consent to such assignment and assumption. 



3 

AGREEMENT 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the promises and for other good and valuable 

consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto agree as 
follows: 

 
1. Assignment.  As of the Effective Date, Assignor hereby sells, transfers, conveys, assigns, 

and delivers to Assignee all of Assignor’s rights and obligations under the IRB Documents (collectively, 
the “Assigned Interests”). 

 
2. Assumption.  Assignee accepts all of the Assigned Interests assigned by Assignor in 

Section 1 and assumes and agrees to pay, perform, and discharge promptly and fully when and as required 
all obligations and liabilities under the IRB Documents that accrue on or after the Effective Date. 

 
3. Delivery of documents; representations.  Pursuant to Section 13.1(a) of the Lease 

Agreement, Assignor represents that all conditions precedent to the assignment have been satisfied.  
Assignor represents that there has been no damage or destruction to the Project that has not been repaired, 
restored, and replaced in accordance with the terms of the Lease Agreement. 

 
4. Consent and release.  Pursuant to Section 13.1(a) of the Lease Agreement, the City 

consents to the Assignment of the IRB Documents from Assignor to Assignee.  Pursuant to Section 206 of 
the Indenture, the City consents to the assignment and transfer of the Bonds from Assignor to Assignee.  
The City releases Assignor from all liability under the IRB Documents occurring on and after the Effective 
Date. 

 
5. Assignor’s Representation.  Assignor represents that Assignor has not transferred, sold, 

encumbered, or otherwise disposed of the Bonds nor has Assignor assigned the Base Lease or transferred 
or encumbered or otherwise disposed of its interest in the Project.  Assignor further represents and warrants 
that Assignor is not aware of any default which exists on this date by it or the counterparty under the IRB 
Documents. 

6. Successors and Assigns.  This Assignment shall be binding upon and shall inure to the 
benefit of the parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns. 

 
7. Counterparts.  This Assignment may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of 

which shall be deemed an original but all of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument. 
 
8. Governing law.  This Assignment shall be interpreted and construed under the laws of the 

State of Kansas, excluding any conflict of law or choice-of-law rules that might lead to the application of 
the internal laws of another jurisdiction. 

 
9. Recording.  Assignee shall submit this Assignment for recording in the Office of the 

Register of Deeds of Johnson County, Kansas on or about the Effective Date. 
 
10. Direction to Trustee.  Assignor, as current sole owner of the Bonds, hereby directs the 

Trustee to provide its acknowledgement of this Assignment. Upon the assignment of the Lease Agreement 
to the Assignee and the registration of the Bonds in the name of the Assignee, Assignee hereby provides 
written notice to the Trustee that it waives its right to actual payment of interest due on the Bond on such 
interest payment date, as well as the principal of the Bonds maturing on the maturity date. 

 
[SIGNATURE PAGES FOLLOW] 



4 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused their respective duly authorized 
representatives to execute this Assignment as of the Effective Date. 
 
       ASSIGNOR: 

 
       IPXXXIII 196 STREET LLC, 
       a Delaware limited liability company 
 
 

By: ________________________ 
Name: Susan Rohrbach 
Title: Vice President & Assistant Secretary 

 
 

ACKNOWLEDGMENT 
 
STATE OF NEW YORK ) 
   ) SS. 
COUNTY OF NEW YORK ) 
 
 BE IT REMEMBERED, that on this ____ day of ________________________, 2024, appeared 
Susan Rohrbach, to me personally known, who being duly sworn did say that she is the Vice President & 
Assistant Secretary of IPXXXIII 196 STREET LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (the 
“Company”), and that the foregoing instrument was signed for the purposes therein contained on behalf of 
the Company and by authority of the Company; and she further acknowledged said instrument to be the 
free act and deed of the Company. 
 
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed my official seal, the day and 
year last above written. 
 
 

       
[SEAL] Notary Public 

Printed Name:       
 
 
My commission expires __________________ 
  



5 

       ASSIGNEE: 
 

NHNR HOLD CO 14, LLC,  
a Delaware limited liability company 
 
By:       
Name:       
Title:       

 
 

ACKNOWLEDGMENT 
 
STATE OF     ) 
    ) SS. 
COUNTY OF  ) 
 
 BE IT REMEMBERED, that on this ______ day of _________________, 2024, appeared 
___________________________, to me personally known, who being duly sworn did say that he/she is 
the _________________________ of NHNR HOLD CO 14, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company 
(the "Company"), and that the foregoing instrument was signed for the purposes therein contained on behalf 
of the Company and by authority of the Company; and he further acknowledged said instrument to be the 
free act and deed of the Company. 
 
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed my official seal, the day and 
year last above written. 
 
 

       
[SEAL] Notary Public 

Printed Name:       
 
 
My commission expires __________________ 
 
 



 

 

CONSENT OF THE CITY OF EDGERTON, KANSAS 
 

 The City hereby acknowledges, consents and agrees to the execution and delivery of this 
Assignment and Assumption of IRB Documents dated ___________ __, 2024, between IPXXXIII 196 
STREET LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“Assignor”), and NHNR HOLD CO 14, LLC, a 
Delaware limited liability company. (“Assignee”). 
 
       CITY OF EDGERTON, KANSAS 
 
 
[SEAL]       By:       
       Name: Donald Roberts 
       Its: Mayor 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
      
Name:  Alexandria Clower 
Its: City Clerk 
 
 

ACKNOWLEDGMENT 
 
STATE OF KANSAS  ) 
    ) SS: 
COUNTY OF JOHNSON ) 
 
 BE IT REMEMBERED that on this ___ day of ___________, 2024, before me, a notary public in 
and for said county and state, came Donald Roberts, Mayor of the City of Edgerton, Kansas, a municipal 
corporation duly authorized, incorporated and existing under and by virtue of the Constitution and laws of 
the State of Kansas, and Alexandria Clower, City Clerk of said City, who are personally known to me to be 
the same persons who executed, as such officers, the within instrument on behalf of said City, and such 
persons duly acknowledged the execution of the same to be the act and deed of said City. 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed my official seal, the day and 
year last above written. 
 
 

       
[SEAL] Notary Public 

Printed Name:       
 
 
My commission expires __________________ 



 

 

ACKNOWLEDGMENT OF TRUSTEE 
 

 BOKF, N.A., as trustee, hereby acknowledges the execution and delivery of this Assignment and 
Assumption of IRB Documents dated ___________ __, 2024, between IPXXXIII 196 STREET LLC, a 
Delaware limited liability company (“Assignor”), and NHNR HOLD CO 14, LLC, a Delaware limited 
liability company. (“Assignee”). 
 
 The Trustee represents and warrants to the City of Edgerton, Kansas, Assignor, and Assignee that 
the Trustee has no knowledge of any default, monetary or otherwise, that has occurred under the terms of 
the IRB Documents. 
 

BOKF, NA 
 
 
By:       
Name:       
Title:       

 
 

ACKNOWLEDGMENT 
 
STATE OF  ) 
 ) SS. 
COUNTY OF  ) 
 
 On this ___ day of ___________, 2024 before me appeared _____________________________, 
a ____________________ of BOKF, N.A., to me personally known to be the person described in and who 
executed the foregoing instrument, and acknowledged that he/she executed the same on behalf of said 
national banking association. 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed my official seal, the day and 
year last above written. 
 
 

       
[SEAL] Notary Public 

Printed Name:       
 
 
My commission expires __________________ 
  



 

 

SCHEDULE 1 
 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION 
 

LOT 4, LOGISTICS PARK KANSAS CITY PHASE IV, SECOND PLAT, A SUBDIVISION IN 
THE CITY OF EDGERTON, JOHNSON COUNTY, KANSAS. 
 



1 

IRB DOCUMENTS ESTOPPEL 

_____________ __, 2024 

IPXXXIII 196 Street LLC (“Seller”) 
c/o AREG-NorthPoint LPKC Venture LLC 
245 Park Avenue, 42nd Floor 
New York, New York 10167 
Attention:  Cal NeSmith 
 
NHNR HOLD CO 14, LLC  (its successors and assigns, “Purchaser”) 
c/o Morgan Stanley Real Estate Investing  
1585 Broadway 
New York, New York, 10036 
Attention: David Gross, Managing Director 
 

Re: (i) Trust Indenture dated as of August 1, 2016 (the “Indenture”) , between the City of 
Edgerton, Kansas (the “City”) and BOKF, N.A., as successor trustee (the “Trustee”),  
pursuant to which the City has previously issued certain Industrial Revenue Bonds 
(ELHC XXXIII, LLC Project) Series 2016 in the aggregate maximum principal amount 
of $46,350,000 (the “Bonds”); (ii) Base Lease Agreement dated as of August 1, 2016,as 
supplemented by the First Supplemental Base Lease Agreement dated as of May 1, 
2017, to which Seller (as successor by assignment to ELHC XXXIII, LLC, a Kansas 
limited liability company) and the City are parties, a memorandum of which was 
recorded August 26, 2016, in Book 201608, Page 010751 (as supplemented, the “Base 
Lease”); (iii) Lease Agreement dated as of August 1, 2016, as supplemented by the 
First Supplemental Lease Agreement dated as of May 1, 2017, to which Seller (as 
successor by assignment to ELHC XXXIII, LLC) and the City are parties, a 
memorandum of which was recorded August 26, 2016, in Book 201608, Page 010752 
(as supplemented, the “City Lease”); (iv) the Performance Agreement dated as of 
August 1, 2016, as amended by the First Amendment to Performance Agreement dated 
as of May 1, 2017, to which the Seller (as successor by assignment to ELHC XXXIII, 
LLC) and the City are parties (as amended, the “Performance Agreement”); (v) 
Origination Fee Agreement dated as of August 1, 2016 to which the Seller (as successor 
by assignment to ELHC XXXIII, LLC) and the City are parties (the “Origination Fee 
Agreement”); and (vi) Bond Purchase Agreement dated August 15, 2016 to which the 
Seller (as successor by assignment to ELHC XXXIII, LLC) and the City are parties 
(the “Bond Purchase Agreement”), each relating to the issuance of the Bonds in 
respect of the development of the industrial project known as 31100 West 196th Street, 
Edgerton, Kansas (as more particularly described in the hereafter defined IRB 
Documents, the “Property”). The Indenture, the Bonds, the Base Lease, the City Lease 



2 

the Performance Agreement, the Origination Fee Agreement and the Bond Purchase 
Agreement are referred to herein collectively as the “IRB Documents”.  

Ladies and Gentlemen: 

The City acknowledges that NHNR HOLD CO 14, LLC, a Delaware limited liability 
company (the “Purchaser”), is the contract purchaser of the Property and the proposed assignee of 
all of Seller’s right, title and interest in and to the Property and the IRB Documents.  In connection 
with the foregoing, the City hereby certifies to Purchaser, Seller and any lender of Purchaser 
(collectively, the “Reliance Parties”) as follows: 

1. The City is the holder of the tenant’s interest in the Base Lease and the landlord’s 
interest under the City Lease, and the City has not assigned, transferred, subleased or encumbered 
either such interests, or assigned, transferred sold, conveyed or encumbered any of its interest in 
the other IRB Documents, except for the assignment of certain rights of the City under the IRB 
Documents to BOKF, N.A., as bond trustee (the “Trustee”) under the Indenture. Seller and the 
Trustee are the sole counterparties to the IRB Documents (as applicable) and the City has not 
previously consented to any prior transfer by Seller of its interest in the IRB Documents.   

2. True, correct and complete copies of the IRB Documents are attached hereto as 
Exhibit A. 

3. Each of the IRB Documents is in full force and effect. The Bonds have not been 
redeemed. There are no amendments or modifications of any kind to any of the IRB Documents 
except as referenced above. 

4. After due investigation and inquiry with the Trustee, the City is not aware of any 
uncured default, event of default, or breach by Seller or the City exists under any of the IRB 
Documents, and no facts or circumstances exist that, with the passage of time or the giving of 
notice, or both, will or could constitute a default, event of default, or breach under any of the IRB 
Documents.  The City has made no claim against Seller or its predecessors in interest under the 
IRB Documents alleging any default under or breach of any IRB Documents. 

5. There are no actions, voluntary or involuntary, pending against the City under the 
bankruptcy, insolvency, or receivership laws of the United States or any state thereof. 

6. The tenant under the City Lease is obligated to make a semi-annual lease payment 
to the Trustee, for the benefit of the City, in an amount equal to the principal and interest then due 
on the Bonds. As long as the tenant is also the owner of the Bonds, the Trustee may waive actual 
receipt of payment of principal and interest then due on the Bonds. 

Capitalized terms used but not specifically defined in this IRB Documents Estoppel shall 
have the meaning ascribed thereto in the IRB Documents. The undersigned City official has made 
such examination or investigation as is necessary to enable such individual to express an informed 
opinion as to the subject matter of this certificate, including inquiries of such officers and 



3 

employees of the City who have knowledge of the subject matter hereof and in whom the 
undersigned officer has confidence. The undersigned agrees that this certificate may be relied upon 
by the Reliance Parties.  For a period of thirty (30) days from the date hereof, the City will notify 
Purchaser in writing at its address shown above, of any changes in the truth and/or accuracy of any 
of the certifications or representations contained in this IRB Documents Estoppel certificate 
promptly upon the City’s learning of such change or inaccuracy. 

 

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank; Signature Page Follows] 

 



4 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Lessor has executed this instrument this _____ day of 
October, 2024. 

 CITY:  

 CITY OF EDGERTON, KANSAS 

  

  

 By:  
 

 Name: Donald Roberts 

 Title: Mayor 

 



 

 

EXHIBIT A 
Copies of IRB Documents  

 
 



RESOLUTION NO. 10-24-24G 
 

A RESOLUTION CONSENTING TO THE ASSIGNMENT OF A BASE 
LEASE, LEASE AGREEMENT AND OTHER BOND DOCUMENTS IN 
CONNECTION WITH THE CITY’S INDUSTRIAL REVENUE BONDS 
(ELHC XXXIII, LLC PROJECT), SERIES 2016 
__________________________________________________________________ 

 
 WHEREAS, the City of Edgerton, Kansas (the “City”) is a duly organized and existing 
municipal corporation under the laws of the State of Kansas; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City issued its Industrial Revenue Bonds (ELHC XXXIII, LLC 
Project), Series 2016 (the “Bonds”), in the aggregate maximum principal amount of 
$46,350,000, pursuant to a Trust Indenture dated as of August 1, 2016 (the “Indenture”), between 
the City and BOKF, N.A., as successor trustee (the “Trustee”), for the purpose of acquiring, 
purchasing, improving, equipping and constructing a commercial project, consisting of an 
approximately 927,000 sq. ft. warehouse and distribution facility, located at 31100 W. 196th Street, 
Edgerton, Kansas (the “Project”); and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Project was leased by ELHC XXXIII, LLC, a Kansas limited liability 
company (“ELHC”), to the City pursuant to a Base Lease Agreement dated as of August 1, 2016, 
as supplemented and amended by a First Supplemental Base Lease Agreement dated as of May 
1, 2017 (together, the “Base Lease”), between ELHC and the City, and the Project was subleased 
by the City to ELHC pursuant to a Lease Agreement dated as of August 1, 2016, as 
supplemented and amended by a First Supplemental Lease Agreement dated as of May 1, 2017 
(together, the “Lease Agreement”), between the City and the Assignor; and 
 
 WHEREAS, pursuant to an Assignment and Assumption of IRB Documents dated May 
__, 2017, ELHC, with the consent of the City, assigned its interest in the Base Lease, Lease 
Agreement, Indenture, the Performance Agreement dated as of August 1, 2016, as amended by 
the First Amendment to Performance Agreement dated May 1, 2017 (the “Performance 
Agreement”), between the City and ELHC, the Origination Fee Agreement dated as of August 1, 
2016 (the “Origination Fee Agreement”), between the City and ELHC, the Bond Purchase 
Agreement dated August 15, 2016 (the “Bond Purchase Agreement”), among the City and 
ELHC, as purchaser and as the company, and all other documents executed in connection with 
the Bonds that are included in the transcript of proceedings for the Bonds (collectively, the 
“Other Bond Documents”), to IPXXXIII 196 Street LLC, a Delaware limited liability company 
(the “Assignor”) ; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Assignor is now requesting the City’s consent to the assignment of the 
Assignor’s interest under the Base Lease, Lease Agreement, Indenture, the Performance 
Agreement the Origination Fee Agreement, the Bond Purchase Agreement, and the Other Bond 
Documents to NHNR Hold Co 14, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (the “Assignee”); 
and 
 
 
 



2 
 

 WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 6.2 of the Base Lease and Section 13.1 of the Lease 
Agreement, the Assignor may assign the Base Lease and the Lease Agreement only with the 
written consent of the City; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City desires to consent to the assignment of the Assignor’s interest 
under the Base Lease, Lease Agreement, Indenture, Performance Agreement, Origination Fee 
Agreement, the Bond Purchase Agreement and the Other Bond Documents to the Assignee; 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE GOVERNING BODY OF THE 
CITY OF EDGERTON, KANSAS, AS FOLLOWS: 
 
 Section 1.  Consent to Assignment.  The Governing Body of the City hereby 
consents to the assignment of the Base Lease, Lease Agreement, Indenture, Performance 
Agreement, Origination Fee Agreement, Bond Purchase Agreement and the Other Bond 
Documents by the Assignor to the Assignee.  The foregoing consents are contingent upon the 
satisfaction of all other requirements for assignments expressly set forth in the Lease Agreement. 
 
 Section 2. Authorization and Execution of Consent to Assignment.  The Governing 
Body hereby approves of the form of the Assignment and Assumption of IRB Documents (the 
“Assignment”), in substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit A (a copy of which document, 
upon execution thereof, shall be filed in the office of the City Clerk). The Mayor of the City is 
hereby authorized and directed to execute and deliver the consent to the Assignment for and on 
behalf of and as the act and deed of the City, in substantially the form presented to and reviewed by 
the Council of the City. The City Clerk of the City is hereby authorized and directed to attest to and 
affix the seal of the City, if required, to the Assignment. 
 
 Section 3. Authorization and Execution of Estoppel.  The Governing Body hereby 
approves of the form of the IRB Documents Estoppel (the “Estoppel”), in substantially the form 
attached hereto as Exhibit B (a copy of which document, upon execution thereof, shall be filed in 
the office of the City Clerk). The Mayor of the City is hereby authorized and directed to execute 
and deliver the Estoppel for and on behalf of and as the act and deed of the City, in substantially 
the form presented to and reviewed by the Council of the City. The City Clerk of the City is hereby 
authorized and directed to attest to and affix the seal of the City, if required, to the Estoppel. 
 
 Section 4. Further Authority. The Mayor is hereby authorized and directed to 
execute and deliver such other documents, certificates and instruments as may be necessary or 
desirable to carry out and comply with the intent of this Resolution (copies of said documents 
shall be filed in the records of the City) for and on behalf of and as the act and deed of the City. 
The City Clerk is hereby authorized and directed to attest to and affix the seal of the City to such 
other documents, certificates and instruments as may be necessary or desirable to carry out and 
comply with the intent of this Resolution. 
 
 Section 5. Effective Date.  This Resolution shall take effect and be in full force 
immediately after its adoption by the Governing Body of the City. 
 



3 
 

 ADOPTED this 24th day of October, 2024. 
 

CITY OF EDGERTON, KANSAS 
 
 
 
By:____________________________________ 

[SEAL]  Donald Roberts, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
___________________________________ 
Alexandria Clower, City Clerk 
 
 
 
Approved as to form: 
 
 
 
__________________________ 
Scott W. Anderson, Bond Counsel 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Assignment Resolution 
ELHC XXXIII, LLC Project 
 



4 
 

EXHIBIT A 
 

ASSIGNMENT AND ASSUMPTION OF IRB DOCUMENTS 



5 
 

EXHIBIT B 
 

AGREEMENT AND ESTOPPEL CERTIFICATE 
 



Agenda Item: Consider Professional Services Agreement between Burns 
& McDonnell Inc. and the City of Edgerton, Kansas For The Engineering 
Services for Dwyer Farms Sanitary Sewer Improvements – Sites 2 & 3 

City Council Action Item 

Council Meeting Date: October 24, 2024 

Department: Public Works 

 
 
 
 

Background/Description of Item: 
On August 11, 2022, Edgerton City Council approved the recommendation of the Planning 
Commission to approve an application for a Planned Unit Development (PUD) for Dwyer 
Farms. 

The Dwyer Farms project is located at the southwest corner of 8th Street and Braun Street. 
This project is proposed single family residential.  As such this project will need sanitary 
sewer improvements at the onset of development.  The Dwyer Sewer Project includes 
constructing approximately 1,800 linear feet of 18-inch sanitary sewer to serve the Dwyer 
Farms new residential development and large watershed (Site #1). To serve this 
development, the City of Edgerton will also improve the City Pump Station to install an 
equalization basin, construct a 30-inch gravity main at the City Pump Station, and upsize 
approximately 245 linear feet of existing 8-inch sanitary sewer (Site #2). Additional 
improvements to accommodate the Dwyer Farms development are expected at the Big Bull 
Creek Wastewater Treatment Plant (BBCWWTP) including SCADA upgrades and 
replacement of aged equipment (Site #3).  The final recommendations are pending 
completion of this design phase of the project.   

Site#1 is currently under construction by Beemer Construction, which was approved by 
council on May 23, 2024.   

Requests for Qualifications were due August 15, 2024 and interviews with selected teams 
were conducted on September 5 and 6, 2024.  Two responses were provided to the RFQ. 
The selection committee (City Administrator, City Engineer, Public Works Director, and CIP 
Project Manager) recommends Burns & McDonnell Engineering Company Inc. as the best, 
most qualified team for the project.  The selection committee recommends the team based 
on their existing experience providing these services to municipalities both of similar size 
and larger populations.  Burns & McDonnell were the engineers of record for the current 
Big Bull Creek Wastewater Treatment Plant.   



Recommendation: Approve Professional Services Agreement between 
Burns & McDonnell Inc. and the City of Edgerton, Kansas in the 
Amount of $175,947 For The Engineering Services for Dwyer Farms 
Sanitary Sewer Improvements; Sites 2 & 3 pending changes from City 
Attorney and authorize the Mayor to execute the Agreement. 
 

Enclosed is the draft Professional Services Agreement between the City of Edgerton and 
Burns & McDonnell for the project.  The project consists of two phases with the current 
contract being the first phase.  The first phase contract amount is $175,947.  The first 
phase includes the analysis of the City’s needs, building an overall list of items, as well as 
a cost estimate.  Once the City and Burns & McDonnell understands the balance of needed 
scope and available funds, the second phase can be estimated.  The revision to the contract 
will be brought to council at a future meeting. 
 
The Professional Services Agreement is still under review by both Burns & McDonnell and 
the City.  The document is based on an existing contract between Burns & McDonnell and 
the City.  All revisions are pending approval from City Engineer, City’s Insurance 
Representative, and City Attorney.   
 
The proposed improvements to Edgerton’s Wastewater System for the Dwyer Sewer Project 
are estimated to be $5,000,000.00 and will be funded under the low interest Kansas Water 
Pollution Control Revolving Fund Program through the Kansas Department of Health and 
Environment (KDHE). The loan repayment will be made with Rural Housing Incentive 
District (RHID) funds generated by Dwyer Farms Development.  
 
Staff has reviewed the contract and proposed scope of work.  Upon completion of any 
revisions needed by City Attorney, staff recommends approving the agreement. 
 

 
Related Ordinance(s) or Statue(s): N/A 

 
 
 
Funding Source: SRF Loan, Rural Housing Incentive District (RHID)  
 
 
Budget Allocated:  $5,000,000 
 
 
Finance Director Approval:      
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Enclosed:  Draft Contract with Attachments (Scope, Fee, and Hourly Bill Rates) 
 
Prepared by: Dan Merkh, Public Works Director 



 

 

 

AE-3 - OWNER AGREEMENT SINGLE PROJECT 08-01-17 (AE-3) 1 08/01/17 

PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT – DWYER STREET SITE #2 AND SITE #3 
ENGINEER-OWNER AGREEMENT 

 

This AGREEMENT is made as of      , 2024, by and between The City of Edgerton (hereinafter called 
OWNER) and Burns & McDonnell Engineering Company, Inc., a Missouri Corporation specializing in 
consulting engineering services (hereinafter called ENGINEER).   
 
OWNER requires professional engineering services in connection with the Dwyer Street Site #2 and #3 
Improvements (the Project).  Therefore, OWNER and ENGINEER in consideration of their mutual 
covenants agree as follows:   
 
ENGINEER shall serve as OWNER'S professional engineering consultant and shall give consultation and 
advice to OWNER during the performance of ENGINEER’S services.  All services shall be performed 
under the direction of a professional engineer registered in the State of Kansas and qualified in the 
particular field.   
 
SECTION 1 - AUTHORIZATION OF SERVICES  
 
1.1 Services shall be undertaken only upon written Authorization of OWNER and agreement of 
ENGINEER.   
 
1.2 Assignments may include services described hereafter as Basic Services or as Additional 
Services of ENGINEER.  
 
SECTION 2 - BASIC SERVICES OF ENGINEER  
 
2.1 General  
 
2.1.1 A detailed scope of services is provided in Exhibit 1. 
 
2.1.2 Perform professional design services in connection with specifically authorized Projects as 
hereinafter stated which shall include normal civil, structural, mechanical, and electrical engineering 
services and normal architectural design services incidental thereto.   
 
2.1.3 Advise OWNER as to the necessity of OWNER providing or obtaining services or data from 
others of types described in Paragraph 4.3, make recommendations as to the possible sources of such 
services, and act as OWNER'S representative in connection with any such services.   
 
2.2 Concept Development  
 
2.2.1 Consult with OWNER to determine OWNER'S requirements for the Project and available data.  
 
2.2.2 Provide special analyses of OWNER'S needs, planning surveys, site evaluations, and 
comparative studies of prospective sites and solutions.   
 
2.2.3 Provide general economic analyses of OWNER'S requirements applicable to various 
alternatives.   
 
2.2.4 Prepare a Concept Development Report summarizing studies performed in accomplishing 
Paragraphs 2.2.2 and 2.2.3, including findings and recommendations for the Project, and furnish a digital 
review copy of the Report to OWNER.   
 
2.3 Schematic Design Phase  
 



   
 

 
DWYER STREET SITE #2 AND SITE #3 IMPROVEMENTS  2 10/17/2024 

  

2.3.1 On the basis of OWNER'S concurrence with recommendations of the Concept Development 
Report, prepare schematic design documents indicating clearly the considerations involved and the 
alternative solutions available to OWNER; the schematic design shall include schematic layouts, 
sketches, and preliminary design criteria, and set forth ENGINEER'S recommendations and establish the 
scope of the Project.   
 
2.3.2 Prepare a preliminary cost opinion for the Project.   
 
2.3.3 Furnish a digital copy of the above schematic documents and cost opinion.   
 
2.3.4 Revise schematic design documents in response to OWNER’S and other parties’ comments, as 
appropriate, and furnish a digital final copy of the revised schematic design documents to the OWNER. 
 
2.4 Preliminary Design Phase  
 
2.4.1 On the basis of the approved schematic design documents, prepare preliminary design 
documents consisting of final design criteria, preliminary drawings, and outline specifications.   
 
2.4.2 Prepare a revised preliminary cost opinion for the Project based on the information contained in 
the preliminary design documents.   
 
2.4.3 Furnish a digital approval copy of the above preliminary design documents and revised cost 
opinion. 
 
2.5 Final Design Phase  
 
2.5.1 On the basis of the approved preliminary design documents, prepare for incorporation in the 
Contract Documents detailed drawings to show the character and scope of the Work to be performed by 
contractors on the Project (hereinafter called the "Contract Drawings"), and Invitation to Bid, Instructions 
to Bidders, Bid Form, Agreement and Bond forms, General Conditions, and Specifications (all of which, 
together with the Contract Drawings, are hereinafter called the "Bid Documents") for review and approval 
by OWNER, its legal counsel, and other advisors as appropriate, and assist OWNER in the preparation of 
other related documents.    
 
2.5.2 Provide technical criteria, written descriptions, and design data for OWNER’S use in filing 
applications for permits from or approvals of governmental authorities having jurisdiction to review or 
approve the final design of the Project and assist OWNER in consultations with appropriate authorities. 
 
2.5.3 Advise OWNER of adjustments in excess of ten percent of the cost opinion for the Project caused 
by changes in scope, design requirements, or construction costs and furnish a revised cost opinion for the 
Project based on the final Bid Documents.   
 
2.5.4 Furnish a digital approval copy of the final Bid Documents.   
 
2.6 Bidding or Negotiating Phase  
 
2.6.1 Assist OWNER in obtaining and evaluating bids or negotiating proposals and preparing 
construction contracts.   
 
2.6.2 Consult with and advise OWNER as to the acceptability of subcontractors and other persons and 
organizations proposed by the prime construction contractor(s) [hereinafter called "Contractor(s)"], for 
those portions of the work as to which such acceptability is required by the Bid Documents.   
 
2.6.3 Make recommendations regarding award of construction contracts.   
 
2.7 Construction Phase  



   
 

 
DWYER STREET SITE #2 AND SITE #3 IMPROVEMENTS  3 10/17/2024 

  

 
2.7.1 Consult with and advise OWNER and act as OWNER’S consultant as provided in ENGINEER'S 
standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract (a copy being attached hereto).  The extent 
and limitations of the duties, responsibilities, and authority of ENGINEER as assigned in said General 
Conditions shall not be modified without ENGINEER'S written consent.   
 
2.7.2 Review Contractor(s') schedules for Work progress, equipment and materials procurement, 
submittals, and values for partial pay purposes, and project cash flow requirements.   
 
2.7.3 Review and accept Submittals of Contractor(s) for conformance with the design concept and 
intent of the Contract Documents.   
 
2.7.4 Make visits to the Site at intervals appropriate to the stages of construction to (consult with and 
advise ENGINEER'S Resident Project Representative, if any, and) observe the progress and quality of 
the executed Work, and to determine, in general, if the Project is proceeding in accordance with the 
Contract Documents.  ENGINEER shall not be required to make exhaustive or continuous inspections to 
check the quality or quantity of the Work nor shall the ENGINEER be responsible for construction means, 
methods, techniques, sequences, or procedures, or for safety precautions or programs, or for 
Contractor's failure to perform construction work in accordance with the Contract Documents.   
 
2.7.5 Issue all instructions of OWNER to Contractor(s); prepare routine Change Orders as required; act 
as interpreter of the terms and conditions of the Contract Documents and judge of the performance 
thereunder by the parties thereto, and make decisions on claims of OWNER and Contractor(s) relating to 
the execution and progress of the Work and other matters and questions related thereto; but ENGINEER 
shall not be liable for the results of any such interpretations or decisions rendered by ENGINEER in good 
faith.   
 
2.7.6 Review Contractor(s)' applications for payment and supporting data, determine the amounts 
owing to Contractor(s), and approve in writing all payments to Contractor(s) in accordance with the 
Contract Documents.   
 
2.7.7 Render periodic Work progress reports to OWNER.   
 
2.7.8 Conduct an inspection to determine if the Project is substantially complete and a final inspection 
to determine if the Project has been completed in accordance with the Contract Documents, and if each 
Contractor has fulfilled all of its obligations thereunder so that ENGINEER may approve, in writing, final 
payment to each Contractor.   
 
2.8 Post-Construction Phase  
 
2.8.1 Provide qualified engineers during equipment start-up and instruct OWNER'S personnel in 
equipment function and intended use.   
 
2.8.2 Prepare a reproducible Record Set of drawings revised to show significant changes made during 
construction of the Project in accordance with records provided by Contractor and ENGINEER'S Resident 
Project Representative.   
 
SECTION 3 - ADDITIONAL SERVICES OF ENGINEER  
 
3.1 General  
If authorized in writing by OWNER and agreed to in writing by ENGINEER, ENGINEER shall furnish or 
obtain from others Additional Services of the following types which are not considered normal or 
customary Basic Services.  The scope of Additional Services may include:   
 
3.1.1 Grant and Loan Assistance  
Prepare applications and supporting documents for governmental grants, loans, or advances.   



   
 

 
DWYER STREET SITE #2 AND SITE #3 IMPROVEMENTS  4 10/17/2024 

  

 
3.1.2 Financial Consultation  
Consult with OWNER'S fiscal agents and bond attorneys and provide such engineering data as required 
for any bond prospectus or other financing requirements.   
 
3.1.3 Property Procurement Assistance  
Determine land and easement requirements and provide consultation and assistance on property 
procurement as related to professional engineering services being performed.   
 
3.1.4 Administrative Assistance  
Provide Contract and Project administration to the degree authorized by OWNER.   
 
3.1.5 Obtaining Services of Others  
Provide through subcontract the services or data set forth in Paragraph 4.3.   
 
3.1.6 Furnishing renderings or models of the Project for OWNER'S use.   
 
3.1.7 Miscellaneous Studies  
Investigations involving detailed consideration of operations, maintenance, and overhead expenses, and 
the preparation of rate schedules, earnings, and expense statements; feasibility studies; appraisals and 
valuations; detailed quantity surveys of material, equipment, and labor; and audits or inventories required 
in connection with construction performed by OWNER.   
 
3.1.8 Extraordinary Construction-Related Services  
 
3.1.8.1   Additional or extended services during construction made necessary by (1) work damaged by 
fire or other cause during construction, (2) a significant amount of defective or neglected work of any 
Contractor, (3) prolongation of the construction contract time of any prime construction contract by more 
than sixty days, (4) acceleration of the work schedule involving services beyond normal working hours, 
and (5) default by Contractor under any prime construction contract.   
 
3.1.8.2   Consultation or other services after completion of the Construction Phase, such as frequent 
inspections during any guarantee period and reporting observed discrepancies under guarantees called 
for in any construction contract.   
 
3.1.8.3   Preparing to serve or serving as a witness for OWNER in any litigation or other proceeding 
involving the Project.   
 
3.1.9 Preparation of an operating manual for use by OWNER.   
 
3.1.10 Extra Services  
Services not specifically defined heretofore that may be authorized by OWNER.   
 
3.2 Resident Services During Construction  
 
3.2.1 If requested by OWNER or recommended by ENGINEER and agreed to in writing by the other 
party, a Resident Project Representative and assistants shall be furnished and shall act as directed by 
ENGINEER in order to provide more extensive representation at the Project site during the Construction 
Phase.   
 
3.2.2 The Resident Project Representative, through more extensive on-site observations of the work in 
progress, field checks of materials and equipment, and maintenance of jobsite records on conditions and 
activities, shall assist ENGINEER in determining that the Project is proceeding in accordance with the 
Contract Documents. However, the furnishing of such resident project representation shall not make 
ENGINEER responsible for construction means, methods, techniques, sequences, or procedures, or for 



   
 

 
DWYER STREET SITE #2 AND SITE #3 IMPROVEMENTS  5 10/17/2024 

  

safety precautions or programs, or for Contractor(s') failure to perform the construction work in 
accordance with the Contract Documents.   
 
3.3 Contingent Additional Services 
 
3.3.1 If services described under Contingent Additional Services in Section 3.3 are required due to 
circumstances beyond the ENGINEER’S control, the ENGINEER shall notify the OWNER prior to 
commencing such services.  If the OWNER deems that such services described in Section 3.3 are not 
required, the OWNER shall give prompt written notice to the ENGINEER.  If the OWNER indicates in 
writing that all or part of such Contingent Additional Services are not required, the ENGINEER shall have 
no obligation to provide those services. 
 
3.3.2 Making revisions in Drawings, Specifications, or other documents when such revisions are: 
 
3.3.2.1  inconsistent with approvals or instructions previously given by the OWNER, including revisions 
made necessary by adjustments in the OWNER’S program or Project Budget. 
 
3.3.2.2  required by the enactment or revision of codes, laws, or regulations subsequent to the 
preparation of such documents. 
 
3.3.2.3  due to changes required as a result of the OWNER’S failure to render a decision in a timely 
manner. 
 
3.3.3 Providing services required because of significant changes in the Project including, but not limited 
to, size, quality, complexity, the OWNER’S schedule, or the method of bidding or negotiating and 
contracting for construction. 
 
3.3.4 Preparing Drawings, Specifications, and other documentation and supporting data, evaluating 
Contractor’s proposals, and providing other services in connection with Change Orders and Work Change 
Directives. 
 
3.3.5 Providing services in connection with evaluating substitutions proposed by the Contractor and 
making subsequent revision to Drawings, Specifications, and other documentation resulting therefrom. 
 
3.3.6 Providing consultation concerning replacement of Work damaged by fire or other cause during 
construction, and furnishing services required in connection with the replacement of such Work. 
 
3.3.7  Providing services made necessary by the default of the Contractor, by major defects or 
deficiencies in the Work of the Contractor, or by failure of performance of either the OWNER or 
Contractor under the Contract for Construction. 
 
3.3.8 Providing services in evaluating an extensive number of claims submitted by the Contractor or 
others in connection with the Work. 
 
3.3.9 Providing services in connection with a public hearing, arbitration proceeding, or legal proceeding 
except where the ENGINEER is party thereto. 
 
3.3.10 Preparing documents for alternate, separate, or sequential bids or providing services in 
connection with bidding, negotiation, or construction prior to the completion of the Final Design Phase. 
 
 
SECTION 4 - RESPONSIBILITIES OF OWNER  
 
OWNER shall, within a reasonable time, so as not to delay the services of ENGINEER:   
 
4.1 Provide full information as to OWNER’S requirements for the Project.   



   
 

 
DWYER STREET SITE #2 AND SITE #3 IMPROVEMENTS  6 10/17/2024 

  

 
4.2 Assist ENGINEER by placing at ENGINEER’S disposal all available information pertinent to the 
assignment, including previous reports and any other data relative thereto.   
 
4.3 Furnish ENGINEER services or data, such as core borings, probings and subsurface 
explorations; hydrographic surveys; laboratory tests and inspections of samples, materials, and 
equipment; appropriate professional interpretations of all of the foregoing; property, boundary, easement, 
right-of-way, topographic, and utility surveys; zoning and deed restrictions; and other special data or 
consultations, all of which ENGINEER may rely upon in performing its services under this AGREEMENT.   
 
4.4 Guarantee access to and make all provisions for ENGINEER to enter upon public and private 
property as required for ENGINEER to perform its services under this AGREEMENT.   
 
4.5 Examine all studies, reports, sketches, cost opinions, Bid Documents, Drawings, proposals, and 
other documents presented by ENGINEER and render in writing decisions pertaining thereto.   
 
4.6 Provide such professional legal, accounting, financial, and insurance counseling services as may 
be required for the Project.   
 
4.7  Designate in writing a person to act as OWNER'S representative with respect to the services to 
be performed under this AGREEMENT.  Such person shall have complete authority to transmit 
instructions; receive information; interpret and define OWNER'S policies and decisions with respect to 
materials, equipment, elements and systems to be used in the Project; and other matters pertinent to the 
services covered by this AGREEMENT.   
 
4.8 Give prompt written notice to ENGINEER whenever OWNER observes or otherwise becomes 
aware of any defect in the Project.   
 
4.9 Furnish approvals and permits from all governmental authorities having jurisdiction over the 
Project and such approvals and consents from others as may be necessary for completion of the Project.   
 
4.10 Furnish, or direct ENGINEER to provide necessary Additional Services as stipulated in Section 3 
of this AGREEMENT or other services as required.   
 
4.11 If ENGINEER'S standard bidding requirements, Agreement forms, and General Conditions are 
not to be used, but OWNER'S documents are to be used instead, OWNER shall provide copies of such 
documents for ENGINEER'S use in coordinating the Contract Drawings and Specifications. 
 
4.12 ENGINEER makes no warranty, express or implied, that its design is free of errors or omissions. 
OWNER and ENGINEER agree that certain increased costs and changes may be required and are 
anticipated due to omissions, errors or inconsistencies in drawings and specifications prepared by 
ENGINEER.  Therefore, OWNER agrees to include in the Project budget a reserve in the amount of Five 
Percent (5%) of the estimated total Project cost as a contingency to be used, as needed, to pay for any 
such increased costs and changes.  OWNER agrees to make no claim against ENGINEER or its 
consultants with respect to any increased cost within this contingency amount.  If costs due to changes 
resulting from design errors, omissions or inconsistencies exceed the contingency, then subject to the 
limitations in Section 8, ENGINEER shall be responsible for costs incurred by OWNER above that sum 
but only to the extent caused by ENGINEER’s negligent acts, errors or omissions.  In no event shall 
ENGINEER be responsible for direct costs that OWNER would have incurred but for the ENGINEER’s 
act, error or omission. 
 
4.13 Prior to commencement of the services, the ENGINEER may request in writing that the OWNER 
provide reasonable evidence that the OWNER has made financial arrangements to fulfill the OWNER’s 
obligations under this Agreement. Thereafter, the ENGINEER may request such evidence if: (1) the 
OWNER fails to make a payment to the ENGINEER as required; (2) a change in the scope materially 
changes the contract amount; or (3) the ENGINEER identifies in writing a reasonable concern regarding 



   
 

 
DWYER STREET SITE #2 AND SITE #3 IMPROVEMENTS  7 10/17/2024 

  

the OWNER’s ability to make payment when due. The OWNER shall furnish such evidence as a condition 
precedent to commencement or continuation of the ENGINEER’s services. After the OWNER furnishes 
the evidence, the OWNER shall not materially vary such financial arrangements without prior notice to the 
ENGINEER.  
 
SECTION 5 - PERIOD OF SERVICE  
 
5.1 This AGREEMENT will become effective upon the first written notice by OWNER authorizing 
services hereunder.   
 
5.2 The provisions of this AGREEMENT have been agreed to in anticipation of the orderly and 
continuous progress of the Project through completion of the services stated in the AGREEMENT.  
ENGINEER’S obligation to render services hereunder will extend for a period which may reasonably be 
required for the completion of said services. 
 
SECTION 6 - PAYMENTS TO ENGINEER  
 
6.1 Compensation.  OWNER shall pay ENGINEER for services rendered and reimbursable 
expenses as follows: 

a. For time spent by personnel, payment at the hourly rates indicated in the attached “Schedule 
of Hourly Professional Service Billing Rates” attached as Exhibit 3. Such rates include 
overhead and profit. The rate schedule is effective to December 31, 2025, and will be 
increased annually thereafter. 

b. For reproduction, photocopy, telephone, fax, normal computer usage and computer aided 
drafting (CAD), and mail, a technology charge per labor hour as specified on the rate 
schedule in effect at the time the Service is provided. 

c. For expenses incurred by ENGINEER, such as authorized travel and subsistence, including 
airfare, food, lodging, automobile rental, commercial services, and incidental expenses, the 
cost to ENGINEER. 

d. For company vehicle usage, and testing apparatus, amounts will be charged according to the 
ENGINEER’s standard rates in effect at the time the Service is provided. 

e. For services rendered by other firms or individuals as subcontractors to ENGINEER, 
including but not limited to surveying, real property descriptions, soil borings, subsurface 
investigations, laboratory testing, field quality control tests, environmental data base search, 
photos, or other activities required or requested by OWNER, the same will be billed at the 
cost to ENGINEER. Expenses incurred by such outside ENGINEERs in service to OWNER 
shall be reimbursable in accordance with 6.1.c. above. 

f. Total payment for the Scope of Services described herein including is not to exceed One 
Hundred Seventy-Five Thousand Nine Hundred Seventy-Four Dollars ($175,974), which 
amount shall not be exceeded without prior written consent of the OWNER as detailed in 
Exhibit 2. 

 
6.2 Statements 
 
Monthly statements, in ENGINEER'S standard format, will be submitted by the ENGINEER to the 
OWNER.  Statements will be submitted covering services and expenses incurred during the preceding 
month.  
 
6.3 Payments   
Statements are payable upon receipt.  A late payment charge of 1.5 percent per month or any partial 
month will be added to amounts not received within 30 days of the statement date.  Time is of the 
essence in payments of statements, and timely payment is a material part of the consideration of this 
AGREEMENT.  Costs, including reasonable attorney's fees, incurred by the ENGINEER in collecting any 
delinquent amount shall be reimbursed by the OWNER.  If a portion of ENGINEER'S statement is 
disputed by OWNER, the undisputed portion shall be paid by OWNER by the due date.  The OWNER 
shall advise the ENGINEER in writing of the basis for any disputed portion of any statement.   



   
 

 
DWYER STREET SITE #2 AND SITE #3 IMPROVEMENTS  8 10/17/2024 

  

 
6.4 Taxes 
Taxes, other than United States federal and state income taxes, and Kansas City, Missouri earnings tax, 
as may be imposed by the United States, state, and local authorities, shall be in addition to the payment 
stated under "Amount of Payment". 
 
 
SECTION 7 - GENERAL CONSIDERATIONS  
 
7.1 Insurance 
7.1.1 During the course of performance of these services, ENGINEER will maintain (in United States 
Dollars) the following insurance coverages:   
 

Type of Coverage  Limits of Liability  
 

Workers' Compensation  Statutory  
Employers' Liability  $500,000 Each Accident  

 
Commercial General Liability 

Bodily Injury and $1,000,000 Combined Single Limit 
Property Damage   

 
Automobile Liability:  

Bodily Injury and $1,000,000 Combined Single Limit 
Property Damage 
 

Professional Liability:  $1,000,000 Per Claim and Annual Aggregate 
 
If requested, ENGINEER will provide to OWNER certificates as evidence of the specified insurance.   
 
7.1.2. Construction Contractors shall be required to provide (or OWNER may provide) Owners' 
Protective Liability Insurance naming the OWNER as a Named Insured and the ENGINEER as an 
additional insured, or, to endorse OWNER and ENGINEER using ISO Form GC 20 10 11 85 
endorsement or its equivalent as Additional Insureds on all construction Contractors’ liability insurance 
policies covering claims for personal injuries and property damage in at least the amount required of 
ENGINEER in Section 7.1.1, above.    Construction Contractors shall be required to provide certificates 
evidencing such insurance to the OWNER and ENGINEER.   
 
7.1.3. OWNER and ENGINEER waive all rights against each other and their officers, directors, agents, 
or employees for damage covered by property insurance during and after the completion of ENGINEER'S 
services.  If the services result in a Construction Phase, a provision similar to this shall be incorporated 
into all Construction Contracts entered into by OWNER, and all construction Contractors shall be required 
to provide waivers of subrogation in favor of OWNER and ENGINEER for damage or liability covered by 
any construction Contractor's policy of insurance. 
 
7.2 Professional Responsibility 
 
7.2.1. ENGINEER will exercise reasonable skill, care, and diligence in the performance of ENGINEER’S 
services and will carry out its responsibilities in accordance with customarily accepted professional 
engineering practices.  If the ENGINEER fails to meet the foregoing standard, ENGINEER will perform at 
its own cost, and without reimbursement from OWNER, the professional engineering services necessary 
to correct errors and omissions which are caused by ENGINEER'S failure to comply with above standard, 
and which are reported to ENGINEER within one year from the completion of ENGINEER'S services for 
the Project.   
 



   
 

 
DWYER STREET SITE #2 AND SITE #3 IMPROVEMENTS  9 10/17/2024 

  

7.2.2 The obligations and representations contained in Paragraph 7.2.1 are ENGINEER’S sole 
obligation and OWNER’S exclusive remedy with respect to defects in the quality of services detected prior 
to Project completion.  OWNER’S failure to properly operate and maintain the Project shall relieve 
ENGINEER of its liability for any damage caused in whole or in part by improper operation or 
maintenance. 
 
7.2.3 No warranty, express or implied, is included in this Agreement or regarding any drawing, 
specification, or other work product or instrument of service or oral or written representation by 
ENGINEER or its employees or consultants. 
 
7.2.4 Subject to Paragraph 7.14.1 and Section 8, the obligations and remedies stated in this Section 
7.2, Professional Responsibility, are the sole and exclusive obligations of ENGINEER and remedies of 
OWNER, regardless of the cause of action pled including, without limitation, all types of negligence.   
 
7.3 Cost Opinions and Projections 
Cost opinions and projections prepared by ENGINEER relating to construction costs and schedules, 
operation and maintenance costs, equipment characteristics and performance, and operating results are 
based on ENGINEER'S experience, qualifications, and judgment as a design professional.  Since 
ENGINEER has no control over weather, cost and availability of labor, material and equipment, labor 
productivity, construction Contractors’ procedures and methods, unavoidable delays, construction 
Contractors' methods of determining prices, economic conditions, competitive bidding or market 
conditions, and other factors affecting such cost opinions or projections, ENGINEER does not guarantee 
that actual rates, costs, performance, schedules, and related items will not vary from cost opinions and 
projections prepared by ENGINEER. 
 
7.4 Changes 
OWNER shall have the right to make changes within the general scope of ENGINEER'S services, with an 
appropriate change in compensation and schedule, upon execution of a mutually acceptable amendment 
or change order signed by an authorized representative of the OWNER and the President or any Vice 
President of the ENGINEER. 
 
7.5 Suspension of Services  
Should OWNER fail to fulfill its responsibilities as provided under Section 4 to the extent that ENGINEER 
is unduly hindered in ENGINEER’S services or if OWNER fails to make any payment to ENGINEER on 
account of ENGINEER’S services and expenses within 90 days after receipt of ENGINEER'S bill therefor, 
ENGINEER may, after giving seven days' written notice to OWNER, suspend services under this 
AGREEMENT until OWNER has satisfied OWNER’S obligations under this AGREEMENT. 
 
7.6 Termination 
 
7.6.1. Services may be terminated by the OWNER or ENGINEER by seven days' written notice in the 
event of substantial failure to perform in accordance with the Terms hereof by the other party through no 
fault of the terminating party.  Failure on the part of the OWNER to make payments to ENGINEER when 
due shall be considered substantial nonperformance and cause for termination.  If so terminated, 
OWNER shall pay ENGINEER all amounts due ENGINEER for all services properly rendered and 
expenses incurred to the date of receipt of notice of termination, plus reasonable costs incurred by 
ENGINEER in terminating the services.   
 
7.6.2. In the event of premature termination of the Project by the OWNER and through no fault of the 
ENGINEER, the ENGINEER shall be entitled to: (1) recover all reasonable costs and expenses incurred 
to date of termination plus all costs incurred to assemble and close Project files and documents; (2) 
unavoidable down time in the reassignment of Project staff; (3) termination penalties/expenses related to 
third parties retained by ENGINEER in regard to its obligations under this contract; and  (4) a termination 
amount of 15 percent of the remaining portion of the total compensation (or estimated compensation) 
agreed to herein or by separate authorization to cover lost profits, damages, and lost opportunity costs 
which cannot otherwise be accurately calculated.  



   
 

 
DWYER STREET SITE #2 AND SITE #3 IMPROVEMENTS  10 10/17/2024 

  

 
7.7 Delays 
In the event the services of the ENGINEER are suspended or delayed by the OWNER, the ENGINEER 
shall be entitled to additional compensation for reasonable costs incurred by the ENGINEER in 
temporarily closing down or delaying the Project and reassigning Project staff (including, but not limited 
to, unavoidable down time and any termination expenses incurred where reassignment is not reasonably 
possible) and in organizing Project files, records, and work in progress for suspension and later 
resumption of the ENGINEER'S services. 
 
7.8 Legal Fees and Expenses 
In the event that a dispute should arise relating to the performance of the services to be provided and 
should that dispute result in litigation, it is agreed that the prevailing party shall be entitled to recover all 
reasonable costs of litigation, including staff time, court costs, attorneys' fees, and other related 
expenses. 
 
7.9 Rights and Benefits 
ENGINEER'S services will be performed solely for the benefit of the OWNER and not for the benefit of 
any other persons or entities. 
 
7.10 Dispute Resolution 
 
7.10.1 Scope of Section:  The procedures of this Section 7.10 and it subparts shall apply to any and all 
disputes between OWNER and ENGINEER (including disputes involving an officer, director or employee 
of either party) which arise from, or in any way are related to, this AGREEMENT, including, but not limited 
to, the interpretation of this AGREEMENT, the enforcement of its terms, any acts, errors, or omissions of 
OWNER or ENGINEER in the performance of this AGREEMENT, whether in contract or in tort, and 
disputes concerning payment. 
 
7.10.2 Exhaustion of Remedies Required:  No arbitration may be filed unless the parties first negotiate 
and, if necessary, mediate their disputes as set forth in this Section 7.10.  If timely Notice is given under 
Paragraph 7.10.3, but an arbitration is initiated prior to exhaustion of these procedures, such action shall 
be stayed, upon application by either party to a court of proper jurisdiction, until the procedures in 
Paragraphs 7.10.3, 7.10.4, and 7.10.5 have been complied with.  
 
7.10.3 Notice of Dispute 
 
7.10.3.1  For disputes arising prior to the making of final payment promptly after the occurrence of any 
incident, action, or failure to act upon which a claim is based, the party seeking relief shall serve the other 
party with a written Notice; 
 
7.10.3.2  For disputes arising after the making of final payment, OWNER shall give ENGINEER written 
Notice at the address listed in Paragraph 7.18 within ninety (90) days after occurrence of any incident, 
accident, or first observance of defect or damage.  In both instances, the Notice shall specify the nature 
and amount of relief sought, the reason relief should be granted, and the appropriate portions of this 
AGREEMENT that authorize the relief requested. 
 
7.10.4 Negotiation:  Within seven (7) days of receipt of the Notice, the Project Managers for the OWNER 
and ENGINEER shall confer in an effort to resolve the dispute.  If the dispute cannot be resolved at that 
level within twenty-one (21) days after Notice then, upon written request of either side, the matter shall be 
referred to the Division President of the ENGINEER and the following executive officer of OWNER, 
     .  These officers shall meet at the Project Site or such other location as is agreed upon within thirty 
(30) days of the written request to resolve the dispute. 
 
7.10.5 Mediation:  If the OWNER'S and ENGINEER'S said officers are unable to resolve the dispute, 
then either side may request that the matter be submitted to mediation before a mediator mutually agreed 
upon.  If the parties cannot agree on a mediator, then the American Arbitration Association shall appoint 



   
 

 
DWYER STREET SITE #2 AND SITE #3 IMPROVEMENTS  11 10/17/2024 

  

one upon request.  Any administrative or mediator's fees shall be split equally between the parties. The 
mediation shall take place in Kansas City, Missouri unless the parties mutually agree on another location. 
 
7.10.6   Arbitration:  

 
7.10.6.1  If the parties are unable to resolve their dispute after at least one session of mediation, then any 
claim, dispute or other matter in question arising out of or related to this AGREEMENT (including disputes 
involving an officer, director or employee of either party), whether in contract or in tort, shall be subject to 
arbitration in accordance with the Construction Industry Arbitration Rules of the American Arbitration 
Association then in effect. The demand for arbitration shall be filed in writing with the other party to this 
AGREEMENT and with the American Arbitration Association. 
 
7.10.6.2  A demand for arbitration shall be made within a reasonable time after the claim, dispute or other 
matter in question has arisen. In no event shall the demand for arbitration be made after the date when 
institution of legal or equitable proceedings based on such claim, dispute or other matter in question 
would be barred by the applicable statute of limitations. 
 
7.10.6.3  No arbitration arising out of or relating to this AGREEMENT shall include, by consolidation or 
joinder or in any other manner, an additional person or entity not a party to this AGREEMENT (other than 
disputes involving an officer, director or employee of either party, or subcontractor to ENGINEER), except 
by written consent containing a specific reference to this AGREEMENT and signed by the OWNER, 
ENGINEER, and any other person or entity sought to be joined. Consent to arbitration involving an 
additional person or entity shall not constitute consent to arbitration of any claim, dispute or other matter 
in question not described in the written consent or with a person or entity not named or described therein.  
 
7.10.6.4  The foregoing agreement to arbitrate and other agreements to arbitrate with an additional 
person or entity duly consented to by parties to this AGREEMENT shall be specifically enforceable in 
accordance with applicable law in any court having jurisdiction thereof. The award rendered by the 
arbitrator or arbitrators shall be final, and judgment may be entered upon it in accordance with applicable 
law in any court having jurisdiction thereof. 

 

7.10.6.5  Any legal action necessary to compel, confirm, vacate, enforce, modify or otherwise affect the 
mediation or arbitration shall be filed in state or federal courts in the State of Missouri and each party 
expressly consents to jurisdiction therein. 
 
7.10.7 Waiver Upon Final Payment:  The making of final payment by OWNER and the acceptance of 
same by ENGINEER and ENGINEER’S subconsultants shall constitute a waiver of existing claims by the 
OWNER and such payee except those previously made in writing and identified as unsettled by OWNER 
at the time of payment, or by the payee at the time of such payee's final invoice.  Except for those claims 
waived under Paragraph 7.1.3, final payment shall not constitute a waiver of claims by the OWNER 
relating to liens unsettled, or subsequent discovery of services not in compliance with this AGREEMENT.  
The waivers contained in Paragraph 7.1.3 shall continue to apply after final payment is made. 
 
7.10.8 Waiver Due to Untimely Notice:  Claims arising after the making of final payment shall be barred, 
and no suit or demand may be filed if Notice as stated in Paragraph 7.10.3.2 is not given.  Nothing in this 
Paragraph shall be construed as directly or indirectly limiting the time to institute suit, but rather to give 
the responding party timely notice and prompt opportunity to investigate the allegations of the dispute. 
 
7.11 The OWNER represents that it has sufficient funds or the means of obtaining funds to remit 
payment to the ENGINEER for services rendered by the ENGINEER. 
 
7.12 Publications 
Recognizing the importance of professional development on the part of ENGINEER'S employees and the 
importance of ENGINEER'S public relations, ENGINEER may prepare publications, such as technical 
papers, articles for periodicals, and press releases, pertaining to ENGINEER'S services for the Project.  
Such publications will be provided to OWNER in draft form for OWNER'S advance review.  OWNER shall 



   
 

 
DWYER STREET SITE #2 AND SITE #3 IMPROVEMENTS  12 10/17/2024 

  

review such drafts promptly and provide OWNER’S comments to ENGINEER.  OWNER may require 
deletion of proprietary data or confidential information from such publications, but otherwise OWNER will 
not unreasonably withhold approval.  The cost of ENGINEER'S activities pertaining to any such 
publication shall be for ENGINEER'S account. 
 
7.13 Indemnification for Pollution Related Claims 
For services involving or related to pollution, toxic substances, or hazardous wastes or asbestos 
abatement work, OWNER agrees to release, defend, indemnify, and hold harmless ENGINEER and its 
officers, directors, employees, agents, and consultants and from all liability, claims, demands, damages, 
losses, and expenses, direct, indirect or consequential, including, but not limited to, claims of OWNER 
and other persons and organizations, reasonable fees and expenses of attorneys and consultants, and 
court costs arising out of the performance of this AGREEMENT.  This indemnification provision extends to 
claims against ENGINEER which arise out of the actual, alleged, or threatened dispersal, escape, or 
release of chemicals, wastes, liquids, gases, or any other material, irritant, contaminant, or pollutant, or 
arising out of or resulting from asbestos abatement work. 
 
7.14 Indemnification 
 
7.14.1 Except for those projects identified in Section 7.13, and subject to the provisions of Sections 4 
and 8 of this Agreement, ENGINEER agrees to indemnify OWNER for damages, costs and expenses 
(including reasonable attorney’s fees) but only to the extent caused by the negligent acts, errors or 
omissions of ENGINEER, its officers, directors, shareholders, employees, agents, and consultants, and 
any of them. Nothing in this Agreement shall require ENGINEER to provide a defense of the OWNER 
against any claim, suit or complaint. 
 
7.14.2 OWNER agrees to indemnify ENGINEER for damages, costs and expenses (including 
reasonable attorney’s fees) but only to the extent caused by the negligent acts, errors or omissions of 
OWNER, its officers, directors, shareholders, Contractors, employees, agents, and consultants, and any 
of them. 
 
7.14.3 OWNER agrees that it will require all construction Contractors to indemnify, defend, and hold 
harmless OWNER and ENGINEER from and against any and all loss where loss is caused or incurred or 
alleged to be caused or incurred in whole or in part as a result of the negligence or other actionable fault 
of the Contractors, or their employees, agents, subcontractors, and suppliers. 
 
7.14.4 If this Project involves construction, and ENGINEER does not provide engineering services 
during construction including, but not limited to, on-site observation, site visits, submittals review, and 
design clarifications, OWNER agrees to indemnify and hold harmless ENGINEER from or against any 
liability arising from the Project or this AGREEMENT. 
 
7.15 Computer Models 
ENGINEER may use or modify ENGINEER’S proprietary computer models in service of OWNER under 
this AGREEMENT, or ENGINEER may develop computer models during ENGINEER’S service to 
OWNER under this AGREEMENT.  Such use, modification, or development by ENGINEER does not 
constitute a license to OWNER to use or modify ENGINEER’S computer models.  Said proprietary 
computer models shall remain the sole property of the ENGINEER.  OWNER and ENGINEER will enter 
into a separate license agreement if OWNER wishes to use ENGINEER'S computer models. 
 
7.16 Reuse of Documents 
All documents including Contract Drawings and Specifications prepared or furnished by ENGINEER (and 
ENGINEER'S independent professional associates and consultants) pursuant to this AGREEMENT are 
instruments of service in respect of the Project, and ENGINEER shall have the ownership and property 
interest therein whether or not the Project is completed.  OWNER may make and retain copies for 
information and reference in connection with the use and occupancy of the Project by OWNER and 
others; however, such documents are not intended or represented to be suitable for reuse by OWNER or 
others on extensions of the Project or on any other project.  Any reuse without written verification or 



   
 

 
DWYER STREET SITE #2 AND SITE #3 IMPROVEMENTS  13 10/17/2024 

  

adaptation by ENGINEER for the specific purpose intended will be at OWNER'S sole risk and without 
liability or legal exposure to ENGINEER, or to ENGINEER'S independent professional associates or 
consultants, and OWNER shall indemnify and hold harmless ENGINEER and ENGINEER'S independent 
professional associates and consultants from and against all claims, damages, losses, and expenses 
including attorneys' fees arising out of or resulting therefrom.  Any such verification or adaptation will 
entitle ENGINEER to further compensation at rates to be agreed upon by OWNER and ENGINEER. 
 
7.17 Electronic Media 
Any electronic media (computer disks, tapes, and similar items) furnished with respect to ENGINEER’S  
services are for OWNER'S information and convenience only.  Such media are not to be considered part 
of ENGINEER’S instruments of service.  (Due to the potential that information contained in electronic 
media can be modified by OWNER or others, ENGINEER, at its option, may remove all indicia of 
ENGINEER’S ownership and involvement from each electronic display.) 
 
ENGINEER shall not be liable for loss or damage directly or indirectly, arising out of use of electronic 
media including, but not limited to, any loss of business or incidental or consequential damage.  OWNER 
shall assume all risk and release, indemnify, and hold harmless ENGINEER, its officers, directors, 
employees, servants, agents, successors, and assigns, from and against each and every claim or cause 
of action that OWNER or others may have or which may arise in the future respecting use of the 
electronic media. 
 
If there is a discrepancy between the electronic media files and the signed and sealed hard copies, the 
hard copies shall govern. 
 
7.18 Notices 
Any Notice required under this AGREEMENT will be in writing, addressed to the appropriate party at the 
following addresses: 
 
OWNER’S address: 
 
Holly Robertson 
404 E Nelson 
Edgerton, Kansas 66021 
913-893-6231 
hrobertson@edgertonks.org 
 
ENGINEER’S address: 
 
Miranda Hamick 
9400 Ward Pkwy 
Kansas City, Missouri, 64114 
816-894-8465 
mdhamrick@burnsmcd.com 
 
7.19 Successor and Assigns 
OWNER and ENGINEER each binds its self and its successors, executors, administrators, and assigns to 
the other party of this AGREEMENT and to the successors, executors, administrators, and assigns of 
such other party, in respect to all covenants of this AGREEMENT; except as above, neither OWNER nor 
ENGINEER shall assign, sublet, or transfer its interest in the AGREEMENT without the written consent of 
the other. 
 
7.20 Controlling Law 
This AGREEMENT shall be subject to, interpreted and enforced according to the laws of the State of 
Missouri without regard to any conflicts of law provisions. 
 
7.21 Entire Agreement 



   
 

 
DWYER STREET SITE #2 AND SITE #3 IMPROVEMENTS  14 10/17/2024 

  

This AGREEMENT represents the entire AGREEMENT between the ENGINEER and OWNER relative to 
the Scope of Services herein.  All previous or contemporaneous agreements, representations, promises, 
and conditions relating to ENGINEER'S services described herein are superseded.  Since terms 
contained in purchase orders do not generally apply to professional services, in the event OWNER issues 
to ENGINEER a purchase order, no preprinted terms thereon shall become a part of this AGREEMENT.  
Said purchase order document, whether or not signed by ENGINEER, shall be considered as a document 
for the OWNER'S internal management of its operations. 
 
SECTION 8 – LIMITATION OF LIABILITY  
 
8.1 To the fullest extent permissible by law, and notwithstanding any other provision of this 
Agreement, the total liability, in the aggregate, of ENGINEER, its officers, directors, shareholders, 
employees, agents, and consultants, and any of them, to OWNER and anyone claiming by, through or 
under OWNER, for any and all claims, losses, liabilities, costs or damages whatsoever arising out of, 
resulting from or in any way related to the Project or this Agreement from any form of negligence, 
professional errors or omissions (including breach of contract or warranty) of ENGINEER, its officers, 
directors, employees, agents or consultants, or any of them, SHALL NOT EXCEED the total 
compensation actually received by ENGINEER under this Agreement. or the sum of Three Hundred 
Thousand Dollars ($300,000), whichever is greater.  The parties agree that specific consideration has 
been given by the ENGINEER for this limitation and that it is deemed adequate. 
 
8.2 In no event will ENGINEER be liable for any special, indirect, or consequential damages 
including, without limitation, damages or losses in the nature of increased Project costs, loss of revenue 
or profit, lost production, claims by customers of OWNER, or governmental fines or penalties.   
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the City of Edgerton, Kansas by and through its      , and Burns & 
McDonnell Engineering Company, Inc., by its authorized officer have made and executed this 
AGREEMENT as of the day and year first above written.   
 

THIS CONTRACT CONTAINS A BINDING ARBITRATION 
PROVISION WHICH MAY BE ENFORCED BY THE PARTIES 

 
OWNER: City of Edgerton  ENGINEER: Burns & McDonnell Engineering 

Company, Inc. 

By:   By:  

Name:        Name: Patrick Clifford 

Title:        Title: Regional Global Practice Manager 
 
 



  

 

9400 Ward Parkway \ Kansas City, MO 64114 

O 816-333-9400 \ F 816-333-3690 \ burnsmcd.com 

Exhibit 1 - Scope of Services 

City of Edgerton, Kansas 

 

2024 Dwyer Site #2 and Site #3 

 

Scope of Services: 

This scope of services describes the work elements to be performed by Burns & McDonnell 

Engineering Company, Inc. (hereinafter referred to as ENGINEER) in development of 

preliminary and final design documents related to the Dwyer Street Site #2 and Site #3 

Improvements for the City of Edgerton, Kansas (hereinafter referred to as CITY). This scope 

includes details of tasks that are anticipated for the work. The details of each task are to a level 

that is reasonably foreseeable as of October 2024. 

 

ENGINEER will prepare final design documents, to issue for bid, for the replacement of 

equipment at Site #3 (also known as the Big Bull Creek Wastewater Treatment Plant (WWTP), 

located at 20600 Homestead Ln, Edgerton, KS 66021) and provide additional capacity at Site #2 

(also known as the City Pump Station, located at 710 E Nelson Street, Edgerton, KS 66021) 

through pump station modifications and flow equalization basin. The details of each task to be 

completed by ENGINEER are included below.  

 

Background Information. 

1. The OWNER is undertaking the project to provide longevity at the WWTP and provide 

additional capacity for future development at the City Pump Station. 

2. Previous reports, the Wastewater Master Plan, SRF Project Summaries, operations data, lab 

data, SCADA data, and as-built drawings shall be made available to the ENGINEER. 

3. The OWNER intends to develop a 100% design for the planned improvements at Site #2 and 

Site #3. 

4. The project is funded through the Environmental Protection Agency’s (EPA) Community 

Grant Program and the Kansas Department of Health and Environment’s (KDHE) State 

Revolving Fund (SRF) loan program.  

 

Task 1: Project Management and Controls – Project Management and controls will be provided 

for the duration of the project for oversight of these services. It is assumed the project duration 

will be for a total of 6 months from the notice to proceed. 

 

1. Project Management. Monitor progress and schedule on the project and facilitate organization 

of all design components. Provide reports on progress, percentage of completed work, budget 

status, and adherence to schedule to the OWNER on a monthly basis.  

2. Develop and Maintain Project Schedule. Develop a project schedule and maintain the project 

schedule for use in tracking progress. A status update of project schedule will be included in 

monthly reporting.  



Page 2 

 

3. Progress Meetings. Conduct monthly progress meetings with OWNER staff to provide updates 

on project progress, budget and schedule statues, current issues, and public involvement 

activities. Anticipated future activities and OWNER needs will be discussed. Engineer will 

prepare and submit agenda to OWNER and prepare/distribute meeting minutes. For budgeting, 

this scope includes up to six (6) meetings during design and bid phase work. 

4. Prepare and Administrate Subconsultant Agreements. Prepare scope, budget, schedule, and 

contract subagreements for subconsultants to assist Engineer during execution of the project. 

Conduct coordination meetings as required to prepare subagreements. Provide administration 

of subagreements and subconsultant work including deliverables, subcontractor invoicing, and 

schedule maintenance.  

5. Quality Control. Engineer’s quality control program will be implemented on all phases of the 

project to provide an independent review of the work. Quality control reviews will include 

checks for conformance to regulatory agency requirements, completeness and correctness of 

evaluations, and adherence to contract requirements. Engineer’s project manager and quality 

control manager will review that all necessary revisions are completed and incorporated into 

final bid documents.  

6. Invoice Administration. Conduct project invoicing on a monthly basis. Provide monthly 

invoice services and progress reports throughout the duration of the project. 

7. Project Kickoff Meeting. After Notice to Proceed is given by OWNER, ENGINEER shall 

organize and conduct a Project Kickoff Meeting with the OWNER to review and establish 

project goals, lines of communication, project procedures, and other logistics of project 

execution, including anticipated project schedule and general content of subsequent monthly 

progress meetings. Prepare and submit an agenda to OWNER before the meeting and distribute 

meeting minutes after conclusion of the meeting. 

8. Organization and Communication. The Project is located within the City limits with potential 

disruptions to property owners. It is assumed that all work will be contained on existing Right-

of-Way or City-owned property and temporary and permanent easements will not be needed. In 

the event that an easement is required, it will be acquired by OWNER and access for construction 

will need to be communicated with the public. There are known utilities within the project area 

with potential for coordination for construction activities.  

8.1. Utilities. Engineer will contact utilities including Evergy and Kansas Gas Service (KGS) to 

gather information on the location of the facilities and design and permit requirements prior 

to commencing design activities. Engineer will provide preliminary design drawings to 

utilities to determine if any conflicts are present. A record of utilities contacted, and 

information provided will be maintained. Conflicts with utilities will be identified and 

proposed relocations, protection measures, and other impacts will be determined and 



Page 3 

 

presented to the utilities for consideration. All utility owners’ requirements will be included 

in the construction design documents.  

8.2. Industrial Property Owners. Coordination with Mid-States Materials will be performed, and 

preliminary design will be presented showing proposed construction methods along with 

estimated durations of construction and any interruptions to facilities. Modifications to the 

preliminary designs will be made as required to address concerns or restrictions.  

8.3. Railroad. Engineer will contact railroad to determine ownership of railroad right of way and 

design and permit requirements for working near the rail right of way. Preliminary designs 

will be presented showing proposed alignment, design, and construction methods. 

Modifications to preliminary design will be made as required to address any concerns or 

restrictions.  

8.4. City Council Meetings. Participate and conduct one (1) City council meeting during the 

project at completion of the final design drawings. Prepare presentation materials including 

hardboards, powerpoints, maps, and handouts to present at the meeting. 

Task 2: Field Services 

1. Topographic Survey – Conduct a topographic survey in sufficient detail to capture existing 

topography along the 240 linear foot pipe alignment and the area around the existing City 

pump station and decommissioned lagoon. Existing conditions within a hundred-foot 

corridor will be surveyed to determine critical features within the Project alignment. 

Horizontal and vertical size control will be established. The topographic survey will include 

the location of existing utilities, structures, and other visible features within the survey 

boundaries. A property model of all properties directly affected by the pipe alignment will be 

prepared, along with a base map of existing parcels and right-of-way within the corridor. It is 

assumed that no topographic survey will be required at the Big Bull Creek WWTP, no 

easements will be required for this Project, and easement acquisitions services are not 

included in this scope of services. 

 

2. Geotechnical Services – Geotechnical exploratory work will be carried out along the pipe 

alignment route, and at the City Pump Station property and the Big Bull Creek Wastewater 

Treatment Facility. Geotechnical engineering services will include field explorations, 

laboratory and field testing, and professional interpretations of the exploratory and test data. 

Geotechnical services will include:  

2.1. Literature Review. Perform a literature review to research available geological 

publications and data in the vicinity of the site, to include geotechnical data, water 

resources, geologic hazards, and mining records, and other pertinent information.  

2.2. Geotechnical Exploration. Perform an exploration program and provide an experienced 

geotechnical engineer or geologist full-time to log borings.  



Page 4 

 

2.2.1. Drill two (2) borings, to a termination depth of 10 feet, or impenetrable bedrock. 

Each boring shall be advanced to a minimum penetration in the soil as defined above 

or to auger refusal in the bedrock. If bedrock is encountered at locations prior to the 

intended boring completion depth, then perform rock coring into competent bedrock 

with NX-size, double-tube rock coring techniques to a minimum of 2 feet below 

invert depth. Borings will be staked, and ground elevation and boring coordinates 

surveyed. OWNER will be responsible for obtaining access to the sites, Engineer will 

coordinate location and access needs.  

2.3. Laboratory Testing. Perform laboratory tests on soil and rock core samples obtained from 

the borings to evaluate pertinent engineering properties of materials encountered. Tests 

shall be assigned and performed to classify soils and obtain geotechnical physical 

characteristics for soils and rock such as strength, compressibility and compaction 

characteristics. Laboratory testing will include the following; moisture content, dry unit 

weight, sieve analysis, percent finer than No. 200 Sieve, Atterberg limits, unconfined 

compression soil and rock, one-point triaxial compression, and compaction 

characteristics.  

2.4. Geotechnical Report. Prepare a report containing a description of the drilling and 

sampling program, a description of the geology and subsurface conditions Encountered, 

groundwater conditions, final boring logs with a boring location plan, and results of the 

laboratory testing program. The report shall also contain geotechnical recommendations 

for the design and construction of foundations and earthwork. The following is a list of 

major items, shall appear in the report: subsurface conditions, geologic hazards, previous 

construction activity, earthwork recommendations for fill and backfill materials and 

overexcavation if required, foundation design, lateral earth pressures, slope stability and 

excavations, excavation requirements, trenchless excavations, and dewatering. 

 

ASSUMPTIONS: 

1. The work at the wastewater treatment plant will not require additional topographic survey. 

2. OWNER will dewater the decommissioned lagoon prior to commencement of geotechnical 

investigations and topographic survey. 

 

Task 3: Concept Design  

1. The following is a summary level description of the planned conceptual design based on the 

City of Edgerton Wastewater Master Plan (Burns & McDonnell, 2023) at the WWTP and 

City Pump Station:   

1.1. Screening: Additional railing or platform for safer screen access.  

1.2. Grit Removal: Replacement of grit pump.  

1.3. Schreiber Secondary Treatment: Replacement of inner diffuser standpipes 

1.4. Blowers: Consideration of alternative technologies for future replacement, including 

alternatives analysis of up to three blower technologies.  



Page 5 

 

1.5. Chemical Feed Systems: Replacement of coagulant and polymer metering pumps 

1.6. UV: Improvements to compressed air and cleaning system 

1.7. Electrical:  

1.7.1. Investigation and possible replacement of main Uninterruptible Power Supply 

(UPS) in Administration Building and Solids Processing and Electrical Building 

(SPEB) 

1.7.2. Investigation and possible replacement of surge protectors throughout WWTP site 

1.7.3. Investigation and recommendation for non-functional Automatic Transfer Switch 

(ATS) 

1.8. Instrumentation and Controls (I&C):  

1.8.1. Supervisory Control and Data Acquisition (SCADA) host and workstation 

hardware upgrades, SCADA software license upgrades, review and 

recommendation of point list modifications 

1.8.2. Investigation and recommendation for improved remote radio system reliability. 

Investigation will include a physical path study at an estimated four (4) locations. 

1.9. Heating Ventilation and Cooling (HVAC): Review HVAC in all WWTP buildings and 

determine if replacement or improvement is recommended.  ENGINEER will make one 

trip to the Big Bull Creek WWTP for a condition assessment of the mechanical 

equipment. 

1.10. City Pump Station: Considerations for additional capacity, including an 

alternatives analysis evaluating impeller changes and/or one additional pump added to 

the station. Pump station screening will also be evaluated for replacement or 

improvement. Considerations will include electrical and I&C available at the Pump 

Station.  

1.11. ENGINEER will develop a concept design to replace the existing pipe segment 

(approximately 245 linear feet) between manhole BD2A-1 to manhole 004 with a 30-

inch diameter sewer. 

1.12. ENGINEER will develop a concept design to repurpose the decommissioned City 

lagoon as a flow equalization basin, including all piping and connections from the pump 

station to the equalization basin. The pipe diameter and lagoon size will be confirmed 

during the conceptual phase and documented in the basis of design memorandum.  

1.12.1. It is assumed the City owns all property from the pump station to the 

decommissioned lagoon and no additional easements are required for this task. 

1.12.2. ENGINEER will perform seepage tests on the existing lagoon liner to determine 

the feasibility of reusing the liner or the requirement to design and install a new 

liner coordinating with the requirements of KDHE. 

2. ENGINEER will conduct one (1) on-site SCADA and Instrumentation and Controls 

workshop at the project site to discuss potential improvements to the existing system and 

availability of options. The workshop will be attended by the Project Manager, I&C 

Engineer, and one additional team member. 

3. Engineering for the WWTP and City Pump Station will include a basis of design 

memorandum that develops major design criteria for each improved unit process, a codes and 



Page 6 

 

standards review as required for building improvements if any, and documentation of the 

design criteria for the City Pump Station and flow equalization basin as determined in Task 

1. The following engineering discipline deliverables will be included as part of the 

conceptual design:  

3.1. Civil Site: site layout indicating areas for improvements, equalization basin liner 

requirements, and piping materials and diameters.  

3.2. Structural: Identify structural design requirements for the facility and recommended 

materials of construction.  

3.3. Mechanical: Evaluation of HVAC as documented in the Basis of Design. 

3.4. Process: Develop capacity and process design criteria for recommended improvements. 

3.5. Electrical, Instrumentation and Control: General site layout, preliminary load 

calculations, equipment sizing, and one-line diagrams, conceptual SCADA tie-in and 

results of the SCADA and I&C workshop. 

4. An opinion of probable construction cost (OPCC) will be provided in accordance with the 

Association for Advancement of Cost Engineering (AACE) Recommended Practices for a 

Class 5 estimate. The Class 5 cost estimate will be developed and reviewed with the CITY at 

the end of Conceptual Design.  

5. ENGINEER will lead up to two in-person meetings with the CITY to review conceptual 

design documents and review CITY-provided comments.   

 

ASSUMPTIONS 

1. Seepage tests will be performed following dewatering the lagoon and commencement of any 

field activities outlined in Task 2. 

 

DELIVERABLES: 

1. PDF files of conceptual design drawings, basis of design memorandum, and OPCC.  

2. Printed and electronic sets of conceptual design documents as required for submittal to 

KDHE. Fees are to be paid by the CITY. 

 

 

Future scope to be completed with a written agreement between OWNER and ENGINEER for 

future services and associated fee. 

  

Task 4: Preliminary Design Phase  

1. Prepare Preliminary Design Drawings. ENGINEER will prepare and submit preliminary  

level drawings for OWNER review. Standard documents will include a title sheet, general 

layout sheet, drawing and symbols lists, general layout of City Pump Station site #3 

including the pump station and flow equalization basin, and general layout of the Big Bull 

Creek WWTP Site #2. 

1.1.Civil: Draft sewer plan and profile sheets, yard piping and site plan with grading. 

1.2.Structural: Draft plan and section drawings for the railing at the screening process. 

1.3.Mechanical:  



Page 7 

 

1.4.Process: Draft drawings for all unit processes, major equipment lists and preliminary 

drawings. 

1.5.Electrical/Instrumentation: Draft instrumentation details, update instrumentation device 

schedule, finalized process and instrumentation diagrams. 

1.6.Detailed information with respect to civil, structural, process, mechanical, and electrical 

work. The format used for the drawings will be the ENGINEER’s standard format and 

drafting standards. A preliminary design review milestone meeting will be held to 

discuss OWNER comments, and comments will be addressed as part of the following 

phases. 

1.7.The scope and fee assumes the following tasks are completed by the OWNER as a 

replace in kind activity with no design required from ENGINEER: Task 1.2, Task 1.3, 

Task 1.5, Task 1.6. 

 

2. Prepare Draft Specifications. Prepare preliminary contract specifications for OWNER review 

utilizing ENGINEER’s standard “front-end” contract documents, and ENGINEER will 

develop Division 1 specifications including Supplemental Conditions, technical 

specifications, stormwater pollution prevention plan, and state revolving funds (SRF) 

specifications. Equipment that is being replaced in kind will not receive a detailed 

specification. At the Preliminary Design Review milestone meeting OWNER comments will 

be reviewed, and comments will be addressed as part of the following phases. 

 

3. Preliminary Opinion of Probable Cost. ENGINEER will prepare a preliminary opinion of 

probable construction cost for the preliminary design documents and submit to the OWNER 

for review and comment. Since Engineer has no control over the cost of labor, material, or 

equipment furnished by others not under contract to Engineer, Engineer’s opinion of 

probable cost for construction of the work will be made on the basis of experience and 

qualifications as an Engineer. Engineer does not guarantee that proposals, bids, or actual 

project costs will not vary from Engineer’s opinions of probable cost.  The OPCC will be 

provided in accordance with the AACE Recommended Practices for a Class 3 estimate.  

 

DELIVERABLES: 

1. Provide one electronic copy (PDF) of preliminary drawings to OWNER for review. 

2. Provide one electronic copy (PDF) of major equipment draft technical specifications. 

3. Provide one electronic copy (PDF) of opinion of probable construction cost. 

 

Task 5: Final Design Phase 

1. Final Construction Contract Documents. Design drawings shall be developed to the final design 

level and will address preliminary design review comments. Drawings will include sufficient 

detail for review of bidding. Drawings will meet the requirements of the Kansas Department of 

Health and Environment. Deliverables shall include:  



Page 8 

 

1.1. Final Plan and profile, utility relocation, access plan, discipline-specific contract drawings, 

details, schedules, and schematics for the proposed construction work and for the materials 

and equipment required.  

1.2. Erosion and sediment control plan in accordance with the developed SWPPP 

1.3. Final front-end documents utilizing ENGINEER’s standard templates and incorporate SRF 

requirements.  

1.4. Technical specifications for the materials and equipment required based on Engineer’s 

standards except where OWNER guidelines and standards are available.  

1.5. An opinion of probable construction cost (OPCC) will be provided in accordance with the 

AACE Recommended Practices for a Class 2 estimate. The Class 2 cost estimate will 

represent the final opinion of probable construction cost deliverable and will be reviewed 

with the CITY . 

1.6. Update project schedule  

1.7. Attend Final Design Review Meeting with OWNER to receive and discuss OWNER’s 

review comments. 

2. Regulatory Agency Submittals. ENGINEER shall assist the OWNER in obtaining approval from 

the governmental authorities having jurisdiction over the design criteria of the project, consisting 

of any required correspondence and the attendance of meetings, if required, with the appropriate 

governmental agencies including submittal and responses in conjunction with SRF approval.  

2.1. Kansas Department of Health and Environment (KDHE) Review and SRF Support. 

2.1.1. Prior to start of Detailed Design attend a meeting with KDHE to discuss the basis 

of design memorandum and any comments.  

2.1.2. Prepare sealed final Construction Contract Documents for review by KDHE. 

Complete review applications as required by KDHE and submit for review on the 

OWNER’s behalf. OWNER is responsible for the fees associated with the review and 

permit. 

2.1.3. Respond to questions on the final Construction Contract Documents and attend 

meetings as required for approval. Incorporate comments as required in the Final 

Construction Bid Documents.    

DELIVERABLES: 



Page 9 

 

1. Provide two (2) half-size hard copy sets and one electronic copy (PDF) of drawings to 

OWNER for review.  

2. Two (2) printed sets and one electronic copy (PDF) of specifications and contract documents. 

3. Two (2) printed and one electronic copy (PDF) of opinion of probable construction cost. 

Task 6: Bid Phase Services 

1. Invitation to Bid. Assist and advise in developing the Invitation to Bid. Prepare the bid 

advertisement which will specifically outline the work requirements, Contractor requirements, 

bond requirements, and important bid dates and times. OWNER will advertise bid on site they 

designate, and Engineer will assist to provide required documentation.   

2. Pre-Bid Conference. Assist OWNER in scheduling and conducting a Pre-Bid conference, at a 

date and time selected and a place provided by the OWNER, a pre-bid conference to: 

1.1. Confirm the types of information required by the contract documents and the format in 

which bids should be presented.  

1.2. Review project requirements and contract documents in general.  

1.3. Receive requests for interpretations that will be issued to plan holders.  

1.4. Prepare minutes of conference and submit to OWNER for distribution to plan holders.  

3. Interpret Bid Documents. Prepare and issue addenda to the construction contract documents 

when required and in accordance with OWNER’s procedures. As required by OWNER, advise 

OWNER of any inquiries prior to the bid opening from contractors, subcontractors, suppliers 

and public officials.  

4. Bid Opening Assistance. Attend and assist OWNER during bid opening as requested by 

OWNER. Submit “Engineer’s Opinion of Probable Construction Cost” to OWNER prior to bid 

opening. Assist OWNER in answering questions, making a preliminary tabulation of bids, and 

reviewing bids for completeness and accuracy as requested by OWNER.  

5. Recommendation Award. Make written recommendation to OWNER concerning the contract 

award.  

6. Conforming Contract Documents. Assist OWNER with preparing and distributing conforming 

copies of the construction contract documents. The services will include: reviewing the 

successful Bidder’s insurance certifications and bonds and forward to OWNER for approval, 

furnishing the successful Bidder’s unsigned construction contract documents, and transmitting 

the construction contract documents to OWNER for signature and distribution. Engineer’s 

review of bonds and insurance certificates is only for the purpose of determining if the successful 

Bidder has provided the insurance certificates and bonds required by the contract documents and 



Page 10 

 

is not a legal review to determine if the successful Bidder’s bonds and insurance certificates 

comply with all applicable requirements.  

Task 7: Construction Phase Services 

a. Construction Phase Services are not included in this scope of work. 

 

Task 8: Additional Project Support 

1. Funding Assistance. ENGINEER will assist OWNER with project funding documentation as 

requested by the OWNER. OWNER or OWNER’s representative will coordinate all 

documents and required application submittals for funding. If public hearings are required, 

ENGINEER will attend up to two (2) public hearings to address project specific technical 

questions. OWNER or OWNER’s representative will coordinate and conduct the public 

hearings. The level of effort assigned to this task is 20 labor hours. 

 

2. Public Outreach and Communications. Assist OWNER with responding to inquiries from 

business owners, property owners, and other stakeholders throughout the duration of the 

Project. ENGINEER will support OWNER in agreed upon public outreach methods through 

either one (1) public meeting, social media posts, or website posts. The level of effort 

assigned to this task is 20 labor hours. 

  

Deliverables: 

1. Draft and Final basis of design memorandum documenting the agreed upon concept design. 

2. Preliminary design drawings, draft specifications, and OPCC 

3. Final contract documents including design drawings, specifications, and OPCC to issue for 

bid. 

 

Schedule:  

1. ENGINEER will complete the project task series items within the schedule provided below: 

Task Series Days Following OWNER Notice to Proceed Date 

1 150 days 

2 120 days 

3 150 days 

4 N/A 

5 N/A 

6 N/A 

7 N/A 

8 N/A 

 

Responsibilities of the OWNER:  

1. The OWNER commits to review deliverables and provide comments within fourteen (14) 

calendar days after receipt of deliverables from ENGINEER. OWNER will endeavor to 

provide consolidated written review comments to ENGINEER within a fourteen (14) 



Page 11 

 

calendar day period. A review meeting will be scheduled and conducted by ENGINEER no 

more than fourteen (14) calendar days after receipt of written consolidated OWNER 

comments unless a mutually agreed upon date outside this schedule window is selected. 

2. OWNER agrees to provide construction record drawings for the previous work performed at 

the Big Bull Creek WWTP and the City Pump Station including, but not limited to, original 

construction record drawings, lagoon decommissioning drawings, pump station modification 

drawings, manufacturer information for equipment, geotechnical investigations etc. 

3. Responsible for all application and permit fees associated with the project. 

 

Assumptions: 

 

1. It is assumed the City owns all property required for the work defined in this scope and no 

additional easements are required. 

2. It is assumed the existing lagoon liner will meet KDHE standards and will not require 

draining the lagoon, excavating the existing liner and constructing a new liner for the flow 

equalization basin. 

3. It is assumed there are no architectural services needed for the project. 

4. It is assumed the City will dewater the existing decommissioned lagoon prior to 

commencement of the geotechnical investigations. 

5. It is assumed the information collected from previous project work, including the Pump 

Station and Force Main Project, designed by Burns & McDonnell in 2016, is adequate for the 

project needs. 

6. KDHE review period is assumed to be 30 calendar days for the Basis of Design 

Memorandum and 45 calendar days for the final contract documents. 

7. No environmental permitting review is required due to all work being performed on 

previously developed sites. 

 



EXHIBIT 2 - Fee Estimate

Dwyer Street Site #2 and Site #3

Edgerton, KS

Civil Detailing QC Team Project Director
Project 

Manager

Lead Systems 

Engineer

Assistant 

Systems 

Engineer

Lead Process 

Engineer

Assistant 

Process 

Engineer

Lead Electrical 

Engineer

Staff Electrical 

Engineer

Staff 

Mechanical 

Engineer

Assistant 

Mechanical 

Engineer

Chief Estimator Sr. Estimator
Geotech 

Engineer

7 13 16 13 12 9 11 9 13 11 11 8 15 13 13

1 Project Management and Controls

1.00 Project Management 8 8               2,376$                80$                     2,456$                80$                 

2.00 Develop and Maintain Project Schedule 8 8               2,376$                80$                     2,456$                80$                 

3.00 Progress Meetings 4 9 6 6 6 31             8,803$                638$                   9,441$                308$               

4.00 Subconsultant Agreements 16 8 24             7,128$                239$                   7,367$                239$               

5.00 Quality Control 4 4               1,188$                40$                     1,228$                40$                 

6.00 Invoice Administration 6 6               1,782$                60$                     1,842$                60$                 

7.00 Project Kickoff Meeting 2 4 3 3 3 15             4,253$                259$                   4,512$                149$               

8.00 Coordination and Communication 2 2 4               1,144$                40$                     1,184$                40$                 

8.10   Utilities 2 2               550$                   20$                     570$                   20$                 

8.20   Industrial Property Owners 2 2               550$                   20$                     570$                   20$                 

8.30   Railroad 2 2               550$                   20$                     570$                   20$                 

8.40   City Council Meetings 4 4 8               2,288$                80$                     2,368$                80$                 

Sub-total Hours 0 4 6 57 21 0 9 0 9 0 0 0 0 0 8 114           32,988$              1,574$                34,562$              1,134$            

2 Field Services

1.00 Topographic Survey 8 2 4 16             2,928$                25,459$              28,387$              159$               

2.00 Geotechnical Services 2 4 6               1,782$                22,060$              23,842$              60$                 

2.10   Literature Review 1 1               276$                   10$                     286$                   10$                 

2.20   Geotechnical Exploration -            -                      -                      -                      -                  

2.30   Laboratory Testing -            -                      -                      -                      -                  

2.40   Geotechnical Report 1 2 3               869$                   30$                     899$                   30$                 

Sub-total Hours 8 0 0 4 1 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 7 26             5,855$                47,559$              53,414$              259$               

3 Concept Design

1.00 Site #3 and Site #2 Concept Design 8 24 12 24 10 60 6 144           33,016$              1,433$                34,449$              1,433$            

2.00 SCADA/I&C Workshop 4 8 12             3,132$                2,979$                6,111$                119$               

3.00 Basis of Design Memorandum 8 8 8 40 8 40 8 16 136           29,080$              1,353$                30,433$              1,353$            

4.00 Concept OPCC 2 2 2 4 2 4 30 46             12,942$              458$                   13,400$              458$               

5.00 Concept Design Meetings 4 4 4 12             3,348$                229$                   3,577$                119$               

Sub-total Hours 0 8 0 12 18 66 26 68 20 68 8 22 4 30 0 350           81,518$              6,453$                87,971$              3,483$            

Total w/Optional Services 0 12 6 69 39 66 35 68 29 68 8 4 30 8 464           120,361$            55,586$              175,947$            4,876$            

Fee Summary

Burns & McDonnell Fee 120,361$            

Expense Fee 55,586$              

Total Proposed Project Fee 175,947$            

Optional Services -$                    

Total 175,947$            

Labor Fee
Tech Fee 

($9.95)
Expense Fee Total FeeTask Project Tasks Total Hours

10172024 Dwyer Street - Concept Design Fee_DRAFT 10/17/2024



Position Classification Hourly
Classification Level Billing Rate

General Office * 5 $78.00

Technician * 6 $99.00

Assistant * 7 $120.00
8 $165.00
9 $195.00

Staff * 10 $222.00
11 $243.00

Senior 12 $275.00
13 $297.00

Associate 14 $306.00
15 $308.00
16 $310.00
17 $313.00

NOTES:

1. Position classifications listed above refer to the firm's internal classification system for employee compensation. For 
example, "Associate", "Senior", etc., refer to such positions as "Associate Engineer", "Senior Architect", etc.

2. For any nonexempt personnel in positions marked with an asterisk (*), overtime will be billed at 1.5 times the hourly 
labor billing rates shown.

3. For outside expenses incurred by Burns & McDonnell, such as authorized travel and subsistence, and for services 
rendered by others such as subcontractors,  the client shall pay the cost to Burns & McDonnell plus 10%.

4. A charge will be applied at a rate of $9.95 per labor hour for technology usage, software, hardware, printing & 
reprographics, shipping and telecommunications. Specialty items are not included in the technology charge.

5. Monthly invoices will be submitted for payment covering services and expenses during the preceding month. 
Invoices are due upon receipt.  A late payment charge of 1.5% per month will be added to all amounts not paid 
within 30 days of the invoice date.

6. The services of contract/agency and/or any personnel of a Burns & McDonnell parent, subsidiary, affiliate, or related 
or associated entity shall be billed to Owner according to the rate sheet as if such personnel is a direct employee of 
Burns & McDonnell.

7. The rates shown above are effective for services through December 31, 2025, and are subject to revision thereafter. 
The composition or build-up of the rates shown above are not subject to audit, inspection, or review.

Form BMR25-6

Schedule of Hourly Professional Service Billing Rates

mdhamrick
Text Box
Exhibit 3



Agenda Item: Consider Awarding IT Managed Service Provider Contract 
to Imagine IT 

City Council Action Item 

Council Meeting Date: October 24, 2024 

Department: Administration 

 
 
 

Background/Description of Item: 

The City of Edgerton released a Request for Proposals (RFP) for Managed Information 
Technology Services in August. The City’s contract with our current managed service provider 
(MSP), Strategy Marketing and Tech Agency, expires on December 31, 2024. Staff sent the 
RFP to seven firms and published it on our website. The City received 13 proposals total; 
however, one was not considered because it was submitted after the deadline. 

A spreadsheet reviewing the proposals is included in the Council packet. The selection 
committee reviewed the proposals for completeness of their solution, expertise and relevant 
experience, ability to meet the City’s needs, and overall cost. Proposals ranged from $2,745 to 
$9,542 per month. 

After reviewing the proposals, four firms were selected to move forward as finalists: Imagine 
IT, MDL, ITSolutions, and Cortavo. A selection committee met either in person or virtually with 
the four finalists. Each firm offered an excellent solution with impressive cybersecurity 
features.  

Staff recommends Imagine IT as the preferred MSP due to their comprehensive service 
options and lowest overall cost proposal. Based on projected number of users and devices, 
Imagine IT proposed a monthly cost of $2,742.60 or $32,911.20 annually, plus an initial set-
up fee of $4,350. The 2025 IT Budget is adequate to cover the cost of this contract. 

The partner agreement is pending City Attorney review. 

Related Ordinance(s) or Statue(s): 

Funding Source: General Fund, Water Fund, Sewer Fund 

Budget Allocated: $110,491 



Recommendation: Approve a Contract with Imagine IT for Managed 
Information Technology Services for 2025. 

Finance Director Approval:  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Enclosed:  

• Finalist Proposal Comparison spreadsheet 
• Imagine IT Partner Agreement 

 
Prepared by:  Kara Banks, Assistant to the City Administrator 
 



Services Included Cortavo Imagine, IT ITSolutions MDL Strategy
HelpDesk/After Hours Yes Yes, 6a-6p Yes Yes Yes, 8a-6p (limited # of hours/mo)
Server/Network Admin/Main Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes
Software Licensing Management Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes
Cybersecurity Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes
MFA Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes
PCI Compliance Yes Yes Yes Yes, works with City to complete Yes, additional cost
Vendor Support Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes
Business Continuity/Disaster Recovery Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes
Phone System Support Yes Works with vendor Yes Yes Yes
Printer Support Yes Works with vendor Works with vendor Works with vendor Works with vendor
Budget Creation Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes
IT Best Practices Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes
Employee Training/Testing Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes
# of Support Techs 30 26 15 in KC, 90 nationwide 8 3

Support Cost $4,290 $1,638 $3,900 $2,700 $3,600
Security Cost inc $702 inc inc $4,440
Datto MSRP $199 inc $350 inc
Backups inc $124 $549 inc inc
MS Security Subscriptions inc $81.60 inc inc inc
Set-up Fees none $4,350 $5,199 $3,000 $0
Annual Rate increases 5%

Staff Increases $165/user
greater than 5 new users would 
increase $90/user $150/user $100/user

2025 Total Cost per month (does not include Gr $4,290 $3,107.10 $4,882.25 $3,300.00 $8,040

Notes

Includes warehouse space for IT 
equipment, automatic email 
signatures, Microsoft licenses are 
included in cost Any "new" offering is additional cost

Large purchasing power with 
discounts for equipment, robust 
cybersecurity offerings because of size 
of company, most of our "projects" are 
included in the service and would not 
require additional charges

Annual business technology review, 
over 150 customers in KC area Current provider

Concerns

No local office; however consultant 
advised that any on-site assistance 
would be available and no travel costs 
would be incurred Help Desk is not unlimited





















































































Agenda Item: Consider Agreement with Gardner Disposal for Solid Waste 
Collection and Disposal Services for January 1, 2025 through December 
31, 2027 

City Council Action Item 

Council Meeting Date: October 24, 2024 

Department: Administration  

  
 
 
 

Background/Description of Item: 

Since 2015, the City of Edgerton has contracted with Gardner Disposal to provide residential 
solid waste collection and disposal services. That contract has been renewed three times. The 
contract signed in 2021 includes term language that allows for a two-year contract extension. 
After discussions with the Governing Body, staff was directed to negotiate an extension.  

Gardner Disposal had not increased costs for solid waste service since 2015. The current 
contract includes the following fees: 

Residential pickup: $15.00 per month 
Additional trash carts: $5 per trash container 
Additional recycling carts: $1 per container 
Additional trash stickers: $1.50 per sticker 

The new agreement does include increases to account for inflation and economic pressures: 

Residential pickup: $22 per month 
Additional trash carts: $7.50 per trash container 
Additional recycling carts: $3.00 per recycling container 
Additional trash stickers: $2.00 per sticker 

To date, City Council has defrayed the cost to residents by paying for half of the monthly pick-
up charge, most recently approved under Resolution No. 01-08-15A. If this contract is 
approved, Staff will bring forward a new resolution at the November 14th City Council meeting 
to increase the subsidy by $3.50. Residents will then see an increase in trash costs from 
$7.50/month to $11/month. 

The residential solid waste collection and disposal service would remain the same as currently 
provided to residents. The service includes one (1) 95-gallon container for refuse and one (1) 
65-gallon container for recyclables. All refuse must fit inside the container provided or have a
sticker purchased for additional bags. Recyclables are unlimited. The service provides curbside



Recommendation: Approve Agreement with Gardner Disposal for Solid 
Waste Collection and Disposal Services for January 1, 2025 through 
December 31, 2027 and Authorize Mayor to Sign Pending City Attorney 
Review 

collection of residential yard waste including grass, plant clippings, leaves and limbs once per 
week. During normal months the limit is eight (8) yard waste items. During the months of 
March, April, August, September, October and November the limit is twelve (12) items.  
 
Finally, the service includes the pickup of one item weighing up to 100 pounds per dwelling 
per week at no additional charge. The item must fit inside the truck when cycling. This is a 
change from previous years when crews would only pick up one furniture item per week. 
 
Staff recommends approval, pending City Attorney review, as the experience with Gardner 
Disposal has been favorable.  The draft agreement with Gardner Disposal is attached. The 
term of the Agreement as drafted is January 1, 2025 through December 31, 2027.  
 
Related Ordinance(s) or Statue(s): 

 
 
 
Funding Source: General Fund and Sewer Fund 
 
Budget Allocated:   General Fund: $166,270 

Sewer Fund:  $26,160 
 
Finance Director Approval:  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Enclosed:   Agreement for Solid Waste Disposal Services 
 
Prepared by:   Kara Banks, Assistant to the City Administrator 
  
 



 

  
  
  
  

  
   

  
  
  
  
  

CONTRACT BETWEEN EDGERTON AND GARDNER DISPOSAL SERVICES, INC.  
  

FOR  
  

RESIDENTIAL SOLID WASTE COLLECTION AND DISPOSAL SERVICES  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

EFFECTIVE January 1, 2025  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  



2 of 23  
  

THIS CONTRACT, made and entered into this 24th day of October 2024, to be 
effective January 1, 2025, by and between the City of Edgerton, Kansas (“City”) and 
Gardner Disposal Services, Inc. (“Contractor”).  
  
WITNESSETH:  
  
WHEREAS, Contractor was the low bidder to be the exclusive provider for curbside 
collection of residential solid waste, unlimited recyclable materials, segregated yard 
waste, special/bulk items and collection service for city facilities; and  
  
WHEREAS, Article 5 of Chapter VIII of the City Code allows the City to contract with a  
Contractor for collection of solid waste within the corporate boundaries of the City; and   
  
WHEREAS, the City and Contractor agree that the rates paid to Contractor as set forth 
herein, will not be changed until the expiration of this Contract, unless Contractor and 
the City agree otherwise in writing.    
  

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises, covenants, and 
agreements herein contained, the adequacy and sufficiency of which are hereby 
acknowledged, the parties hereto mutually promise, covenant, and agree as follows:  
  

1. Term. Subject to the Kansas Cash Basis law, the Contract term shall be three 
(3) years and shall initially run from January 1, 2025 through December 31, 2027. The 
Contract may be terminated at the end of the Contract term unless the City and Contractor 
have mutually agreed upon an extension no later than four (4) months prior to the 
expiration date, unless otherwise agreed upon by the parties. All subsequent contract 
extensions, if any, shall be in increments of two (2) years.  Should the parties fail to reach 
an agreement on either termination or extension by December 31, 2027 the parties agree 
that following the end date of the Contract the Contract shall become a month to month 
agreement at the rates in place at that time until the Contract is either terminated or 
extended.  

  
2. Scope of Work. During the term of this Contract, the Contractor shall collect, 

remove and dispose of all residential solid waste, garbage, trash, and recyclables (as 
defined by Johnson County regulations on mandatory recycling) in the City, and shall 
furnish all labor, vehicles, tools, equipment and any other necessary facilities thereof in 
accordance with the terms and conditions of this Contract, and all applicable federal, 
state, and local laws. During all times that Contractor is under contract with the City, 
Contractor shall maintain its license with Johnson County, Kansas, and shall comply with 
all Johnson County solid waste regulations that Johnson County has mandated are to be 
complied with by the City, and pay all applicable taxes required by the City, County or the 
State of Kansas.  
  



3 of 23  
  

The specific work under this Contract shall consist of the items contained in Exhibit A 
hereto, including all incidentals necessary to fully complete said work in accordance 
with the Contract.  

  
The work under the Contract does not include the collection and disposal of any increased 
volume resulting from a flood, tornado, or similar or different acts of God over which the 
Contractor has no control. In the event of such a flood, tornado or other acts of God, the  
Contractor and the City will negotiate the payment to be made to the Contractor, if the 
Contractor and the City agree that such increased volume is to be handled by the 
Contractor. Further, if the City and the Contractor reach such agreement, then the City 
shall grant the Contractor variances in routes and schedules as mutually agreed to by the 
City and the Contractor.  

  
3. Compensation to Contractor. The City will pay Contractor, for services 

rendered, within thirty (30) days following the end of the month.  Such payment shall be 
based on the Rate Schedule (attached as Exhibit B) and the number of accounts 
established on the City’s computerized utility billing systems. The City shall be billed for 
the number of accounts it provides to the Contractor. The Contractor shall bill and collect 
for Schedule I, II, III and IV services (set forth in Exhibit A) based on the Rate Schedule 
(set forth in Exhibit B hereto).  

  
4. Operational Specifications. The following operational specifications shall 

apply to all solid waste collections. Specifications unique to Schedules I, II, and III are 
listed separately.  
  

a. Hours. Collection of solid waste shall not start before 7:00 a.m. or  
continue after 6:00 p.m. of the same day.  Exceptions to collection hours shall be 
allowed only upon the mutual agreement of the City and Contractor, or when 
Contractor reasonably determines an exception is necessary in order to complete 
collection on an existing collection route due to unusual circumstances. City 
facilities are open Monday through Friday from 8:00 AM to 4:30 PM excluding 
holidays. All collection at city facilities must be completed during normal city 
hours of operation.  
  
b. Routes. Collection routes shall be established by the Contractor subject to 

approval of the City Administrator. Contractor shall submit a map 
designating the collection routes for approval by the City Administrator, 
which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld.   

  
The Contractor may from time to time propose changes to the routes or days of 
collection. Upon the City Administrator’s approval of the proposed changes, the 
Contractor shall promptly give written or published notice to the affected service 
locations.  
  



4 of 23  
  

c. Holidays. The City of Edgerton currently observes the holidays  
listed below. The City will notify Contractor of any future changes in holidays 
observed by the City. The Contractor may also observe all of the below 
mentioned holidays by suspension of collection services on the holiday, but such 
suspension in no manner relieves the Contractor of its obligation to provide 
collection service as provided in the Contract. To accommodate for the holidays 
mentioned below, the work schedule shall be moved to one (1) day after the 
holiday, so that every scheduled service location receives its normal level of 
service during the week. Services shall return to the normal work schedule the 
following week.  

   
  New Year’s Day (January 1)  
  Martin Luther King Jr Day (3rd Monday in January)  
  Memorial Day (Last Monday in May)  
  Juneteenth (June 19) 
  Independence Day (July 4)  
  Labor Day (1st Monday in September)  
  Veteran’s Day (November 11)  
  Thanksgiving (4th Thursday of November)  
  Day after Thanksgiving (4th Friday of November) 

Christmas (December 25)  
  
d. Account Management. The number of accounts (the number of  

customers served) will be set annually. The City may receive requests for service 
to additional service locations not initially included in the Contract. The City will 
investigate all requests for service and will make the determination of eligibility 
for service and thereupon notify the Contractor. The City may annex areas in the 
future. These areas will be added to the list of residences that require residential 
solid waste collection and disposal services. The City will provide the contractor 
ninety (90) days’ notice of new accounts to be added. At the time this Contract is 
being entered into, there are approximately 638 active accounts.  

  
The Contractor shall discontinue solid waste collection service at any unit as set 
forth in a written delinquent or termination notice sent by the City.  Upon further 
notification by the City, the Contractor shall resume collection on the next 
regularly scheduled collection day. The City shall indemnify and hold Contractor 
harmless from any claims, suits, damages, liabilities or expenses resulting from 
the Contractor’s discontinuing service at any location at the direction of the City.  
  

e. Hauling. All solid waste hauled by the Contractor shall be so contained, tied or 
enclosed that leaking, spilling, or blowing are prevented. The Contractor shall 
immediately clean up any leaking, spilled or blown items, particularly hydraulic 
fluid and petroleum products.  



5 of 23  
  

  
f. Complaints. All complaints shall be received by the City and  

promptly provided to the Contractor. The Contractor shall be equipped with a 
local telephone and qualified attendants as may be necessary to receive and 
process complaints and service requests or receive instructions and directions 
from the City during the hours of 8:00 a.m. to 4:30 p.m. each and every working 
day during the term of this Contract, or any renewal thereof.  
  
All complaints shall be resolved within twenty-four (24) hours of Contractor 
receiving notice of the Complaint from the City. The Contractor shall maintain 
forms or logs indicating the time a complaint or request is received, the nature of 
the complaint or request, and the disposition of the same. Such records shall be 
available for City inspection at all times during normal working hours. When a 
complaint is received on the day before a holiday or on a Friday, it shall be 
serviced by the Contractor no later than the next working day.  
  
The Contractor will furnish to the City the following reports on a weekly basis: (i) 
a report of the service locations not served on the regular scheduled service day 
and reason service could not be given; and (ii) a report of the complaints 
received and the resolution of said complaints.  
  
The City may require the Contractor to make personal supervisory contact to 
resolve a service complaint.  

  
g. Public Notification. The City shall notify its citizens of complaint procedures, rates,     
          regulations and days for scheduled solid waste collection.  

  
  
  

5. Contractor’s Personnel. The Contractor shall assign an On-Site  
Superintendent, who shall be qualified to be in charge of the operations required by this 
Contract, and to serve as the liaison between the Contractor and the City. This person 
shall be present in the City limits during times of operation of the Contractor and shall 
serve as the contact for City staff to notify Contractor of complaints each week during 
weekly collection. Information regarding the experience and qualifications of the OnSite 
Superintendent shall be furnished to the City upon request.    

  
Contractor’s employees shall carry valid operator licenses for the type of vehicle they 
are driving.  The wages of all employees of the Contractor shall equal or exceed the 
minimum hourly wages established by law, and no person shall be denied employment 
by the Contractor for reasons of race, creed, religion, sex, or national origin.  No 
Contractor personnel shall use alcohol or unlawful drugs while providing service under 
this Contract and, in the event of an accident by Contractor’s personnel which causes 



6 of 23  
  

significant harm or damage to a person or property, Contractor shall immediately test 
personnel involved for alcohol or unlawful drugs as permitted by law, and share the 
results with the City Administrator.   

  
6. Customer Service Requirements. Contractor shall provide high quality 

customer service, and shall:  
  
a. Treat all customers with dignity and respect.  
b. Treat customer’s property with respect.  
c. Timely answer questions, comments, or complaints from 

customers.  
d. Replace the lid to containers, leave containers upright and out of 

the street and driveway, and not in a place that will impede access 
to mailboxes.  

e. Leave a note to the customer indicating problems with items that 
cannot be picked up.  

f. Immediately clean up leaks or spills, and pick up any trash dropped 
by the Contractor.  

  
7. Title to Solid Waste. Title to solid waste shall pass to the Contractor when 

placed in Contractor’s collection vehicle, removed by the Contractor from a container, or 
removed by the Contractor from the residential unit, whichever last occurs.  

  
8. Termination. This Contract may be terminated within seven (7) days of 

Contractor receiving written notice from the City that Contractor:  
  

a. Fails to substantially perform the work with adequate personnel or 
equipment;  

  
b. Fails to perform the work suitably or discontinues the performance 

of work;  
  
c. Fails to provide reasonable customer service;  
  
d. Becomes insolvent or declares bankruptcy or commits any act of 

bankruptcy or insolvency or allows any final judgment for the 
payment of money to stand against Contractor unsatisfied;    

  
AND Contractor or its surety fails to correct such default, to the satisfaction of the City, 
within two (2) days of Contractor receiving the City’s notice.  

  
At any time, and without any required notice, City and Contractor may mutually decide 
to terminate the Contract, and upon what terms.  



7 of 23  
  

  
9. Termination Due to Lack of Funding Appropriation.  If, in the judgment of 

the City Administrator and/or Governing Body, sufficient funds are not appropriated to 
continue the function performed in this Contract and for the payment of the charges 
hereunder, City may terminate this Contract at the end of its current fiscal year.  City 
agrees to give written notice of termination to Contractor at least 30 days prior to the 
end of its current fiscal year.  Contractor shall have the right, at the end of such fiscal 
year, to take possession of any of Contractor’s equipment, leased or otherwise, 
provided to the City under the Contract. City will pay to the Contractor all regular 
contractual payments incurred through the end of such fiscal year, plus contractual 
charges incidental to the return of any such equipment.  The termination of the 
Contract pursuant to this paragraph shall not cause any penalty to be charged to the 
City or the Contractor.  

  
10. Performance Bond. Contractor is required to furnish a Performance Bond to 

the City in the amount of twenty-five percent (25%) of the total annualized amount of 
this Contract (as calculated and determined by the City Administrator), and in 
accordance with Kansas Statutory requirements, guaranteeing faithful compliance with 
the terms of this Contract. The bond shall be written by an agent having an established 
office in Kansas.  
  

11. Legal Compliance. In performing this Contract, Contractor will comply with 
all applicable State and Federal laws, municipal ordinances, and the rules and 
regulations of all authorities having jurisdiction over the work to be performed, and all 
said laws, ordinances, rules, and regulations as they exist now or are amended in the 
future, shall apply to the Contract throughout, and they shall be deemed to be included 
in this Contract as though written out in full as part of this Contract. Equipment utilized 
by the Contractor must comply with all axle weight restrictions.  

  
Notwithstanding the foregoing paragraph, any change in the existing City Charter or any 
ordinance of the City, shall not affect the validity of this Contract or alter, modify, or 
amend the obligations or duties of, or the privileges or benefits occurring to the 
Contractor hereof. But if any such changes result in a significant change in Contractor’s 
obligations under this Contract, then City and Contractor will engage in good faith 
negotiation concerning adjusting the compensation paid to Contractor to reflect the 
changes in obligations.  
  

12. Insurance.   
The Contractor shall procure and maintain at its sole cost and expense, the following 
insurance coverage with minimum acceptable limits:  
  

(1) COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY  
$1,000,000 Per Occurrence  



8 of 23  
  

$2,000,000 Aggregate  
  
Coverage shall be written on ISO occurrence form CG 0001 or equivalent, and shall cover 
liability arising from premises, operations, independent contractors, products and 
completed operations, and personal and advertising injury. Such coverage shall also 
contain a “per project” aggregate endorsement. It shall also name City, its officers, 
officials, employees, and agents as additional insureds on a primary basis, not 
contributing with any insurance maintained by the additional insured, using ISO additional 
insured endorsement CG 2010, or its equivalent, copy of which is required to be attached 
to the certificate of insurance. Contractor shall maintain this coverage for itself and for all 
additional insureds for the duration of the contract.  
  

(2) CONTRACTORS POLLUTION LIABILITY  
$1,000,000 Per Occurrence  
$2,000,000 Aggregate  
  
Coverage shall be written as a separate policy (on either a claims-made or occurrence-
based policy form) or an equivalent coverage extension within the General Liability policy. 
Coverage is to include:  

• All of the services that such contractor provides to City as described within the 
full scope of work for this contract.  

• Bodily injury, sickness, disease, sustained by any person, including death.  
• Property damage to include physical injury to or destruction of tangible property 

including resulting loss of use thereof, clean-up costs, and the loss of use of 
tangible property that has not been physically damaged or destroyed, including 
diminution of value.  

• Defense costs, charges and expenses incurred in the investigation, adjustment or 
defense of claims.  

• Contractual liability coverage for liability assumed by the Contractor under this 
written contract  

• Coverage for claims arising from owned and non-owned disposal sites utilized in 
the performance of this contract, if applicable.  

• Shall name City, its officers, officials, employees, and agents as additional 
insureds on a primary basis, not contributing with any insurance maintained by 
the additional insured, using ISO additional insured endorsements CG 2010, or 
its equivalent, copy of which is required to be attached to the certificate of 
insurance. Contractor shall maintain this coverage for itself and for all additional 
insureds for the duration of the contract.  

  
(3) AUTOMOBILE LIABILITY  

$1,000,000 Per Accident  
  
Coverage shall apply to all owned, hired, and/or non-owned automobiles used in the 
completion of the work set forth in the contract. It shall also name City, it’s officers, 



9 of 23  
  

officials, employees, and agents as additional insureds. Policy shall contain CA9948 
Endorsement.  
  

(4) WORKERS COMPENSATION - STATUTORY & EMPLOYERS LIABILITY  
$1,000,000 Each Accident  
$1,000,000 Policy Limit - Disease  
$1,000,000 Each Employee – Disease  
Coverage shall apply to all workers and employees related to the work, including sole 
proprietors, partners, members of an LLC, and officers of a corporation, regardless of 
whether such persons come under the statutory requirements to carry this coverage.  
  

(5) UMBRELLA / EXCESS LIABILITY  
$1,000,000 Per Occurrence  
$1,000,000 Aggregate  
  
A combined single limit of excess liability to apply over and above General Liability, 
Contractors Pollution Liability, Auto Liability, and Employers Liability, with terms and 
conditions consistent with those of the underlying coverage, not any more restrictive. It 
shall also name City, its officers, officials, employees, and agents as additional insureds 
on a primary basis, not contributing with any insurance maintained by the additional 
insured.  
  

(6) WAIVER OF SUBROGATION  
Contractor, and in addition, its insurers, through policy endorsement, and to the fullest 
extent permitted by law, waives all rights of subrogation against City, its officers, 
employees, Mayor and City Council Members, volunteers and agents for recovery of 
damages applicable to commercial general liability, contractors’ pollution liability, 
commercial umbrella liability, business auto liability or workers compensation and 
employers liability insurance maintained per the requirements stated above.  
  

(7) CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE  
Prior to commencing the work, Contractor shall furnish an acceptable certificate(s) of 
insurance, identifying insurers that write Contractor’s coverages, with minimum Best’s 
Guide Rating of A- and Class VIII or better, and authorized to do business in the state 
of Kansas. Certificate will evidence the required coverage and endorsements stated 
above, with copy of the additional insured endorsement attached. Should any of the 
above-described policies be cancelled or non-renewed, the City shall first be provided 
30 days prior written notice, except 10 days for non-payment of premium. This 
cancellation provision shall be indicated on the certificate of insurance. City also 
reserves the right to obtain copies of Contractor’s policies to validate coverage in effect 
if certificates are ambiguous. If any portion of the work is to be subcontracted, 
Contractor shall require that the subcontractor(s) shall comply with the same 
indemnification agreement terms and be required to provide and maintain all insurance 
coverages and provisions as stated above, with a formal certificate of insurance 



10 of 23  
  

provided to City evidencing same. Acceptance of any certificate that does not comply 
with the above requirements shall not operate as a waiver of Contractor’s obligations 
hereunder. And the fact that insurance is obtained by Contractor shall not be deemed to 
release or diminish the liability of Contractor including, without limitation, liability under 
the indemnity provisions of this contract. Damages recoverable by City shall not be 
limited by the amount of the required insurance coverage. Contractor shall notify City in 
writing as soon as possible after any bodily injury or property damage occurrence that 
could potentially lead to any lawsuit or after it receives notice or knowledge of any 
demand, claim, cause of action, lawsuit, or action arising out of the work performed 
under this contract.  

13. Indemnity. Contractor will indemnify, defend, and save harmless the City, its 
officers, agents, servants, and employees from and against any and all Court actions, 
legal proceedings, claims, demands, damages, costs, expenses, and attorney fees to the 
extent resulting from an alleged willful or negligent act or omission of the Contractor, its 
officers, agents, servants and employees in the performance of this Contract.  

  
14. Contract is Exclusive. The Contractor shall be the only person or organization 

authorized by the City to provide residential solid waste collection and disposal services 
within the City provided and paid for by the City, unless otherwise mutually agreed by 
Contractor and the City. It is the understanding and intention of the City and Contractor 
that this Contract shall not constitute a franchise, but rather a Contract for the collection 
and disposal of solid waste collected within the corporate limits of the City.  

  
15. Transfer and Assignment. Other than by operation of law, no assignment of the 

Contract or rights accruing under this Contract shall be made in whole or in part by the 
Contractor without express written consent of the City.  In the event of an assignment, 
the assignee shall assume the liability of the Contractor. The obligations of the 
Contractor are not to be sub-contracted, assigned, or transferred to any person or 
organization without first having obtained written consent of the City.  

  
16. Solid Waste Management Act Data Submission Requirements. The  
Contractor shall be required to provide all data deemed necessary by the City to 

comply with the reporting requirements of the Solid Waste Management Act of 1989 (SB 
111), as amended, or any other federal or state law or regulation.  The Contractor is 
expected to be thoroughly familiar with reporting requirements mandated by law.  

  
17. Modification to Rates. The Contractor shall provide and perform all of the work 

specified herein for the amounts indicated in the Rate Schedule (Exhibit B) for the 
duration of this Contract.  It is expressly understood that the payments provided for in 
accordance with the Rate Schedule shall constitute full and complete payment to the 
Contractor for all services provided by the Contractor under this Contract.  
  



11 of 23  
  

18. Equal Employment Requirements. Contractor shall be an equal opportunity 
employer as defined by Section 1000 (e) of Chapter 21, Title 42, of the United States 
Code Annotated, and comply with Federal Regulations or acts regarding employment, 
but only if they apply to Contractor. Contractor shall also observe the provisions of the 
Kansas Act Against Discrimination and shall not discriminate against any person in the 
performance of this Contract because of race, religion, color, sex, physical handicap 
unrelated to such person's ability to engage in the particular work, national origin or 
ancestry. In all solicitations or advertisements for employees, Contractor shall include 
the phrase, "equal opportunity employer", or a similar phrase that is acceptable to the 
Kansas Commission on Human Rights. If the Contractor fails to comply with the manner 
in which the Contractor reports to the Commission in accordance with the provisions of 
K.S.A. 1977 Supp. 44-1031, as amended, the Contractor shall be deemed to have 
breached the present Contract and it may be canceled, terminated or suspended, in 
whole or in part, by the City. If Contractor is found guilty of a violation of the Kansas Act 
Against Discrimination under a decision or order of the Commission, which has become 
final, the Contractor shall be deemed to have breached the present Contract and it may 
be canceled, terminated or suspended in whole or in part, by the City.  
  

19. Entire Agreement. This Contract comprises all agreements between the parties, 
and shall not be amended unless in writing and agreed to by the parties.   

  
20. Governing Law. This Agreement is entered into in the state of Kansas and shall be 

subject to the laws of that state in all matters of interpretation.  
  
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement the 

day and year first above written.  
  
          
  

CITY OF EDGERTON, KANSAS  

          BY:  _________________________________  
        

ATTEST:  
  
____________________________   
Alexandria Clower, City Clerk  
  
  
APPROVED AS TO FORM:  
  
___________________________  
Todd Luckman for Stumbo Hanson, 
LLP, City Attorneys 
        

    Donald Roberts, Mayor  



12 of 23  
  

  
  

            
  
  

GARDNER DISPOSAL SERVICES, INC.  

            BY: ___________________________________  
              Tim Henry, President  
  

STATE OF KANSAS   )          
)  ss.  

COUNTY OF JOHNSON   )  
  

BE IT REMEMBERED, that on this             day of                        , 2024, before 
me, the undersigned Notary Public in and for the County and State aforesaid, appeared 
Tim Henry of Gardner Disposal Services, Inc., to me personally known, who being duly 
sworn did state that he has the authority to execute the foregoing document and that he 
acknowledged he fully understands the content and meaning of the within instrument 
and acknowledged that said instrument is his free act and deed.   

  
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed my official 

seal, the day and year last above written.  
            _______________________________  
                Notary Public   
My Appointment Expires:  ____________  
  

  
   



13 of 23  
  

EXHIBIT A  

  

SCHEDULE I SPECIFICATIONS  

RESIDENTIAL SOLID WASTE AND RECYCLABLE MATERIALS  

  

In addition to the General Specifications, the following shall apply to Schedule I.  

  

Scope of Work:  The Contractor shall provide curbside collection of residential solid 
waste and recyclable materials once per week on a regularly scheduled day or days. 
Residential solid waste shall be collected using a volume-based rate structure by which 
the customer is charged based on the total volume or weight that is collected. Unlimited 
recyclable materials shall be collected.   

  

Volume-Based Collection:  The Contractor shall provide one 95-gallon container to each 
customer for curbside collection of solid waste. The base fee entered in the attached 
RATE SCHEDULE includes the collection of solid waste that fits inside the 95-gallon 
container with the lid securely closed. Any additional containers or bags may be 
collected by the Contractor if the container/bag is readily identifiable and is paid for by 
the customer. The Contractor will supply the City with the stickers, tags or other device 
to identify additional bags for purchase by the residents.   

  

Recyclable Materials: The Contractor shall provide at least one 65-gallon minimum 
container to each customer for the curbside collection of unlimited recyclable materials. 
Collection of recyclable materials is not an optional service and must be included in the 
base fee for Schedule I. In accordance with the Johnson County solid waste regulations, 
the Contractor shall accept common recyclables such as food-grade plastics, cardboard, 
office paper, newspaper, chip board, phone books, junk mail, magazines and aluminum 
and steel cans.   

  

Special Accommodation:  Aged, feeble or handicapped customers for whom it would be 
impractical or difficult to transport the container to the curbside shall be served from 
their house side or where their containers are generally kept, provided the City shall 
provide a written list of such customers to the Contractor on a quarterly basis.  



14 of 23  
  

  

Containers:   Any container provided by the Contractor for public use shall be of a 
uniform size, design and similar color as approved by the City Administrator. The 
Contractor shall provide smaller sizes or alternative designed containers (for solid waste 
and/or recyclable materials) sufficient to meet the needs of elderly and 
temporarily/permanently disabled residents upon written request from any such 
resident at no additional charge. The Contractor shall promptly replace any such 
container that has exceeded its useful life as a result of damage or age.   

  

Disposal:  Disposal shall be at any legally operated landfill permitted by the State of 
Kansas.    

  

Excess Holiday Residential Refuse:  During the week of December 26th through 
December 31st of each year of this Contract, the Contractor shall collect up to ten (10) 
additional bags of refuse from each dwelling unit as part of the base fee without the 
stickers, tags or other device typically needed for collection.   

  



15 of 23  
  

SCHEDULE II SPECIFICATIONS  

YARD WASTE  

  

In addition to the General Specifications, the following shall apply to Schedule II.  

  

Scope of Work:  The Contractor shall provide curbside collection of residential yard 
waste including grass, plant clippings, leaves and limbs once per week on a regularly 
scheduled day or days. In accordance with the Johnson County regulations for solid 
waste, the yard waste must be segregated from solid waste, placed in a container 
suitable for composting, or appropriately bundled and tied to be delivered to a facility or 
property authorized to accept yard waste. Grass, plant clippings and leaves shall be 
bagged in paper bags. Limbs shall be bundled and tied with string.   

  

Limit of Items: During the normal course of the year, a limit of eight (8) yard waste 
items will be collected. A bag or bundle is considered one item. During the months of 
March, April, August, September, October and November the limit is twelve (12) items. 
Any additional items may be collected by the Contractor if the item is readily identifiable 
and is paid for by the customer. The Contractor will supply the City with the stickers, 
tags or other device to identify additional bags for purchase by the residents.   

  

Disposal:  The Contractor shall be responsible for the transportation of the yard waste 
materials to a legal collection facility for processing, composting and disposal.  

  

Monitoring: The Contractor shall be responsible for monitoring the accumulation of yard 
waste requiring special collection and/or repackaging. If the Contractor does not collect 
yard waste for any reason, the Contractor shall leave a notice or door hanger outlining 
why said materials were not removed and describing actions necessary to allow for 
pickup.  

  

  
The Contractor shall be responsible for all costs associated with the disposal of 
materials collected under Schedule II.  The Contractor shall retain any income 
associated with the sale of the disposal items.  



16 of 23  
  

SCHEDULE III SPECIFICATIONS 
SPECIAL/BULK ITEMS 

  

In addition to the General Specifications, the following shall apply to Schedule III:  

  

Scope of Work:  The Contractor shall pickup bulk items, such as furniture or appliances. 
The Contractor shall pickup one item up to 100 lbs. per dwelling per week at no 
additional charge. Items must be able to fit in the truck without hanging out of the 
truck during cycling. Freon-related appliances, tires, concrete, construction or 
demolition-related debris, household trash and hazardous waste are excluded from 
bulk-item pick-up. Contractor shall pickup other large items at fee listed in the bid 
proposal. Resident must notify Contractor in advance of special/bulk items to be 
collected. If a resident questions if an item will fit, they can call to schedule a time for 
Contractor to inspect the item. 

  

Disposal of Material:  Disposal shall be at any legally operated landfill permitted by the 
State of Kansas.  The Contractor shall be responsible for all costs associated with the 
disposal of materials collected under Schedule III.  

  

Monitoring: The Contractor shall be responsible for monitoring the accumulation of 
special/bulk items requiring special collection. In the event the Contractor observes the 
existence of special pickup items for which special collection is required, but for which 
no request for such collection has been made by the City, the Contractor will place a 
door hanger at the residence.  The door hanger will instruct the occupant to notify the 
City, or Contractor, to make arrangements for the item to be picked up.  

  

  

The Contractor shall be responsible for all costs associated with the disposal of 
materials collected under Schedule III.  The Contractor shall retain any income 

associated with the sale of the disposal items.  

  

  



17 of 23  
  

SCHEDULE IV SPECIFICATIONS  

CITY FACILITIES  

  

In addition to the General Specifications, the following shall apply to Schedule IV:  

  

Scope of Work: The Contractor shall provide the following services for facilities owned 
and/or operated by the City of Edgerton.     

A. City Hall: (404 E. Nelson)  
1. Solid Waste:  The Contractor shall provide four (4) 95-gallon containers 

for the disposal of solid waste. The containers will be collected once per 
week on a regularly scheduled day.   

2. Recyclable Materials:  The Contractor shall provide at least two (2) 65-
gallon minimum containers for the collection of recyclable materials. 
Additional containers may be requested by the City for the collection of 
recyclable materials at no additional charge. The recyclable materials will 
be collected once per week on a regularly scheduled day. The Contractor 
shall accept common recyclables similar to regular residential collection.  

  

B. Edgerton Public Works Facility (710 E. Nelson):  
1. Solid Waste:  The Contractor shall provide one twenty-yard container for 

the disposal of solid waste. The container will be collected once per week 
on a regularly scheduled day.   

2. Recyclable Materials:  The Contractor shall provide one four-yard 
minimum container for the collection of recyclable materials. Additional 
containers may be requested by the City for the collection of recyclable 
materials at no additional charge. The recyclable materials will be 
collected once per week on a regularly scheduled day. The Contractor 
shall accept common recyclables similar to regular residential collection.  

3. Streetsweeper Waste and Debris: The Contractor shall provide one 
twenty-yard container for the disposal of yard waste and debris that is 
collected during the City’s street sweeping operations. Disposal removal 
occurs based on call generated from staff. Once the call is placed, removal 
shall occur within two business days during normal business hours 
(Monday through Friday 8:00 AM to 4:30 PM excluding holidays). The City 
will pay a fee per ton upon disposal of the dumpster.   
 

  



18 of 23  
  

C. The Greenspace (303 E Nelson):  
1. Solid Waste:  The Contractor shall provide one four-yard container for the 

disposal of solid waste. The container will be collected once per week on a 
regularly scheduled day.   

2. Recyclable Materials:  The Contractor shall provide two 65-gallon 
minimum container for the collection of recyclable materials. Additional 
containers may be requested by the City for the collection of recyclable 
materials at no additional charge. The recyclable materials will be 
collected once per week on a regularly scheduled day. The Contractor 
shall accept common recyclables similar to regular residential collection.  

  

D. Big Bull Creek Wastewater Treatment Facility (20600 Homestead Lane):   
1. Solid Waste:  The Contractor shall provide two (2) one-yard dumpsters for 

the disposal of solid waste. The dumpsters will be collected once per week 
on a regularly scheduled day.   

2. Recyclable Materials:  The Contractor shall provide at least one 95-gallon 
container for the collection of recyclable materials. Additional containers 
may be requested by the City for the collection of recyclable materials at 
no additional charge. The recyclable materials will be collected once per 
week on a regularly scheduled day. The Contractor shall accept common 
recyclables similar to regular residential collection.  

 

Annual Citywide Cleanup:   

The Contractor shall provide curbside bulky item collection on the third Saturday of 
May, or other date as designated by the City each year. Curbside collection shall include 
appliances without CFCs, furniture, carpet, construction debris, etc. Contractor shall 
provide dumpster for collection of appliances that contain CFCs at Edgerton Public 
Works Facility, 710 E. Nelson Street, Edgerton, KS  66021.  

  
Future Facilities:  

The Contractor shall provide services as listed above at the fees included in the RATE 
SCHEDULE to future facilities the City may build/acquire during the term of this 
contract.   

  

Special Events:  The Contractor shall provide additional dumpsters and collection service 
for said dumpsters for three special events per year. The City will only be charged the 
actual disposal fee incurred at the landfill by the Contractor for emptying such 
dumpsters.  Additional events would have a fee of $400 each, plus dumping fees. 



19 of 23  
  

Dumpster Replacement: In the event a dumpster is damaged during a special event or 
normal course of business, the City will pay replacement fees of up to $800 per 
dumpster, or actual cost, whichever is less. 

     



20 of 23  
  

RATE SCHEDULE  

  

SCHEDULE I:  RESIDENTIAL SOLID WASTE AND RECYCLABLE MATERIALS  

Once weekly collection of volume-based residential solid waste with one 95-gallon 
container provided by Contractor and at least one additional 65-gallon minimum 
container provided by the Contractor for collection of unlimited recyclable materials. 
Price listed shall be per customer, per month, with number of customers revised 
monthly.  

 Twenty-two Dollars ($22.00)  

Additional container requested by resident  

  Three Dollars ($3.00) Per Recycling Container  

  Seven Dollars Fifty Cents ($7.50) Per Trash Container  

Stickers, tags or other device to identify additional bags for purchase by the residents  

   Two Dollars ($2.00)  

  

  

SCHEDULE II:  YARD WASTE  

Once weekly collection of yard waste including grass, plant clippings, leaves and limbs 
segregated from solid waste to be disposed Grass, plant clippings and leaves shall be 
bagged in paper bags. Limbs shall be bundled and tied with string. Limit of eight (8) 
yard waste items collected except during the months of March, April, August,  
September, October and November when the limit is twelve (12) items. Price listed shall 
be per customer, per month, with number of customers revised monthly.  

   Zero Dollars ($0) (Included in Trash & Recycle Cost)  

 Stickers, tags or other device to identify additional bags for purchase by the residents  

          Two Dollars ($2.00)  

  
 

  



21 of 23  
  

SCHEDULE III:  SPECIAL/BULK ITEMS  

The Contractor shall pickup bulk items, such as furniture and non-freon appliances. The 
Contractor shall pickup one item up to 100 pounds in weight per dwelling per week at 
no additional charge. The item must fully fit inside the truck when cycling. Contractor 
shall pickup other large items at fee listed below.   

  

  Furniture:   

  Fifteen Dollars ($15.00) Each  

  

Appliances:   

  Twenty Dollars ($20.00) Each  

 

   Construction and Demolition Debris:  

      Per Bid by Customer  
  

  
 

SCHEDULE IV: CITY FACILITIES  

The Contractor shall provide the following services for facilities owned and/or operated 
by the City of Edgerton.     

  

  City Hall: (404 E. Nelson)  

Solid Waste and Recyclable Materials: Once weekly collection of four (4) 95-gallon 
containers for solid waste and at least two 65-gallon minimum containers for 
recyclables:  

  

  Zero Dollars ($0) Per month  

  



22 of 23  
  

   The 414: (414 E. 4th Street) 

Solid Waste and Recyclable Materials: Once weekly collection of two (2) 95-gallon 
containers for solid waste and at least one 65-gallon minimum container for recyclables:  

  

  Zero Dollars ($0) Per month  

 

The Greenspace: (303 E Nelson)  

Solid Waste and Recyclable Materials: Once weekly collection of one (1) four-yard 
container for solid waste and two (2) 65-gallon minimum container for recyclables:  

  

  One Hundred Fifteen Dollars ($115) Per Month 
 
 
Additional dumps are Fifty Dollars ($50) on an as-needed basis.   
 
  

Edgerton Public Works: (710 E. Nelson)   

Once weekly collection of one (1) twenty-yard dumpster for solid waste and one (1) 
four-yard dumpster for the collection of recyclable materials:  

  
  Two Hundred and Forty ($240.00) Per Month   
 
  

Streetsweeper debris per Ton as necessary:  

Provide a twenty-yard dumpster for streetsweeper debris disposal. Disposal occurs based 
on call generated from staff to the Contractor. Once call is placed, removal shall occur 
within two business days during normal business hours.   

  

  One Hundred Dollar ($100) Monthly Fee Plus Seventy Dollars ($70) Per Ton  
  

 



23 of 23  
  

 

Big Bull Creek Wastewater Facility: (20600 Homestead Lane)   

Once weekly collection of two (2) one-yard dumpsters for solid waste and at least one 
65-gallon minimum container for the collection of recyclable materials:  

  

One Hundred Dollars ($100) Per Month  
  

 

    



 

Agenda Item:  Consider Adoption of the 2025-2029 CIP 

Recommendation:  Adopt the 2025-2029 CIP. 

 
 

City Council Action Item 
 
 

Council Meeting Date:  October 24, 2024 
 
Department:  Administration 

 
 
 
 
Background/Description of Item: 
 
The Governing Body reviewed projects and funding recommendations from staff at the 
October 10, 2024, CIP Work Session. Council provided direction to fund two new projects as 
recommended by staff. The attached Funded Projects schedule shows the projects that have 
been funded by the Governing Body in the past and now includes the new projects.  
 
The new funded projects are: 
 
 
Project 

Funded 
Amount 

Edgerton Safety Action Plan $275,000 
E 3rd Street Reconstruction $427,500 

 
Adoption of the CIP will establish the funding, budget and time frame for the projects as listed 
on the Funded Projects Schedule. As projects move through the stages of the project life 
cycle, staff will bring contracts, funding/cost changes, etc., to Council for approval. 
 
Related Ordinance(s) or Statue(s):  N/A 

 
 
 
Funding Source:  Various sources as described on individual project sheets. 
 
Budget Allocated: Various amounts as listed on the 2025-2029 CIP Funded Projects List 
 

Finance Director Approval:  
 
 
 
 
 
Enclosed: 2025-2029 Schedule of Funded Projects 

Page 1 of 42



  2025-2029 Schedule of Future Development Projects 
  Funding Sources Forecast for the 2025-2029 CIP 
  Individual Project Sheets for Funded Projects 
 
Prepared by: 
 
 Karen Kindle * Finance Director 
  
 

Page 2 of 42



   2025-2029 CIP
FUNDED PROJECTS

Project Name
2025-2029 CIP 

Budget

Year of 
Cost 

Estimate Project Phase
Project 

Complete

Staff 
Allocation 
Complete

Anticipated 
Start

Anticipated 
Complete Status Update

1 Unified Development Code Update 110,000$             2017 Design 15% 15% 2017 2026 Holistic re-write of the Unified Development Code following the adoption of the 
Envision Edgerton 2050 Comprehensive Plan. Planning to keep most of the 
work in-house but may use some of the remaining funds to hire out help for 
some areas that staff is less experienced in. 

2 The Greenspace 8,704,950$           2022 Construction 75% 70% 2017 2025 Design Approval by CC on 09-08-22. Public input process held during first half 
of 2019.  Converted project from design/build to design/bid/build. Architect on 
board. Owner's Rep on board.   Contractor issued NTP Sept. 2023.

3 Space Needs Study for City Hall  $               50,000 2017 Design 25% 25% 2023 TBD The work of this project will be done in conjunction with The Greenspace 
Project.  Architect on board.  Study started Summer of 2023.

4 Glendell Acres Park Renovation 1,140,867$           2024 Construction 90% 80% 2019 2024 Project to include new concrete skatepark, inclusive playground, fitness area, 
shelter, picnic tables, landscaping and new signage. Playground surfacing 
grant through KDHE covers 50% of safeety surfacing for the playground and 
fitness area. Construction estimated to be completed before the end of 2024.

5 Manor Park Monument Sign  incl in Glendell 
Acres Park Project 

2024 Construction 90% 80% 2019 2024 To be done as part of Glendell Acres Park Renovation project.  Cost to come 
out of that project.

6 ERP Software Acquisition 275,000$             2021 Design 85% 85% 2020 2025 Contract with Tyler Technologies approved at the 11/18/2021 Council 
Meeting. Implemenation of Utility Billing, Core Financials, Municipal Court, 
Neptune Meter Interface and Community Development are complete.  
Implementation is currently in process for the Licensing module and the 
interface with AIMS data. Staff is evaluating Work Order software options with 
Tyler Technologies.

7 191st Street Bifurcation 115,000$             2021 Design 70% 30% 2021 TBD Safety study has been completed. Early portion of design completed.  Next 
steps dependent on KDOT project at Gardner Rd and I-35

8 Technical Specifications 45,000$               2023 Design 25% 25% 2023 2025 This project would prepare technical specifications, design criteria, and 
standard details for the various infrastructure types.  (Street, Stormwater, 
Sanitary Sewer, etc)  This project would be phased annually until completed.  
Water standard details and technical specifications will not be included in this 
project having been previously completed. Consensus to fund this project at 
the 10/26/2023 CIP Work Session.

9 2nd St Reconstruction 4,762,496$           2023 Design 50% 40% 2022 2026 Design and construct this portion of 2nd Street. Project updated to include 
Edgewood from 4th St to Coop Road and remove the County portion of Coop 
Road. Project total estimate based on revised budget (Engineer provided) sent 
as part of the KDOT Cost Share. 

10 City Facility Security Exploration 10,000$               2021 Concept 0% 0% 2024 2025 Assess current security measures and related risks.  Identify measures to 
mitigate risks.  Develop a plan to implement the risk mitigation measures 
including estimated costs of projects.

Citywide Projects

 10/24/2024 Council Meeting
Page 3 of 42



   2025-2029 CIP
FUNDED PROJECTS

11 Edgerton Lake Park/Dam Exploration 115,000$             2023 Design 90% 90% 2023 2024 Masterplan to evaluate existing conditions and recommended improvements 
for Edgerton Lake Park, improvements to the lake, dam, spillway, and low 
water crossing. The project also includes recommended amenitities for 
Edgerton Lake Park based on community input.

12 Trail Master Plan 50,000$               2021 Design 30% 25% 2023 2025 Develop an inventory of the City's trails and list opportunities for additional 
trails and connecting to other trails in the area. To include grant funding 
opportunities.  Design firm selected, scoping finalized and approved by Council 
in October 2023.

13 Lead and Copper Rule Revision Inventory 31,916$               2024 Design 90% 80% 2023 2024 Staff is monitoring information from KDHE and working on the application for 
the State Revolving Fund Grant and Loan.  This work is federally mandated.

14 Participation in W. JOCO Transportation Study 15,625$               2024 Design 0% 0% 2023 2025 Participation in the West Johnson County Transportation Study. Johnson 
County, DeSoto and KDOT are leading the efforts on the project.

15 2024 Street Preservation Program 146,208$             2024 Construction 25% 25% 2024 2024 Refresh pavement markings and striping at LPKC intersections including 199th 
and Homestead, 191st and Homestead, and 191st and Waverly. Select curb 
work in LPKC will also be included in this project and identified by staff.

16 2024 CDBG Project 145,012$             2023 Design 30% 25% 2024 2024 CDBG Grant application process completed.  Notification to City Staff indicated 
$91,511.63 to be awarded.

17 Martin Creek Park Exploration 125,000$             2021 Concept 0% 0% 2025 2026 Develop a plan for renovating Martin Creek Park.
18 2025 Street Preservation Program 148,310$             2024 Concept 0% 0% 2025 2025 Street preservation program presentation at the 3/14/2024 City Council 

meeting.

19 2025 CDBG Project 300,000$             2024 Concept 0% 0% 2024 2025 Rehabilitation of VCP throughout the downtown Edgerton area. Continuation 
of the 2023 and 2024 CDBG projects that include CIPP lining, manhole repairs, 
and point repairs.

20 2026 Street Preservation Program 148,310$             2024 Concept 0% 0% 2026 2026 Street maintenance program presentation at the 10/8/2020 City Council 
meeting.

21 2027 Street Preservation Program 148,310$             2024 Concept 0% 0% 2027 2027 Street maintenance program presentation at the 10/8/2020 City Council 
meeting.

22 2027 CDBG Project 300,000$           2024 Concept 0% 0% 2026 2027 Staff will review application materials when they become available. Anticipated 
project to be awarded $200,000 through the JOCO CDBG program. If funding 
is reduced or not awarded, budget, funding, and description will be adjusted.

23 2028 Street Preservation Program 148,310$             2024 Concept 0% 0% 2027 2028 Street maintenance program presentation at the 10/8/2020 City Council 
meeting.

24 2029 CDBG Project 300,000$           2024 Concept 0% 0% 2028 2029 Staff will review application materials when they become available. Anticipated 
project to be awarded $200,000 through the JOCO CDBG program. If funding 
is reduced or not awarded, budget, funding, and description will be adjusted.

25 2029 Street Preservation Program 148,310$             2024 Concept 0% 0% 2028 2029 Street maintenance program presentation at the 10/8/2020 City Council 
meeting.

 10/24/2024 Council Meeting
Page 4 of 42



   2025-2029 CIP
FUNDED PROJECTS

26 Edgerton Safety Action Plan 275,000$             2024 Concept 0% 0% 2025 2025 Consensus to fund at 10/10/2024 CIP Work Session. Approval by Council 
scheduled for 10/24/2024.

27 East 3rd Street Reconstruction 427,500$             2024 Concept 0% 0% 2025 2026 Consensus to fund at 10/10/2024 CIP Work Session. Approval by Council 
scheduled for 10/24/2024.

Homestead Ln TIF

Project Name
2025-2029 CIP 

Budget Project Phase
Project 

Complete

Staff 
Allocation 
Complete

Anticipated 
Start

Anticipated 
Complete Status Update

None.

LPKC Phase 1

Project Name
2025-2029 CIP 

Budget Project Phase
Project 

Complete

Staff 
Allocation 
Complete

Anticipated 
Start

Anticipated 
Complete Status Update

None.

LPKC Phase 2

Project Name
2025-2029 CIP 

Budget Project Phase
Project 

Complete

Staff 
Allocation 
Complete

Anticipated 
Start

Anticipated 
Complete Status Update

None.

Dwyer Farm RHID

Project Name
2025-2029 CIP 

Budget Project Phase
Project 

Complete

Staff 
Allocation 
Complete

Anticipated 
Start

Anticipated 
Complete Status Update

28 Dwyer Farm Sewer Main Extension 5,000,000$           2023 Design 40% 30% 2023 2025 Install approximately 1600 LF of 8" sewer main across South Lake, BNSF rail, 
and KPC pipeline.  This gravity main terminates at Edgerton Rd/8th Street.  
This project also includes installation of an equalization basin, improving the 
City Lift Station (EWWLS) to 1.1 MGD, an 18" transmission main, as well as 
upsizing a segement along Sunflower Rd.  SCADA Improvements and aged 
replacements at BBCWWTP.

29 Dwyer Water Connections Phase 1 291,500$             2024 Construction 50% 50% 2023 TBD Phase 1 water main connections to Dwyer Farms Development. Two 
connections are included in this phase at Rushmore and Braun (1.1) and 8th 
and 209th Street (1.2). Construction will be done separately. Connection 1.1 
has been constructed as of July 2024. Connection 1.2 is designed and to be 
constructed. The connection along Braun does include extension of appx. 200 
LF of 6" pipe to the proposed intersection with the development.

 10/24/2024 Council Meeting
Page 5 of 42



 2025-2029 CIP
Future Development Projects

Future Development Projects

Item # Project Cost Estimate

Year of 
Cost 

Estimate Development Agreement
Funding 
Source Notes

Streets

1 Traffic Signal at 200th Street & Homestead Ln 260,000$        2024 On the Go/Edgerton Crossing TIF & CID This project will be paid for with TIF revenue from On the Go Travel Plaza and 
Edgerton Crossing as well as CID revenue from On the Go Travel Plaza. The timing of 
this project will be depend on when the traffic counts in the area increase to a level at 
which a signal is warranted under MUTDC standards. Funds for this project are being 
set aside as part of the trust indenture related to the 2024 TIF/CID Bonds sold on 
8/29/2024.

2 Improvements to 199th Street Adjacent to Edgerton Crossing 8,500,000$     2021 Edgerton Crossing TIF This project will be paid for with TIF Revenue from the Edgerton Crossing 
development. The timing of the project depends on when traffic in the area of the 
Edgerton Crossing development warrants improving this section of roadway.

3 W 8th Street: W Braun - South City Limits 2,345,000$     2022 Dwyer Farms RHID This project will be paid for with RHID revenue from the Dwyer Farms development. 
The timing of this project will depend on the pace of construction of the homes within 
the development.

4 Braun Street: West City Limits - W 8th Street 4,625,000$     2022 Dwyer Farms RHID This project will be paid for with RHID revenue from the Dwyer Farms development. 
The timing of this project will depend on the pace of construction of the homes within 
the development.

Water
5 Dwyer Farms Waterline Improvements 620,300$        2022 Dwyer Farms RHID This project will be paid for with RHID revenue from the Dwyer Farms development. 

The timing of this project will depend on the pace of construction of the homes within 
the development.

6 Dwyer Farms Water Connection Phase 2 121,500$        2024 Dwyer Farms RHID This project will be paid for with RHID revenue from the Dwyer Farms development. 
The timing of this project will depend on construction schedule for the infrastructure 
within Phase 2 of the development.

Sewer
None.

Note 1:

Note 2:

The City has committed to constructing these projects in agreements with developers. The timing of these projects is unknown at the time of CIP development. Once the timing has been determined, these projects will be moved 
to the funded list to be tracked with other active CIP Projects. There may be other public infrastructure projects that will be constructed by developers in which the City will have some involvement; however, those projects are 
not listed here as the City is not the party managing the project.

The costs listed for these projects are the amounts contained in the applicable development agreement and TIF/CID/RHID related financial analysis documents. The amounts have not been adjusted for inflation. At the time the 
project is moved to the Funded list, staff will review the cost estimate and update if needed.

 10/24/2024 Council Meeting Page 6 of 42



 2025-2029 CIP
Funding Sources

Available
Balance

12/31/2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 Total

General Fund

Forecast 1,649,064$       (490,329)$      (197,838)$        (24,053)$      609,801$       1,343,766$    1,567,984$    4,458,395$      
Committed in CIP 115,686      -                -            -              100,000      100,000      315,686           

Available Amount 1,649,064$       1,043,049$    845,211$         821,158$     1,430,959$    2,674,725$    4,142,709$    4,142,709$      

Special Highway Fund
Forecast -$                  48,270$         48,310$           48,310$       48,310$         48,310$         48,310$         289,820$         
Committed in CIP 48,270           48,310             48,310         48,310           48,310           48,310           289,820           

Available Amount -$                  -$               -$                 -$             -$               -$               -$               -$                 

Special Park & Rec Fund
Forecast 12,463$            8,500$           8,500$             8,500$         8,500$           8,500$           8,500$           63,463$        
Committed in CIP -                 -                   -               -                 -                 -                 -                   

Available Amount 12,463$            20,963$         29,463$           37,963$       46,463$         54,963$         63,463$         63,463$           

Street Excise Tax

Forecast 238,412$          273,551$       -$                 -$             -$               -$               -$               511,963$         
Committed in CIP 84,000           -                   -               -                 -                 -                 84,000             

Available Amount 238,412$          427,963$       427,963$         427,963$     427,963$       427,963$       427,963$       427,963$         

Park Impact Fee

Forecast 312,310$          2,033$           -$                 -$             -$               -$               -$               314,343$         
Committed in CIP 300,000         -                   -               -                 -                 -                 300,000           

Available Amount 312,310$          14,343$         14,343$           14,343$       14,343$         14,343$         14,343$         14,343$           

**Note**  the forecast of the unencumbered fund balance makes assumptions about revenues and expenditures during the 5-year period, the most significant of 
which is the mill levy frozen at 29.550, the 2025 Budget estimated mill rate. Any changes to these assumptions will result in a change in the forecasted amouint.

The money available for this funding source comes from the estimated fund balance in excess of the reserve requirement.  The City's 
policy requires the reserve amount to be 17% - 25% of budgeted revenues.  The amounts listed here are the funds in excess of 25% of 
budgeted revenues.  Funds in excess of the reserve requirement can be used for one-time expenditures.  This funding source should 
not be used for recurring items as there isn't any guaranttee that there will be fund balance in excess of the reserve requirement each 
year.

This fund receives the gas tax, and according to state statute the money can only be used on roads.

This fund receives 1/2 of the alcohol tax, and according to state statute can only be spent on parks.

This funding source comes from the excise tax charged when platting land outside of LPKC.  Use of this funding source is limited to 
street/road projects.

This funding source comes from the park impact fee charged when a building/home is being constructed.  Use of this funding source 
is limited to park projects.  This is a one-time source of funding.

 10/24/2024 Council Meeting Page 7 of 42



 2025-2029 CIP
Funding Sources

Available
Balance

12/31/2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 Total
CARS

Forecast -$               -$                 1,019,200$  -$               -$               -$               1,019,200$      
Committed in CIP -                 -                   -               -                 -                 -                 -                   

Available Amount -$                  -$               -$                 1,019,200$  1,019,200$    1,019,200$    1,019,200$    1,019,200$      

KDOT

Forecast -$               -$                 -$             -$               -$               -$               -$                 
Committed in CIP -                 -                   -               -                 -                 -                 -                   

Available Amount -$                  -$               -$                 -$             -$               -$               -$               -$                 

Other Cities

Forecast -$               -$                 -$             -$               -$               -$               -$                 
Committed in CIP -                 -                   -               -                 -                 -                 -                   

Available Amount -$                  -$               -$                 -$             -$               -$               -$               -$                 

Grants

Forecast 91,512$         200,000$         200,000$       200,000$       691,512$         
Committed in CIP 91,512           200,000           -               200,000         -                 200,000         691,512           

Available Amount -$                  -$               -$                 -$             -$               -$               -$               -$                 

PIF Maintenance Fee
 (Life of abatement 10 yrs)

Forecast -$                  195,530$       100,000$         100,000$     100,000$       -$               -$               495,530$         
Committed in CIP 195,530         100,000           100,000       100,000         -                 -                 495,530           

Available Amount -$                  -$               -$                 -$             -$               -$               -$               -$                 

This funding source comes from the 9 ₵ per square foot of buildings at LPKC.  The money comes from the Public Infrastructure Fund 
(PIF) and is transferred to the various funds as determined by Council approved uses.  The calculation is based on square feet on 
January 1st and payment is received throughout the year.  The amounts in this forecast reflect 100% of the forecasted amount for this 
revenue source less amounts approved for other uses besides capital projects (i.e, equipment reserve, partial allocation of staff 
salary/benefits, etc).  Timing of receipt of funds is based on the flow of funds per the trust agreement with the developer.

The City applies to the Johnson County CARS program for funding, and if approved must enter into an interlocal agreement with 
Johnson County.  Generally, the CARS program will pay 50% of allowed project costs.  These funds are limited to the specific road 
project listed in the agreement.

These funds are granted by KDOT and governed by an interlocal agreement with KDOT.  These funds can only be used on the specific 
road project listed in the agreement.

This source represents the funding that another city or Johnson County is providing for a joint project.  The funds are governed by the 
interlocal agreement and can only be spent on the project(s) listed in the agreement.

Grants can come from many sources.  However, all grant money is governed by the grant agreement, and can only be used for the 
projects listed in the grant agreement.

 10/24/2024 Council Meeting Page 8 of 42



 2025-2029 CIP
Funding Sources

Available
Balance

12/31/2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 Total
Economic Development 
Fund

Forecast 175,000$          -$               -$                 -$             -$               -$               -$               175,000$         
Committed in CIP 50,000           125,000           -               -                 -                 -                 175,000$         

Available Amount 175,000$          125,000$       -$                 -$             -$               -$               -$               -$                 

Non-LPKC Origination Fees

Forecast 77,951$            444$              -$                 -$             -$               -$               -$               78,395$           
Committed in CIP -                 -                   -               -                 -                 -                 -                   

Available Amount 77,951$            78,395$         78,395$           78,395$       78,395$         78,395$         78,395$         78,395$           

Water Fund
Forecast 22,274$            -$               -$                 -$             -$               -$               -$               22,274$           
Committed in CIP -                 -                   -               -                 -                 -                 -                   

Available Amount 22,274$            22,274$         22,274$           22,274$       22,274$         22,274$         22,274$         22,274$           

System Dev Fee - Water

Forecast 25,772$            8,600$           -$                 -$             -$               -$               -$               34,372$           
Committed in CIP -                 -                   -               -                 -                 -                 -                   

Available Amount 25,772$            34,372$         34,372$           34,372$       34,372$         34,372$         34,372$         34,372$           

Sewer Fund
Forecast 261,566$          50,000$         50,000$           50,000$       50,000$         50,000$         50,000$         561,566$         
Committed in CIP 50,000           50,000             50,000         50,000           50,000           50,000           300,000           

Available Amount 261,566$          261,566$       261,566$         261,566$     261,566$       261,566$       261,566$       261,566$         

System Dev Fee - Sewer

Forecast 623,487$          123,636$       -$                 -$             -$               -$               -$               747,123$         
Committed in CIP -                 -                   -               -                 -                 -                 -                   

Available Amount 623,487$          747,123$       747,123$         747,123$     747,123$       747,123$       747,123$       747,123$         

These fees are charged on sales tax only IRB issues for entities outside of LPKC Phases 1 and 2. Can only be used for economic 
development purposes.

This funding source comes from the 14 ₵ per square foot of buildings at LPKC Phase 2.  The money comes from the Phase 2 Public 
Infrastructure Fund (PIF).  The calculation is based on square feet on January 1st. The amounts in this forecast reflect 100% of the 
forecasted amount for this revenue source.  The fee lasts for the term of the abatement on the building (10 years).  The funds can only 
be used for economic development purposes.  Timing of receipt of funds is based on the flow of funds per the trust agreement with 
the developer.

This is the fund balance in excess of reserve requirements.

This funding source comes from the fee charged when a new connection is made to the water system.  Use of this funding source is 
limited to construction of the water system.

This is the fund balance in excess of reserve requirements.

This funding source comes from the fee charged when a new connection is made to the sewer system.  Use of this funding source is 
limited to construction of the sewer system.

 10/24/2024 Council Meeting Page 9 of 42



 2025-2029 CIP
Funding Sources

Available
Balance

12/31/2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 Total

GO Bonds

Forecast -$                  -$               -$                 -$             -$               -$               -$               -$                 
Committed in CIP -                 -                   -               -                 -                 -                 -                   

Available Amount -$                  -$               -$                 -$             -$               -$               -$               -$                 

Temp Notes

Forecast -$                  -$               -$                 -$             -$               -$               -$               -$                 
Committed in CIP -                 -                   -               -                 -                 -                 -                   

Available Amount -$                  -$               -$                 -$             -$               -$               -$               -$                 

State Revolving Loan Fund

Forecast -$                  -$               -$                 -$             -$               -$               -$               -$                 
Committed in CIP -                    -                 -                   -               -                 -                 -                 -                   

Available Amount -$                  -$               -$                 -$             -$               -$               -$               -$                 

PIF - LPKC Phase 1
Forecast -$                  -$               -$                 -$             -$               -$               -$               -$              
Committed in CIP -                 -                   -               -                 -                 -                 -                   

Available Amount -$                  -$               -$                 -$             -$               -$               -$               -$                 

PIF - LPKC Phase 2
Forecast -$                  -$               -$                 -$             -$               -$               -$               -$              
Committed in CIP -                 -                   -               -                 -                 -                 -                   

Available Amount -$                  -$               -$                 -$             -$               -$               -$               -$                 

TIF
Forecast -$                  -$               -$                 -$             -$               -$               -$               -$              
Committed in CIP -                 -                   -               -                 -                 -                 -                   

Available Amount -$                  -$               -$                 -$             -$               -$               -$               -$                 

This funding source reflects issuing general obligation temporary notes for a project.  The temp note proceeds can only be used for 
the project(s) for which the notes were issued.  Any money left over is used to pay off the notes.  Temp notes are usually issued for a 
maturity of one year and can be renewed annually until they are paid off.  They are a short-term financing mechanisim to cover cash 
flows of a project until the funding sources are received.

The use of this funding source is governed by the TIF Statutes and TIF Project Plans.

The use of this funding source is governed by the financing agreement for LPKC.

The use of this funding source is governed by the financing agreement for LPKC Phase 2.

This funding source reflects issue general obligation bonds for a project.  The bond proceeds can only be used for the project(s) for 
which the bonds were issued.  Any money left over is used to pay down the bonds.

This funding source represents revolving loan funds received from the State of Kansas.  Use of this funding source is limited to the 
project(s) listed in the revolving loan fund agreement.

 10/24/2024 Council Meeting Page 10 of 42



 2025-2029 CIP
Funding Sources

Available
Balance

12/31/2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 Total
Other

Forecast -$                  -$               -$                 -$             -$               -$               -$               -$              
Committed in CIP -                 -                   -               -                 -                 -                 -                   

Available Amount -$                  -$               -$                 -$             -$               -$               -$               -$                 

American Rescue Plan Act 
(ARPA) Grant

Forecast  $                   -   -$               -$                 -$             -$               -$               -$               -$              
Committed in CIP -                 -                   -               -                 -                 -                 -                   

Available Amount -$                  -$               -$                 -$             -$               -$               -$               -$                 

RHID
Forecast -$                  5,291,500$    -$                 -$             -$               -$               -$               5,291,500$   
Committed in CIP 5,291,500      -                   -               -                 -                 -                 5,291,500        

Available Amount -$                  -$               -$                 -$             -$               -$               -$               -$                 

This represents funding sources not otherwise categorized.

These funds are restricted per the Final Rule issued by the US Treasury Department on 1/10/2022.  The City has selected to use the 
funds for the revenue loss.  This option allows the City to use the funds for government services, including utility infrastructure.

 10/24/2024 Council Meeting Page 11 of 42



 

 
 

Funded 
Projects 

Page 12 of 42



Project Number: Funding Status: 
Dept: Project Status: 

Citizen Survey: Project Manager:
Secondary Citizen Survey:

Project Name: 

Project Description: 

Operations Impact: 

Additional Staff: Chris Clinton

Outside Funding Available? No

Notes: 

Year of Design 2017-2026
Year of Construction n/a 2026

Inflation Factor:

Project Cost Todays $
2021 & 
Prior 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026

D/B Prelim Agreement -$                 -$          -$            -$            -$        -$        -           
D/B Final Agreement (GMP) -                   -            -              -              -          -          -           
Design 84,824             44,825      -              -              -          -          39,999     
Construction -                   -            -              -              -          -          -           
Construction Inspection -                   -            -              -              -          -          -           
City Engineer 5,176               546           -              -              -          -          4,630       
Utility Relocation -                   -            -              -              -          -          -           
Land Acquisition/ROW/Easements -                   -            -              -              -          -          -           
Permits -                   -            -              -              -          -          -           
Misc. (Legal, recording fees) 20,000             3,850        -              -              -          -          16,150     
Contingency -                   -            -              -              -          -          -           

Total Cost 110,000$         49,221$    -$            -$            -$        -$        60,779$   

Project Financing
General Fund 110,000$         110,000$  -$            -$            -$        -$        -$         

Total Funding Sources 110,000$         110,000$  -$            -$            -$        -$        -$         

City of Edgerton
Project Cost Sheet

ADMIN0005-17 Funded
Community Development Design

Year of Completion

N/A Zach Moore

Unified Development Code Update

The City of Edgerton did tremendous work on the Unified Development Code Industrial 
regulations in preparation for Logistics Park Kansas City. However, many other sections of 
the UDC need updating to reflect the shared vision of the future of Edgerton to help 
facilitate the correct location and type of development. These updates would focus mainly 
on residential and commercial, but would include smaller updates to the Industrial and Site 
Plans sections. Updating the Comprehensive Plan as a community would lay the foundation 
for the update to the Development Code.

Update is being done 100% in house by staff currently in place. While it is a priority to 
complete the update process, staff has day to day work that also must be completed while 
working on the UDC update concurrently. No overtime has been authorized for non-exempt 
staff.

N/A

Page 13 of 42



Project Number: Funding Status: 
Dept: Project Status: 

Primary Citizen Survey: Project Manager:
Secondary Citizen Survey: 

Project Name: 

Project Description: 

Operations Impact: 

Additional Staff: Holly Robertson
Beth Linn

Outside Funding Available? Yes

Notes: 

Year of Design 2021-2022
Year of Construction 2023-2025 2025

Inflation Factor:

Project Cost Todays $ 2022 & Prior 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027
D/B Prelim Agreement -$                   -$            -$             -$            -$                        -$                -$             
D/B Final Agreement (GMP) -                     -              -               -              -                          -                  -               
Design 732,693             397,024       203,571       79,249        -                          -                  -               
Construction 7,565,549          -              1,260,966    4,278,906   2,291,053               -                  -               
Construction Inspection 236,558             41,113         17,849         48,571        -                          -                  -               
City Engineer -                     9,055           5,195           -              -                          -                  -               
Utility Relocation 22,300               -              -               -              -                          -                  -               
Land Acquisition/ROW/Easements 36,100               36,011         34                -              -                          -                  -               
Permits -                     -              -               -              -                          -                  -               
Misc. (Legal, recording fees) 111,750             932              8,190           494             -                          -                  -               
414 Upfit Project -                     -              26,737         -              -                          -                  -               
Contingency -                     -              -               -              -                          -                  -               

Total Cost 8,704,950$        484,135$     1,522,542$  4,407,220$ 2,291,053$             -$                -$             

Project Financing
GO Bonds 8,704,950$        -$            8,704,950$  -$            -$                        -$                -$             
Other -                     -              -               -              -                          -                  -               

Total Funding Sources 8,704,950$        -$            8,704,950$  -$            -$                        -$                -$             

Year of Completion

 Could be eligible for grant funding.  

2 - Parks Dan Merkh

The Greenspace

The Greenspace is a one-story building at approximately 13,000 square feet. Includes a gymnasium for 
basketball, volleyball and pickle ball as well as a walking track. There will be a community rooms for meetings, 
senior luncheons, parties and games that will be linked to the exterior stage. Includes a fitness room for 
community use that serves dual purpose as a Storm Shelter. Includes kitchen to support events in the building. 
Support services include restrooms, storage rooms for the City and for Scouts, mechanical equipment, etc. The 
Greenspace includes conference rooms available to public and city staff with space dedicated for building 
administration. Also include exterior improvements to the Greenspace Lawn, improvements to Nelson Street 
(from 3rd Street to 4th Street) and a new parking lot on the south. The Greenspace Lawn will include a covered 
stage, lawn seating area for concerts and performances and a new splash pad. 

Would anticipate moving office of Parks and Recreation Coordinator to this facility. Budget impact would include 
cost of utilities to operate the facility (electricity, gas, chemicals, cleaning services, internet). May also require 
addition of part-time position to assist with facility rental. Long-term maintenance of interior/exterior of building 
also. 

5 - Facilities

City of Edgerton
Project Cost Sheet

FAC0001-19 Funded
Parks Construction

Page 14 of 42



Project Number: Funding Status: 
Dept: Project Status: 

Primary Citizen Survey: Project Manager:
Secondary Citizen Survey: 

Project Name: 

Project Description: 

Operations Impact: 

Additional Staff: Holly Robertson
Beth Linn

Outside Funding Available? No

Notes: 

Year of Design 2021-2025
Year of Construction 2025 2025

Inflation Factor:

Project Cost Todays $ 2022 and prior 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027
D/B Prelim Agreement -$                  -$              -$            -$            -$        -$        -$        
D/B Final Agreement (GMP) -                    -                -              -              -          -          -          
Design 50,000              -                -              -              50,000    -          -          
Construction -                    -                -              -              -          -          -          
Construction Inspection -                    -                -              -              -          -          -          
City Engineer -                    -                -              -              -          -          -          
Utility Relocation -                    -                -              -              -          -          -          
Land Acquisition/ROW/Easements -                    -                -              -              -          -          -          
Permits -                    -                -              -              -          -          -          
Misc. (Legal, recording fees) -                    -                -              -              -          -          -          
Contingency -                    -                -              -              -          -          -          

Total Cost 50,000$            -$              -$            -$            50,000$  -$        -$        

Project Financing
General Fund 50,000$            50,000$        -$            -$            -$        -$        -$        

Total Funding Sources 50,000$            50,000$        -$            -$            -$        -$        -$        

Year of Completion

5 - Facilities Dan Merkh

Space Needs Study for City Hall

City Hall has reached its capacity for housing staff. As the City continues to grow and mature, 
so will the needs for additional services and/or staff. A Space Needs Study would identify the 
future needs for services (for both the citizens and staff) and for housing of staff. This study 
would help provide the foundation to identify possible additional solutions to provide 
services/house staff in other facilities. It would also identify the needs for the renovation of City 
Hall and any challenges/limitations with regard to its status on the historic registry.

N/A

City of Edgerton
Project Cost Sheet

FAC0005-22 Funded
Facilities Concept

Page 15 of 42



Project Number: Funding Status: 
Dept: Project Status: 

Primary Citizen Survey: Project Manager:
Secondary Citizen Survey: 

Project Name: 

Project Description: 

Operations Impact: 

Additional Staff: Holly Robertson

Outside Funding Available? No

Notes: 

Year of Design 2021
Year of Construction 2024 2024

Inflation Factor:

Project Cost Todays $ 2022 & Prior 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027
D/B Prelim Agreement -$                  -$             -$           -$            -$          -$         -$             
D/B Final Agreement (GMP) -                    -               -             -              -            -           -               
Design 90,423              48,488         33,912       8,023          -            -           -               
Construction 651,200            -               63,058       586,251      -            -           -               
Construction Inspection 10,000              -               -             10,000        -            -           -               
City Engineer 10,112              3,885           2,678         3,549          -            -           -               
Pipeline Matting 11,526              -               -             11,526        -            -           -               
Skate Park DB 160,000            -               -             160,000      -            -           -               
Pavilion 49,600              -               -             49,600        -            -           -               
Playground and Fitness Equip 157,532            -               -             157,532      -            -           -               
Misc/Legal 474                   2,190           175            -              -            -           -               

Total Cost 1,140,867$       54,563$       99,823$     986,481$    -$          -$         -$             

Project Financing
Park Impact Fee 1,040,867         740,867       -             -              -            -           300,000       
General Fund 100,000            -               -             -              -            -           100,000       

Total Funding Sources 1,140,867$       740,867$     -$           -$            -$          -$         400,000$     

Year of Completion

Used 7.5% of construction cost for inspection estimates, 5% of project cost for city engineer and 
contingency estimates. This is half of estimates David Hamby gave for sewer projects. 

2 - Parks Dan Merkh

Glendell Acres Park Renovation 

Project to include new concrete skatepark, inclusive playground, fitness area, shelter, picnic tables, 
landscaping and new signage. Playground surfacing grant through KDHE covers 50% of safeety 

f i  f  th  l d d fit   C t ti  ti t d t  b  l t d b f  th  
Updating this neighborhood park will lower safety hazards, increase attractiveness, and provide 
more enjoyable recreational activities for citizens.

N/A

City of Edgerton
Project Cost Sheet

PRK0001-19 Funded
Parks Construction

Page 16 of 42



Project Number: Funding Status: 
Dept: Project Status: 

Primary Citizen Survey: Project Manager:
Secondary Citizen Survey: 

Project Name: 

Project Description: 

Operations Impact: 

Additional Staff: Holly Robertson

Outside Funding Available? No

Notes: 

Year of Design 2022
Year of Construction 2024 2024

Inflation Factor:

Project Cost Todays $ 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026
D/B Prelim Agreement -$                 -$         -$           -$            -$          -$        -$         
D/B Final Agreement (GMP) -                   -           -             -              -            -          -           
Design -                   -           -             -              -            -          -           
Construction -                   -           -             -              -            -          -           
Construction Inspection -                   -           -             -              -            -          -           
City Engineer -                   -           -             -              -            -          -           
Utility Relocation -                   -           -             -              -            -          -           
Land Acquisition/ROW/Easements -                   -           -             -              -            -          -           
Permits -                   -           -             -              -            -          -           
Misc. (Legal, recording fees) -                   -           -             -              -            -          -           
Contingency -                   -           -             -              -            -          -           

Total Cost -$                 -$         -$           -$            -$          -$        -$         

Project Financing
General Fund -$                 -$         -$           -$            -$          -$        -$         
Special Park & Rec Fund -                   -           -             -              -            -          -           
Park Impact Fee -                   -           -             -              -            -          -           
Grants -                   -           -             -              -            -          -           
Other -                   -           -             -              -            -          -           

Total Funding Sources -$                 -$         -$           -$            -$          -$        -$         

Year of Completion

 Cost to be included in Glendell Acres Park Renovation Project budget. 

2 - Parks Dan Merkh

Manor Park Monument Sign

With the upgrades and new construction completed at Manor Park. In conjunction with the 
Parks Master Plan, staff along with BG is working on identifying the cost structure for this and 
will work to fine tune this as information is available. 

This will have minimal impact on day to day operations. 

N/A

City of Edgerton
Project Cost Sheet

Funded
Parks Construction

Page 17 of 42



Project Number: Funding Status: 
Dept: Project Status: 

Primary Citizen Survey: Project Manager:
Secondary Citizen Survey:

Project Name: 

Project Description: 

Operations Impact: 

Additional Staff: Holly Robertson Time:

Outside Funding Available? Unknown

Notes: 

Year of Design 2024-2025
Year of Construction n/a 2025

Inflation Factor:

Project Cost Todays $ 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026
D/B Prelim Agreement -$                  -$          -$                  -$            -$          -$        -$         
D/B Final Agreement (GMP) -                    -            -                    -              -            -          -           
Design 10,000               -            -                    -              -            10,000    -           
Construction -                    -            -                    -              -            -          -           
Construction Inspection -                    -            -                    -              -            -          -           
City Engineer -                    -            -                    -              -            -          -           
Utility Relocation -                    -            -                    -              -            -          -           
Land Acquisition/ROW/Easements -                    -            -                    -              -            -          -           
Permits -                    -            -                    -              -            -          -           
Misc. (Legal, recording fees) -                    -            -                    -              -            -          -           
Contingency -                    -            -                    -              -            -          -           

Total Cost 10,000$             -$          -$                  -$            -$          10,000$  -$         

Project Financing
General Fund -                    -            -                    -              -            -          -           
PIF Maintenance Fee 10,000               -            10,000              -              -            -          -           
Grants -                    -            -                    -              -            -          -           
Other -                    -            -                    -              -            -          -           

Total Funding Sources 10,000$             -$          10,000$            -$            -$          -$        -$         

City of Edgerton
Project Cost Sheet

FAC0003-23 Funded
Facilities Concept

Year of Completion

5 - Facilities Levi Meyer

City Facility Security Exploration

Assess current security measures and related risks. Identify measures to mitigate risks.  Develop 
a plan to implement risk mitigation measures, including estimated costs of projects.

N/A

N/A

Page 18 of 42



Project Number: Funding Status: 
Dept: Project Status: 

Primary Citizen Survey: Project Manager:
Secondary Citizen Survey: 

Project Name: 

Project Description: 

Operations Impact: 

Additional Staff: Justin Vermillion

Outside Funding Available?

Notes: 

Year of Design 2021
Year of Construction 2021-2025 2025

Inflation Factor:

Project Cost Todays $ 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025
D/B Prelim Agreement -$                  -$          -$            -$            -$          -$          -$        
D/B Final Agreement (GMP) -                    -            -              -              -             -            -          
Design 275,000            -            -              63,518        149,854     738           60,890    
Construction -                    -            -              -              -             -            -          
Construction Inspection -                    -            -              -              -             -            -          
City Engineer -                    -            -              -              -             -            -          
Utility Relocation -                    -            -              -              -             -            -          
Land Acquisition/ROW/Easements -                    -            -              -              -             -            -          
Permits -                    -            -              -              -             -            -          
Misc. (Legal, recording fees) -                    -            -              -              -             -            -          
Contingency -                    -            -              -              -             -            -          

Total Cost 275,000$          -$          -$            63,518$      149,854$  738$         60,890$  

Project Financing
General Fund 275,000$          -$          150,000$    80,000$      45,000$     -$          -$        

Total Funding Sources 275,000$          -$          150,000$    80,000$      45,000$     -$          -$        

Year of Completion

N/A Karen Kindle

ERP Software Acquisition/Implementation

Purchase an enterprise resource planning (ERP) management information system, a system 
of integrated applications used to manage the City's operations and automate various 
functions within the City, such as permits, licenses, budget and accounting, payroll, human 
resources, work orders, customer relationship management (CRM), court, etc.  The City 
consistently experiences issues with the current software's core functions, which require 
significant staff time to resolve and cause routine processes to take much longer than needed.  
In addition, the current software lacks features needed for the City's operations or features that 
are not adequate to meet the City's needs.  For example, the software includes a project 
accounting feature, but the reporting is limited.  The software also has a budgeting feature, but 
staff must still maintain several spreadsheets outside of the system in order to prepare the 
annual budget.  While the software company makes updates to the functionality on an annual 
basis, they don't always include what the City needs.  In addition, the software is Microsoft 
Access based, while the current technology is .Net.  .Net technology allows for more features, 
including automated work flows and reporting.

Having the ability to automate processes within the City, having increased system reliability 
and having better reporting will save staff time and improve customer service.

N/A

City of Edgerton
Project Cost Sheet

TECH0001-20 Funded
Administration Design

Page 19 of 42



Project Number: Funding Status: 
Dept: Project Status: 

Primary Citizen Survey: Project Manager:
Secondary Citizen Survey:

Project Name: 

Project Description: 

Operations Impact: 

Additional Staff: Beth Linn

Outside Funding Available? Unknown

Notes: 

Year of Design 2021-2022
Year of Construction TBD TBD

Project Cost Todays $ 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027
D/B Prelim Agreement -$                  -$          -$                  -$            -$          -$        -$         
D/B Final Agreement (GMP) -                    -            -                    -              -            -          -           
Design 109,500            109,500    -                    -              -            -          -           
Construction -                    -            -                    -              -            -          -           
Construction Inspection -                    -            -                    -              -            -          -           
City Engineer -                    -            -                    -              -            -          -           
Utility Relocation -                    -            -                    -              -            -          -           
Land Acquisition/ROW/Easements -                    -            -                    -              -            -          -           
Permits -                    -            -                    -              -            -          -           
Misc. (Legal, recording fees) -                    -            -                    -              -            -          -           
Contingency 5,500                5,500        -                    -              -            -          -           

Total Cost 115,000$          115,000$  -$                  -$            -$          -$        -$         

Project Financing
PIF - LPKC Phase 1 115,000$          115,000$  -$                  -$            -$          -$        -$         
Other -                    -            -                    -              -            -          -           

Total Funding Sources 115,000$          115,000$  -$                  -$            -$          -$        -$         

Year of Completion

1 - Streets Dan Merkh

191st Street Bifurcation

This project includes the study of the area of 191st and Gardner Rd due to safety concerns 
brought to Council Members.  Included in the project is a safety study and the design of the 
bifurcation of the roadway within City boundaries.

City of Edgerton
Project Cost Sheet

STRT0006-22 Funded
Public Works Design

Page 20 of 42



Project Number: Funding Status: 
Dept: Project Status: 

Primary Citizen Survey: Project Manager:
Secondary Citizen Survey:

Project Name: 

Project Description: 

Operations Impact: 

Additional Staff: Holly Robertson Time: N/A

Outside Funding Available?

Notes: 

Year of Design 2023-2025
Year of Construction 2023-2025 2025

Inflation Factor:

Project Cost Todays $ 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028
D/B Prelim Agreement -$                 -$          -$                  -$            -$          -$        -$         
D/B Final Agreement (GMP) -                   -            -                    -              -            -          -           
Design 45,000              -            22,500              22,500        -            -          -           
Study/Planning -                   -            -                    -              -            -          -           
Construction -                   -            -                    -              -            -          -           
Construction Inspection -                   -            -                    -              -            -          -           
City Engineer -                   -            -                    -              -            -          -           
Utility Relocation -                   -            -                    -              -            -          -           
Land Acquisition -                   -            -                    -              -            -          -           
ROW/Easements -                   -            -                    -              -            -          -           
Permits -                   -            -                    -              -            -          -           
Misc. (Legal, recording fees) -                   -            -                    -              -            -          -           
Contingency -                   -            -                    -              -            -          -           

Total Cost 45,000$            -$          22,500$            22,500$      -$          -$        -$         

Project Financing
General Fund -$                 45,000$    -$                  -$            -$          -$        -$         
Other -                   -            -                    -              -            -          -           

Total Funding Sources -$                 45,000$    -$                  -$            -$          -$        -$         

City of Edgerton
Project Cost Sheet

STRT0015-23 Funded
Public Works Concept

Year of Completion

N/A Dan Merkh

Technical Specifications

This project would prepare technical specifications, design criteria, and standard details for the 
various infrastructure types.  (Street, Stormwater, Sanitary Sewer, etc)  Water technical 
specifications will not be included in this project since those details have already been completed 

d d i  2024  Thi  j t ld b  h d ll  til l t d   

N/A

Page 21 of 42



Project Number: Funding Status: 
Dept: Project Status: 

Primary Citizen Survey: Project Manager:
Secondary Citizen Survey: 

Project Name: 

Project Description: 

Operations Impact: 

Additional Staff: Holly Robertson

Outside Funding Available? Maybe

Notes: 

Year of Design 2022
Year of Construction 2024 2024

Inflation Factor:

Project Cost Todays $ 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026
D/B Prelim Agreement -$                  -$          -$          -$            -$              -$             -$         
D/B Final Agreement (GMP) -                    -            -            -              -                -               -           
Design 408,000            -            -            157,510      170,448        80,042         -           
Construction 3,261,996         -            -            -              -                3,261,996    -           
Construction Inspection 408,000            -            -            -              -                408,000       -           
City Engineer 136,000            -            -            1,148          1,068            133,784       -           
Utility Relocation 60,000              -            -            -              -                60,000         -           
Land Acquisition/ROW/Easements 136,000            -            -            -              -                136,000       -           
Permits 2,500                -            -            2,067          -                433              -           
Misc. (Legal, recording fees) 10,000              -            -            -              -                10,000         -           
Contingency 340,000            -            -            -              -                340,000       -           

Total Cost 4,762,496$       -$          -$          160,725$    171,516$      4,430,255$  -$         

Project Financing
PIF LPKC Phase 1 4,762,496         -            -            4,762,496   -                -               -           
Other -                    -            -            -              -                -               -           

Total Funding Sources 4,762,496$       -$          -$          4,762,496$ -$              -$             -$         

City of Edgerton
Project Cost Sheet

STRT0001-23 Funded
Public Works Concept

Year of Completion

CARS ineligible and County elected to not participate

1 - Streets Dan Merkh

2nd Street Reconstruction

This project will replace the sections of roadway from asphalt/chip seal to a concrete roadway with 
all supporting infrastructure. This section of roadway will be similar to the standard sections on E 
Nelson Street to-date. Linear feet to be replaced is 3,700. Scope revised to remove County 
portion and include Edgewood 7/27/2023.

N/A

Page 22 of 42



Project Number: Funding Status: 
Dept: Project Status: 

Primary Citizen Survey: Project Manager:
Secondary Citizen Survey:

Project Name: 

Project Description: 

Operations Impact: 

Additional Staff: Holly Robertson Time:

Outside Funding Available? Unknown

Notes: 

Year of Design 2024-2025
Year of Construction n/a 2025

Inflation Factor:

Project Cost Todays $ 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026
D/B Prelim Agreement -$                  -$          -$                  -$            -$          -$        -$         
D/B Final Agreement (GMP) -                    -            -                    -              -            -          -           
Design 10,000               -            -                    -              -            10,000    -           
Construction -                    -            -                    -              -            -          -           
Construction Inspection -                    -            -                    -              -            -          -           
City Engineer -                    -            -                    -              -            -          -           
Utility Relocation -                    -            -                    -              -            -          -           
Land Acquisition/ROW/Easements -                    -            -                    -              -            -          -           
Permits -                    -            -                    -              -            -          -           
Misc. (Legal, recording fees) -                    -            -                    -              -            -          -           
Contingency -                    -            -                    -              -            -          -           

Total Cost 10,000$             -$          -$                  -$            -$          10,000$  -$         

Project Financing
General Fund -                    -            -                    -              -            -          -           
PIF Maintenance Fee 10,000               -            10,000              -              -            -          -           
Grants -                    -            -                    -              -            -          -           
Other -                    -            -                    -              -            -          -           

Total Funding Sources 10,000$             -$          10,000$            -$            -$          -$        -$         

Year of Completion

5 - Facilities Levi Meyer

City Facility Security Exploration

Assess current security measures and related risks. Identify measures to mitigate risks.  Develop 
a plan to implement risk mitigation measures, including estimated costs of projects.

N/A

N/A

City of Edgerton
Project Cost Sheet

FAC0003-23 Funded
Facilities Concept

Page 23 of 42



Project Number: Funding Status: 
Dept: Project Status: 

Primary Citizen Survey: Project Manager:
Secondary Citizen Survey:

Project Name: 

Project Description: 

Operations Impact: 

Additional Staff: Holly Robertson Time: N/A

Outside Funding Available? Yes

Notes: 

Year of Design 2023
Year of Construction n/a 2024

Inflation Factor:

Project Cost Todays $ 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026
D/B Prelim Agreement -$                  -$          -$                  -$            -$          -$        -$         
D/B Final Agreement (GMP) -                    -            -                    -              -            -          -           
Design 105,425            -            -                    26,404        79,021       -          -           
Construction -                    -            -                    -              -            -          -           
Construction Inspection -                    -            -                    -              -            -          -           
City Engineer -                    -            -                    1,148          -            -          -           
Utility Relocation -                    -            -                    -              -            -          -           
Land Acquisition/ROW/Easements -                    -            -                    -              -            -          -           
Permits -                    -            -                    -              -            -          -           
Misc. (Legal, recording fees) -                    -            -                    -              -            -          -           
Contingency 9,575                -            -                    -              8,427         -          -           

Total Cost 115,000$          -$          -$                  27,552$      87,448$     -$        -$         

Project Financing
General Fund -$                  -$          -$                  -$            -$          -$        -$         
Park Impact Fee 75,000              -            -                    75,000        -            -          -           
Special Park & Recreation Fund 40,000              -            -                    40,000        -            -          -           
Other -                    -            -                    -              -            -          -           

Total Funding Sources 115,000$          -$          -$                  115,000$    -$          -$        -$         

City of Edgerton
Project Cost Sheet

PRK0002-23 Funded
Parks Concept

Year of Completion

2 - Parks Dan Merkh

Edgerton Lake Park/Dam Exploration

Masterplan to evaluate existing conditions and recommended improvements for Edgerton Lake 
Park, improvements to the lake, dam, spillway, and low water crossing. The project also includes 
recommended amenitities for Edgerton Lake Park based on community input.

N/A

Page 24 of 42



Project Number: Funding Status: 
Dept: Project Status: 

Primary Citizen Survey: Project Manager:
Secondary Citizen Survey:

Project Name: 

Project Description: 

Operations Impact: 

Additional Staff: Time: N/A

Outside Funding Available? Yes

Notes: 

Year of Design 2023
Year of Construction N/A 2025

Inflation Factor:

Project Cost Todays $ 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026
D/B Prelim Agreement -$                 -$          -$                  -$            -$          -$        -$         
D/B Final Agreement (GMP) -                   -            -                    -              -            -          -           
Design 48,000              -            -                    -              34,944       13,056     -           
Construction -                   -            -                    -              -            -          -           
Construction Inspection -                   -            -                    -              -            -          -           
City Engineer 2,000                -            -                    -              -            1,963       -           
Utility Relocation -                   -            -                    -              -            -          -           
Land Acquisition/ROW/Easements -                   -            -                    -              -            -          -           
Permits -                   -            -                    -              -            -          -           
Misc. (Legal, recording fees) -                   -            -                    -              37              -          -           
Contingency -                   -            -                    -              -            -          -           

Total Cost 50,000$            -$          -$                  -$            34,981$     15,019$   -$         

Project Financing
General Fund -$                 -$          -$                  -$            -$          -$        -$         
Park Impact Fee -                   -            -                    -              -            -          -           
Economic Development Fund 50,000              -            -                    -              50,000       -          -           
Other -                   -            -                    -              -            -          -           

Total Funding Sources 50,000$            -$          -$                  -$            50,000$     -$        -$         

Year of Completion

2 - Parks Zach Moore

Trail Master Plan

Develop a master plan for the City's trail system including an inventory of the current trails and 
determining where there are opportunities to connect to other nearby trail systems.

3 - Sidewalks

City of Edgerton
Project Cost Sheet

PRK0003-23 Funded
Parks Concept

Page 25 of 42



Project Number: Funding Status: 
Dept: Project Status: 

Primary Citizen Survey: Project Manager:
Secondary Citizen Survey:

Project Name: 

Project Description: 

Operations Impact: 

Additional Staff: Holly Robertson Time: N/A

Outside Funding Available? Yes

Notes: 

Year of Design 2023
Year of Construction 2023 2024

Inflation Factor:

Project Cost Todays $ 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027
D/B Prelim Agreement -$                 -$          -$                  -$            -$          -$        -$         
D/B Final Agreement (GMP) -                   -            -                    -              -            -          -           
NEER 30,000              -            15,000              15,000        -            -          -           
Survey 1,860                -            -                    1,860          -            -          -           
Construction Inspection -                   -            -                    -              -            -          -           
City Engineer -                   -            -                    -              -            -          -           
Utility Relocation -                   -            -                    -              -            -          -           
Land Acquisition/ROW/Easements -                   -            -                    -              -            -          -           
Permits -                   -            -                    -              -            -          -           
Misc. (Legal, recording fees) 44                     -            44                     12               -            -          -           
Contingency -                   -            -                    -              -            -          -           

Total Cost 31,916$            -$          15,044$            16,872$      -$          -$        -$         

Project Financing
ARPA Grant 31,916$            -$          31,916$            -$            -$          -$        -$         
State Revolving Loan Fund -$                 -$                  
Other -                   -            -                    -              -            -          -           

Total Funding Sources 31,916$            -$          31,916$            -$            -$          -$        -$         

City of Edgerton
Project Cost Sheet

8129 Funded
Water Concept

Year of Completion

 May get some support in 2024 from KDHE (not financial) 

N/A Dan Merkh

Lead and Copper Rule Revision Inventory

The LCCR requires a service line inventory on both the utility and customer side of the service 
line. The inventory material will then be identitifed as "needs replaced" or satisfactory to remain 
per the Environmental Protectin Agency and Federal Register's requirements.

N/A

Page 26 of 42



Project Number: Funding Status: 
Dept: Project Status: 

Primary Citizen Survey: Project Manager:
Secondary Citizen Survey:

Project Name: 

Project Description: 

Operations Impact: 

Additional Staff: Holly Robertson Time: N/A

Outside Funding Available? No

Notes: 

Year of Design 2024
Year of Construction 2024 2024

Inflation Factor:

Project Cost Todays $ 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028
D/B Prelim Agreement -$                 -$          -$                  -$            -$          -$        -$         
D/B Final Agreement (GMP) -                   -            -                    -              -            -          -           
Design 15,625              -            15,625              -              -            -          -           
Study/Planning -                   -            -                    -              -            -          -           
Construction -                   -            -                    -              -            -          -           
Construction Inspection -                   -            -                    -              -            -          -           
City Engineer -                   -            -                    -              -            -          -           
Utility Relocation -                   -            -                    -              -            -          -           
Land Acquisition -                   -            -                    -              -            -          -           
ROW/Easements -                   -            -                    -              -            -          -           
Permits -                   -            -                    -              -            -          -           
Misc. (Legal, recording fees) -                   -            -                    -              -            -          -           
Contingency -                   -            -                    -              -            -          -           

Total Cost 15,625$            -$          15,625$            -$            -$          -$        -$         

Project Financing
General Fund 15,625$            -$          15,625$            -$            -$          -$        -$         
Other -                   -            -                    -              -            -          -           

Total Funding Sources 15,625$            -$          15,625$            -$            -$          -$        -$         

City of Edgerton
Project Cost Sheet

STRT0016-24 Funded
Public Works Concept

Year of Completion

1 - Streets Dan Merkh

Participation in W. JOCO Transportation Study

The City is Participating in the Planning for the SW Metro Area Transportation plan which will be 
used as the framework for potential transportation system enhancements.  The core team 
includes the City of DeSoto, Johnson County and KDOT. The City is participating as part of the 
technical committee along with Gardner, Olathe and Douglas County.  Edgerton is sharing in the 
cost at 6% of the total cost, or $15,625.

N/A

Page 27 of 42



Project Number: Funding Status: 
Dept: Project Status: 

Primary Citizen Survey: Project Manager:
Secondary Citizen Survey:

Project Name: 

Project Description: 

Operations Impact: 

Additional Staff: Trey Whitaker Time:

Outside Funding Available? No

Notes: 

Year of Design 2024
Year of Construction 2024 2024

Inflation Factor:

Project Cost Todays $ 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027
D/B Prelim Agreement -$                 -$         -$                 -$            -$          -$           -$         
D/B Final Agreement (GMP) -                   -           -                   -              -            -             -           
Design -                   -           -                   -              -            -             -           
Construction 146,208           -           -                   146,208      -            -             -           
Construction Inspection -                   -           -                   -              -            -             -           
City Engineer -                   -           -                   -              -            -             -           
Utility Relocation -                   -           -                   -              -            -             -           
Land Acquisition/ROW/Easements -                   -           -                   -              -            -             -           
Permits -                   -           -                   -              -            -             -           
Misc. (Legal, recording fees) -                   -           -                   -              -            -             -           
Contingency -                   -           -                   -              -            -             -           

Total Cost 146,208$         -$         -$                 146,208$    -$          -$           -$         

Project Financing
Special Highway Fund 46,208             -           -                   46,208        -            -             -           
PIF Maintenance Fee 100,000           -           -                   100,000      -            -             -           

Total Funding Sources 146,208$         -$         -$                 146,208$    -$          -$           -$         

City of Edgerton
Project Cost Sheet

STRT0013-24 Funded
Public Works Concept

Year of Completion

1 - Streets Dan Merkh

2024 Street Preservation Program

Refresh pavement markings and striping at LPKC intersections including 199th and Homestead, 
191st and Homestead, and 191st and Waverly. Select curb work in LPKC will also be included in 
this project and identified by staff.

Page 28 of 42



Project Number: Funding Status: 
Dept: Project Status: 

Primary Citizen Survey: Project Manager:
Secondary Citizen Survey:

Project Name: 

Project Description: 

Operations Impact: 

Additional Staff: Holly Robertson Time: N/A

Outside Funding Available?

Notes: 

Year of Design
Year of Construction

Inflation Factor:

Project Cost Todays $ 2022 & Prior 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027
D/B Prelim Agreement -$                   -$                -$                 -$            -$          -$        -$        
D/B Final Agreement (GMP) -                     -                  -                   -              -            -          -          
Design -                     -                  -                   -              -            -          -          
Study/Planning -                     -                  -                   -              -            -          -          
Construction 145,012             -                  -                   145,012      -            -          -          
Construction Inspection -                     -                  -                   -              -            -          -          
City Engineer -                     -                  -                   -              -            -          -          
Utility Relocation -                     -                  -                   -              -            -          -          
Land Acquisition -                     -                  -                   -              -            -          -          
ROW/Easements -                     -                  -                   -              -            -          -          
Permits -                     -                  -                   -              -            -          -          
Misc. (Legal, recording fees) -                     -                  -                   -              -            -          -          
Contingency -                     -                  -                   -              -            -          -          

Total Cost 145,012$           -$                -$                 145,012$    -$          -$        -$        

Project Financing
Sewer Fund 53,500$             53,500$          -$                 -$            -$          -$        -$        
CDBG 91,512               -                  -                   91,512        -            -          -          

Total Funding Sources 145,012$           53,500$          -$                 91,512$      -$          -$        -$        

Year of Completion

6 - Sewer Dan Merkh

2024 CDBG Project - 2nd and Hulett Sanitary Sewer 

Sanitary Sewer Rehabilitation in the area of 2nd and Hulett. Exact rehabilitation will defined by staff to 
align with current budget and award amount. CDBG Grant application process completed.  Notification 
to City Staff indicated $91,511.63 to be awarded.

City of Edgerton
Project Cost Sheet

SAN0016-24 Funded
Sewer Construction

Page 29 of 42



Project Number: Funding Status: 
Dept: Project Status: 

Primary Citizen Survey: Project Manager:
Secondary Citizen Survey:

Project Name: 

Project Description: 

Operations Impact: 

Additional Staff: Holly Robertson Time: N/A

Outside Funding Available? Yes

Notes: 

Year of Design 2025
Year of Construction N/A 2025

Inflation Factor:

Project Cost Todays $ 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026
D/B Prelim Agreement -$                  -$          -$            -$            -$          -$              -$         
D/B Final Agreement (GMP) -                    -            -              -              -            -                -           
Design 120,000            -            -              -              -            120,000        -           
Construction -                    -            -              -              -            -                -           
Construction Inspection -                    -            -              -              -            -                -           
City Engineer 5,000                -            -              -              -            5,000            -           
Utility Relocation -                    -            -              -              -            -                -           
Land Acquisition/ROW/Easements -                    -            -              -              -            -                -           
Permits -                    -            -              -              -            -                -           
Misc. (Legal, recording fees) -                    -            -              -              -            -                -           
Contingency -                    -            -              -              -            -                -           

Total Cost 125,000$          -$          -$            -$            -$          125,000$      -$         

Project Financing
General Fund -$                  -$          -$            -$            -$          -$              -$         
Park Impact Fee -                    -            -              -              -            -                -           
Economic Development Fund 125,000            -            -              -              -            125,000        -           
Other -                    -            -              -              -            -                -           

Total Funding Sources 125,000$          -$          -$            -$            -$          125,000$      -$         

Year of Completion

2 - Parks Dan Merkh

Martin Creek Park Exploration

Develop a master plan for Martin Creek Park, including identifying grant funding opportunities.

N/A

City of Edgerton
Project Cost Sheet

PRK0005-25 Funded
Parks Concept

Page 30 of 42



Project Number: Funding Status: 
Dept: Project Status: 

Primary Citizen Survey: Project Manager:
Secondary Citizen Survey:

Project Name: 

Project Description: 

Operations Impact: 

Additional Staff: Trey Whitaker Time:
Holly Robertson

Outside Funding Available? No

Notes: 

Year of Design 2025
Year of Construction 2025 2025

Inflation Factor:

Project Cost Todays $ 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027
D/B Prelim Agreement -$                 -$         -$                  -$            -$           -$         -$         
D/B Final Agreement (GMP) -                   -           -                    -              -             -           -           
Design -                   -           -                    -              -             -           -           
Construction 148,310            -           -                    -              148,310     -           -           
Construction Inspection -                   -           -                    -              -             -           -           
City Engineer -                   -           -                    -              -             -           -           
Utility Relocation -                   -           -                    -              -             -           -           
Land Acquisition/ROW/Easements -                   -           -                    -              -             -           -           
Permits -                   -           -                    -              -             -           -           
Misc. (Legal, recording fees) -                   -           -                    -              -             -           -           
Contingency -                   -           -                    -              -             -           -           

Total Cost 148,310$          -$         -$                  -$            148,310$   -$         -$         

Project Financing
Special Highway Fund 48,310              -           -                    -              48,310       -           -           
PIF Maintenance Fee 100,000            -           -                    -              100,000     -           -           
Other -                   -           -                    -              -             -           -           

Total Funding Sources 148,310$          -$         -$                  -$            148,310$   -$         -$         

City of Edgerton
Project Cost Sheet

STRT0014-25 Funded
Public Works Concept

Year of Completion

1 - Streets Dan Merkh

2025 Street Preservation Program

Annual street preservation work determined by the tools in the Pavement Management Program.

Page 31 of 42



Project Number: Funding Status: 
Dept: Project Status: 

Primary Citizen Survey: Project Manager:
Secondary Citizen Survey:

Project Name: 

Project Description: 

Operations Impact: 

Additional Staff: Holly Robertson Time: N/A
Mike Mabrey

Outside Funding Available? Yes

Notes: 

Year of Design 2024
Year of Construction 2025 2025

Inflation Factor:

Project Cost Todays $ 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027
D/B Prelim Agreement -$                   -$         -$                 -$            -$          -$        -$         
D/B Final Agreement (GMP) -                     -           -                   -              -            -          -           
Design 56,000               -           -              56,000       -          -           
Construction 200,000             -           -                   -              200,000     -          -           
Construction Inspection 24,000               -           -                   -              24,000       -          -           
City Engineer 8,000                 -           -                   -              8,000         -          -           
Utility Relocation -                     -           -                   -              -            -          -           
Land Acquisition/ROW/Easements -                     -           -                   -              -            -          -           
Permits -                     -           -                   -              -            -          -           
Misc. (Legal, recording fees) 2,000                 -           -                   -              2,000         -          -           
Contingency 10,000               -           -                   -              10,000       -          -           

Total Cost 300,000$           -$         -$                 -$            300,000$   -$        -$         

Project Financing
Grants -                     -           -                   -              200,000     -          -           
Sewer Fund -                     -           -                   50,000        50,000       -          -           

Total Funding Sources -$                   -$         -$                 50,000$      250,000$   -$        -$         

City of Edgerton
Project Cost Sheet

Funded
Sewer Concept

Year of Completion

CDBG announced $200,000 funding for this project in September of 2024.

6 - Sewer Dan Merkh

2025 CDBG Project

The 2025 CDBG Project will be a continuation on the 2023 and 2024 CDBG Projects rehabilitating 
vitrified clay pipes with cured in place plastic lining and additional rehabilitation in that area. More 
than likely in the North East Quadrant of the City. 

Replacing the clay tile sanitary sewer line would reduce inflow and infiltration of stormwater into the 
City's sewer system, reducing treatment costs at the sewer plant.  I & I won't be eliminated since 
there would still be some I & I from the clay tile lines on private property.

N/A

Page 32 of 42



Project Number: Funding Status: 
Dept: Project Status: 

Primary Citizen Survey: Project Manager:
Secondary Citizen Survey:

Project Name: 

Project Description: 

Operations Impact: 

Additional Staff: Trey Whitaker Time:
Holly Robertson

Outside Funding Available? No

Notes: 

Year of Design 2026
Year of Construction 2026 2026

Inflation Factor:

Project Cost Todays $ 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027
D/B Prelim Agreement -$                 -$         -$                 -$            -$          -$         -$         
D/B Final Agreement (GMP) -                   -           -                   -              -            -           -           
Design -                   -           -                   -              -            -           -           
Construction 148,310           -           -                   -              -            148,310   -           
Construction Inspection -                   -           -                   -              -            -           -           
City Engineer -                   -           -                   -              -            -           -           
Utility Relocation -                   -           -                   -              -            -           -           
Land Acquisition/ROW/Easements -                   -           -                   -              -            -           -           
Permits -                   -           -                   -              -            -           -           
Misc. (Legal, recording fees) -                   -           -                   -              -            -           -           
Contingency -                   -           -                   -              -            -           -           

Total Cost 148,310$         -$         -$                 -$            -$          148,310$ -$         

Project Financing
Special Highway Fund 48,310             -           -                   -              -            48,310     -           
PIF Maintenance Fee 100,000           -           -                   -              -            100,000   -           
Other -                   -           -                   -              -            -           -           

Total Funding Sources 148,310$         -$         -$                 -$            -$          148,310$ -$         

Year of Completion

1 - Streets Dan Merkh

2026 Street Preservation Program

Annual street preservation work determined by the tools in the Pavement Management Program.

City of Edgerton
Project Cost Sheet

Funded
Public Works Concept

Page 33 of 42



Project Number: Funding Status: 
Dept: Project Status: 

Primary Citizen Survey: Project Manager:
Secondary Citizen Survey:

Project Name: 

Project Description: 

Operations Impact: 

Additional Staff: Trey Whitaker Time:
Holly Robertson

Outside Funding Available? No

Notes: 

Year of Design
Year of Construction

Inflation Factor:

Project Cost Todays $ 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027
D/B Prelim Agreement -$                 -$         -$                  -$            -$           -$         -$         
D/B Final Agreement (GMP) -                   -           -                    -              -             -           -           
Design -                   -           -                    -              -             -           -           
Construction 148,310            -           -                    -              -             -           148,310   
Construction Inspection -                   -           -                    -              -             -           -           
City Engineer -                   -           -                    -              -             -           -           
Utility Relocation -                   -           -                    -              -             -           -           
Land Acquisition/ROW/Easements -                   -           -                    -              -             -           -           
Permits -                   -           -                    -              -             -           -           
Misc. (Legal, recording fees) -                   -           -                    -              -             -           -           
Contingency -                   -           -                    -              -             -           -           

Total Cost 148,310$          -$         -$                  -$            -$           -$         148,310$ 

Project Financing
Special Highway Fund 48,310              -           -                    -              -             -           48,310     
PIF Maintenance Fee 100,000            -           -                    -              -             -           100,000   
Other -                   -           -                    -              -             -           -           

Total Funding Sources 148,310$          -$         -$                  -$            -$           -$         148,310$ 

City of Edgerton
Project Cost Sheet

Funded
Public Works Concept

Year of Completion

1 - Streets Dan Merkh

2027 Street Preservation Program

Annual street preservation work determined by the tools in the Pavement Management Program.

Page 34 of 42



Project Number: Funding Status: 
Dept: Project Status: 

Primary Citizen Survey: Project Manager:
Secondary Citizen Survey:

Project Name: 

Project Description: 

Operations Impact: 

Additional Staff: Holly Robertson Time: N/A
Mike Mabrey

Outside Funding Available? Yes

Notes: 

Year of Design 2026
Year of Construction 2027 2027

Inflation Factor:

Project Cost Todays $ 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027
D/B Prelim Agreement -$                   -$         -$                 -$            -$          -$        -$         
D/B Final Agreement (GMP) -                     -           -                   -              -            -          -           
Design 50,000               -           -                   -              -            -          50,000     
Construction 200,000             -           -                   -              -            -          200,000   
Construction Inspection 30,000               -           -                   -              -            -          30,000     
City Engineer 8,000                 -           -                   -              -            -          8,000       
Utility Relocation -                     -           -                   -              -            -          -           
Land Acquisition/ROW/Easements -                     -           -                   -              -            -          -           
Permits -                     -           -                   -              -            -          -           
Misc. (Legal, recording fees) 2,000                 -           -                   -              -            -          2,000       
Contingency 10,000               -           -                   -              -            -          10,000     

Total Cost 300,000$           -$         -$                 -$            -$          -$        300,000$ 

Project Financing
Grants 200,000             -           -                   -              -            -          200,000   
Sewer Fund 100,000             -           -                   -              -            50,000     50,000     

Total Funding Sources 300,000$           -$         -$                 -$            -$          50,000$   250,000$ 

City of Edgerton
Project Cost Sheet

Funded
Sewer Concept

Year of Completion

Anticipated project to be awarded $200,000 through the JOCO CDBG program. If funding is 
reduced or not awarded, budget, funding, and description will be adjusted.

6 - Sewer Dan Merkh

2027 CDBG Project

The 2027 CDBG Project will be a continuation on the 2023 and 2024 CDBG Project. We will 
expend all 2025 Funds and pending where that gets us we will start this project where the 2025 
project ends. More than like in the North East Quadrant of the City. 

Replacing the clay tile sanitary sewer line would reduce inflow and infiltration of stormwater into the 
City's sewer system, reducing treatment costs at the sewer plant.  I & I won't be eliminated since 
there would still be some I & I from the clay tile lines on private property.

N/A

Page 35 of 42



Project Number: Funding Status: 
Dept: Project Status: 

Primary Citizen Survey: Project Manager:
Secondary Citizen Survey:

Project Name: 

Project Description: 

Operations Impact: 

Additional Staff: Trey Whitaker Time:
Holly Robertson

Outside Funding Available? No

Notes: 

Year of Design 2028
Year of Construction 2028 2028

Inflation Factor:

Project Cost Todays $ 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028
D/B Prelim Agreement -$                 -$         -$                 -$            -$          -$        -$            
D/B Final Agreement (GMP) -                   -           -                   -              -            -          -              
Design -                   -           -                   -              -            -          -              
Construction 148,310           -           -                   -              -            -          148,310       
Construction Inspection -                   -           -                   -              -            -          -              
City Engineer -                   -           -                   -              -            -          -              
Utility Relocation -                   -           -                   -              -            -          -              
Land Acquisition/ROW/Easements -                   -           -                   -              -            -          -              
Permits -                   -           -                   -              -            -          -              
Misc. (Legal, recording fees) -                   -           -                   -              -            -          -              
Contingency -                   -           -                   -              -            -          -              

Total Cost 148,310$         -$         -$                 -$            -$          -$        148,310$     

Project Financing
Special Highway Fund 48,310             -           -                   -              -            -          48,310         
General Fund 100,000           -           -                   -              -            -          100,000       
Other -                   -           -                   -              -            -          -              

Total Funding Sources 148,310$         -$         -$                 -$            -$          -$        148,310$     

City of Edgerton
Project Cost Sheet

Funded
Public Works Concept

Year of Completion

1 - Streets Dan Merkh

2028 Street Preservation Program

Annual street preservation work determined by the tools in the Pavement Management Program.

Page 36 of 42



Project Number: Funding Status: 
Dept: Project Status: 

Primary Citizen Survey: Project Manager:
Secondary Citizen Survey:

Project Name: 

Project Description: 

Operations Impact: 

Additional Staff: Holly Robertson Time: N/A
Mike Mabrey

Outside Funding Available? Yes

Notes: 

Year of Design 2028
Year of Construction 2029 2029

Inflation Factor:

Project Cost Todays $ 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029
D/B Prelim Agreement -$                   -$         -$                 -$            -$          -$        -$         
D/B Final Agreement (GMP) -                     -           -                   -              -            -          -           
Design 50,000               -           -              -            -          50,000     
Construction 200,000             -           -                   -              -            -          200,000   
Construction Inspection 30,000               -           -                   -              -            -          30,000     
City Engineer 8,000                 -           -                   -              -            -          8,000       
Utility Relocation -                     -           -                   -              -            -          -           
Land Acquisition/ROW/Easements -                     -           -                   -              -            -          -           
Permits -                     -           -                   -              -            -          -           
Misc. (Legal, recording fees) 2,000                 -           -                   -              -            -          2,000       
Contingency 10,000               -           -                   -              -            -          10,000     

Total Cost 300,000$           -$         -$                 -$            -$          -$        300,000$ 

Project Financing
Grants 200,000             -           -                   -              -            -          200,000   
Sewer Fund 100,000             -           -                   -              -            50,000     50,000     

Total Funding Sources 300,000$           -$         -$                 -$            -$          50,000$   250,000$ 

City of Edgerton
Project Cost Sheet

Funded
Sewer Concept

Year of Completion

Anticipated project to be awarded $200,000 through the JOCO CDBG program. If funding is 
reduced or not awarded, budget, funding, and description will be adjusted.

6 - Sewer Dan Merkh

2029 CDBG Project

The 2029 CDBG Project will be a continuation on the 2023 - 2027 CDBG Project. We will expend 
all 2027 Funds and pending where that gets us we will start this project where the 2025 project 
ends. More than like in the North East Quadrant of the City. 

Replacing the clay tile sanitary sewer line would reduce inflow and infiltration of stormwater into the 
City's sewer system, reducing treatment costs at the sewer plant.  I & I won't be eliminated since 
there would still be some I & I from the clay tile lines on private property.

N/A

Page 37 of 42



Project Number: Funding Status: 
Dept: Project Status: 

Primary Citizen Survey: Project Manager:
Secondary Citizen Survey:

Project Name: 

Project Description: 

Operations Impact: 

Additional Staff: Trey Whitaker Time:
Holly Robertson

Outside Funding Available? No

Notes: 

Year of Design
Year of Construction

Inflation Factor:

Project Cost Todays $ 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029
D/B Prelim Agreement -$                 -$         -$                 -$            -$          -$        -$            
D/B Final Agreement (GMP) -                   -           -                   -              -            -          -              
Design -                   -           -                   -              -            -          -              
Construction 148,310           -           -                   -              -            -          148,310       
Construction Inspection -                   -           -                   -              -            -          -              
City Engineer -                   -           -                   -              -            -          -              
Utility Relocation -                   -           -                   -              -            -          -              
Land Acquisition/ROW/Easements -                   -           -                   -              -            -          -              
Permits -                   -           -                   -              -            -          -              
Misc. (Legal, recording fees) -                   -           -                   -              -            -          -              
Contingency -                   -           -                   -              -            -          -              

Total Cost 148,310$         -$         -$                 -$            -$          -$        148,310$     

Project Financing
Special Highway Fund 48,310             -           -                   -              -            -          48,310         
General Fund 100,000           -           -                   -              -            -          100,000       
Other -                   -           -                   -              -            -          -              

Total Funding Sources 148,310$         -$         -$                 -$            -$          -$        148,310$     

Year of Completion

1 - Streets Dan Merkh

2029 Street Preservation Program

Annual street preservation work determined by the tools in the Pavement Management Program.

City of Edgerton
Project Cost Sheet

Funded
Public Works Concept

Page 38 of 42



Project Number: Funding Status: 
Dept: Project Status: 

Primary Citizen Survey: Project Manager:
Secondary Citizen Survey:

Project Name: 

Project Description: 

Operations Impact: 

Additional Staff: Time: N/A

Outside Funding Available? Yes

Notes: 

Year of Design 2025
Year of Construction 2025 2025

Inflation Factor:

Project Cost Todays $ 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029
D/B Prelim Agreement -$                 -$          -$                  -$            -$          -$        -$         
D/B Final Agreement (GMP) -                   -            -                    -              -            -          -           
Design -                   -            -                    -              -            -          -           
Study/Planning 265,000            -            265,000            -              -            -          -           
Construction -                   -            -                    -              -            -          -           
Construction Inspection -                   -            -                    -              -            -          -           
City Engineer -                   -            -                    -              -            -          -           
Utility Relocation -                   -            -                    -              -            -          -           
Land Acquisition -                   -            -                    -              -            -          -           
ROW/Easements -                   -            -                    -              -            -          -           
Permits -                   -            -                    -              -            -          -           
Misc. (Legal, recording fees) -                   -            -                    -              -            -          -           
In-Kind Staff Time 10,000              -            10,000              -              -            -          -           

Total Cost 275,000$          -$          275,000$          -$            -$          -$        -$         

Project Financing
General Fund -$                 -$          -$                  -$            -$          -$        -$         
KDOT 45,000              -            45,000              -              -            -          -           
Grants 220,000            -            220,000            -              -            -          -           
Other 10,000              -            10,000              -              -            -          -           

Total Funding Sources 275,000$          -$          275,000$          -$            -$          -$        -$         

City of Edgerton
Project Cost Sheet

Funded
Public Works Concept

Year of Completion

1 - Streets Holly Robertson

Edgerton Safety Action Plan

The Edgerton Safety Action Plan will include a new comprehensive action plan following USDOT 
requirements and supplemental planning activities to identify and solve safety issues in our road 
system. Both known areas of serious injury and fatal crashes as well as safety concerns of the 
community will be addressed in this plan. USDOT grant awarded $220,000 and Kansas Build 
Fund awarded $45,000, remaining $10,000 is in-kind match of staff time.

N/A

Page 39 of 42



Project Number: Funding Status: 
Dept: Project Status: 

Primary Citizen Survey: Project Manager:
Secondary Citizen Survey: 

Project Name: 

Project Description: 

Operations Impact: 

Additional Staff: Holly Robertson

Outside Funding Available? Maybe

Notes: 

Year of Design 2024
Year of Construction 2025 2025

Inflation Factor:

Project Cost Todays $ 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029
D/B Prelim Agreement -$                 -$         -$           -$            -$          -$        -$        
D/B Final Agreement (GMP) -                   -           -             -              -            -          -          
Design 30,000              -           30,000        -              -            -          -          
Construction 250,000            -           250,000      -              -            -          -          
Construction Inspection 30,000              -           30,000        -              -            -          -          
City Engineer 10,000              -           10,000        -              -            -          -          
Utility Relocation 60,000              -           60,000        -              -            -          -          
Land Acquisition/ROW/Easements 10,000              -           10,000        -              -            -          -          
Permits 2,500                -           2,500          -              -            -          -          
Misc. (Legal, recording fees) 10,000              -           10,000        -              -            -          -          
Contingency 25,000              -           25,000        -              -            -          -          

Total Cost 427,500$          -$         427,500$    -$            -$          -$        -$        

Project Financing
General Fund -$                 -$         -$           -$            -$          -$        -$        
Street Excise Tax 427,500            427,500    -             -              -            -          -          
Other -                   -           -             -              -            -          -          

Total Funding Sources 427,500$          427,500$  -$           -$            -$          -$        -$        

Year of Completion

Project could be completed in conjunction with 2nd Street to limit cost for a second 
mobilization and combine contractor efforts

1 - Streets Dan Merkh

E 3rd Street Reconstruction (adjacent to The Greenspace)

As part of The Greenspace project, the alley connection to E 3rd Street identified 
deteriorating asphalt conditions made worse by the heavy traffic loads of Fire Trucks utilizing 
this road for the fire station. Additional drainage issues have caused subgrade failure. In 
order to correct the drainage and repair the road conditions a rebuild is recommended as a 
project outside of the Greenspace, but possibly correlated with the construction of 2nd Street. 
This project includes the design and reconstruction of E 3rd street from Nelson to Martin 
Street. City Council guidance was provided on September 12, 2024.

N/A

City of Edgerton
Project Cost Sheet

Funded
Public Works Concept

Page 40 of 42



Project Number: Funding Status: 
Dept: Project Status: 

Primary Citizen Survey: Project Manager:
Secondary Citizen Survey:

Project Name: 

Project Description: 

Operations Impact: 

Additional Staff: Holly Robertson Time: N/A

Outside Funding Available? Yes

Notes: 

Year of Design 2023
Year of Construction 2024 2025

Inflation Factor:

Project Cost Todays $ 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028
D/B Prelim Agreement -$                   -$          -$                  -$            -$          -$        -$         
D/B Final Agreement (GMP) -                     -            -                    -              -            -          -           
Design 537,254             -            537,254            -              -            -          -           
Construction 2,984,743          -            2,984,743         -              -            -          -           
Construction Inspection 358,169             -            358,169            -              -            -          -           
City Engineer 119,390             -            119,390            -              -            -          -           
Utility Relocation 40,000               -            40,000              -              -            -          -           
Land Acquisition/ROW/Easements 119,390             -            119,390            -              -            -          -           
Permits 5,000                 -            5,000                -              -            -          -           
Misc. (Legal, recording fees) 10,000               -            10,000              -              -            -          -           
Contingency 826,054             -            826,054            -              -            -          -           

Total Cost 5,000,000.00     -$          5,000,000$       -$            -$          -$        -$         

Project Financing
RHID 5,000,000$        -$          5,000,000$       -$            -$          -$        -$         
Other -                     -            -                    -              -            -          -           

Total Funding Sources 5,000,000$        -$          5,000,000$       -$            -$          -$        -$         

City of Edgerton
Project Cost Sheet

SAN0002-23 Funded
Sewer Concept

Year of Completion

 Utilize RHID 

6 - Sewer Dan Merkh

Dwyer Farms Sewer Main Extension

Install approximately 1600 LF of 8" sewer main across South Lake, BNSF rail, and KPC pipeline.  
This gravity main terminates at Edgerton Rd/8th Street.  This project also includes installation of 
an equalization basin, improving the City Lift Station (EWWLS) to 1.1 MGD, an 18" transmission 
main, as well as upsizing a segement along Sunflower Rd.  SCADA Improvements and aged 
replacements at BBCWWTP.

N/A

Page 41 of 42



Project Number: Funding Status: 
Dept: Project Status: 

Primary Citizen Survey: Project Manager:
Secondary Citizen Survey:

Project Name: 

Project Description: 

Operations Impact: 

Additional Staff: Holly Robertson Time: N/A

Outside Funding Available? Yes

Notes: 

Year of Design 2024
Year of Construction 2024-TBD TBD

Inflation Factor:

Project Cost Todays $ 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027
D/B Prelim Agreement -$                  -$          -$                  -$            -$          -$        -$         
D/B Final Agreement (GMP) -                    -            -                    -              -            -          -           
Design 18,000              -            -                    18,000        -            -          -           
Construction 190,000            -            -                    190,000      -            -          -           
Construction Inspection 22,800              -            -                    22,800        -            -          -           
City Engineer 7,600                -            -                    7,600          -            -          -           
Utility Relocation -                    -            -                    -              -            -          -           
Land Acquisition/ROW/Easements 7,600                -            -                    7,600          -            -          -           
Permits 2,500                -            -                    2,500          -            -          -           
Misc. (Legal, recording fees) 5,000                -            -                    5,000          -            -          -           
Contingency 38,000              -            -                    38,000        -            -          -           

Total Cost 291,500$          -$          -$                  291,500$    -$          -$        -$         

Project Financing
RHID 291,500$          -$          -$                  291,500$    -$          -$        -$         
Other -                    -            -                    -              -            -          -           

Total Funding Sources 291,500$          -$          -$                  291,500$    -$          -$        -$         

City of Edgerton
Project Cost Sheet

WTR0004-24 Funded
Water Concept

Year of Completion

 Utilize RHID 

4 - Water Dan Merkh

Dwyer Farms Development Water Connections - Phase 1

Phase 1 water main connections to Dwyer Farms Development. Two connections are included in 
this phase at Rushmore and Braun (1.1) and 8th and 209th Street (1.2). Construction will be done 
separately. Connection 1.1 has been constructed as of July 2024. Connection 1.2 is designed and 
to be constructed. The connection along Braun does include extension of appx. 200 LF of 6" pipe 
to the proposed intersection with the development.

N/A

Page 42 of 42



City Council Action Item 

Council Meeting Date: October 24, 2024 

Department: Public Works 

A genda Item: Consider Resolution No. 10-24-24H Pursuant To K.S.A. § 26 
 -201 Setting Forth The Necessity For Condemnation Of Private P roperty 

And Authorizing Preparation Of A Survey And Legal Descriptions O f The 
Properties To Be Condemned

Background/Description of Item: 
The City of Edgerton is reconstructing East 2nd Street / COOP Road from Nelson Street to the 
south City Limits and East Edgewood/West Edgewood Road from East 2nd Street / COOP Road 
to West 4th Street. The project includes complete reconstruction of the pavement down to 
subgrade, new sidewalks, streetlights, new stormwater infrastructure, utility improvements, 
and drainage improvements along the project.  

The City needs temporary construction easements and permanent drainage easement, 
permanent pedestrian easement, and right-of-way from 44 properties on East 2nd Street/Coop 
Road from Nelson Street to South City Limits and on Edgewood from E 2nd Street/COOP Road 
to W 4th Street.  

Since June 2024, City Staff has contacted property owners and are currently in discussions 
with the majority of owners. Similar to previous projects, City staff intends on continuing the 
easement acquisition process by providing official easement offers to property owners with a 
30-day time frame for all properties.

Staff will continue to negotiate easements with the property owners as the preferred method 
to acquire the easements. However, in case negotiations do not reach a conclusion that 
satisfies both parties, staff recommends moving forward with the condemnation process. 

The first step in that process would be for City Council to pass a resolution confirming the 
necessity for condemnation and authorizing the preparation of survey and legal description. 
In an effort to meet the tight project schedule, staff is requesting that City Council approve 
this resolution for all easements necessary. Passing the resolution does not prohibit the City 
from continuing to negotiate and/or acquire the easements – it simply authorizes the 
preparation of the descriptions. Any property where an easement is acquired through 
negotiation can be removed from the condemnation process in the future. 



The resolution is in draft form, currently under review by City Attorney.  All revisions will be 
made prior to City Attorney approval. 

Enclosed with the packet is a draft resolution as reviewed and pending approval by the City 
Attorney that includes easements necessary for the Projects.    

Related Ordinance(s) or Statue(s):  K.S.A. 26-201 

Funding Source:  LPKC Ph 1 PIF 

Budget Allocated:  $4,762,495 

Finance Director Approval: 

Recommendation: Approve Resolution No. 10-24-24H Pursuant To K.S.A. 
§ 26-201 Setting Forth The Necessity For Condemnation Of Private 
Property And Authorizing Preparation Of A Survey And Legal Descriptions 
Of The Properties To Be Condemned

Enclosed:       Draft Resolution 

Prepared by:  Holly Robertson, PE; CIP Project Manager 



City of Edgerton, Kansas 
Resolution 10-24-24I 
Page 1 of 19 

RESOLUTION NO. 10-24-24H 

A RESOLUTION PURSUANT TO K.S.A. § 26-201 SETTING FORTH 
THE NECESSITY FOR CONDEMNATION OF PRIVATE PROPERTY 
AND AUTHORIZING PREPARATION OF A SURVEY AND LEGAL 
DESCRIPTIONS OF THE PROPERTY TO BE CONDEMNED 

WHEREAS, K.S.A. § 26-201 authorizes a City to acquire by condemnation any 
interest in real property when it is deemed necessary, for use by the City, by the 
governing body of the City; and  

WHEREAS, the City wishes to reconstruct and improve East 2nd Street / Coop Road 
from Nelson Street to the South City Limits and East Edgewood Drive / West Edgewood 
Drive from East 2nd Street to West 4th Street to include new pavement, sidewalk, utility 
relocation, stormwater infrastructure, street lighting, and grading for improved drainage 
within the road right-of-way, (hereinafter “the Projects”) said location being within the 
city limits of the City of Edgerton, Kansas; and 

WHEREAS, the City has determined it necessary to acquire right-of-way, 
permanent drainage, permanent pedestrian easements, and temporary construction 
easements on properties located within the Glendell Acres First Plat, Glendell Acres 
Second Plat, and City of Edgerton (Martin) Plat with the City limits of the City of Edgerton, 
to ensure that city streets and utilities to be constructed on that property are fully within 
right-of-way and utility easements held by the City; and  

WHEREAS, the City has need to obtain ownership of the properties to maintain 
proper drainage and to preserve overall health and welfare of its citizens. 

WHEREAS, the City has attempted, and will continue to attempt, to negotiate with 
the private landowner for the easements needed for the Projects. 

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City that it is necessary to exercise its 
power of eminent domain, pursuant to the provisions and under the authority to acquire 
land through the use of eminent domain as authorized by the Constitution of the State 
of Kansas, Article 12, Section 5; K.S.A. § 26-201 and, K.S.A. 26-501, et. seq.   

The names of the owners, the identity of all lienholders of record and the names of any 
other parties claiming an interest in the parcels affected by the property to be taken, 
and which have been deemed necessary for lawful purposes, are as follows: 



 

 
City of Edgerton, Kansas 
Resolution 10-24-24I 
Page 2 of 19 

 
TRACT 2 

Owners of Record:   Pamela R Sill AKA Pam Sill  
 
Lienholders of Record: Primelending, a Plainscapital Company, through MERS at PO Box 
2026, Flint, MI 48501-2026.  
 
Party in Possession:  Owner 
 
Easement Interests: Right-of-Way granted to Independent Pipe Line Co. of Kansas assigned to 
Kansas Pipeline Company and partially assigned to Texaco Pipeline Inc. and OKM Gas Pipeline 
Company. Water Easement, Right-of-Way to The Gas Service Company, Temporary 
Construction Easement to the City of Edgerton and Permanent Easement to the City of Edgerton. 
 
Property: Beginning at a point 463.0 feet East and 330 feet North of the Southwest corner of the 
Northeast Quarter of the Southwest Quarter of Section 7; thence North 500.6 feet and parallel to 
the West line of said Quarter Quarter Section; thence South 86°43' East 838.7 feet to a point on 
the center line of County Road; thence South 300.0 feet and along the center line of County 
Road; thence Southwesterly 166.7 feet and continuing along center line of County Road; thence 
West 777.9 feet to point of beginning; being a part of Lot 1, COUNTY CLERK'S 
SUBDIVISION, Northeast Quarter of the Southwest Quarter of Section 7, Township 15, Range 
22, Johnson County, Kansas, EXCEPT that part described as follows:  Commencing at the 
Northeast corner of the Southwest Quarter Section of Section 7, Township 15, Range 22; thence  
South 0°07'28" East 540.62 feet along the East line of said Quarter Section; thence North 
86°43'00" West 30.05 feet to the true point of beginning, said point being the Southeast corner of 
Lot 51, Glendell Acres, First Plat Amended, a subdivision; thence North 86°43'00" West 10.0 
feet along the South line of said Lot 51; thence South 11°30'42" West 464.48 feet; thence North 
89°31'32" East 33.0 feet to a point on the West Right of Way line of a County Road; thence 
along the West Right of Way line of said road as follows:  North 28°38'42" East 146.83 feet; 
thence North 0°07'28" West 325.44 feet to the point of beginning, being a part of Lot 1, County 
Clerk's Subdivision, all in Johnson County, Kansas, except any part in roads. 
 
Interests to be Acquired by Eminent Domain: Temporary Construction Easement 
 

TRACT 3 
Owners of Record:   Ross G. Ackley 
 
Lienholders of Record: Mid America Bank 802 Ames Street PO Box 4 Baldwin City, KS 
66006, Federal Home Loan Bank of Topeka 
 
Party in Possession:  Owner 
 



 

 
City of Edgerton, Kansas 
Resolution 10-24-24I 
Page 3 of 19 

Easement Interests: None 
 
Property: Lot 51, GLENDELL ACRES, FIRST PLAT AMENDED, a subdivision in the City of 
Edgerton, Johnson County, Kansas, according to the recorded plat thereof. 
 
Interests to be Acquired by Eminent Domain: Temporary Construction Easement and Right-
of-Way 

TRACT 4 
Owners of Record:   Ottawa Cooperative Association 
 
Lienholders of Record: Financing Statement filed under Uniform Commercial Code Document 
No. 3738806, The Ottawa Cooperative Association Debtor; and Intrust Bank, N.A., Secured 
Party. 
 
Party in Possession:  Owner 
 
Easement Interests: Railroad rights-of-way, switch tracks, spur tracks, and all easements, 
licenses or servitudes within, appurtenant to or serving such rights-of-way or easements, 
including, but not limited to, electric and telephone transmission lines, broadband transmission 
lines, video and multi-channel video, pipelines and any facilities in support of telephone, 
communication or transportation. 
 
Property:  
Tract 1: All that part of the Southeast Quarter of Section 7, Township 15, Range 22, Johnson 
County, Kansas, lying West of the Atchison, Topeka and Santa Fe Right-of-Way and the 
Westerly 30 feet of vacated count road adjacent to the West line. 
 
Tract 2: Lots 2 to 19, inclusive, Block 1, Town of Martin commonly called CITY OF 
EDGERTON, a subdivision in the City of Edgerton, Johnson County, Kansas, AND All that part 
of the Southeast Quarter of Section 7, Township 15, Range 22, City of Edgerton, Johnson 
County, Kansas, lying West of the Atchison, Topeka and Santa Fe Right-of-Way and the 
Westerly 30 feet of vacated county road adjacent to the West line 
 
Interests to be Acquired by Eminent Domain: Temporary Construction Easement and Right-
of-Way 

TRACT 5 
Owners of Record:   Kyle McSpadden 
 
Lienholders of Record: None  
 
Party in Possession:  Owner 
 



 

 
City of Edgerton, Kansas 
Resolution 10-24-24I 
Page 4 of 19 

Easement Interests: None 
 
Property: The East 10 feet of Lot 11, all of Lots 12, 13 and 14, Block 2, and the South half of 
vacated alley adjacent on the North, CITY OF EDGERTON, a subdivision in the City of 
Edgerton, Johnson County, Kansas. 
 
Interests to be Acquired by Eminent Domain: Temporary Construction Easement 
 

TRACT 6 
Owners of Record:   Dylan Watts 
 
Lienholders of Record: Flat Branch Mortgage Inc., through MERS 
MERS, Inc., as a nominee for Unity Fidelity Funding, Corp. (prior owner) Certificate to Release 
filed. 
 
Party in Possession:  Owner 
 
Easement Interests: None 
 
Property: All of Lots 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6 and 7, block 2, CITY OF EDGERTON, and the North half 
of the vacated alley adjacent to Lost 1, 2 and 3 on the South, as recorded in Book 5007, Page 283 
of the Johnson County Recorder's Office, all in the City of Edgerton, Johnson County, Kansas. 
 
Interests to be Acquired by Eminent Domain: Temporary Construction Easement and 
Permanent Drainage Easement 
 

TRACT 7 
Owners of Record:   Andrew Schwarting 
 
Lienholders of Record: Keller Mortgage, LLC dba Keller Mortgage through MERS, Inc. 
 
Party in Possession:  Owner 
 
Easement Interests: None 
 
Property:  
Tract 1:  Lots 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 10, 11, 12, 13 and 14, and that part of vacated alley adjacent 
thereto, Block 3, TOWN OF MARTIN, commonly called Edgerton, a subdivision in the City of 
Edgerton, Johnson County, Kansas. 
Tract 2:  Lots 8 and 9, Block 3, CITY OF EDGERTON, a subdivision in the City of Edgerton, 
Johnson County, Kansas. 
 



 

 
City of Edgerton, Kansas 
Resolution 10-24-24I 
Page 5 of 19 

Interests to be Acquired by Eminent Domain: Temporary Construction Easement; Permanent 
Drainage Easement, 
 

TRACT 8 
Owners of Record:   Calukas Properties, LLC 
 
Lienholders of Record: Nationstar Mortgage, LLC by Assignment  
 
Party in Possession:  Tenant  
 
Easement Interests: None 
 
Property: Lots 11, 12, 13 and 14, Block 8, TOWN OF MARTIN, commonly called Edgerton, a 
subdivision in the city of Edgerton, Johnson County, Kansas. 
 
Interests to be Acquired by Eminent Domain: Temporary Construction Easement 
 

TRACT 9 
Owners of Record:   Charles E. Crooks and Charles E. Crooks Jr. 
 
Lienholders of Record: Mid America Bank 
 
Party in Possession:  Owner 
 
Easement Interests: None 
 
Property: Lots 1, 2, 3 and 4, Block 8, TOWN OF MARTIN, a subdivision in the City of 
Edgerton, Johnson County, Kansas. 
 
Interests to be Acquired by Eminent Domain: Temporary Construction Easement 
 

TRACT 10 
Owners of Record:   David Crow 
 
Lienholders of Record: Open Mortgage, LLC through MERS, Inc. 
 
Party in Possession:  Owner 
 
Easement Interests: None 
 
Property: Lot 14, and the East Half of Lot 13, Block 9, CITY OF EDGERTON (MARTIN), a 
subdivision in the City of Edgerton, Johnson County, Kansas. 



 

 
City of Edgerton, Kansas 
Resolution 10-24-24I 
Page 6 of 19 

 
Interests to be Acquired by Eminent Domain: Temporary Construction Easement 
 

TRACT 11 
Owners of Record:   Juan F. Abundiz and Visenta Hernandez 
 
Lienholders of Record: None 
 
Party in Possession:  Owner 
 
Easement Interests: None 
 
Property: Lots 1 and 2, Block 9, TOWN OF MARTIN, COMMONLY CALLED EDGERTON, 
a subdivision in the City of Edgerton, Johnson County, Kansas. 
 
Interests to be Acquired by Eminent Domain: Temporary Construction Easement 
 

TRACT 12 
Owners of Record:   Geullermo Pedroza 
 
Lienholders of Record: LeaderOne Financial Corporation 
 
Party in Possession:  Owner 
 
Easement Interests: None 
 
Property: Lot 14, except the North 50 feet, Block 17, TOWN OF MARTIN, commonly called 
CITY OF EDGERTON, a subdivision in the City of Edgerton, Johnson County, Kansas. 
 
Interests to be Acquired by Eminent Domain: Temporary Construction Easement 
 

TRACT 13 
Owners of Record:   Mario S. Perez Jr. 
 
Lienholders of Record: First State Bank of St. Charles, MO 
 
Party in Possession:  Owner 
 
Easement Interests: None 
 



 

 
City of Edgerton, Kansas 
Resolution 10-24-24I 
Page 7 of 19 

Property: The North 50 feet of Lots 12, 13 and 14, Block 17, TOWN OF MARTIN 
COMMONLY CALLED EDGERTON, a subdivision in the City of Edgerton, Johnson County, 
Kansas, according to the recorded plat thereof. 
 
Interests to be Acquired by Eminent Domain: Temporary Construction Easement 
 

TRACT 14 
Owners of Record:   Curtis Crisler and Eileen Crisler 
 
Lienholders of Record: None 
 
Party in Possession:  Tenant 
 
Easement Interests: None 
 
Property: Lots 1, 2 and 3, Block 17, TOWN OF MARTIN, (commonly called the City of 
Edgerton), Johnson County, Kansas. 
 
Interests to be Acquired by Eminent Domain: Temporary Construction Easement and 
Permanent Pedestrian Easement 

TRACT 16 
Owners of Record:   Josua P. Batchelor  
 
Lienholders of Record: MERS, Inc. as nominee for Synergy One Lending, INC. 
 
Party in Possession:  Owner 
 
Easement Interests: None 
 
Property: The North 20 feet of Lots 7 thru 12 Inclusive, Block 4 and the South 50 feet of 
vacated Rankin Street adjacent thereto, TOWN OF MARTIN, (commonly called Edgerton), a 
subdivision in the City of Edgerton, Johnson County, Kansas. 
 
Interests to be Acquired by Eminent Domain: Temporary Construction Easement 

 
TRACT 17 

Owners of Record:   Chris Rosner  
 
Lienholders of Record: Unknown 
 
Party in Possession:  Owner 
 



 

 
City of Edgerton, Kansas 
Resolution 10-24-24I 
Page 8 of 19 

Easement Interests: Right of Way Lease to The Kansas Trust Company (a corporation) as 
trustee for The Manhattan Pipe Line Company, a corporation.  
 
Property: The South 60 feet of Lots 13 through 18 inclusive, Block 7, and the North 10 feet of 
vacated Rankin Street adjacent thereto, TOWN OF MARTIN, commonly called Edgerton, a 
subdivision in the City of Edgerton, Johnson County, Kansas, according to the recorded plat 
thereof. 
 
Interests to be Acquired by Eminent Domain: Temporary Construction Easement 
 

TRACT 18 
Owners of Record:   Thore James Hammitt  
 
Lienholders of Record: MERS, Inc. as nominee for Sente Mortgage, Inc.  
 
Party in Possession:  Owner 
 
Easement Interests: None 
 
Property: The North 70 feet of Lots 13 through 18 inclusive, Block 7, TOWN OF MARTIN, 
COMMONLY CALLED EDGERTON, a subdivision in the City of Edgerton, Johnson County, 
Kansas, according to the recorded plat thereof. 
 
Interests to be Acquired by Eminent Domain: Temporary Construction Easement 
 

TRACT 19 
Owners of Record:   Cynthia Joan Cope  
 
Lienholders of Record: None 
 
Party in Possession:  Owner 
 
Easement Interests: None 
 
Property: Lots 9, 10, 11 and 12, Block 7, in TOWN OF MARTIN, commonly called the City of 
Edgerton, a subdivision in Johnson County, Kansas. 
 
Interests to be Acquired by Eminent Domain: Temporary Construction Easement 
 

TRACT 20 
Owners of Record:   John Marsh aka John L. Marsh  
 



 

 
City of Edgerton, Kansas 
Resolution 10-24-24I 
Page 9 of 19 

Lienholders of Record: James B. Nutter & Company, last assigned to Lakeview Loan 
Servicing, LLC 
 
Party in Possession:  Owner 
 
Easement Interests: None 
 
Property: Lot 13, 14 and 15, Block 10, CITY OF EDGERTON, Johnson County, Kansas. 
 
Interests to be Acquired by Eminent Domain: Temporary Construction Easement 
 

TRACT 21 
Owners of Record:   Matt Wayne Stevens, Trustee of the Emerton Family Trust 
 
Lienholders of Record: None 
 
Party in Possession:  Owner 
 
Easement Interests: None 
 
Property: Lots 9 to 12, inclusive, Block 10, City of Edgerton, Johnson County, Kansas. 
 
Interests to be Acquired by Eminent Domain: Temporary Construction Easement 
 

TRACT 22 
Owners of Record:   Anne N. Patterson and Craig W. Patterson, Trustees under Trust 
Agreement with Andrew L. Patterson as Settlor 
 
Lienholders of Record: None 
 
Party in Possession:  Owner 
 
Easement Interests: None 
 
Property: Lot 13, Block 16, TOWN OF MARTIN, COMMONLY CALLED EDGERTON, a 
subdivision in the City of Edgerton, Johnson County, Kansas 
 
Interests to be Acquired by Eminent Domain: Temporary Construction Easement 
 

TRACT 23 
Owners of Record:   Thomas E. Barlett and Kara S. Barlett 
 



 

 
City of Edgerton, Kansas 
Resolution 10-24-24I 
Page 10 of 19 

Lienholders of Record: None 
 
Party in Possession:  Tenant 
 
Easement Interests: None 
 
Property: Lots 10, 11 and 12, Block 16, TOWN OF MARTIN, commonly called Edgerton, a 
subdivision in the City of Edgerton, Johnson County, Kansas. 
 
Interests to be Acquired by Eminent Domain: Temporary Construction Easement and 
Permanent Pedestrian Easement 

 
TRACT 24 

Owners of Record:   Reed E. Smith and Victoria A. Smith, Trustees, or their successors in 
interest, of the Smith Living Trust 
 
Lienholders of Record: None 
 
Party in Possession:  Owner 
 
Easement Interests: Easement Conveyance to Kansas City Power & Light Company 
 
Property: Lot 3, GLENDELL ACRES, SECOND PLAT, a subdivision in the City of Edgerton, 
Johnson County, Kansas, according to the recorded plat thereof. 
 
Interests to be Acquired by Eminent Domain: Temporary Construction Easement 
 

TRACT 26 
Owners of Record:   Matthew R Talley and Melissa R Talley 
 
Lienholders of Record:  Mortgage Electronic Registration Systems, Inc. as nominee for PHH 
Mortgage Corporation Bank of America, NA 
 
Party in Possession:  Owner 
 
Easement Interests: Easement Conveyance to Kansas City Power & Light Company 
 
Property: Lot 2, GLENDELL ACRES, SECOND PLAT, a subdivision in the City of Edgerton, 
Johnson County, Kansas. 
 
Interests to be Acquired by Eminent Domain: Temporary Construction Easement 

 



 

 
City of Edgerton, Kansas 
Resolution 10-24-24I 
Page 11 of 19 

TRACT 27 
Owners of Record:   Stephanie Woodley 
 
Lienholders of Record: None  
 
Party in Possession:  Owner 
 
Easement Interests: None 
 
Property: Lot 1, GLENDELL ACRES, SECOND PLAT, a subdivision in the City of Edgerton, 
Johnson County, Kansas. 
 
Interests to be Acquired by Eminent Domain: Temporary Construction Easement 
 

TRACT 28 
Owners of Record:   Michael A. Tate and Carolyn A. Tate 
 
Lienholders of Record: Mid America Bank 
 
Party in Possession:  Owner 
 
Easement Interests: None 
 
Property: Lot 15, GLENDELL ACRES FIRST PLAT AMENDED, a subdivision in the City of 
Edgerton, Johnson County, Kansas. 
 
Interests to be Acquired by Eminent Domain: Temporary Construction Easement 
 

TRACT 29 
Owners of Record:   Jane O’Neal and Danny O’Neal 
 
Lienholders of Record: None 
 
Party in Possession:  Tenant 
 
Easement Interests: None 
 
Property: Lot 16, GLENDELL ACRES FIRST PLAT AMENDED, a subdivision in the City of 
Edgerton, Johnson County, Kansas. 
 
Interests to be Acquired by Eminent Domain: Temporary Construction Easement 
 



 

 
City of Edgerton, Kansas 
Resolution 10-24-24I 
Page 12 of 19 

TRACT 30 
Owners of Record:   Tim J. Miller 
 
Lienholders of Record: ABN AMRO Mortgage Group, Inc. 
 
Party in Possession:  Owner 
 
Easement Interests: None 
 
Property: Lot 40, GLENDELL ACRES FIRST PLAT AMENDED, a subdivision in the City of 
Edgerton, Johnson County, Kansas. 
 
Interests to be Acquired by Eminent Domain: Temporary Construction Easement 
 

TRACT 31 
Owners of Record:   Erica Kell and Jacob Foster 
 
Lienholders of Record: Primelending, a Plainscapital Company, through MERS at PO Box 
2026, Flint, MI 48501-2026. 
 
Party in Possession:  Owner 
 
Easement Interests: None 
 
Property: Lot 32, GLENDELL ACRES FIRST PLAT AMENDED, a subdivision in Edgerton, 
Johnson County, Kansas. 
 
Interests to be Acquired by Eminent Domain: Temporary Construction Easement 
 

TRACT 32 
Owners of Record:   David L. Fuller 
 
Lienholders of Record: Rural Housing Service, c/o Centralized Servicing Center, USDA, PO 
Box 66889, St. Louis, MO 66889. 
 
Party in Possession:  Owner 
 
Easement Interests: None 
 
Property: Lot 52, EXCEPT the North 17.5 feet thereof, and 30 feet of vacated street adjacent on 
the East, GLENDELL ACRES, FIRST PLAT AMENDED, a subdivision in the City of 
Edgerton, Johnson County, Kansas. 



 

 
City of Edgerton, Kansas 
Resolution 10-24-24I 
Page 13 of 19 

 
Interests to be Acquired by Eminent Domain: Temporary Construction Easement; Permanent 
Drainage Easement, Permanent Pedestrian Easement and Right-of-Way. 
 

TRACT 33 
Owners of Record:   Sarah C. Lenker 
 
Lienholders of Record: First State Bank of St. Charles, MO, through MERS  
 
Party in Possession:  Owner 
 
Easement Interests: None 
 
Property: Lot 31, GLENDELL ACRES FIRST PLAT AMENDED, a subdivision in the City of 
Edgerton, Johnson County, Kansas. 
 
Interests to be Acquired by Eminent Domain: Temporary Construction Easement 
 

TRACT 34 
Owners of Record:   Graham M. Shertz and Heather M. Rich 
 
Lienholders of Record: Peoples Bank, Admirals Bank, Bank of America, NA 
 
Party in Possession:  Owner 
 
Easement Interests: Easement granted to Kansas City Power and Light Company, "Gas 
Purchase Agreement" by and between Doug McMullin, George W. McMullin, Ronald Deweese, 
and Phillips Petroleum Company 
 
Property: Lot 176, GLENDELL ACRES, SECOND PLAT, a subdivision in the City of 
Edgerton, Johnson County, Kansas 
 
Interests to be Acquired by Eminent Domain: Temporary Construction Easement 
 

TRACT 35 
Owners of Record:   Larry L. Pearce and Donna D. Pearce Co Trustees of the Larry L. Pearce 
Intervivos Trust 
 
Lienholders of Record: None 
 
Party in Possession:  Owner 
 



 

 
City of Edgerton, Kansas 
Resolution 10-24-24I 
Page 14 of 19 

Easement Interests: Easement granted to Kansas City Power and Light Company 
 
Property: Lot 162, GLENDELL ACRES, SECOND PLAT, a subdivision in Edgerton, Johnson 
County, Kansas, according to the recorded plat thereof. 
 
Interests to be Acquired by Eminent Domain: Temporary Construction Easement 
 

TRACT 36 
Owners of Record:   Steven G. Crim 
 
Lienholders of Record: Central Bank of the Midwest, a Banking Institution 
 
Party in Possession:  Owner 
 
Easement Interests: None 
 
Property: Lots 160 and 161, GLENDELL ACRES, SECOND PLAT, a subdivision in the City 
of Edgerton, Johnson County, Kansas. 
 
Interests to be Acquired by Eminent Domain: Temporary Construction Easement 
 

TRACT 37 
Owners of Record:   Melissa R. Franq and David J. Franq 
 
Lienholders of Record: BNC National Bank, through MERS, Kansas Department of Revenue 
 
Party in Possession:  Owner 
 
Easement Interests: None 
 
Property: Lot 41, GLENDELL ACRES FIRST PLAT AMENDED, a subdivision in the City of 
Edgerton, Johnson County, Kansas. 
 
Interests to be Acquired by Eminent Domain: Temporary Construction Easement 
 

TRACT 38 
Owners of Record:   Levi Miller A/K/A Levi C. Miller 
 
Lienholders of Record: Fairway Independent Mortgage Corporation, through MERS  
 
Party in Possession:  Owner 
 



 

 
City of Edgerton, Kansas 
Resolution 10-24-24I 
Page 15 of 19 

Easement Interests: None 
 
Property: Lot 42, GLENDELL ACRES FIRST PLAT AMENDED, a subdivision in the City of 
Edgerton, Johnson County, Kansas. 
 
Interests to be Acquired by Eminent Domain: Temporary Construction Easement 

 
TRACT 39 

Owners of Record:   Morgan M. Hillman and Tyrone A. Hillman 
 
Lienholders of Record: Rocket Mortgage, LLC, through MERS  
 
Party in Possession:  Owner 
 
Easement Interests: None 
 
Property: Lot 43, GLENDELL ACRES FIRST PLAT AMENDED,  subdivision in the City of 
Edgerton, Johnson County, Kansas. 
 
Interests to be Acquired by Eminent Domain: Temporary Construction Easement 

 
TRACT 40 

Owners of Record:   Susan E. Brewer 
 
Lienholders of Record: None  
 
Party in Possession:  Owner 
 
Easement Interests: None 
 
Property: Lot 44, GLENDELL ACRES FIRST PLAT AMENDED, a subdivision in the City of 
Edgerton, Johnson County, Kansas. 
 
Interests to be Acquired by Eminent Domain: Temporary Construction Easement 

 
TRACT 41 

Owners of Record:   Brian C. Nick, Samantha R. Nick, Bruce Alan Sebring 
 
Lienholders of Record: United Mortgage, LLC, through MERS 
 
Party in Possession:  Owner 
 



 

 
City of Edgerton, Kansas 
Resolution 10-24-24I 
Page 16 of 19 

Easement Interests: None 
 
Property: Lot 45, GLENDELL ACRES FIRST PLAT AMENDED, a subdivision in the City of 
Edgerton, Johnson County, Kansas. 
 
Interests to be Acquired by Eminent Domain: Temporary Construction Easement 

 
TRACT 42 

Owners of Record:   Brenda L. Spurgeon 
 
Lienholders of Record: None  
 
Party in Possession:  Owner 
 
Easement Interests: None 
 
Property: Lot 46, GLENDELL ACRES FIRST PLAT AMENDED, a subdivision in the City of 
Edgerton, Johnson County, Kansas. 
 
Interests to be Acquired by Eminent Domain: Temporary Construction Easement 

 
TRACT 43 

Owners of Record:   Steven R. Harkins 
 
Lienholders of Record: PennyMac Loan Services, LLC 
 
Party in Possession:  Owner 
 
Easement Interests: None 
 
Property: Lot 47, GLENDELL ACRES FIRST PLAT AMENDED, a subdivision in the City of 
Edgerton, Johnson County, Kansas. 
 
Interests to be Acquired by Eminent Domain: Temporary Construction Easement 

 
TRACT 44 

Owners of Record:   David J. Lammers and Nancy L. Lammers 
 
Lienholders of Record: First State Bank of St. Charles, MO, through MERS 
 
Party in Possession:  Owner 
 



 

 
City of Edgerton, Kansas 
Resolution 10-24-24I 
Page 17 of 19 

Easement Interests: None 
 
Property: Lot 49, GLENDELL ACRES FIRST PLAT AMENDED, a subdivision in the City of 
Edgerton, Johnson County, Kansas. 
 
Interests to be Acquired by Eminent Domain: Temporary Construction Easement 

 
TRACT 45 

Owners of Record:   Alan G. Donahoo 
 
Lienholders of Record: None  
 
Party in Possession:  Owner 
 
Easement Interests: None 
 
Property: Lot 48, GLENDELL ACRES FIRST PLAT AMENDED, a subdivision in the City of 
Edgerton, Johnson County, Kansas. 
 
Interests to be Acquired by Eminent Domain: Temporary Construction Easement 

 
TRACT 46 

Owners of Record:   Joy Crosley and Deven Ayres 
 
Lienholders of Record: Bay Equity, LLC, through MERS  
 
Party in Possession:  Owner 
 
Easement Interests: None 
 
Property: Lot 50, GLENDELL ACRES FIRST PLAT AMENDED, a subdivision in the City of 
Edgerton, Johnson County, Kansas. 
 
Interests to be Acquired by Eminent Domain: Temporary Construction Easement 
 

TRACT 47 
Owners of Record:   Ottawa Cooperative Association 
 
Lienholders of Record: Financing Statement filed under Uniform Commercial Code Document 
No. 3738806, The Ottawa Cooperative Association Debtor; and Intrust Bank, N.A., Secured 
Party. 
 



 

 
City of Edgerton, Kansas 
Resolution 10-24-24I 
Page 18 of 19 

Party in Possession:  Owner 
 
Easement Interests: Corporation Easement granted to Kansas City Power & Light Company 
 
Property: Commencing at the Northeast corner of the Southwest Quarter of Section 7, 
Township 15, Range 22; thence South 0 degrees 07 minutes 28 seconds East 540.62 feet along 
the East line of said Quarter Section; thence North 86 degrees 43 minutes 00 seconds West 30.05 
feet to the True Point of Beginning, said point being the Southeast corner of Lot 51, GLENDELL 
ACRES, FIRST PLAT AMENDED, a subdivision; thence North 86 degrees 43 minutes 00 
seconds West 10.0 feet along the South line of said Lot 51; thence South 11 degrees 30 minutes 
42 seconds West 464.48 feet; thence North 89 degrees 31 minutes 32 seconds East 33.0 feet to a 
point on the West Right-of-Way line of a county road; thence along the West Right-of-Way line 
of said road as follows:  North 28 degrees 38 minutes 42 seconds East 146.83 feet; thence North 
0 degrees 07 minutes 28 seconds West 325.44 feet to the Point of Beginning, being a part of Lot 
1, COUNTY CLERK'S SUBDIVISION, all in Johnson County, Kansas AND the vacated county 
road adjacent to the East line EXCEPTING the presently dedicated Second Street which 
transverses the above described property AND EXCEPT any other part in streets or roads or 
highway Rights-of-Way AND EXCEPT that part dedicated for streets.. 
 
Interests to be Acquired by Eminent Domain: Temporary Construction Easement and Right-
of-Way 
 

 
The above-named properties are necessary to perform the road, drainage, utility, 

and safety improvements for the Projects. The City does not intend to sell the property 
to any private party after condemnation. The City Attorney is authorized and directed to 
file condemnation proceedings necessary to give effect to this resolution. 

 
City Staff is authorized to have a survey conducted and a description of the land and 
easements to be condemned to be prepared by a competent engineer.  Both the survey 
and the description of the property to be condemned shall be filed with the City Clerk 
upon their completion.  

 
The City Clerk is hereby directed to publish this Resolution once in the City’s official 
newspaper. 

 
This Resolution shall be effective upon its approval and adoption. 
ADOPTED BY THE GOVERNING BODY OF THE CITY OF EDGERTON, KANSAS ON THIS 
24TH DAY OF OCTOBER, 2024. 
 
 



 

 
City of Edgerton, Kansas 
Resolution 10-24-24I 
Page 19 of 19 

___________________________ 
DONALD ROBERTS, MAYOR 

 
ATTEST:       
 
 
________________________________    
ALEXANDRA CLOWER, CITY CLERK    
 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM:       
 
 
________________________________    
TODD LUCKMAN, CITY ATTORNEY 



 

Agenda Item: Consider a Budget Adjustment for the 2024 CDBG – 2nd and 
Hulett Sanitary Sewer Rehabilitation Project 

 
 

City Council Action Item 
 
 

Council Meeting Date: October 24, 2024 
 
Department: Public Works  

 
 
 
 
 
 
Background/Description of Item:  
On May 25, 2023 City Council approved the submission of an application to Johnson County 
for the 2nd and Hulett Sanitary Sewer Project for Community Development Block Grant 
(CDBG) funding.   
 
In October of 2023 Johnson County notified staff of the proposed award of the partial funding 
request ($91,512).   
 
At the time of Council approval of the CIP, the total project budget was $145,012 assuming 
the construction bids would come in within the construction estimate provided by the design 
engineer. However, the construction bids came in higher than anticipated.  
 
Later on tonight’s Council meeting (10/24/24) is the consideration of awarding bid to a 
contractor in the amount of $104,555.  Utilizing that bid, expenditures for design, and 
estimates for construction inspection services, the project budget is proposed to be 
$198,257.81, summarized in the chart in the memo.   
 
Funding for this project consists of the Johnson County CDBG award and the Sewer Fund.  
City Staff has identified additional funding remaining from the 2021 CDBG project. During the 
2023 CDBG budget adjustment Staff recommended utilizing remaining funds from the past 
CDBG projects for the 2024 CDBG project. A breakdown of the funding sources is included in 
the following table. With the transfer of 2021 CDBG remaining funds there are sufficient funds 
for the 2024 CDBG – 2nd and Hulett Sanitary Sewer Rehabilitation Project.  
 



Agenda Item: Approve a Budget Adjustment for the 2024 CDBG – 2nd and 
Hulett Sanitary Sewer Rehabilitation Project to $198,257.81 
 

 

 
 
Related Ordinance(s) or Statue(s): 

 
 
Funding Source:     Sewer Fund:   $53,500 
   CDBG:    $91,512 
   Rollover from 2021 CDBG:  $53,245.81 
 
Budget Allocated:  $145,012 revised to $198,257.81 
 
    
Finance Director Approval:              
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Enclosed:    N/A 
 
 
Prepared by:  Dan Merkh, Public Works Director 
  
 



Agenda Item: Consider Award of Construction Contract to SAK 
Construction, LLC for the 2024 CDBG – 2nd and Hulett Sanitary Sewer 
Rehabilitation Project in the amount of $104,555.00. 

City Council Action Item 

Council Meeting Date: October 24, 2024 

Department: Public Works  

 
 
 
 

Background/Description of Item:  
On May 25, 2023 City Council approved the submission of an application to Johnson County 
for the 2nd and Hulett Sanitary Sewer Project for Community Development Block Grant 
(CDBG) funding.   

In October of 2023 Johnson County notified staff of the proposed award of the partial funding 
request ($91,512).   

On April 25, 2024, City Council approved the contract with Tetra Tech for the design of the 
project and scope.  

On July 25, 2024 City Council approved a change order for Tetra Tech to include construction 
administration services. 

On September 12, 2024 City Council approved the concurrence to bid. 

On October 7, 2024, the City of Edgerton held a public bid opening. A total of four (4) bids 
were received, opened and read aloud to the public. This project consisted of a base bid and 
no alternatives. The base bids ranged from a low of $92,337.05 to a high of $113,310.00. 
Tetra Tech provided an opinion of probable cost of $69,995.00. Tetra Tech has provided a 
letter to disregard the opinion of probable cost due to the volatility of the market. Tetra Tech’s 
letter also recommends rejecting the Municipal Pipe Tool bid due to exceeding the maximum 
mobilization bid item. Tetra Tech recommends SAK Construction, LLC as the most qualified, 
apparent low bidder. 

Based upon review of the bids, the letter of recommendation by Tetra Tech and requirements 
from US Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) for CDBG projects, staff 
recommends the apparent low bidder, SAK Construction, LLC. to complete the project, as they 
are qualified to perform the scope of work included in this project.   

The total project funding consists of CDBG funds and Sewer funds as described in the Council 
Action Item earlier tonight regarding the project budget update. 



Agenda Item: Approve Award of Construction Contract to SAK 
Construction, LLC for the 2024 CDBG – 2nd and Hulett Sanitary Sewer 
Rehabilitation Project in the amount of $104,555.00. 
 
 

 
City staff recommends approval of award to SAK Construction, LLC for the 2024 CDBG – 2nd 
and Hulett Sanitary Sewer Rehabilitation Project pending City Attorney and Johnson County 
approval. 
 
Related Ordinance(s) or Statue(s): 

 
 
Funding Source:     Sewer Fund:   $53,500 
   CDBG:    $91,512 
   Rollover from 2021 CDBG:  $53,245.81 
 
Budget Allocated:  $145,012 revised to $198,257.81 (pending approval 10-24-24) 
 
    
Finance Director Approval:              
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Enclosed:    Bid tabulation 
   Letter of Recommendation 
 
 
Prepared by:  Dan Merkh, Public Works Director 
  
 



  

 Tetra Tech 
415 Oak Street, Kansas City, MO 64106 

Page 1 of 1  Tel 816.412.1741   www.tetratech.com 

 

 

 

 

 

October 15, 2024 

 

Ms. Holly Robertson 

CIP Project Manager - Public Works Department 

City of Edgerton 

404 East Nelson 

Edgerton, Kansas 66021 

 

Re: 2nd and Hulett Sanitary Sewer Rehabilitation, Project No. SAN0016-24 - Bid Evaluation and 

Recommendation 

 

Dear Ms. Robertson,  

 
Bids for the 2nd and Hulett Sanitary Sewer Rehabilitation project were received on October 7, 2024.  A 
total of four (4) bids were received. The bids ranged between $92,337.05 and $113,310.00 for the total 
base bid.  

Municipal Pipe Tool submitted the lowest bid of $92,337.05. However, because the mobilization bid item 
was limited to a maximum of 5% and Municipal Pipe Tool’s mobilization bid represents 23% of the total 
bid, this bid was rejected.  

SAK submitted the next lowest bid of $104,555.00. No irregularities were found with the Bid Schedule 
Proposal. SAK’s bid was 49% higher than the Engineer’s Estimate of $69,995.00; however, our review of 
the current local market indicates to re-design/re-advertise the project would not result in lower bids.   

SAK submitted the required bid forms, statement of bidder’s qualifications and experience reference 
summary. Based on the Statement of Bidder’s Qualifications and the Engineer’s prior experience with this 
contractor, the Bidder appears to possess a record of successfully completing work generally similar in 
nature, complexity, and size to the Project. Tetra Tech spoke with one additional reference listed who 
also expressed their satisfaction with the competency and quality of the work performed. They stated they 
would be willing to hire SAK for future projects.  

Tetra Tech recommends the award of 2nd and Hulett Sanitary Sewer Rehabilitation, Project No. 
SAN0016-24 to SAK for the lowest total base bid amount of $104,555.00. If you have any questions 
regarding this letter, please contact us at 816-412-1758. 

 
Sincerely, 

 
Bridget Harper, P.E. 
Project Manager 



Item Description Unit Qty. Unit Pricing Total Unit Pricing Total Unit Pricing Total Unit Pricing Total Unit Pricing Total

1 Mobilization (limited to 5% of base bid total) LS 1 $3,330.00 $3,330.00 $21,125.00 $21,125.00 $2,300.00 $2,300.00 $5,643.00 $5,643.00 $5,000.00 $5,000.00

2 Preliminary Cleanging and Closed-Circuit Television (CCTV) Inspection; 8-inch LF 1805 $7.00 $12,635.00 $3.31 $5,974.55 $6.00 $10,830.00 $6.25 $11,281.25 $18.00 $32,490.00

3 Cured-in-Place Pipe Lining Gravity Sewer; 8-inch Pipe LF 815 $40.00 $32,600.00 $36.50 $29,747.50 $65.00 $52,975.00 $56.00 $45,640.00 $53.00 $43,195.00

4 Point Repair 10-foot or less; 8-inch Pipe Each 2 $7,590.00 $15,180.00 $8,925.00 $17,850.00 $9,900.00 $19,800.00 $21,400.00 $42,800.00 $11,300.00 $22,600.00

5 Manhole Rehabilitation - Cementitious Lining VF 10 $375.00 $3,750.00 $1,575.00 $15,750.00 $1,665.00 $16,650.00 $197.00 $1,970.00 $630.00 $6,300.00

6 Replace Manhole Frame and Cover Each 1 $2,500.00 $2,500.00 $1,890.00 $1,890.00 $2,000.00 $2,000.00 $3,187.00 $3,187.00 $3,725.00 $3,725.00

2024 CDBG - 2nd and Hulett Sanitary Sewer Rehabilitation Construction Bid Tabulations

Smitco Contracting Group, 

LLC

$110,521.25 

The Havens Construction, 

Inc.

$113,310.00 Total Base Bid

Engineer's Estimate

$92,337.05 

Municipal Pipe Tool 

Company, LLC

$69,995.00 $104,555.00 

SAK Construction, LLC



City Council Action Item 

Council Meeting Date:  October 24, 2024 

Department: Public Works 

Background/Description of Item: 

On May 25, 2023 City Council approved the submission of an application to Johnson County 
for the 2nd and Hulett Sanitary Sewer Project for Community Development Block Grant 
(CDBG) funding.   

In October of 2023 Johnson County notified staff of the proposed award of the partial funding 
request ($91,512).   

On April 25, 2024, City Council approved the contract with Tetra Tech for the design of the 
project and scope.  

On July 25, 2024 City Council approved a change order for Tetra Tech to include construction 
administration services. 

On September 12, 2024 City Council approved the concurrence to bid. 

On October 24, 2024 City Council is considering a project budget adjustment as well as 
awarding the construction contract. 

Similar to other large infrastructure projects constructed by the City of Edgerton, a critical 
component to the success of the 2024 CDBG 2nd and Hulett Sanitary Sewer Rehabilitation 
Project is partnering with a firm to perform the construction inspection services. Renaissance 
Infrastructure Consulting (RIC) has submitted bids and gone through previous interview 
processes with City staff, including providing services for construction inspection of 200th and 
Homestead Intersection Project, the 2021 and 2023 CDBG Sanitary Sewer Rehabilitation 
Project. RIC performed the construction inspection services for multiple projects in the past 
few years with a high level of satisfaction and attention to detail.   

Renaissance Infrastructure Consulting (RIC) is a valued partner with the City of Edgerton and 
ElevateEdgerton! having worked with the City on multiple occasions. RIC has extensive 

Agenda Item: Consider a Professional Services Agreement with 
Renaissance Infrastructure Consulting to Provide Construction 
Inspection Services for the 2024 CDBG – 2nd and Hulett Sanitary Sewer 
Rehabilitation Project 



Agenda Item: Approve a Professional Services Agreement with 
Renaissance Infrastructure Consulting to Provide Construction 
Inspection Services for the 2023 CDBG 1st and Martin Sanitary Sewer 
Rehabilitation Project for maximum not to exceed of $36,202.81. 

knowledge of how Edgerton conducts projects. They also have a team with over 30 years’ 
experience. 

City Staff recommends utilizing RIC for Construction Inspection services of the construction 
associated with the 2024 CDBG 2nd and Hulett Sanitary Sewer Rehabilitation Project.  Selection 
of RIC will expedite the start date for the project. City Staff and RIC will utilize the same 
agreement for services as previously agreed upon for the aforementioned projects. The 
Agreement provides a scope of work to include such services as performing inspections, 
notification of the City of any significant issues/changes to the plans, providing detailed 
reports of construction activity, reviewing testing reports and pay estimates, etc. The 
Agreement also includes an hourly rate schedule applicable for the term of the Agreement. 
The Agreement is structured similar to the Agreement for City Engineer services where the 
City is only billed for actual hours of work performed. As with prior projects, RIC provided an 
estimate for the project ($36,202.81), staff will work with RIC to best prioritize the use of their 
services to limit the project budget. 

The Agreement is the City’s standard agreement approved by City Attorney. 

Related Ordinance(s) or Statute(s): N/A 

Funding Source:     Sewer Fund: $53,500 
CDBG: $91,512 
Rollover from 2021 CDBG:  $53,245.81 

Budget Allocated:  $145,012 revised to $198,257.81 (pending approval on 10/24/24) 

Finance Director Approval: 

 
 
 
 
 

Enclosed: Professional Services Agreement with Renaissance Infrastructure Consulting 
for Inspection Services 
Work Estimate 

Prepared by:  Dan Merkh, Public Works Director 



PROFESSIONAL 
SERVICES 

AGREEMENT 
CONSULTANT-CLIENT

THIS PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”) is made and entered into as of 
the ___________ day __________________________________, ____________ (the “Effective Date”) by 
and between ______________________________________., party of the first part, (the CONSULTANT), 
and CITY OF EDGERTON, KANSAS, party of the second part, (the CLIENT).

WHEREAS, the CLIENT is authorized and empowered to contract with the CONSULTANT for the purpose 
of obtaining Professional Services for the following improvement/services (hereinafter referred to as the 
“Project”):

WHEREAS, the CONSULTANT is licensed in accordance with the laws of the State of Kansas and is qualified 
to perform the Professional Services desired by the CLIENT now therefore:

IT IS AGREED by and between the two parties aforesaid as follows:



SECTION 1 – DEFINITIONS

As used in this Agreement, the following terms shall have the meanings ascribed herein unless otherwise 
stated or reasonably required by this contract, and other forms of any defined words shall have a meaning 
parallel thereto.

1.1 “Additional Services” means any Services requested by the CLIENT which are not covered by 
Exhibit 1 of this Agreement.

1.2 “Agreement” means this contract and includes change orders issued in writing.

1.3 “CLIENT” or “Client” means the City of Edgerton.  

1.4 “CONSULTANT” or “Consultant” means the company identified on page 1 and any additional parties 
they might employ (upon the approval of CLIENT) to perform pursuant to this contract. 

1.5 “Contract Documents” means those documents so identified in the Agreement for this Project.. 
Terms defined in General Conditions shall have the same meaning when used in this Agreement 
unless otherwise specifically stated or in the case of a conflict in which case the definition used in 
this Agreement shall prevail in the interpretation of this Agreement.

1.6 “Engineering Documents” or “Architectural Documents” or “Survey Documents” means plans, 
specifications, reports, drawings, tracings, designs, calculations, computer models, sketches, notes, 
memorandums or correspondence related to the work described in Exhibit 1 attached hereto.

1.7 “Consulting Services” or “Engineering Services” or “Architectural Services” or “Survey Services” 
means the professional services, labor, materials, supplies, testing and other acts or duties required 
of the CONSULTANT under this Agreement, together with Additional Services as CLIENT may 
request and evidenced by a supplemental agreement pursuant to the terms of this Agreement.

1.8 “Services” is a description of the required work as shown in Exhibit 1.

SECTION 2 – RESPONSIBILITIES OF CONSULTANT

2.1 SCOPE OF SERVICES: The CONSULTANT shall furnish and perform the various Professional Services 
of the Project to which this Agreement applies, as specifically provided in Exhibit 1 for the 
completion of the Project.

2.2 GENERAL DUTIES AND RESPONSIBILITIES

2.2.1. Personnel: The CONSULTANT shall assign qualified personnel to perform professional 
Services concerning the Project. At the time of execution of this Agreement, the parties 
anticipate that the following individual will perform as the principal point of contact on this 
Project.

Name:
Address:

Phone:



2.2.2. Standard of Care: In the performance of professional Services, CONSULTANT will use 
that level of care and skill ordinarily exercised by reputable members of CONSULTANT’s 
profession currently practicing in the same locality under similar conditions. 

2.2.3. Independent Contractor: The CONSULTANT is an independent contractor and as such 
is not  an employee of the Client.

2.2.4. Insurance: CONSULTANT will maintain insurance for this Agreement, as specifically 
provided in Exhibit 2.

2.2.5. Subcontracting of Service: The CONSULTANT shall not subcontract or assign any of 
the Services to be performed under this Agreement without first obtaining the approval of 
the Client regarding the Services to be subcontracted or assigned and the firm or person 
proposed to perform the Services. Neither the CLIENT nor the CONSULTANT shall assign 
any rights or duties under this Agreement without the prior consent of the other party.

2.2.6. Endorsement: When applicable, the CONSULTANT shall sign and seal final plans, 
specifications, estimates and data furnished by the CONSULTANT according to Kansas 
Statutes and Rules and Regulations.

2.2.7. Force Majeure: Should performance of Services by CONSULTANT be affected by causes 
beyond its reasonable control, Force Majeure results. Force Majeure includes, but is not 
restricted to, acts of God; acts of a legislative, administrative or judicial entity; fires; floods; 
labor disturbances; epidemics; and unusually severe weather. CONSULTANT will be 
granted a reasonable time extension and the parties will negotiate an equitable adjustment 
to the price of any affected Work Order, where appropriate, based upon the effect of the 
Force Majeure on performance by CONSULTANT.

2.2.8. Inspection of Documents: The CONSULTANT shall maintain Project records for 
inspection by the CLIENT during the contract period and for five  (5) years from the date 
of final payment.

SECTION 3 – CLIENT RESPONSIBILITIES

3.1 GENERAL DUTIES AND RESPONSIBILITIES

3.1.1. Communication: The CLIENT shall provide to the Consultant information and criteria 
regarding the CLIENT’s requirement for the Project; examine and respond in a timely 
manner to the Consultant’s submissions and give notice to the Consultant whenever the 
CLIENT observes or otherwise becomes aware of any defect in the Services. The CLIENT 
represents that all information they provide is accurate. CONSULTANT’S review and use of 
the information will be to the standard of care and any delays or additional costs due to 
inaccurate information will be the responsibility of the CLIENT.

3.1.2. Access: The CLIENT will provide access agreements for the Consultant to enter public and 
private property when necessary.

3.1.3. Duties: The CLIENT shall furnish and perform the various duties and Services in all phases 
of  the Project which are outlined and designated in Exhibit 1 as the CLIENT’s responsibility.

3.1.4. Program and Budget: The CLIENT shall provide full information stating the CLIENT’s 
objectives, schedule, budget with reasonable contingencies and necessary design criteria 
so that CONSULTANT  is able to fully understand the project requirements.



3.1.5. Testing: Any additional tests required to supplement the Scope of Services or tests 
required by law shall be furnished by the CLIENT.

3.1.6. Legal, Insurance, Audit: The CLIENT shall furnish all legal, accounting and insurance 
counseling Services as may be necessary at any time for the Project. The CLIENT shall 
furnish all bond forms required for the Project.

3.1.7. Project Representative: The CLIENT will assign the person indicated below to represent 
the CLIENT in coordinating this Project with the CONSULTANT, with authority to transmit 
instructions and define policies and decisions of the CLIENT.

Name:
Address:

Phone:

SECTION 4 – PAYMENT

4.1 COMPENSATION

4.1.1. Fee and Expense: The CLIENT agrees to pay the CONSULTANT a fee based on the actual  
hours expended on the Project at the rates indicated in the attached Fee Schedule; Exhibit 
3 and the actual reimbursable expenses permitted under this Agreement and incurred on 
the Project.  This fee is based on the scope of Services outlined in Exhibit 1 of this 
Agreement. Payment is due within thirty (30) days of billing by the CONSULTANT and any 
late payment will incur an interest charge of one (1) percent per month.

4.1.2. Hourly Rate: Any Additional Services which are not set forth in this Agreement will be 
charged on the basis of the hourly rate schedule attached hereto as Exhibit 3. No Additional 
Services or costs shall be incurred without proper written authorization of the CLIENT.

4.1.3. Reimbursable Expenses: Reimbursable expenses shall be charged following approval 
by CLIENT. Reimbursable expenses include, but are not limited to, expenses of 
transportation in connection with the Project; expenses in connection with authorized out-
of-town travel; expenses of printing and reproductions; postage; expenses of renderings 
and models requested by the CLIENT and other costs as authorized by the CLIENT. 

4.1.4. Billing: CONSULTANT shall bill the CLIENT monthly for services and reimbursable 
expenses according to Exhibit 3. The bill submitted by CONSULTANT shall itemize the 
services and reimbursable expenses for which payment is requested, notwithstanding any 
claim for interest or penalty claimed in a CONSULTANT’s invoice. The CLIENT agrees to 
pay within thirty (30)  days of billing by the CONSULTANT and any late payment will incur 
an interest charge of one and (1) percent per month.

4.1.5. Change in Scope: For modifications in authorized scope of services or project scope 
and/or modifications of drawings and/or specifications previously accepted by the CLIENT, 
when requested by the CLIENT and through no fault of the CONSULTANT, the 
CONSULTANT shall be compensated for time and expense required to incorporate such 
modifications at CONSULTANT’s standard hourly rates per Exhibit 3. CONSULTANT shall 
correct or revise errors or deficiencies in its designs, drawings or specifications without 
additional compensation when due to CONSULTANT’s negligence, error or omission.



4.1.6. Supplemental Agreement: This Agreement may be amended to provide for additions, 
deletions and revisions in the Services or to modify the terms and conditions thereof by 
written amendment signed by both parties. The contract price and contract time may only 
be changed by a written supplemental agreement approved by the CLIENT, unless it is the 
result of an emergency situation, in which case the CLIENT may give verbal, e-mail or 
facsimile approval which shall be the same as written and approved supplemental 
agreement.

SECTION 5 – MUTUAL PROVISIONS

5.1 TERMINATION

5.1.1. Notice: The CLIENT reserves the right to terminate this Agreement for either cause or for 
its convenience and without cause or default on the part of the CONSULTANT, by providing 
written notice of such termination to the CONSULTANT. Such notice will be with Twenty 
Four (24) hours' notice.

The CONSULTANT reserves the right to terminate this Agreement based on any material 
breach by the CLIENT, but only upon giving notice to CLIENT of the alleged breach and 
providing CLIENT thirty (30) days to cure such alleged breach.

Upon receipt of such notice from CLIENT, the CONSULTANT shall, at CLIENT’s option as 
contained in the notice; Immediately cease all Services and meet with CLIENT to determine 
what Services shall be required of the CONSULTANT in order to bring the Project to a 
reasonable termination in accordance with the request of the CLIENT. The CONSULTANT 
shall also provide to the CLIENT digital and/or mylar copies of drawings and documents 
completed or partially completed at the date of termination. The CONSULTANT is entitled 
to terminate this agreement by providing thirty (30) days written notice.

5.1.2. Compensation for Convenience Termination: If CLIENT shall terminate for its 
convenience,  as herein provided, CLIENT shall compensate CONSULTANT for all Services 
completed to date prior to receipt of the termination notice.

5.1.3. Compensation for Default Termination: If the CLIENT shall terminate for cause or 
default on the part of the CONSULTANT, the CLIENT shall compensate the CONSULTANT 
for the reasonable cost of Services completed to date of its receipt of the termination 
notice. Compensation shall not include anticipatory profit or consequential damages, 
neither of which will be allowed.

5.1.4. Incomplete Documents: Neither the CONSULTANT, nor its subconsultant, shall be 
responsible for errors or omissions in documents which are incomplete as a result of an 
early termination under this section, the CONSULTANT having been deprived of the 
opportunity to complete such documents and certify them as ready for construction and/or 
complete.

5.2 DISPUTE RESOLUTION

5.2.1. If a claim, dispute or controversy arises out of or relates to the interpretation, application, 
enforcement or performance of Services under this Agreement, CONSULTANT and CLIENT 
agree first to try in good faith to settle the dispute by negotiations between senior 
management of CONSULTANT and CLIENT. If such negotiations are unsuccessful, 
CONSULTANT and CLIENT agree to attempt to settle the dispute by good faith mediation. 
If the dispute cannot be settled through mediation, and unless otherwise mutually agreed, 
the dispute shall be settled by litigation in an appropriate court in Kansas. Except as 



otherwise provided herein, each party shall be responsible for its own legal costs and 
attorneys’ fees.

5.3 OWNERSHIP OF INSTRUMENTS OF SERVICE

5.3.1. Reports, drawings, plans or other documents (or copies) furnished to CONSULTANT by the 
CLIENT shall, at CLIENT’s written request, be returned upon completion of the Services 
hereunder.Reports, drawings, plans, documents, software, field notes and work product 
(or copies thereof) in any form prepared or furnished by CONSULTANT under this 
Agreement are instruments of service. Exclusive ownership, copyright and title to all 
instruments of service remain with CONSULTANT. CLIENT is hereby granted a License to 
Use instruments of service with use limited to use on this project. The instruments of 
service are not intended or represented to be suitable for reuse by CLIENT or others on 
extensions of the work or on any other project.

5.4 INDEMNIFY AND HOLD HARMLESS

5.4.1. CLIENT shall indemnify and hold CONSULTANT, its officers and employees harmless from 
and against any claim, judgment, demand or cause of action to the extent caused by: (i) 
CLIENT’s breach of this Agreement; (ii) the negligent acts or omissions of CLIENT or its 
employees, contractors or agents.

5.4.2. CONSULTANT shall indemnify and hold CLIENT and its employees and officials from loss 
to the extent caused by: (i) CONSULTANT’S breach of this Agreement; (ii)  incurred as a 
result of the negligence, errors or omissions of the CONSULTANT, its officers or employees 
in performance of Services pursuant to this Agreement.

5.5 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

5.5.1. This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the parties and supersedes all 
prior agreements, whether oral or written, covering the same subject matter. This 
Agreement may not  be modified or amended except in writing mutually agreed to and 
accepted by both parties to this Agreement.

5.6 APPLICABLE LAW

5.6.1. This Agreement is entered into under and pursuant to, and is to be construed and 
enforceable in accordance with laws of the State of Kansas.

5.7 ASSIGNMENT OF AGREEMENT

5.7.1. This Agreement shall not be assigned or transferred by either the CONSULTANT or the 
CLIENT without the written consent of the other.

5.8 NO THIRD PARTY BENEFICIARIES

5.8.1. Nothing contained herein shall create a contractual relationship with, or any rights in favor 
of, any third party.

5.9 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

5.10.1 CONSULTANT shall abide by known applicable federal, state and local laws, ordinances and 
regulations applicable to this Project until the Consulting Services required by this 
Agreement are completed consistent with the Professional Standard of Care. CONSULTANT 



shall secure occupational and professional licenses, permits, etc., from public and private 
sources necessary for the fulfillment of its obligations under this Agreement.

5.10 TITLES, SUBHEADS AND CAPITALIZATION
5.11.1 Titles and subheadings as used herein are provided only as a matter of convenience and 

shall have no legal bearing on the interpretation of any provision of the Agreement. Some 
terms are capitalized throughout the Agreement but the use of or failure to use capitals 
shall have no legal bearing on the interpretation of such terms.

5.11 SEVERABILITY CLAUSE

5.11.1. Should any provision of this Agreement be determined to be void, invalid or unenforceable 
or illegal for whatever reason, such provisions shall be null and void; provided, however 
that the remaining provisions of this Agreement shall be unaffected hereby and shall 
continue to be valid and enforceable.

5.12 FIELD REPRESENTATION

5.12.1. Unless otherwise expressly agreed to in writing, CONSULTANT shall not be responsible for 
the safety or direction of the means and methods at the contractor’s project site or their 
employees or agents, and the presence of CONSULTANT at the project site will not relieve 
the contractor of its responsibilities for performing the work in accordance with applicable 
regulations, or in accordance with project plans and specifications. If necessary, CLIENT 
will advise any contractors that Consultant’s Services are so limited. CONSULTANT will not 
assume the role of “prime contractor”, “constructor”, “controlling employer”, “supervisor” 
or their equivalents, unless the scope of such Services are expressly agreed to in writing.

5.13 HAZARDOUS MATERIALS

5.13.1. The CONSULTANT and the CONSULTANT’s subconsultants shall have no responsibility for 
the discovery, presence, handling, removal or disposal or exposure of persons to hazardous 
materials in any form at the Project site.

5.14 AFFIRMATIVE ACTION

5.14.1. The CONSULTANT agrees to comply with the provisions of K.S.A. 44-1030 in the Kansas 
Acts Against Discrimination.

5.15 SPECIAL PROVISIONS

5.15.1. Special Provisions may be attached and become a part of this agreement as Exhibit 4.



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement  in  duplicate this day of
 , 20 .

CONSULTANT: CLIENT:

_________________________________ 
(Firm Name)

City of Edgerton, 
Kansas

 

 

 

END OF CONSULTANT-CLIENT AGREEMENT

By:  By:

Printed Name:   Printed Name:

Title:  Title:



EXHIBIT 1 
SCOPE OF SERVICES



EXHIBIT 2

CITY OF EDGERTON, KS
INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS FOR DESIGN & CONSULTING SERVICES - 2020

Consultant shall procure and maintain at its sole cost and expense, the following insurance coverage for 
the duration of the project and for a period of at least two (2) years (five years for professional liability 
insurance) following termination of this agreement, with minimum acceptable limits as follows:  

(1) COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY
$1,000,000 Per Occurrence
$2,000,000 Aggregate

Coverage shall be written on ISO occurrence form CG 0001 or equivalent.  Endorsements or policy 
provisions that limit contractual liability are not acceptable.  It shall also name City, it’s officers, 
officials, employees, and agents as additional insureds on a primary basis, not contributing with 
any insurance maintained by the additional insured, using ISO additional insured endorsement CG 
2010, or its equivalent, copies of which are required to be attached to the certificate of insurance.  
 
(2) WORKERS COMPENSATION - STATUTORY & EMPLOYERS LIABILITY

$100,000 Each Accident
$500,000 Policy Limit - Disease
$100,000 Each Employee – Disease

Coverage shall apply to all workers and employees related to the work, including sole proprietors, 
partners, members of an LLC, and officers of a corporation, regardless of whether or not such 
persons come under the statutory requirements to carry this coverage.  Firms domiciled outside 
the state of Kansas must have “other states” coverage in effect.

(3) PROFESSIONAL LIABILITY / ERRORS & OMISSIONS
$1,000,000 Per Claim
$2,000,000 Aggregate

This coverage, shall apply to actual or alleged negligent wrongful acts, errors or omissions 
resulting in claim(s) for damages related to the work involving the operations of Consultant, 
and/or its sub-Consultant(s) if any are utilized in the completion of the work. If such policy is 
“claims-made” form, the retroactive date must be shown and must be before the date of the 
Agreement or the beginning of work set forth in the Agreement.  This insurance must be 
maintained and evidence of insurance must be provided for at least Five (5) years after 
termination of this Agreement.  If coverage is canceled or non-renewed and not replaced with 
another “claims-made” policy form with a Retroactive Date prior to the Agreement effective date, 
Consultant must purchase “extended reporting period” (tail) coverage for a minimum period 
representing at least Five (5) years after termination of this agreement. 



CITY OF EDGERTON, KS
INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS FOR DESIGN & CONSULTING SERVICES – 2020, CONT’D

 (4) WAIVER OF SUBROGATION

Consultant, and in addition, its insurers, through policy endorsement, and to the fullest extent 
permitted by law, waives all rights against City, it’s officers, officials, employees, and agents for 
recovery of damages to the extent that these damages are covered by commercial general liability, 
commercial umbrella liability, business auto liability or workers compensation and employers 
liability insurance maintained per the requirements stated above.

 (5) CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE

Prior to commencing the work, Consultant shall furnish an acceptable certificate(s) of insurance, 
identifying insurers that write Consultant’s coverages, with minimum Best’s Guide Rating of A- 
and Class VIII or better, and authorized to do business in the state of Kansas.  Certificate will 
evidence the required coverage and endorsements stated above.  Should any of the above 
described policies be cancelled or non-renewed, the City shall first be provided 30 days prior 
written notice, except 10 days for non-payment of premium.  This cancellation provision shall be 
indicated on the certificate of insurance.  City also reserves the right to obtain copies of 
Consultant’s policies to validate coverage in effect if certificates are ambiguous.  Annually, 
Consultant agrees to provide a new/replacement formal certificate of insurance five (5) days prior 
to the expiration date.  If any portion of the work is to be subcontracted, Consultant shall require 
that the subcontracted Consultant(s) shall comply with the same indemnification agreement terms 
and be required to provide and maintain all insurance coverages and provisions as stated above, 
with a formal certificate of insurance acceptable to City evidencing same.  Self-Insured retentions 
must be declared to and approved by City.  If consultant is self-insured for any of the above 
coverages, such self-insurance must be approved by City, which may require written guarantees 
for payment of self insured 
losses and related investigation, administration, and defense costs.  And it must provide claims 
handling procedures acceptable to the City.  Acceptance of any certificate that does not comply 
with the above requirements shall not operate as a waiver of Consultant’s obligations hereunder.  
And the fact that insurance is obtained by Consultant shall not be deemed to release or diminish 
the liability of Consultant including, without limitation, liability under the indemnity provisions of 
this contract.  Damages recoverable by City shall not be limited by the amount of the required 
insurance coverage.  Consultant shall notify City in writing as soon as possible after any occurrence 
that could potentially lead to any lawsuit and/or after it receives notice or knowledge of any 
demand, claim, cause of action, lawsuit, or action arising out of the work performed under this 
contract.



EXHIBIT 3 
COST AND SCHEDULE



EXHIBIT 4

SPECIAL PROVISIONS



Date
City of Edgerton

RIC Project Manager Phone
Project Location

Eng and/or Mgr 2 @ $56 = $112.00
Chief Inspector 8 @ $40 = $320.00
Clerical 1 @ $28 = $28.00

$460.00

Eng and/or Mgr 6 @ $56 = $336.00
Chief Inspector 210 @ $40 = $8,400.00
Chief Inspector OT Prem. 24 @ $20 = $480.00
Clerical 6 @ $28 = $168.00

$9,384.00

Eng and/or Mgr 2 @ $56 = $112.00
Chief Inspector 16 @ $40 = $640.00
Clerical 4 @ $28 = $112.00

$864.00

Hours Rate Extension
Eng and/or Mgr 10 @ $56 = $560.00
Chief Inspector 234 @ $40 = $9,360.00
Chief Inspector OT Prem. 24 @ $20 = $480.00
Clerical 11 @ $28 = $308.00

$10,708.00

Cost Plus Net Fee

1. Project Setup

2. Field Inspection 

3. Project Closeout

Project Name

Subtotal

Subtotal

10/17/2024

913-488-1256

Sanitary Sewer Rehabilitation

2nd & Hulett Street

Client

8653 Penrose Lane
Lenexa, KS 66219

913.317.9500
ric-consult.com

WORK ESTIMATE FORM

Chip Corcoran

Subtotal

Summary Total Direct Payroll Costs

Total Direct Payroll Costs



A. Total Direct Payroll Costs $10,708.00

B. Salary Related Overhead 187.50% $20,077.50

C. Total Payroll Plus Overhead $30,785.50

D. Net Fee 15% $4,617.83

E. Direct Expenses (Travel, Postage, Misc) 1415 0.565 $799.48
days

miles $0.00/mile
Mileage 1415 @ $0.57 = $799.48

Total Other Direct Expenses $799.48

TOTAL COST PLUS NET FEE ESTIMATE $36,202.81

Date

Date

RIC Representative

Client Representative

8653 Penrose Lane
Lenexa, KS 66219

913.317.9500
ric-consult.com



 

Agenda Item: Consider a Supplemental Agreement No. 1 with BG 
Consultants, Inc to Provide Construction Inspection Services of the 
Glendell Acres Park Renovation Project. 

 
 

City Council Action Item 
 
 

Council Meeting Date: October 24, 2024 
 
Department: Public Works 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Background/Description of Item: 
On February 22, 2024 City Council approved an update to the project budget and contract 
with CM Concrete for construction of the improvements at Glendell Acres Park.  
 
On March 14, 2024 City Council approved a contract with BG Consultants, Inc. for the 
construction inspection services for the project. The Agreement provides a scope of work to 
include such services as performing inspections, notification of the City of any significant 
issues/changes to the plans, providing detailed reports of construction activity, reviewing 
testing reports and pay estimates, etc. The Agreement also includes an hourly rate schedule 
applicable for the term of the Agreement. The City is only billed for actual hours of work 
performed. As with prior projects, BG Consultants provided an original estimate for the project 
($10,000). 
 
On October 10, 2024 City Council approved a no cost change order for CM Concrete for extra 
days within the contract.  BG Consultants will need to inspect construction for the remaining of 
the project, including the extra days previously approved.  This ensures proper installation and 
completion of various construction activities.  Throughout the project, BG has played a crucial 
role in working with the contractor to provide a high level of workmanship.  The inspection 
needs placed on BG Consultants are elevated in comparison to other projects.   
 
Staff recommends approving Supplemental Agreement No. 1 with BG Consultants with a not 
to exceed price increase of $8,200.  The total contract amount for inspections if approved 
would be $18,200.  The KDHE Waste Tire Grant provided $24,791.36 dollars, thus freeing up 
allocated dollars within the project.  If this is approved, the project budget is $3,489 under 
budget. 
 
 
Related Ordinance(s) or Statue(s): 

 
 
 



Recommendation: Approve a Change Order to BG Consultants, Inc to 
Provide Construction Inspection Services of the Glendell Acres Park 
Renovation Project with a not to exceed amount of $8,200. 
 

Funding Source:     Park Impact Fee, General Fund, KDHE Waste Tire Grant 
 
Budget Allocated:  $1,140,867  

Finance Director Approval:    
    
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Enclosed:  Supplemental Agreement #1 
 
Prepared by:  Holly Robertson, P.E., CIP Project Manager 



       1 

 

Supplemental Agreement No. 1 
to 

Work Order – Consultant-Client 
Between 

City of Edgerton, Kansas and BG Consultants, Inc. 
For 

Construction Administration and Observation Services 
for Glendell Acres Park Improvements 

Edgerton, Kansas 
 
The purpose of this Supplement No. 1 is to modify the scope of services of the original 
contract.  The City of Edgerton, Kansas, hereinafter called the CLIENT, and BG 
Consultants, Inc., hereinafter called the CONSULTANT, were parties to the original 
agreement.  This agreement is a supplement to the AGREEMENT dated March 14th, 2024. 
 
SECTION I – SCOPE OF SERVICES 
 
Under the terms of Supplemental Agreement No. 1, the CLIENT and CONSULTANT agree 
to modify the AGREEMENT as follows: 
 
Add the following section to Exhibit 1: 
 
CONSTRUCTION OBSERVATION 
 

1. Provide up to an additional 53 hours of Senior Construction Observer time. 
 

SECTION II – COMPENSATION 
 
The CLIENT agrees to pay the CONSULTANT a fee based on the actual hours expended on 
the Project at the rates indicated in the Fee Schedule attached to the Work Order and the 
actual reimbursable expenses permitted under this Agreement and incurred on the Project, but 
not to exceed a maximum fee of $8,200.00.  
 
Billing procedures and all other items pertaining to compensation are as described in the 
AGREEMENT. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



       2 

 

SECTION III – OTHER MATTERS 
 
It is mutually agreed and understood that all terms of the original Agreement, not specifically 
revised by this Supplement No. 1, shall remain unchanged and in full force. 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Supplement No. 1 on this  
    day of      , 2024. 
 

 
BG Consultants, Inc.     City of Edgerton, Kansas 
CONSULTANT      CLIENT 
 
 
By        By          
David J. Hamby, P.E., CFM 
 
Title  Vice President     Title          
 
 
Date  October 17, 2024     Date        
 
 
 



YTD 2024 %
Actual Budget Used Remaining

Revenues:
Ad Valorem Tax 2,419,962$      2,400,134$        100.8% 19,828$            
City TIF Increment (51,025)$          (50,698)$            100.6% (327)$                
Delinquent Tax 16,678$           -$                  n/a 16,678$            
Motor Vehicle Tax 42,129$           46,871$             89.9% (4,742)$             
Recreational Vehicle Tax 931$               1,000$               93.1% (69)$                 
16/20M Vehicle Tax 209$               323$                 64.6% (114)$                
Local Alcoholic Liquor Tax 7,330$             8,500$               86.2% (1,170)$             
Local Comp Use Tax 248,084$         305,000$           81.3% (56,916)$           
County Use Tax 103,695$         155,000$           66.9% (51,305)$           
Local Sales Tax 460,582$         610,000$           75.5% (149,418)$         
County Sales Tax 294,466$         408,000$           72.2% (113,534)$         
Franchise Tax 188,376$         235,000$           80.2% (46,624)$           
Licenses & Permits 49,890$           414,850$           12.0% (364,960)$         
Charges for Services 83,752$           85,470$             98.0% (1,718)$             
Fines & Forfeitures 98,311$           80,000$             122.9% 18,311$            
Miscellaneous 17,092$           -$                  n/a 17,092$            
Investment Income 41,907$           15,000$             279.4% 26,907$            

Total Revenue 4,022,368$      4,714,450$        85.3% (692,082)$         

Expenditures:
General Government 844,579$         1,221,435$        69.1% 376,857$           
Law Enforcement 341,618$         621,068$           55.0% 279,450$           
Public Works 479,583$         754,458$           63.6% 274,875$           
Parks 313,432$         372,387$           84.2% 58,955$            
Facilities 80,534$           135,908$           59.3% 55,374$            
Fleet Maintenance 41,757$           67,050$             62.3% 25,293$            
Community Development 271,403$         495,394$           54.8% 223,991$           
Economic Development 473,544$         580,900$           81.5% 107,356$           
Information Technology 79,740$           102,035$           78.1% 22,295$            
Employee Benefits 429,785$         630,401$           68.2% 200,617$           

Total Expenditures 3,355,974$      4,981,037$        67.4% 1,625,062$        

Sources Over(Under) Expenditures: 666,394$       (266,587)$       

Other Financing Sources & Uses
Transfers from Other Funds:

Transfer from Capital Projects Fund 17,556$           -$                  n/a (17,556)$           
Transfer from TIF Funds-City TIF Fee 1,901$             1,107$               171.8% (794)$                

Transfers to Other Funds:
Transfer to Equipment Reserve Fund-General (125,000)$        (125,000)$          100.0% -$                  
Transfer to Capital Projects Fund (115,625)$        -$                  n/a 115,625$           

Total Other Financing Sources & Uses (221,168)$        (123,893)$          

Beginning Fund Balance 2,812,785$      2,058,293$        
Estimated Ending Fund Balance 1,667,813$        
Unaudited Ending Fund Balance 3,258,012$    

Reserve Required
17% of 2024 budgeted expenditures 846,776$         
25% of 2024 budgeted expenditures 1,245,259$      

Budget Authority
2024 Budget Authority 6,773,849$      
Remaining 2024 Budget Authority 3,639,042$      
% of Budget Authority Used 46.3%

City of Edgerton - 3rd Quarter 2024 Report
General Fund (Unaudited)



YTD 2024 %
Actual Budget Used Remaining

Revenues:
Charges for Services 395,928$             511,187$                  77.5% (115,259.01)$    
Fines & Forfeitures 5,739$                8,000$                      71.7% (2,261.48)$       
Miscellaneous 539$                   -$                         n/a 539.00$           
Investment Income 2,824$                2,500$                      113.0% 323.92$           

Total Revenue 405,029$             521,687$                  77.6% (116,657.57)$    

Expenditures:
Fleet Maintenance 1,578$                7,475$                      21.1% 5,897$             
Information Technology 38,723$              52,309$                    74.0% 13,586$           
Production 128,162$             175,000$                  73.2% 46,838$           
Distribution 48,037$              67,030$                    71.7% 18,993$           
Administrative-Water 124,433$             162,562$                  76.5% 38,129$           
Employee Benefits 28,209$              40,184$                    70.2% 11,975$           
Debt Service 14,955$              14,957$                    100.0% 2$                   

Total Expenditures 384,097$             519,517$                  73.9% 135,420$          

Sources Over(Under) Expenditures: 20,932$             2,170$                     

Transfer from Other Funds
Transfer from Capital Project Fund -$                   -$                         n/a -$                

Transfers to Other Funds:
Transfer to Equipment Reserve Fund-Water (15,000)$             (15,000)$                   100.0% -$                
Transfer to Capital Projects Fund -$                   -$                         n/a -$                

Total (15,000)$             (15,000)$                   

Beginning Fund Balance 210,244$             192,147$                  
Estimated Ending Fund Balance 179,317$                  
Unaudited Ending Fund Balance 216,176$           

Reserve Required
17% of 2024 budgeted expenditures 88,318$              
25% of 2024 budgeted expenditures 129,879$             

Budget Authority
2024 Budget Authority 713,835$             
Remaining 2024 Budget Authority 344,738$             
% of Budget Authority Used 51.7%

City of Edgerton - 3rd Quarter 2024 Report
Water Fund (Unaudited)



YTD 2024 %
Actual Budget Used Remaining

Revenues:
Charges for Services 662,017$             761,265$                  87.0% (99,248)$         
Licenses & Permits 150$                   100$                        150.0% 50$                
Fines & Forfeitures 8,749$                7,000$                      125.0% 1,749$            
Miscellaneous -$                   -$                         n/a -$               
Investment Income 14,359$              3,500$                      410.3% 10,859$          

Total Revenue 685,275$             771,865$                  88.8% (86,590)$         

Expenditures:
Fleet Maintenance 2,288$                7,475$                      30.6% 5,187$            
Information Technology 38,723$              53,351$                    72.6% 14,628$          
Treatment Plant 149,905$             225,055$                  66.6% 75,150$          
Sewer Line Maintenance 822$                   13,200$                    6.2% 12,378$          
Lift Stations/Vaults 11,731$              37,456$                    31.3% 25,725$          
Administrative-Sewer 183,100$             251,897$                  72.7% 68,797$          
Employee Benefits 49,951$              71,877$                    69.5% 21,926$          
Debt Service 192,438$             192,438$                  100.0% 1$                  

Total Expenditures 628,957$             852,749$                  73.8% 223,791$        

Sources Over(Under) Expenditures: 56,318$             (80,884)$                 

Transfer from Other Funds:
Transfer from LPKC Ph 1 PIF -$                   -$                         n/a -$               
Transfer from Capital Projects Fund -$                   -$                         n/a -$               

Transfers to Other Funds:
Transfer to Equipment Reserve Fund-Sewer (15,000)$             -$                         n/a 15,000$          
Transfer to Capital Projects Fund (50,000)$             -$                         n/a 50,000$          

Total (65,000)$             -$                         

Beginning Fund Balance 843,764$             704,735$                  
Estimated Ending Fund Balance 623,851$                  
Unaudited Ending Fund Balance 835,082$           

Reserve Required
17% of 2024 budgeted expenditures 145,137$             
25% of 2024 budgeted expenditures 213,437$             

Budget Authority
2024 Budget Authority 1,476,600$          
Remaining 2024 Budget Authority 912,643$             
% of Budget Authority Used 38.2%

City of Edgerton - 3rd Quarter 2024 Report
Sewer Fund (Unaudited)


	Agenda 10.24.2024
	4  Minutes 10.10.2024
	5  2024 CDBG Subrecipient Agreement
	6  Resolution No. 10-24-24A - GAAP Waiver
	7  FP2024-0003 Edgerton Crossing, Second Plat
	8  FP2024-0004 Edgerton Crossing, Third Plat
	9  Funding to Close 2023 Street Pres Program
	10  Funding to Close LPKC Ph 1 Projects
	11  Funding to Close MCP South Fence
	12  Varney & Associates 3-Year Contract
	13  Application for KDOT Innovation Grant
	14  Resolution No. 10-24-24B - DA Dwyer Farms RHID Project
	15  Resolution No. 10-24-24C - ColdPoint Ph 1
	16  Resolution No. 10-24-24D - ColdPoint Ph 2
	17  Resolution No. 10-24-24E - ColdPoint Ph 3
	18  Resolution No. 10-24-24F - ColdPoint Ph 4
	19  Resolution No. 10-24-24G - ELHC33 Assignment
	23  Award Design Dwyer Farms Sewer Site 2 and 3_Burns McDonnell
	24  IT MSP Contract
	25  Gardner Disposal 3-Year Agreement
	26  2025-2029 CIP Approval
	27  Resolution No. 10-24-24H - 2nd Street Easement Acquisitions
	28  Budget Adjustment_2024 CDBG 2nd and Hulett
	29  Contractor Award_2024 CDBG 2nd and Hulett Sanitary Sewer Rehab
	30  RIC Const Inspection 2024 CDBG
	31  Supplemental Agreement No. 1 - BG Consultants Inspection Services Glendell Acres Park
	32a  3rd Quarter Financial Report
	10
	20
	30




